







THE

# American Annual Register,

### O.R.

## HISTORICAL MEMOIRS

OF THE

## UNITED STATES,

FOR THE YEAR 1796.

PHILADELPHIA:

PRINTED AND SOLD BY BIOREN & MADAN, NO.77, DOCK-STREET.

January 19th, 1797.



## ENTERED ACCORDING TO LAW.

## CONTENTS.

#### CHAPTER I.

Meeting of the First Settion of the Fourth Congress. Choice of a Speaker. Sir Fletcher Norton. Contrast between a Britist House of Commons, and the House of Representatives of Congress. Marked negligence of the Senate in the preceding Settion. Speech of the President. Remarks. Newspapers gratis to Members. Franking. Answer to the President's Speech. Mr. Parker's amendment to Mr. Murray's motion. Ridiculous comments on the speech. Singular project of landjobbing. Discovery by Mr. W. Smith. Proceedings against Randall and Whitney

#### CHAPTER II.

Miscellaneous observations. Wioming. Vermont. Their rapid Increase of Population. Case of the Ship Two Friends. Inland Navigation. Its advantages. Examples from France. England, Holland, Scotland, China. High Roads. A Journey to Baltimore. Whimstical Law in the State of Delaware. Lancaster Turnpike. British Accommodations for Travelling. Europe. Report of St. Just. Westminster Elections. Ditto at Philadelphia. Terms of Mr. Pitt's Lean for 1796. On Free Schools

#### CHAPTER III.

State of the British Navy. Algiers. American Navy. Congress. Resolution moved by Mr. S. Smith, for counteracting the British Treaty. Importance of Seamen to America. The French Flag prefented to Congress. Examination of Randall continued. His Defence and Sentence. Whitney. Extreme hard/hip of his treatment. Acquitted. British Precedents on this Business. Motion by Mr. Williams about the mint. Retrospect. The motion rejected. Narrowness of Official Salaries. Motion by Mr. Living ston on the Mint also lost - 45

#### CHAPTER IV.

Treaty with Spain. Correspondence of Dummore with the Creeks. Effects of opening the Navigation of the Western Waters. Advantages of Unanimity in the United States. Attempts to disfolve the Union. Webster. His scurrilous treatment of the Southern States. Wilcocks. Letter from the Aurora. Inflammatory Hand-bill against New England. History of the Connecticut claim on Luzerne. Mr. Pickering made prisoner. Trial as to these Settlers. Impossibility of driving them out. The Senate. Encomium on them by Mr. Sedgwick. Constitutional Queries - 79

#### CHAPTER V.

Farther remarks on the American Confitution. Not as alleged a Government of diferetion. Senatorial Anecdotes. Marfhall. Gum. Rutherford. Extraordinary doctrine, of partitioning the United States. Rufus King. Scheme of a Standing Army. Ruinous effects of fuch an eftablifhment. Enormous rate of intereft in Philadelphia. Folly of unlimited confidence in the Senate. Commutation Act for Invalid Officers. Objections to it. What Congrefs fhould have done. Sketch of the public fervices of Mr. S. Dexter. His incivility to Reprefentatives from the Southern States. His Amendment to the Naturalization Bill. Mr. Hillhoufe verfus Emigrants. Congreffional linen conveyed by poft. Scanty payment of Clerks in public offices. Anecdotes of the Britifh Houfe of Commons. Privileges of the Houfe of Reprefentatives. Their dangerous tendency. A peep at St. Stephen's Chapel.

#### CONTENTS.

#### CHAPTER VI.

Mr. Adams. His panegyric on the British Constitution. An appeal to facts. Anecdotes of the British Cabinet. Remarks on the late speech of George the Third. What the British Island is worth. Whether an American Ambassador at St. James's runs hazard of being bribed. Sketch of the Government of Pennsylvania since the Revolution. Its injustice to the claimants on Luzerne. Elegant stile in some part of its journals. Mr. Wolcott. His imprudence as to Citizen Adet. A curious trait of Mr. Hamilton. Diplomatic Blunderbus. Patronage of its author by Mr. Wolcott, and the Tories of Philadelphia. Anecdotes of Diplomatic History. A French war probable, from infulting the French Ambaffador. Features of the late Election of Presidential Electors. Defence of the Southern States against Pelbam. His proposal for breaking up the Union. A glance at Mr. Wilcocks. Remarks on Fauchet and Mr. Randolph 146

#### CHAPTER VII,

Explanation to the Reader. Imperfect flate of American Hiftory fince 1783. Findley. Brackenridge. Addifon. Hopkinfon. Want of Monthly Publications. First Congress at New York. Oddities of it. Female Levees. Overfirained Eulogiums on the President. Fauchet. Defence of Democratic Societies. Strange remarks upon them in Congress. A Turkish Democrat. Escape of the Federal Constitution in November, 1794. Fauchet and Randelph. Scheme of Hammond and Wolcott. Artifice and Rancour tf the Connecticut Ministry. Conduct of Fauchet 176

#### CHAPTER VIII.

Fauchet's Difpatch, No. 6. Its inaccuracy. Inconfiftent with No. 10. The Certificate contradicts both. Abfurdity of the whole accufation. Extract from the Philadelphia Gazette. The Prefident's repugnance to the British treaty. Anecdote of Mr. Hammond. Of John Olden. Objections to the British treaty. French Impiety. Curious plan for robbing Churches. Defence of Thomas Jefferson. Phocion. His Singular reasons for recommending Mr. John Adams as President. His infolence to General Washington - 193

#### CHAPTER IX.

Defence of Thomas Jefferson continued. Anecdote of Charles II. On the universal right of Conscience. Anecdote of Dr. Swift. Shocking fanaticism in Malfachusetts. Isaac Backus. Judge Rush. His blundering appeal to Montefquieu in Defence of Christianity. Abuse of General Washington by Phocion. Remarks on the Defence of Mr. Adams. Trial of Mr. Paine. Portrait of a British Spy. On the state of American parties. Singular proposal by Mr. Adams for an universal hanging bout of the Tories. Vindication of Paine's Rights of Man. Farther Defence of General Washington and Thomas Jefferson. Anecdotes of John Adams. On the Algerine armament. Philip Freneau. Miserable œconomy in paying the clerks in public offices. Character of Davila. Tit for Tat. Atrocious treatment of John Swamwick. The Democratiad. Francis Bailey. Pitiful attack upon him. Lancaster Journal. Its victory over the Friends of Order. Menace against Mr. W. Lyman 218

#### CHAPTER X.

Camillus. His furious Stile. Defence of the Houfe of Reprefentatives. Of Mr. Adams. His violent Democracy. John Jay. Remarks on his admirable negociation. Speech of Mr. S. Smith. Curious Vindication of Jay by Mr. W. Smith. Mr. Nicholas. His apology for the Prefident, and Senate in accepting the British treaty. Particulars as to the acceptance of it. What treatment Jay would have met with under a monarchy. Inconsistency of the federal party. On Camillus. Oddity of his Conduct. Objections to

#### CONTENTS.

making a treaty with England, even on the most favourable terms. Impetuous Stile of some Speakers in Congress. Explanation as to the Representative of Philadelphia 255

#### CHAPTER XI.

Proceedings of Congress. Stenographical Debates. Snuff Excise. Invalid Pensions. Request of the House of Representatives for Jay's Correspondence. Answer of the President. Petitions to Congress in favour of the British Treaty. Rising of the Selfion - 281



#### THE

## AMERICAN ANNUAL REGISTER,

#### FOR THE YEAR 1796.

#### CHAPTER I.

Meeting of the First Selfion of the Fourth Congress. Choice of a Speaker. Sir Fletcher Norton. Contrast between a British House of Commons, and the House of Representatives of Congress. Marked negligence of the Senate in the preceding Selfion. Speech of the President. Remarks. Newspapers gratis to Members. Franking. Answer to the President's Speech. Mr. Parker's amendment to Mr. Murray's motion. Ridiculous comments on the speech in the Philadelphia Gazette. Singular project of land-jobbing. Discovery by Mr.W. Smith. Proceedings against Randall and Whitney.

THE first fellion of the fourth Congress of the United States commenced on Monday, the 7th of December, 1795. The House of Representatives confists at present of an hundred and five members; of these, fifty-three as being a majority, form a quorum. In the preceding fellion, the House were to have met on the 3d of November, 1794, but they could not make a quorum till the 6th; thus three days of that fession, and about eight hundred dollars of congresfional wages, were cast away. The nation have a right to punctual attendance. By a law past on the 22d of September, 1789, every member of the House of Representatives is entitled, for expences of travelling, to fix dollars for each twenty miles of the distance from his own place of retidence to that where Congress meet. The fame allowance is made for charges on his return home, at the end of the

fellion. If he falls fick on his journey, or during his official attendance, he has alfo fix dollars daily. On the 10th of November, 1794, only feventy-nine members had affembled; and, on a division about adjourning, it appeared that of these, ten were not in the House. In the fession of which an account is now to be given, the reprefentatives formed a quorum on the first day of meeting. They proceeded immediately to the choice of a fpeaker. The two gentlemen put into nomination were Mr. Muhlenberg, and Mr. Dayton. The former had been elected fpeaker by the first and third Congress. In the debate about democratic focieties, in last fession, when the House were equally divided, his cafting vote was in their favour. Perhaps it was partly for this, and fome other reafons of the fame kind, that Mr. Dayton, who had voted against these focieties, was now chosen by a majority to the chair. The falary of the fpeaker is twelve dollars per day; but the extra-expence and trouble with which the office is attended, prevent it from being, in point of gain, any great object of competition. This election was made by ballot, conducted with the firictest order, and did not, all together, take up more than half an hour. Those who are acquainted with the British House of Commons, with the struggle, and fometimes tumult that arifes in the election of their fpeaker, will form an high idea of the fuperior decorum and dignity of an American Congress. Some readers may recollect the memorable lamentations of Sir Fletcher Norton, during laft war, when Lord North found it convenient to refift his being re-elected as parliamentary fpeaker. He told the Houle how many thousand pounds per annum he was thus condemned to lofe, by what he chofe to call the perfidy of the minister. He stated the very eligible prospects which he had renounced, on affurance from the cabinet that he should keep his place. The recriminations excited by his harangue would have differented a jockey cheapening a horfe. People who constantly complain of Congress, will do well to mark this instance of their fuperiority over a British parliament. In the latter affembly, it is usual for each party to name a candidate, whofe character becomes a topick of violent panegyrick. The fpeaker, when elected, earnefly folicits leave of the Houfe to decline an office for which he is unequal; and the ridiculous fcene ends with two members taking him by the arm, and, with pretended

compultion, leading him to the chair. The legislators of America practife none of this grimace. Mr. Dayton did not affect to refuse an office, in itself highly honourable, and for which the fequel has proved him to be very well qualified. On an emergency of this kind, the expressions of a congreffional fpeaker are few, and fuch as naturally fuggeft themfelves to a man of fenfe and education. The office of British speaker is reported, including perquisites, to be worth eleven thousand pounds sterling a-year. From the prefent enormous expences of living in Philadelphia, the favings of an American speaker can hardly deferve to be named. This contrast may teach those who murmur at the federal government to know its value, when compared with that British constitution, which has become the political Dagon of fome people in America. From chuling a fpeaker, the Houfe of Reprefentatives proceeded to chufe a clerk. Mr. Beckley was again appointed, after fome unexpected oppofition, for which it is hard to give a fatisfactory reafon.

In the preceding fession, the fenate had been still more backward than the Houfe of Representatives to attend their duty. The latter did not proceed to business till the 10th of November, 1794, waiting for the Senate. This made an additional lofs of twelve hundred dollars for wages to the Representatives, besides the eight hundred dollars already mentioned. At last they went into business without waiting for the Senate, who did not form a quorum till the 18th of November. They confift of thirty members, besides the Vice-President; of these thirty, fixteen are requifite for a quorum, but on the first day of the fession only eleven appeared. Even the Vice-Prefident, Mr. Adams, who is paid five thousand dollars per annum, for doing almost nothing at all, did not come forward till the roth. By the 18th, five other Senators had crept on, fo that they loft above a fortnight before they could half affemble them-The wages of the Senators kept in idlenefs for the felves. intervening time, amounted exactly to eleven hundred and forty dollars. This has been proved by comparing their respective dates of arrival, as marked on the Journals of the Senate. Thus the wages loft in the two Houfes collectively came to between three and four thousand dollars. Those absentees in each House, who could not give a proper explanation for non-attendance, fhould have been fined for their neglect of duty. If a planter in Virginia were to

lefe three thousand dollars, demonstrably and totally by the fault of his overfeer, a court of equity would entitle him to damages. These remarks aim not at particular perfons or parties. They honefuly delineate a contempt of public busines, which the whole city of Philadelphia faw with indignation, and which deferves to be held up as a beacon to the prefent age and posterity. There is no use for appointing legislators, if they will not mind their duty. In December, 1795, the Senate formed a quorum on the very day appointed for their meeting. After the Reprefentatives had elected a speaker, clerk, and other officers, a joint committee from both houses waited on the President; they informed him that Congress were assessed and ready to receive any communications which he had to make.

On the 8th of December, the Prefident came to the chamber of the Reprefentatives, and, as ufual, addreffed them in a fpeech. He mentioned the provisional treaty made by General Wayne with the Indians north-west of the Ohio; the danger to the fouth-weltern frontier from outrages recently committed by citizens of Georgia on hunting parties of the Creeks; a letter from the prefent Emperor of Morocco, recognizing the treaty between his father and the United States, and another from an American agent appointed to Algiers, which promifed an immediate peace; the British treaty, and one on the tapis with Spain, were likewife The profperous state of agriculture, commerce, pointed at. manufactures, and population was adverted to. The American mint was recommended to attention, as alfo fome fteps towards providing for an amicable intercourfe with the Indians, and a provision for the fulfilment of public treaties. The fpeech of the Prefident conveyed no fhabby requifition for difcharging arrears of a civil lift, no malicious invectives. against the conduct of other nations, no fwaggering rhapfody concerning the dignity, the refources, and the vengeance of the United States. Our chief magistrate is not folicitous to plunge his countrymen into a foreign, war, that he may drown the domestic voice of truth, or fecure a majority of partizans in Congress, by the distribution of jobs and contracts. He has nothing to dread from the ftricteft investigation of his measures. George the Third has feldom pronounced a speech in Parliament, which was not immediately reprobated by the minority of members, as pregnant. with abfurdity and untruth. It is one of the privileges of a

British legislature to confider the royal harangue as a fabrication by the minister, and under that veil it is torn to pieces. As an instance, there may be quoted the damnatory remarks of Charles Fox, on the 14th of December, 1792, respecting a speech just then made by the British king. This man, and his ministers, have formerly declared that they could not negociate with France, because that country was divested of a *regular* government. At the same moment, they were treating with the *regular* administration of Algiers for an attack on American commerce; and now, when victory invariably perches on the banners of the French republic, this very king dispatches an envoy to folicit her friendship. Such inconfistency is foreign to the American constitution.

The Prefident having delivered his speech, retired, as did. alfo the Senate; the Houfe of Reprefentatives then ordered that, during the feffion, each member should be furnished, at the public expence, with three Philadelphian newfpapers. The charge is trifling, but it is worth while to enquire on what article of the conflitution this privilege is founded \*, as well as why members are authorifed to frank their letters. In Britain the latter indulgence has fwelled into an enormous abuse. In spite of many useful restrictions adopted by Mr. Pitt, it was on the 10th of April, 1795. stated in the House of Commons by General Tarleton, that feventy, and even ninety letters, have been franked by one; gentleman in a fingle day, and that one member alone had in. this way faved of postage four thousand pounds sterling per annum. Thefe details ought to warn the federal government against granting this privilege. To fay that it has not yet been abused is not a proper answer. The time existed when. a British House of Commons were as much above suspicion of being corrupted as the American Congress are at present.

On the 9th of December, Mr. Vans Murray moved in the Houfe of Reprefentatives, for the nomination of a com-

\* In fome parts of North Britain there was lately a practice; adopted by the clergy, which is not entirely diffimilar to this, congreffional perquifite of newfpapers. When a minifier had to attend a periodical meeting of his brethren, he very gravely put his hand into the box containing the collections for the poor of his parifh, and abftracted the fum requifite for his travelling charges. This precedent vindicates our legiflators from fufpicion of peculiarity, when they defray an incidental expence out of funds diffinct from their own.

mittee to draft an answer to the President's speech. Mr. Parker faid that he had always difapproved this practice of making an address, and of the House leaving their business to go in a body and prefent it. He recommended that a committee fhould wait upon the Prefident perforally, and thank him for his speech. He observed that in last fession the framing of fuch an addrefs coft very long debates, and produced very great irritation. He wished for unanimity and difpatch. On that account he preferred a verbal meffage. He moved an amendment to that effect of Mr. Murray's refolution. He was feconded by Mr. Macon; but only eighteen members rifing in the affirmative, Mr. Parker's amendment was negatived. A committee were then appointed, and an addreis from the Houfe, and another from the Senate, were a few days after prefented in common form to the Prefident. Public curiofity had been highly excited for the opening of this Congress. It was imagined that, in some fhape or other, they would immediately enter upon the merits of Mr. Jay's British treaty. This did not happen in either houfe. The Senate had now, for the first time, opened their doors to admit strangers, and in framing a reply to the Prefident's fpeech, they made fome allufions to the treaty. But the Houfe of Reprefentatives preferved a guarded filence. They well remembered what remarks had been made on the length of their debates in the preceding feffion, when drawing up an address to the Prefident, and which occupied in difputation about five complete days, Befides, they had not yet found time to learn the fentiments of each other, or the firength of their refpective parties; and they were unwilling, on a fubject of fuch importance, to rifk a premature avowal of opinions. It was vifible, however, that the florm, though not ready to burft, was hastily gathering; and during the difcussion of this address fome fpeakers approached to the brink of a contest.

As newfpapers are powerful in their operations on the public, it may be proper here to take notice of fome attempts that were afterwards made for fwelling this fpeech into an alarming magnitude of importance, and for degrading, at the fame time, the dignity of the country. In the Philadelphia Gazette, of the 5th of April, 1796, there appeared two extracts of letters faid to be written from London. The first is dated the 15th of January last, and conveys a panegyrick on the Prefident, which, to borrow the still of Shakefpeare, is laid on with a trowel. His fpeech, it is faid, excited unbounded admiration and applause, has raised the American stocks, given confidence to all who have property in the United States, and brightened the countenance of every friend to liberty. "Into whatever company I go," fays the rhapfodist, "the prefident is spoken of in the highest "terms, as the first person of the age, and the ornament of his "species!" We are then referred to an eulogium on the spech, and its author, by Mr. Thomas Erskine, and teld that all the London newspapers are pointed in praife of it.

Now what fignifies this nonfense, and there is much more of the fame kind, to the people of America? Alexander the Great was once asked to hear a man, who could imitate the notes of the nightingale. I have heard the nightingale herself, was his rational reply. The fellow-citizens of the prefident, require not the help of Thomas Erskine, in forming an eftimate of his value. As to the rife of American flocks, that may be accounted for on grounds entirely unconnected with any man's speech. The people of England have long bestowed unbounded admiration on Charles Fox, that ringleader of electioneering bludgeon men, and this very Thomas Erskine has been one of his loudest encomiasts. The applause of such people, like a counterfeit bank note, is a prefent not worth acceptance. This fpeech raifed but little enthusiafm, in those to whom it was addreffed. It was like its predeceffors, a judicious and respected production; and this is all which needs to be faid of it.' Eighteen members in the Houfe of Reprefentatives, withed to give the prefident a verbal anfwer, which shews that their admiration was tolerably cool. But what does the writer mean by attempting to foift upon us the opinions of Englishmen about this speech? Americans are competent to judge of its merit. If the English have really fuch regard as is here pretended for the prefident, why do they perpetrate those fystematic outrages on the flag that his office requires him to protect? You first tweak a man's nofe, kick his breech, and daub his eyes full of mud. You then take off your hat, and make him a polite bow. This is a pretty fort of admiration. Thus much for the bombastical part of the letter. We now come to its malignity. "You fee what encomiums this excellent man " meets with from foreigners, while fome of his own coun-" trymen are fo loft to all fenfe of propriety and gratitude,

" as to traduce him in the public papers. Really the pieces " with which a certain newspaper of your city teems, are " infufferable, and provoke the execration of all fuch as are " not callous to every generous and grateful fentiment." The first magistrate of a country is not the more worthy of its confidence because he is the favourite of its implacable enemies. Common fenfe would make an oppofite conclufion. The latter part of this passage, is levelled at the printer of the Aurora, Mr. Bache. His political correspondents may fometimes have indulged unfeafonable afperity; but they have likewife published feafonable truth. Many pieces have appeared in the Aurora, in direct opposition to the avowed political principles of its editor. This was a mark of impartiality, of which fome newspapers in this country are not able to boaft. As for French intelligence, the Aurora has long been above a competitor. Mr. Bache has himfelf translated and published a great number of original and valuable pieces of that fort, which perhaps, without his aid, never would have appeared in the English language.

The fecond of the two letters from London above-mentioned, is dated the 2d of February. It fays that the appeals are fuspended, until the measures of the House of Reprefentatives as to the treaty are known. Whether afterwards they will be favourable, it is impossible to fay. This is certainly great confolation. Five hundred American veffels have been feized in the midft of peace ; and the proceedings to recover them in British courts of law have been fuspended, no mortal can tell for what reason, or for what diftance of time. The writer next fpeaks of fifteen hundred English emigrants, who are coming over in a body to Pennfylvania, next fpring; and he feems to think, that the hope of fuch an acceffion of citizens should be another motive to embrace the treaty. The flory is an abfurd fiction. The British aristocracy will fuffer no fuch adventure. Were it true, America needs to care very little whether these people come here or stay at home. If their principles were not truly republican, they might, instead of an advantage, prove a curfe. The writer goes on thus : " I can-" not tell you the effect which the Prefident's speech has " produced in this country." (Truth for once! It has produced none at all.) " It (the fpeech) will be the means of " pouring some MILLIONS STERLING into the lap of the United " States." For the fequel of this delicious information, the

reader may apply to the Philadelphia Gazette. These letters are perhaps the production of fome tory fatirit. At leaft if an incendiary had wanted to burlesque the prefident and his fpeech, this is the language which would beft have fuited fo bad a purpofe.

Nothing farther happened in the Houfe of Reprefentatives that attracted much public notice, from the time of addreifing the Prefident, till the 28th of December. A difcovery was, on that day, laid before Congrefs, of a fingular fcheme of land-jobbing, afcribed to Robert Randall and Charles Whitney, two perfons who had lately been concerned in trade with the Indians. The circumftances deferve a detail; but the accounts of this affair, and of the proceedings in Congrefs, as publifhed in the Philadelphia Gazette alone, would fill a large pamphlet. It therefore becomes neceflary to make an abridgement. The difcuffion, from the beginning to its final termination, on the 13th of January, 1796, tcok up almost the whole time of the Houfe for ten days, and hence cost the public about five thouland dollars of extra-congrefilonal wages. The butinefs was opened, as follows.

Mr. William Smith requested the attention of the Houfe. He underftood that a memorial was, this morning, to be prefented from individuals, applying for a grant of a large tract of western territory, and as the House had referred all fuch applications to the committee for bringing in the land-office bill, of which he was chairman; and as it was probable that the memorial about to be prefented would be difpofed of in the fame manner, he conceived it a duty incumbent on him to disclose to the House, at this time, some circumstances which had come to his knowledge. On Tuefday evening laft, one Randall called on him, requefting an hour of confidential conversation. In the interview which took place, Randall made a communication to the following effect. He intended to prefent a memorial on the Monday following to Congress, for a grant of all the western lands, lying between lakes Michigan, Erie, and Huron, to the amount of about twenty millions of acres. He, and his affociates, fome of whom were Canada merchants, who had great influence over the Indians, proposed to form a company, and to undertake the extinction of the Indian title, provided Congress would cede to them the fee-fimple of the land. The property would be divided into forty thares, twenty-four of

which should be referved for fuch members of Congress as might favour the scheme, and might be inclined to come into it, after the adjournment of Congress, on the fame terms as the original affociators. Randall himfelf had the difpofal of twelve thares, for members from the fouthern states, and a colleague of his, a like number for those of the eastern states. A certain number of thares were to be the property of those Canada merchants, who had influence over the Indians occupying those lands, and who would, if this plan fucceeded, pacify those Indians; who were the most hostile to the United States. He added, that General Wayne's treaty was a mere delusion, and that without the co-operation of those influential perfons, the United States would never have peace in that quarter. Mr. Smith told this overture the next morning to Mr. Murray, one of the members from Maryland, requefting his advice how to proceed on fo delicate an occafion. Mr. Murray recommended a difclosure to Mr. Henry of the Senate. On a confultation with those gentlemen, it was refolved as Mr. Smith's duty, to make an immediate communication to the Prefident; which was done.

Mr. Murray rofe next. He had received an application of the fume nature, but having already heard of the propofal, " I was," faid Mr. Murray, " in a flate of preparation, and "my virtue had not fuch a flock to encounter, as that of " the gentleman last up." Mr. Murray had advifed Mr. Smith to give Randall another meeting for the purpole of developing his fcheme and expectations more fully. Mr. Murray faid that Mr. Smith informed him on Wednefday morning; next day in the morning he informed Mr. Henry of the Senate. Mr. Smith, on that day, informed the Prefident. On the fame day Randall was introduced to Mr. Murray, and afked an interview at his lodgings; he gave him an appointment at five in the afternoon. Mr. Henry and he were together when Randall came in. Randall talked about the policy of extinguishing the Indian title to the peninfula, formed by Lakes Erie, Huron, and Michigan, containing eighteen or twenty millions of acres of very good land. He fpoke in terms that might have been employed from a pulpit. He made no corrupt overtures, till Mr. Murray had carried him into his own apartment. There Randall opened his propofals, as had been before mentioned by Mr. Smith, observing, that if Congress would

fell this land to him, and his company, they intended to divide it into forty or forty-one fhares. Twenty-four fhares were to be appropriated to fuch members of Congress as chose to fupport the memorial, which would be prefented on . Monday. . The members were to have their fhares upon the fame terms on which his company fhould obtain the land. The company would give five hundred thousand, or perhaps a million of dollars; but on Mr. Murray's apparent acquiescence in his views, he faid that the shares would be given to the members who fupported the measure, if they pleafed to accept them, after they returned to their homes. Mr. Murray flarted a difficulty about the embarraffment of land fpeculations, for which he perforally had no genius; and then Randall instantly turned out the cat, and told him that if he did not choose the share of land, he should have cash in hand for his share. Mr. Smith and Mr. Murray had refolved to difclose this to the House, lest some innocent member might offer a memorial, and become liable to fufpicion. Randall had hinted that larger proportions would be affigued to the more active members, and leffer ones for the small fish.

The Speaker expressed a wish that fome gentleman would move for an order to apprehend Randall.

Mr. Smith faid that a warrant to this effect had yesterday been issued by the President, and to support which, Mr. Smith had made oath before a magistrate to the particulars above mentioned. He hoped that by this time the person was taken.

Mr. Giles rofe next, and obferved that an application from the fame Mr. Randall had been made to himfelf. Befides a repetition of fome particulars already ftated, he told Mr. Giles that he had already fecured thirty or forty members of this Houfe, but he wanted, if Mr. Giles recollected right, to fecure three other members. He added, that he had already fecured a majority of the Senate. When this propofal was first made, which he thought was about ten days ago, a member from New-York, (Mr. Livingston) was prefent. Randall had even gone fo far as to fay, that a written agreement was drawn out, and fubfcribed by a number of eastern members, and he wished Mr. Giles to extend another obligation of the fame kind for the fouthern members, the purport of which paper was understood to be, that the members who voted in fupport of the difpofal of the lands, were to be fecured in a tipulated thare of them, without having their names mentioned in the deed. Mr, Giles was folicitous to learn the names of the members who had *already* entered into the negociation, but Randall affured him, that, from motives of delicacy, he durft not communicate any of the names. Mr. Giles then defired a fight of the agreement, that he might be able to comprehend its meaning before he fhould attempt to draw any fimilar paper. The man called a fecond time, and, as Mr. Giles conceived, about four days ago, but never could produce either the deed or any draft of it. Mr. Giles had already communicated the propofal to feveral members, and in particular, to the Speaker.

Mr. Chriftie faid that he was the perfon who had introduced Randall to Mr. Smith and Mr. Murray. He had long known him as a refpectable man. He had mentioned to Mr. Chriftie, in general, that it was a landed fpeculation; and hinted that he, Mr. Chriftie, might accept of a fhare. In reply, that gentleman affured him, that he could not be concerned in any fuch transfaction. Randall had not, to Mr. Chriftie, infinuated that any undue advantages would accrue to members fupporting the intended purchafe.

Mr. Buck, a member from Vermont, mentioned, that a perfon of the name of Whitney, who appears to have been an aflociate with Randall, had called upon him in the country, with a propofal of this kind.

Mr. Madifon faid that Randall, had alfo called upon him, and told him of his having waited upon many members, and, among the reft, upon the Speaker. Mr. Madifon faid that the converfation was rather fhort, owing perhaps to the coldnefs with which the advances of Mr. Randall were received. Mr. Madifon had already learned, through Mr. Giles, the ftate in which the bufinefs was. He did not wifh to alarm the perfon by too much abruptnefs, and at the fame time, he did not wifh to give himfelf unnecefiary trouble about it, as he underftood that it would be properly managed without his interference.

A refolution paft for apprehending Whitney. Mr. Harper moved that the warrant fhould comprehend Randall. An objection was flarted of his being already in the cuftody of the city marshall. Mr. Livingfton obferved, that though this might be the cafe, yet the offence was bailable; and by this means, Randall might efcape. Mr. William Smith and Mr. Swanwick likewife recommended that Randall fhould be included in the warrart; and this was done. Randall had, however, been already apprehended. During the whole debate, he flood in the lobby, under the gallery of the Houfe, and betrayed every external fymptom of alarm. When the amendment for feizing him was put, he attempted to retreat. He was observed by the door-keeper, who recognized his perfon, and pointed him out to the city marfhall, who was prefent, and had received a warrant from the Prefident for feizing him. He was apprehended, and Charles Whitney was a fhort time after taken into cuftody.

Next day, the 29th of December, Randall was brought to the bar. He requeited time to prepare an aniwer to the charges againft him. He was ordered to be ready on the morrow at twelve o'clock. Mr. Blount then moved a refolution, which was in fubitance, that it flould be made a charge againft Randall, that he declared to a member of the Houfe, that not lefs than thirty Reprefentatives had engaged to fupport his memorial; and that he flould be interrogated on this point.

Mr. Murray called upon gentlemen, by their fenfibility to perfonal dignity, and the character of the Houfe, to arrest the motion. Its tendency certainly was to place the honour of the House, or of a very great part of it, in the power of a man of whole profligacy of principle there could be no doubt. Will you, he observed, permit, nay invite him, whom you arraign at the bar of this Houfe, to be a public accufer! Will you adopt a charge against him, which is in its nature an imputation, that however lightly and wickedly made, will implicate perhaps innocent men. Thefe men, to refcue their own reputations, will be obliged to rifk their characters, on the weight of their veracity, by denying this man's charge in the face of a world but too prone to fufpect. By this motion, Randall's affertion to Mr. Giles, the only member who has mentioned it, is to be alleged against Randall as an offence. That Randall faid that thirty or forty members were fecured he had no doubt, but he believed the fact to be that Randall was both deceived himfelf, and attempted to deceive the gentleman. "Why," faid Mr. Murray, "the fellow told " me that there were thirty members fecured." Mr. Murray had not thought proper to flate that circumflance, because he did not so much consider it as a fact material to the detection of Randall's guilt, as it was one which might afford malice an opportunity of affixing a stigma to any thirty or forty names at which perfonal enmity might point. No public good could refult from fuch a difclofure ; for the affertion of Randall could not among men of honour be deemed a fufficient ground of fufpicion; and vet the malice of the world, or the rancour of perfonal enemies might attach fuspicion and infamy to almost the whole Houfe, from the indefiniteness of the charge. When Randall informed him, on Thursday night, that thirty members, would fapport his measures, he had felt in the very conduct which he then was himfelf purfuing to detect Randall, to arrest his scheme, a principle of candour towards others, which taught him that other gentlemen to to whom Randall communicated his fcheme confidentially, were determined as honeftly as himfelf to crush the plot against the honour of the House. He knew that he who would be wicked enough to attempt feduction, might be weak enough to use this intelligence artfully, for the purpole of leading him the more readily to accept terms of infamy; becaufe the object was painted as eafily attainable; and that Randall might wifh to diminish all qualms, by exhibiting a pretended group of accomplices, whofe company would at least diminish the appearance of fingularity. I entertained, faid Mr. Murray, no fuspicion of any man; I knew Randall to be a corrupt man from his offers to myfelf. I therefore placed all his intelligence to the fcore of flimfy art. I knew that fuch a man was not to be fully believed, where his interest was to magnify his fuccess. I drew favourable aufpices with refpect to the corps to which I belong, from another piece of intelligence of his, which was, that he communicated to fome members, one of whom he had named, and whom I knew to be a man of honour, in what he had called the general way. This general way was a difplay of the founder part of his fcheme merely, and not the corrupt. It confifted in developing the advantages which would refult to the Union in the disposal of their lands, provided harmony with the Indians could be fecured. In this view of his plan, he gave the fubject an attitude far from unimposing; and I conceived that, as in proportion to

the numbers engaged confidentially, he must know that the hazard of detection increased, he would not communicate the corrupt view as long as he found that the more honeft part of the policy appeared to strike any gentleman as a measure useful to his country; I therefore did not believe Randall, in the fenfe he evidently intended. Therefore, Sir, I did not feel myfelf at liberty to mention the affertion which I conceived to be unavailing as a circumstance neceffary to the example I wished to make, but which if communicated I thought might caft a ftain, by the mystery that enveloped it, upon a body whofe character ought to be held facred to the confidence of the country. My duty was to bring Randall's attempt to corrupt unequivocally into light, not by repeating all the arts which he excited to corrupt; nor by exhibiting them in a way that might wound the feelings of men of honour, who, if charged even perfonally by Randall, would have no refuge from odium but in their characters and counter-affertion; this though always conclufive with those who perfonally know them, is not a protection to minds of fenfibility against the stings of calumny. The voice of fame is not compoled from the voice of men of honour. It was, he faid, in the fpirit of fuch reflections, that he, and the gentleman with whom he had concerted the mode and time of difclofure (Mr. W. Smith), had determined to trust rather to the as yet unstained honour of the Houfe, than to the loofe declarations of Randall; and therefore had refolved on Friday morning to make the difclofure, before that fome gentlemen, innocent of the corrupt scheme, and acquainted with the founder part of the plan only, might have caufe to blush at having prefented a memorial which it would be their duty to defeat and to cover with infamy. If this charge is exhibited against Randall he will confels or deny it. If he confelles it, and in the disposition that often accompanies detected guilt, should name particular gentlemen, though their counter affertion would completely, in Mr. Murray's mind, outweigh the charge of a corrupt and profligate accufer like Randall, yet would every man of delicacy have caufe to regret, that merely for the purpose of adding to the charges against a man proved to be wicked, a stain had glanced from him upon a name innocent Let gentlemen act with magnanimity and honourable. upon this occasion. Let them refift a motion, which, however purely conceived, may eventually wound honeft fame,

without detecting guilt. Mr. Murray folemnly believed that Randall's affertion was either falfe totally, or true only as it refpected those who had listened to him, for the purpose of making an example, or those to whom he had spoken in what he called the general way. If Randall denied this charge, it would reft on the affertion of the gentleman from Virginia, but could not affect members farther than as the measure of enquiry seemed to imply sufficient. He and Mr. Smith had both acted upon the prefumption of innocence in members, and they had refolved on the timely difclofure yesterday, left even one member, however innocent, might be placed in a painful fituation by prefenting the memorial. If Randall is charged with this as an offence, he verily believed the Houfe betrayed its own honour to the malice of the world; he would therefore vote against it. Mr. Murray did not doubt that in every district on the continent, thirty favourites would be pointed out, whom the people in that quarter, or at least fome among them, would be difpofed to confign to reproach, and perhaps there was not one district in the Union, where the fame thirty members would be named. It would be faid, "Sir, they are "not named, but I know who are the men." So rapid were the communications of the prefs, fo keen the appetite for fcandal, that when once the flory was circulated, it might be impossible ever to get rid of it.

Mr. Giles replied. He was in favour of the motion of Mr. Blount. He faid it was evident from the way in which this whole communication had been brought forward, that tkere had been no previous correspondence between Mr. Murray and himfelf. They had felt differently. Mr. Giles had informed the Speaker of the Houfe. Mr. Murray and Mr. Smith had communicated the affair to the Prefident. Mr. Giles had confidered it as best to wait in filence, till the petition of Randall should come forward. Mr. Murray had fuggested a variety of delicate motives for breaking the matter to the House, left the petition should come forward, and hurt the feelings of an innocent and unfuspecting member. Mr. Giles did not with to diminish the credit fully due to the gentleman in this refpect. himfelf had felt and acted fomewhat differently.

Mr. Hillhoufe was convinced that there was not a gentleman in the Houfe, whofe char.fter refted on fo flender a foundation, as to be affected by any thing which this man could fay. He felt no anxiety for the reputation of the Houfe, for he knew that it was not in the fmalleft danger. The refolution went merely to make Randall confefs, that he had faid fo and fo. It implied nothing to affect members. A man covered with infamy making fuch charges could not expect credit, or obtain it from any body. Mr. Hillhoufe was in favour of the refolution for interrogating

( 17 )

The Houfe agreed to the refolution. Randall, who had been ordered to withdraw during the difcuffion, was called in, and heard it read. He was informed that he fhould be ready to anfwer it to-morrow.

Randall on this head.

Charles Whitney was then brought to the bar, and the Speaker examined him as follows: What is your name? Charles Whitney. What is your usual place of refidence? Vermont. What are you? I was bred to the farming bufinefs. Do you know one Robert Randall? Yes. The Clerk will read to you the charge that has occasioned your being brought herc. The charge as stated in the journal of the Houle, was then read to the prifoner. He was next interrogated by the Speaker. Are you guilty or not guilty? Not guilty. Are you ready to fpeak in your defence? I am ready to tell every thing. Are you prepared to do fo jult now? Yes. Whitney then flated that he was connected with Randall in a plan for the purchase of eighteen or twenty millions of acres of land, lying between the lakes Erie, Huron, and Michigan. He had come to town on the defign of presenting a petition to Congress, but had no knowledge of any improper kind of applications. Randall had feveral times called upon him, at his lodgings at the Green Tree in North Fourth-freet. He confidered the scheme to be of probable advantage, and a handfome thing to the United States as well as to the prifoner himfelf, who repeatedly obferved that he would not have engaged in it, but with a view partly to his own interest. He had withed to engage influential characters in the bufinefs. He was then afked what affociates he had. He answered Colonel Pepoon and Mr. Jones, of the state of Massachusetts; and Mr. Ebenezer Allen, of the flate of Vermont. He alfo mentioned the name of another perfon, which was not distinctly heard. He was asked if the partners meant to divide the land into forty fhares. He answered forty-one; but this was only in fpeculation. They had but a rough idea of the extent of the land, which was inhabited by the Wyandots, and was of a very good foil. The land was to be divided among the proprietors. The prifoner knew, in general, from Randall, that he called on Mr. Smith, and other members; but was not privy to, nor fuspected any unbecoming overtures. He was then asked the names of the affociates at Detroit. He mentioned Mr. Erskine, Mr. Robertson, Mr. Innes, Mr. Pattifon, and Mr. Erskine, jun. He faid that fome of them were Indian traders, to a confiderable extent. He had called at Mr. Buck, of Vermont, as he was riding by his houfe. He knew him to be a gentleman of character, and whofe name would add credit to the business. He had told him that feveral other perfons intended to be concerned, and that, if it was confistent with his fituation as a member of Congress, he would be glad to have him engaged, but at the fame time he carefully noticed that this propofal was conditionally made, and only if it was proper. He was asked what Mr. Erskine was. He is called Judge Erskine, but whether he is now a judge, or only was one in fome other part of the country, at a former period, the prifoner cannot tell. He faid that he came to Philadelphia about a month ago. Being afked why he had been fo long in prefenting his petition, he replied that he had been feized with a bad cold, had been fick, and wanted to make a perfonal explanation to the members, before bringing the affair into the House. Have you got any new affociates in this city? None. Mr. Livingfton then proposed a question whether any of the fliares had been left unappropriated by his affociates and him? Anfwer; it was at his own option to difpofe of thares as he pleafed. He was afked if he could produce any written agreement between himfelf and his affociates. He believed that he could, and that it would do him no harm to do fo. It was at the Green Tree. But, as a matter of candour, he requested time to confider whether the production of it could hart him or not. This ended the examination.

Mr. W. Smith then moved, that Whitney flould be ordered to re-appear at the bar, at twelve o'clock to-morrow; that he flould be ordered to produce the bond; and that till to-morrow, the two prifoners flould be kept in feparate apartments. Mr. Goodhue requefied that Whitney might be ordered to withdraw, which was done; he then related that the prifoner had made application to him at different times. Mr. Goodhue told him that he knew very little of the Weftern country. He had always lived on the fea-coaft, and land-jobbing was quite out of his way.

Mr. Sedgwick faid that, as no direct charge of corruption had been made againft Whitney, it would be improper to detain him a prifoner. It might be confidered as a wanton act of arbitrary power.

Mr. Buck then rofe, and faid that he had not yefterday told the whole of what paft between him and Whitney. Mr. Buck had received offers plain enough to be understood. He might either have land, or money in lieu of it. The motion of Mr. W. Smith was then carried,

On the following day, a petition was prefented from Randall, requesting that he might be indulged with a reafonable time to prepare his defence, and with counfel. Mr. Murray was decidedly for the prayer of the petition. He wished the prisoner to have the advantage of the ingenuity of all the counfel whom he chose to employ. He thought Randall certainly entitled to the aid of counfel, as well on his examination as on his defence; and he believed that the dignity of the House, as well as the rights of the offender, would be best confulted by permitting him to have every advantage. As he was one of those who disclosed the prisoner's crime, so he felt himfelf peculiarly bound to fee that every indulgence, confiftent with the juffice which gentlemen owed to themfelves, thould be extended to him. He felt that the grant of the prayer would be a particular indulgence to himfelf.

Mr. W. Smith was very ready to allow the prifoner counfel for his defence, but in fo doing, he wifhed it to be underflood not as a matter of right, but of favour. He was apprehenfive that gentlemen in proceeding from one flep to another, would at last reafon away the privileges of the Houfe altogether. He endeavoured to point out a diffinction between the prifoner, and a perfon to be tried before a court of juffice. As a favour, he would vote for allowing counfel. The Houfe agreed to grant Randall till Friday, the 1st of January next. The bond between the intended purchafers of the land was then read. Charles Whitney was thereafter called in, and a minute of the information given by Mr. Buck was read to him. He denied having made any corrupt overtures, and was ordered to withdraw. Confiderable debates arofe about the mode of procedure in examining the prifoners, who were not again brought before the Houfe till Monday the 4th of January following.

#### CHAPTER II.

Mifcellaneous obfervations. Wioming. Vermont. Their rapid Increase of Population. Case of the Ship Two Friends. Inland Navigation. Its advantages. Examples from France, England, Holland, Scotland, China. High Roads. A fourney to Baltimore. Whimssical Law in the State of Delaware. Lancaster Turnpike. British Accommodations for Travelling. Europe. Report of St. Just. Westminster Elections. Ditto at Philadelphia. Terms of Mr. Pitt's Loan for 1796. On Free Schools.

HE reader is perhaps tired of this land-jobbing bufinefs. To relieve his attention, the prefent chapter will confift of mifcellancous remarks refpecting the exifting fituation of the United States. The contents of this volume are not always ranged in a feries perfectly fyftematic, but a book, though very regular, is often very dull; and though fomewhat defultory, it may chance to give amufement and information. In the third chapter, we fhall return to Congrefs.

In fpite of the national debt, and other untoward circumflances, the internal firength of America is advancing with rapid firides. Take one or two examples out of hundreds. During the war of 1775, the fettlement at Wioming in Pennfylvania, was broke up by a body of Torics and Indians. The maffacre was related, in very exaggerated terms, by Edmund Burke, in Dodfley's Annual Register, and has been transferibed into the continuation of Hume and Smollet's Hiftory of England. It has also escaped into Mr. Gordon's Hiftory of the American Revolution \*. The fcene

\* In general this writer is accurate. Dr. Ramfay has borrowed largely from him without the fmalleft acknowledgement. Thus, among many other paffages, the account of the battle of Breed's Hill by the latter, is entirely taken from Gordon; only a few trifling variations being made for the fake

was highly barbarous; but many alledged circumfrances are without foundation. This is afferted on the authority of perfons belonging to the fettlement, who were prefent at the battle, and capitulation ; and who were not difpofed to celebrate the humanity of refugees and favages. It is not true that after the furrender of the forts there was a general maffacre, or indeed any maffacre at all. Now, fince that difaster, and under many extremely discouraging cafualties, the fettlement has increased fo greatly, as to contain about twelve thousand people; and is now frong enough to exterminate the fix nations, who chiefly supported that British attack. In 1788, a lot of three acres and an half in the town of Wilkesbærre in this settlement, was fold for fifty dollars. Last winter, one half of that lot, or one acre and three fourths of ground, was purchased for an hundred and thirty pounds. Within the period only of eight years, its value has rifen very nearly in the proportion of fourteen to one. This circumstance was related by Colonel Franklin, late sheriff of the county.

In 1777, Burgoyne, with eight or ten thoufand men, including favages of eleven different tribes +, alarmed the whole ftates of New England. At prefent, Vermont alone could muster a larger army than that which took him prifoner. The State had, in 1792, eighteen thoufand five hundred militia, who do not, like fome of thofe in Pennfylvania and Virginia, go to exercife with fwitches and tobacco-flicks. They underftand the ufe of mufkets and bayonets. About the end of laft war, Vermont was fuppofed to contain but thirty thoufand inhabitants. The cenfus of 1791 found eighty-five thoufand, who must, within the laft five years, be greatly augmented. The population of the adjacent ftates has alfo increafed fo rapidly, that a fecond Burgoyne, advancing from Canada, would require an army

of faving appearances. If his fkill in arranging and polifhing his materials had borne any proportion to his diligence in collecting them, Gordon muft have held an eminent rank among the historians of America. His book did not fricceed in Britain. It contained too much unpalatable truth.

† An anecdote, fo characteriftic of English humanity, we learn by a letter from Lord Balcarras, recently printed in the newsfpapers, respecting the Maroons of Jamaica. His Lordship, who was in Burgoyne's army, fays that he had ferved with that number of Indian nations. four times more numerous than the former, before he could arrive at Saratoga.

Our capacity of refistance by fea bears not a proportion to that by land. Accordingly, fince the breaking out of the prefent war, the most wanton outrages have been incessantly perpetrated on American shipping. The following example may fuffice at this time, as a fpecimen of hundreds. In December, 1795, Mr. John Swanwick, merchant in Philadelphia, printed a copy of the proceedings on the trial of his thip Two Friends, in the court of vice-admiralty in Bermuda. This trial began on the 17th of August, 1795. before John Green, judge of that court. The Two Friends was taken on the 1st of August, 1795, by Josiah Basden, commander of the privateer floop Favourite. The allegations on which the feizure was founded, are as follow. First, that the ship herself, with cargo and lading, at the time of capture, did wholly or in part, belong to fubjects of France, or others inhabiting the dominions of France. Second, that the fhip was bound from Nantz, a port in peffeffion of the French to the United States. Third, that the cargo was of the growth, produce, and manufacture of France. Fourth, that the ship was found without the proper papers. Fifth, that the papers found, were falfe and colourable. As to the property of the ship, her master, Samuel Williams, being fworn, anfwered to the tenth interrogatory, in these words. " There was a bill of fale made from James Dougherty, the builder of the faid ship, to the aforefaid John Swanwick and Alexander Forster; the faid Mr. Forster afterwards fold his part of the faid ship to the faid John Swanwick."

In opposition to this testimony, no evidence or pretence of it is produced. It is a mere *brutum fulmen*, thunder without lightening. Captain Basden might as well land in Philadelphia and seize the compting-house of Mr. Swanwick, as belonging to the man in the moon.

Refpecting the cargo, the invoice is dated at Nantz, in June, 1795. It is as regular, formal and complete, as prudence or anxiety could make it. The veracity of the certificate of the vice conful at Nantz is not called in queftion. The fecond and third of thefe allegations are not a ground of feizure, but an infult on common juffice. Britain might as well at once declare war against the United States, in fo far as the contagion of this precedent can extend.

With regard to the fourth article, the Two Friends was found with all the papers and documents which could be supposed or demanded as neceffary; and as to the fifth, no proof was adduced in support of it; yet on the 16th of September, 1795, John Green gave fentence, that, " according " to the stile, manner, and practice of this court, it appears " to me that the cargo aforefaid is liable to forfeiture !" He acquitted the ship, and the private adventure of the mariners. From that part of the fentence which difmiffes the vessel, Captain Basden, on the 24th of September, lodged an appeal, and the was only recovered on giving fecurity in the fum of two thousand two hundred pounds current money of Bermuda, in cafe the 'appellant fhould fucceed in his claim. The appraifers at Bermuda estimated the cargo at only four thousand one hundred and forty-two pounds, one shilling and ten pence Bermuda currency, while Mr. Swanwick, in his preface to the pamphlet, computes its value at upwards of thirty thousand dollars.

To fuch privateers, and courts of juffice, may be applied what Pomfret fays of Colonel Kirke's noted regiment.

> Here nothing but the blackeft demons dwell, The refue of the damn'd, the dregs of hell. Here every breath, here every atom's curft; There's no degree in ill, for all is worst.

It is not hence defigned to recommend military revenge. The United States are, in all refpects, highly unfit for a foreign war; but though we cannot as yet take the Britifh Lion by the beard, it is not neceffary that we fhould rufh into his embraces. In feveral cafes, it may be fuppofed, that Britifh cruizers have been juftly warranted to feize and even to confifcate American veffels and their cargoes. But the number of thefe bears no proportion to those of downright piracy, which has been often accompanied with imprefement, and fometimes with murder. It is likely that there might be afcertained four or five hundred inftances of Britifh maritime robbery on America, within the last three years, and every one of them as perfectly notorious as the confifcation of the Two Friends.

But though the foreign trade of this country may be cramped by her want of a navy, yet internal navigation holds out an inexhaustible field for enterprise and exertion. Hitherto that branch of improvement has not been pushed on with fuitable fpirit. The communication by water be-

tween the Sufquehannah and the Delaware has been permitted to lag most wretchedly. In spring, 1796, the Delaware Canal Company iffued propofals for a loan. It is to be wilhed that they may find due encouragement. Were this great work happily finished, we might expect the expence of houfe-keeping in Philadelphia to fall one-half below its prefent exorbitant rate. The country round the Sufquehannah and its numerous branches would inftantly pour down on the wharfs of Philadelphia immeasurable quantities of flour, butcher's meat, poultry, butter, eggs, and other articles of fubfistence, of which the farmers within twenty miles of this city, at prefent enjoy and abufe an oppreffive monopoly. People on the Sufquehannah, by means of a good canal, could afford to bring down the produce of their lands to market, to fell it at half the prefent price, and could after all gain what they would confider as a handfome profit. Among other articles firing would fink in its dearth, for the lands on the Sufquehannah contain vaft beds of coal. This valuable article may, in fome places, be feen flicking out in large lumps, through the broken furface, where the banks of the river have been walhed away or torn down by the fream. The city would foon come to be fupplied with fuel in this way. The filly prejudice of fome people against using coal must gradually vanish before the influence of acconomy and experience. The confcionable owners of woodland near Germantown have, for a long time past, been felling the fame timber at feven dollars per cord, which may be had in Philadelphia for five, after it has been transported by water perhaps fifty miles down the Delaware. A fleet of colliers defcending the canal and the Schuylkill, would diffolve this imposition. Such a downfall has often happened in confequence of a canal. Mr. Philips, in his hiftory of inland navigation, gives an account of the first work of this kind executed by the Duke of Bridgewater. Before its existence, coals were fold in Manchester at sevenpence for an hundred and forty pounds weight. The canal reduced the price to threepence halfpenny. It is not then wandering in romance to expect that wood may yet be fold on the wharfs of this city for two or three dollars per cord. In North America this branch of improvement is only just beginning to be understood. The benefit which England has derived from inland navigation defies the skill of the accomptant. Mr. Philips, in the fifth chapter of his

book, speaking of the canals of Holland, has this passage. "The yearly profits produced by these canals are almost " beyond belief ; but it is certain that they amount to more " than two hundred and fifty-four thousand pounds (sterling) " for about forty miles of inland navigation, which is fix " hundred and twenty-five pounds per mile, the fquare fur-" face of which mile does not exceed two acres of ground; " a profit fo amazing, that it is no wonder why other na-" tions should attempt to imitate what has been found fo " highly advantageous." In confequence of fuch precedents, there is no fort of fpeculation into which either the monied people of England, or the landed interest, rush with more eagerness, than that of cutting canals. On the 25th of October 1768, a meeting was held at Banbury, concerning a plan for cutting a canal from Coventry to Oxford, and fifty thousand pounds were immediately subscribed for this purpose. On the 11th of October, 1792, a meeting was held at Inverary in Argylethire, refpecting the cutting of a canal across the isthmus of Cantire, in the west of Scotland. The expence was computed at feventy-five thousand pounds sterling. Eighteen thousand pounds were instantly fubfcribed, and the whole fum in lefs than two months. There was likewife a large extra fubscription for contingent expences. Yet this part of Scotland, from the tyrannical way of collecting taxes, fonie remnants of the feudal fystem, and other circumstances, is about as desolate as Siberia. In January, 1793, a fubscription was opened at Edinburgh, for making a canal between that city and Glafgow. The diftance is nearly forty-three miles, and the expence was estimated at an hundred and fixty thousand pounds sterling. This fum was directly fubfcribed. Many people complained that they could not get forward to put down their names. To filence this clamour, a fecond conditional fubfcription was allowed, that if the former fum did not defray the whole charges of the canal, the fecond clafs of fharers might come in for a proportion. This affair happened at the very time when Britain was going into the prefent French war. It is afferted, on good authority, that this new lift of names amounted, in a few days, to an hundred thousand pounds. Thus two hundred and fixty thousand pounds, or about eleven hundred and fifty thousand dollars were fubfcribed without hefitation. Compare this detail to the hiftory of the Sufquehannah canal, dragging its flow length

ņ

along, like Mr. Pope's wounded fnake, while we are giving ten or twelve, or sometimes fifteen dollars per barrel for flour, which this navigation, if completed, would bring to the market at fix. So enormous is the price of vegetables in Philadelphia, that a healthy journeyman printer might devour almost one half of his wages in potatoes and onions. It can hardly be fufpedted that this canal will not defray the expence of making it. About thirty years fince, a canal was projected between the rivers Forth and Clyde in North Britain. The benefits of artificial navigation were not then fo well understood in that country as they came to be afterwards. Government, in order to get the work finished, advanced part of the money. They are now drawing ten per cent of interest, and the original adventurers have alfo reaped immenfe profits. Thefe examples are adduced here to prove in what light the fubject is held in those parts of the world where it is thoroughly comprehended. In England, almost no kind of project repays itself with fuch prodigious profits.

As this is a fubject of immense importance to the United States, and as the most violent prejudices have occasionally been, and still are entertained against inland navigation, it may be worth while to fay fomething farther about it. The Duke of Sully, the greatest and most fuccessful prime minister that Europe ever faw, has the following oblervations. "France had in her hands, the infallible means of " drawing to herfelf the whole commerce of the ocean, " and Mediterranean, and of feeing them, without any " great expence in the centre of her provinces. This " would coft her nothing, but the labour of cutting a canal " from the Seine to the Loire, from the Loire to the Saone, " and from the Saone to the Meufe. The first glance of " this project prefents us with more than two millions a " year \*, which we would get from Spain alone, and which " would be real and folid wealth, like all that which is

\* By millions are underflood fo many livres. In the fixteenth century, this coin is faid to have contained about three times its prefent quantity of filver, or not lefs than two fhillings and fixpence fterling. An ounce of filver was at that time worth perhaps four in the prefent age. If this effimation be accurate, it raifes the value of a livre to ten fhillings of modern money, and that of the canal to a million fterling per annum. " produced by commerce." Memoirs, book XIX. This paffage fully proves the opinion of Sully as to the general utility of canals. That of Languedoc which croffes France and joins the ocean to the Mediterranean, is one of the greateft efforts of human induftry and ingenuity. It begins with a large refervoir, four thoufand paces in circumference, and twenty-four feet deep, which receives many fprings from the mountain of Noire. It extends fixty-four leagues in length, is fupplied by a number of rivulets, and is furnifhed with an hundred and four locks, each of about eight feet in rife. In fome places, it paffes over bridges of vaft height; in others, it cuts through folid rocks for a thoufand paces.

Suppose that Philadelphia contains fifty thousand people, and that each of them confumes bread, and other victuals to the amount of a dollar per week. This comes yearly to two millions and fix hundred thoufand dollars. By completing the canal from the Sufquehannah, put the cafe that our markets, like the price of coals at Manchester, shall be reduced to one half of their prefent dearth. Here are thirteen hundred thousand dollars per annum faved to the city. This is an object worth a fecond thought. If Philadelphia contains ten thousand families, consuming each of them fix cords of wood in the year, thefe fixty thousand cords, at five dollars a piece come to three hundred thoufand dollars\*. If the canal, by conveying coals, were to reduce the price of wood to two thirds of its prefent value, the public would fave an hundred thoufand dollars annually. It is then a great caufe of reproach to the citizens, if this Delaware Canal Company shall be embarrassed for wantof an adequate loan to complete their patriotic undertaking.

Dr. Adam Smith, in his Inquiry into the Nature and Caufes of the Wealth of Nations, has expressed himself on this fubject, with his usual good fente, perspicuity, and completenes. "To establish," fays he, "the freet, the "easieft, and the least expensive communication between "all the different parts of the country can be done only by "means of the best roads, and the best navigable canals. "Good roads, canals, and navigable rivers, by diminishing "the expence of carriage, put the remote parts of the

\* In Edinburgh, the confumption of coals is effimated at five hundred tons per day.

" country more nearly upon a level with those in the neigh-" bourhood of the town. They are upon that account the " greatest of all improvements. They encourage the culti-" vation of the remote, which must always be the most " extensive circle of the country. They are advantageous " to the town, by breaking down the monopoly of the country " in its neighbour hood. They are advantageous even to that " part of the country. Though they introduce fome rival " commodities into the old market they open many new mar-" kets to its produce." (The people from Sufquehannah, would buy in this city many articles which will not, as matters now stand, bear the expence of land carriage. Thus the canal would bring a two-fold advantage, to the citizens. It might fave them a million and an half of dollars in buying, and gain them customers to the value of a very great fum in felling. Let us proceed with Dr. Smith.) " Monopoly, befides, is a great enemy to good management, " which can never be univerfally established but in con-"fequence of that free and univerfally established com-" petition, which forces every body to have recourfe to it " for the fake of felf-defence. It is not more than fifty " years ago, that fome of the counties in the neighbour-" hood of London petitioned the parliament against the ex-" teafion of the turnpike roads into the remoter counties. " Thefe remoter counties, they pretended, from the cheap-" nefs of labour, would be able to fell their grafs and corn " cheaper in the London market than themfelves, and " would thereby reduce their rents, and ruin their culti-" vation. Their rents, however, have rifen, and their " cultivation has been improved fince that time."

The reader is requested to excuse the length of this extract, because the reputation of Dr. Smith as an author, is equal to that of Sully as a statessian. He displays an infimate and extensive knowledge of mankind from the cabinet to the cottage, a supreme contempt of national prejudice, and a searless attachment to liberty, to justice, and to truth. His Inquiry, with a few exceptions, is admired as a mass of excellence, a condensation of reasonings the most various, important, original and just.

There never was a more egregious or provoking bubble than the rife of provisions that took place in Philadelphia and Baltimore, in July, 1793, on the arrival of the French

fugitives from St. Domingo. Even before they landed, a clamour was raifed about the dearth which they would occafion of the necessaries of life. But this could folely happen by a combination among the perfons who unhappily had it in their power to raife the market. This power they could only possels from the negligence or ignorance of those who fuperintended the police of Philadelphia and Baltimore, and above all from the total want of energy in the public themfelves. When grain is not actually fcarce in England. but comes to market in great abundance, the magistrates of London or Brittol know extremely well how to procure it at a reafonable price, in fpite of forestallers, and without encroaching on the rights of individuals. Since July, 1793, the markets have been commonly almost double their rate previous to that period; yet no attempt has ever been made to check fuch gross extortion. This is the very height of stupidity. Pennsylvania contains about five hundred thousand inhabitants, produces and exports every year immense quantities of all forts of provisions, and, if there was a foreign demand, the State is well able to furnish a far greater abundance. The arrival, therefore, of five or ten thousand strangers could be regarded but as a drop in the bucket.

Truth isoften to be ftruck out by a collifion of inconteffible facts. Let us observe what has happened in other parts of the world, and then the citizens of Philadelphia and Baltimore\* may judge how vilely they have been pilfered by the acutenefs of monopolists, joined to their own negligence. Scotland is, by nature, a much poorer country than North America, and it does not, under its prefent aristocracy, produce a fufficient fupply of corn for the fubfistence of its inhabitants. In 1781, fifteen British men of war and nine frigates, under Admiral Parker, befides a large fleet of merchantmen from Jamaica, the Baltic, and other places, to the number of about fix hundred fail, came all together. and quite unexpectedly into Leith Roads. A British ship of the line is very feldom feen in that flation even in time of war; and this was the first and last fleet of ships from the West Indies that ever anchored in the Frith of Forth. The erews were estimated at twenty thousand men. They con-

\* It is fuppofed that the obfervations apply with equal propriety to New York, and feveral other fea-port towns. tinned in Leith roads for feven weeks. They were fully fupplied with every thing which they wanted. Four tranfports freighted with provisions were fent down for their , relief from London, and returned without breaking bulk. The crews from the West Indies were dreadfully afflicted with the fcurvy, but an unlimited profusion of flrawberries and other vegetables foon reftored them to health. Now, take notice to the conclusion and application of the flory. The markets of Edinburgh and Leith experienced only a fmall rife, which did not materially affect any body, and Mr. Creech, from whole letters to Sir John Sinclair part of this detail is extracted, even fays, that the markets did not rife one farthing. But here he was milinformed. Thus a city and a fea-port-town, containing nearly twice as many people as Philadelphia, and in a country which does not produce an adequate fupply of grain for itfelf, endured very little inconvenience from the abrupt intrusion of twenty thoufand visitants. On the other hand, the metropolis of Pennfylvania, a city placed by nature in the very lap and bofom of exuberant and inexhaustible plenty, felt alarm, and jufly, at the approach of two or three thousand fugitive creoles and negroes, who were to create a dearth of provisions, and who actually did fo. This demonstrates a wretched defect in the police of the city; and the fame observation suits Baltimore. If the magistrates of Edinburgh, or of most other towns in Britain, had discovered an approaching and great rife of prices, agents would have been difpatched to every corner of the country in fearch of a fupply; and if provisions had existed, they would have been found. They would have been conveyed to the town where they were wanted at the expence of its public revenue, and fold to poor people at a reduced price. In Philadelphia nothing of this kind has been attempted or even proposed.

We fat, like patience in a monument \*.

The Democratic Society of this city have fpoken loudly about their zeal for the public good. While flour was at twelve dollars per barrel in Philadelphia, it was fold in Pittfburgh for three dollars. This is mentioned on the authority of a gentleman who refides in the latter place. Now, if the Democratic Society had fent up a waggon with four horfes, the driver could readily have found a load

\* SHAKESPEARE.

fufficient for defraying his travelling charges to the wellward. He might come back, with twelve barrels of flour, in a journey of fixteen days, and as lodging for the greater part of the way is cheap, perfons acquainted with that fort of bufinefs are of opinion that the man and his horfes might be fupported for three dollars per day. But fay that the whole expences would be four dollars daily, or in whole, fixty-four dollars. Add thirty-fix dollars for the price of the twelve barrels of flour, which would thus coft an hundred dollars, while in the market the fame quantity would stand an hundred and forty-four dollars. . Let the fociety, for agency and incidents, have charged eight per cent of their advances. After all the Philadelphians would have got flour at nine dollars per barrel, initead of twelve or Tometimes fifteen. This would have been a very effential relief to multitudes. In Geneva, Berne, and most, or all of the cities and principal towns of Switzerland, public granaries are kept conflantly full of the proper fupplies for a confiderable time before hand. Hence the market is uniformly ferved at a moderate price, whereas in Philadelphia we were lately paying thirteen dollars per barrel for flour that a year before that time could have been had for feven dollars. The rife of other kinds of provisions corresponded, and has produced mountains of inconvenience and vexation to individuals.

Now what fhould hinder this city from having a public granary? Nothing at all. No part of the world produces the neceffaries of life in greater variety and abundance than Pennfylvania. Switzerland does not raife grain enough to fupport its people, fo that their magazines are filled from foreign countries. As for Geneva, Voltaire ufed to fay that this puiffant republic had not as much extent of territory as would ferve to bleach its linen; yet Geneva knows nothing of famine, and very little of a variation in the price of provifions, while Philadelphia has never employed the power which it poffeffes, of providing itfelf with fubfiftence on the moft reafonable terms. Thefe obfervations come home to the pockets of every one.

A bill was lately brought into the Houfe of Delegates of the State of Maryland, to erect a company for cutting a canal between the bay of Chefapeake, and the Delaware. On the 14th of December, 1795, the further confideration of this propofal was deferred to the next feffion of Affembly. A great outcry was raifed against it, as fitted to ruin the town of Baltimore, because the whole produce brought down the Susquehannah to that place, would, upon the opening of such a communication, be conveyed to Philadelphia. This fact is very doubtful. The distance between the Delaware and Chefapeake, from Newcasses to Frenchtown, is only eighteen miles of level country. A canal would be of the greatest use to that whole tract, and to both Pennfylvania and Maryland, as well as the State of Delaware. Long effays against the canal appeared in one of the Baltimore newspapers. But theory must give way to experience. It will be difficult, if not impossible, to find an instance where navigable canals have impoverished or injured any corner of a country through which they run.

The Netherlands, and efpecially the United Provinces, are the best cultivated portion of Europe. They are as full of canals as the human body is of veins and arteries. The rugged furface of Switzerland hardly admits of artificial navigation. But England has a great number of canals, and Scotland has got fome. Their advantages have exceeded the most fanguine calculations made by the original authors of these projects. Immense fortunes have, in the end, been raifed, where the fhares were for many years, reckoned worth little or nothing. Every parish in England is familiarly acquainted with details of this fort. Since the British East India Company defolated the plains of Hindostan, China is far better cultivated and peopled than any other fpot of equal extent on the furface of the globe. By the common accounts, it contains fomewhat more than a million of fquare miles, being much about equal to the extent of the prefent territory of the United States. China is fixty times as populous as this country, for it contains between two hundred and fifty and three hundred millions of inhabitants\*. It is about four times more populous, in proportion to its area, than Connecticut. Perhaps one half of its wealth and prosperity are derived from its numberless canals. They are the admiration of every traveller. One of them is faid to extend for cighteen hundred miles. Yet Pekin does not abforb the profperity of Canton, nor has Canton engulphed the wealth of Pekin.

\* Vid. the American edition of Guthrie's Geographical Grammar. Look at Hoiland, that prodigy of industry and perfeverance; at England, that mittrefs of agriculture, that miracle of manufactures, that metropolis of commerce! Look at China, that garden of the world! Is there in one of thefe three countries, a province, or even a village, that has been ruined by the vicinity of a canal? You thall as foon find out the philofopher's ftone, or the perpetual motion.

It is eafy to write volumes upon yolumes to support the weaker fide of any controverfy. But let us appeal to the experience of intelligent and great nations, to the Chinefe, the English, or the Dutch. An Englishman would laugh in your face, if he were afked how many boroughs in that country had been beggared by the neighbourhood of a canal. Every n an who has feen Dublin is acquainted with the immeafureable conveniencies refulting to that capital, from an artificial water carriage. Deprived of canals, its two hundred thousand inhabitants would, in fourteen days, be difperfed or extirpated by famine. Its fpacious univerfity, its thronged harbour, its populous freets, and magnificent fquares would become as defolate as the fuminit of the Alleghany. Peter the First of Russian was an enthusiast in this kind of improvement. In the end of the last century, he formed the plan of an inland navigation from Perfia to Petersburgh. Colonel Breckell, a German, and Captain John Perry, an Englishman, were among others, fuccef fively employed in attempting to complete this noble work. The defign was frustrated by the death of Peter, and even during his life, it was checked by the ferocious superstition of the Muscovites. They regarded the project as a kind of facrilege. The governor of Astracan told Perry, " that "God had made the rivers to run one way, and that it was " infolence in man to think of turning them another way." A clamour as violent has been more than once excited in America. But if no difcovery is to be adopted when it meets with powerful opposition, there is at once an end of all improvement. The art of printing was at first in some hazard of being fupprefied, becaufe it interfered with the subsistence of certain perfons who earned their bread by . transcribing manufcripts, and whole families would, as it was alleged, be reduced to beggary by the introduction of the preis. Inoculation and the Christian religion have alfe been often fuccessfully opposed by powerful individuais.

When windmills were first erected in England, a clamour was made against them, because it was faid, that by abridging labour the poor would be cast idle; nay much has been written to prove that all machines of this fort are injurious to fociety. It is the duty of a judicious enquirer to give battle to fuch paltry prejudices, to examine with candour and attention every circumstance of the point before him, to ftrip truth flark naked, and teach her to command conviction.

From canals, our enquiry proceeds of courfe to highroads. Among the monuments of wildom and magnificence that diffinguished the ancient Romans, none were more deferving of praife than their attention to the flate of public roads. As foon as a province had been conquered, a demarcation of high-ways began; and it was often executed on a plan to durable as to leave at a distance all modern imitation. No fuch panegyric can be fafely bestowed on the greater part of the high-roads in the United States. In remote parts of the country good roads can hardly as yet be expected. But between large towns, they might furely be kept in tolerable order. Those from Philadelphia to Baltimore exhibit, for the greater part of the way, an afpect of favage defolation. Chafms to the depth of fix, eight, or ten feet occur at numerous intervals. If, as in other civilized countries, we have commiffioners of high roads, they feem to maintain fome private understanding with the practitioners of furgery. On the 6th of February, 1796, a stage coach left Philadelphia for Baltimore, about feven o'clock in the morning. The distance is little more than an hundred miles. The weather was, for the first four days, excellent; nor had there been any remarkable fall of rain or fnow for fome time preceding to break up the highways. Yet it was not till the Wednefday following that the paffengers reached Baltimore. From Philadelphia to Newport, the roads were tolerable. On quitting the latter place, they became frightful. A little beyond Havre-de-Grace, the axle-tree of the carriage broke through, on a part of the highway which chanced to be perfectly finooth. This was owing to the enormous number of paffengers, and fill more to the quantity of trunks and boxes which were, beyond all reafon, crammed into and behind the coach. As no other coach could be had, the travellers and their baggage were flowed into a waggon,

and driven to the next stage, after being forced to walk feveral miles on foot before even a waggon could be found ; one old gentleman, who could not ftir, being for fome hours left alone in the broken coach. The driver of the waggon affirmed that the paffengers and their baggage did not weigh lefs than thirty-five hundred weight. On the evening of the fame day, being the fourth of the journey, another carriage overfet with them. Some Ladies, and other people in it were dangeroufly hurt. The company past the greater part of the night in a wood, where they contrived to kindle a fire, and where they were during the whole time in the midst of a shower of rain and show. About day-light, or before it, they reached a miferable aiehoufe three miles from Baltimore, where the author, who had been foaked to the fkin, was refused permiffion to dry himfelf at the kitchen flove. On coming to Baltimore, the whole company had determined to publish an account of their treatment in the daily prints, but on applying to an editor for that effect, he declined taking notice of the affair, becaufe the masters of the stage-coaches might impede the circulation of his newspapers. It was understood that the fame anfwer would be received from other printers, and therefore the defign was dropt. Now, in the name of all that is rational, what can be the ufe of the prefs, if perfons dare not publish a complaint of fuch infamous treatment? A stage-coach, like those used on the Baltimore road to Philadelphia, with a load of thirty-five hundred weight, was dreadful work. A paffenger might have exclaimed with Falstaff's fair one, "I would rather be a giantefs, and " lie under mount Pelion." After paying eight dollars for a feat in the coach, the passengers were, belides the waste of uleful time, put to a confiderable extra expence by flaying almost five days on the road, when the whole journey ought to have been difpatched, even in winter, within two days at farthest. In fummer, it should not take up more than one day. Some of the travellers in the above coach would rather have returned to Philadelphia on foot, than have entered it again. But this alternative was to be attended with wading up to the chin, or fwimming acrofs different ftreams which have not yet been thought worthy of a bridge. In the month of February, neither wading nor fwimming is extremely comfortable. This expedition was just like the greater part of those made during winter

between Philadelphia and Baltimore. The complaint is not confined to a fingle journey, and much lefs to a fingle passenger. Many coaches were, last feason, overturned. Many paffengers were feverely bruifed. It is affirmed that a driver, and a child were, at different times killed. Through a large proportion of the United States, travelling is alike perilous. Many excellent horfes are annually destroyed by the abfurd attempt of owners of stage-coaches to overload and overwork them. Intereft as well as gratitude, requires humane treatment of an animal to whom mankind are indebted for fo many both of the necessaries and Juxuries of life. Notwithstanding the divine charter granted to the antediluvian navigator, and to which an appeal is fo frequently made in defence of cruelty to inferior animals, mankind have no more title to inflict wanton torture upon a horfe than upon a negro, or indeed a white man. The Holy Scriptures contain many passages, wherein tenderness to the brute creation is affectingly recommended. Yet though the English language has perhaps twenty thousand printed fermons, it will be hard to find fo much as one of them devoted to . this important fubject. It fignifies nothing, or very little, to make children learn by heart whole sheets of a catechism, unlefs they are habituated to fympathize with mifery. When the fchool boy favage is encouraged or permitted to hang dogs and cats, to pick out the eyes of a sparrow, and to shoot a plover, not for the pleafure of eating but of killing, experience and age cannot fail of maturing this pupil into a complete barbarian. He is then fit to be an English bishop imprisoning differters, an English lieutenant of the navy, boarding an American ship at the head of a prefs-gang, an English judge on the Algerine bench of Bermuda, or an English Governor of Canada, with his face blacked, conducting the Wyandots to an affault on Fort Recovery.

About two years ago, the Apostolical Assembly of the State of Delaware, passed a law forbidding stage-coaches to cross their hand's breadth of territory on Sunday. The proprietor or driver of such a carriage, is liable to imprifonment for fix months, and a fine of fifty pounds. No man of fense can assess a figure a reason for this statute. When travellers are obliged, on such an account to stop at Newport or Wilmington, they are not likely to spend their time in a way more respectful to the Christian religion than if they were permitted to proceed: As they muft halt at a tavern, fome of their libations will be offered up in a ftile not of the utmost reverence either for the law itfelf, the legislature which made it, or the pretence which gave it birth. If this affembly had attempted to form a plan for improving the high-roads, and for making decent bridges over the streams that interfect them, they would have been at least as honourably and advantageously employed, both for their constituents and themfelves. It is to be hoped that the contemptuous pity of their fellowcitizens will compel them to rend afunder this rag of fuperstition.

The magiftrates of Philadelphia or Baltimore might with equal juffice prohibit the inhabitants of either of those two places from riding in carriages, or on horfeback, on Sundays. Such an order would be regarded as the height of impertinence, and as fomething very like oppression. The state of Delaware has no pretensions to superior refinement in piety, or superior purity of morals. The law in question subjects travellers to much unnecessary trouble and expence. It is indeed frequently broken. But we had much better refcind a filly law than run the hazard of penalties and confinement by the breach of it.

About three years ago, a bill paffed in the legislature of Pennfylvania, for the construction of a high road from Philadelphia to Lancaster. The perfons who first undertook this business, discovered confummate ignorance of its very rudiments. Their plan was to lay the largest stones which could be found, in the bottom, and then heap earth upon them; by this means, when a flower of rain loofened the ground, a horfe would fink his leg through it, and then break it between the stones at the bottom. Happily for the country, Mr. John Curwen, an English gentleman, who had a farm near the fide of the road, perfuaded the company to let him try the tafk. He began with a bottom of common earth; he then broke the stones into the bignefs of about a man's fift, and formed of them a concave layer about eighteen inches deep. This road, with a fmall expence for repairs, will endure for centuries. The diftance from Philadelphia to Lancaster, during bad weather, is in reality fhortened by one-half, and the whole has been completed at the moderate expence of about fifteen hundred pounds per mile.

What should prevent the people of Baltimore and its neighbourhood, from undertaking a work of that kind? Is it not of infinite advantage to every commercial town, to be as acceffible as poffible? But alas! this is only preaching in the defort. The very fireets are in a flate of dirt and diforganization, which would have flaggered the perfeverance of Xenophon himfelf, at the head of his ten thoufand Greeks. The exhalation from this mafs of putrefaction must furely corrupt the atmosphere, and tend to shorten the lives of the inhabitants. In fummer the ftreets are polluted with putrid animal fubftances fufficient for producing a pestilence, fuch as dead dogs, cats, rats, &c. &c. It might be adviseable at that time of year, to turn loofe the pigs, as a leffer nuifance; they would clear the freets from fome part of this garbage. Let us put the cafe, that a foreigner lands at Baltimore, and that he may be difpoled to put a few questions. He might perhaps begin thus. " You, citizens of Baltimore, have commissioners for col-" lecting a lamp-tax, but where are the lamps? A ftranger " may wander at night, from one end to another of this " town, without feeing perhaps a fingle lamp, unlefs at the " door of a tavern, when the landlord has lighted one for " the benefit of his customers? Why do you continue to " pay the piper, without ever getting a tune? Do the " flaves of Ireland, or of Turkey, in the plenitude of their " defpotifm, fubmit to any treatment more oppofite to com-"mon fenfe? If you with to wander in the dark, to break " your thins over a pile of wood, or your necks by flum-" bling down into a cellar, in fhort, if you love darknefs ra-" ther than light, it is highly proper to have no lamps in the " fireets; but if you refuse to have lamps, by what motives " are you induced to pay for them? Why do you fuffer " people to gallop on horfeback through your freets to the " imminent danger of your own lives, and those of your " children? Why are carts and waggons permitted to drive " through crowds of people, without any man at the head " of the foremost horse? In New York a perfon galloping " through the fireets would be inftantly flopt and fined in " forty fhillings.

"As to the naftinefs of your fireets, efpecially in a wet day, we need not in future apply for a complete idea of tilth, to Crantz's account of Greenland, or Kolben's hiftory of the Cape of Good Hope. While every paffenger is " wading from four to fix inches deep in mud, he may be " tempted to recollect the cleanlinefs of towns in Holland, " where the very foil is a quagmire, but where every citi-" zen *wafhes* the pavement before his door."

Filth on the freets is not a reproach peculiar to Baltimore. As to high-ways, those of England were, long fince the beginning of this century, altogether as indifferent as many of those in the United States. A recital of fome of the difficulties which have been overcome in Britain will help to flimulate the people of this country to fimilar exertions, which must infallibly be attended with fimilar fucces.

About thirty-three years ago, a fingle ftage-coach fet out once a month from Edinburgh to London. The diffance is four hundred miles, and the journey in this way required from twelve to fixteen days. It was common for a citizen of Edinburgh to make his will, before he began a London journey. In 1783, fixty coaches fet out monthly, or fif-teen every week. They reached London in four days. In 1786, two coaches fet out daily, and arrived at the capital in fixty hours. They have continued to travel at this rate ever fince, and in all weathers, unless perhaps once or twice in the courfe of winter, when fome very deep fall of fnow has retarded them for two or three hours. A perion may now fet out from Edinburgh on Sunday afternoon, stay a whole day in London, and be at home again, on Saturday next at fix in the morning. This is very different from crawling to Baltimore at the pace of twenty miles a day, and at the imminent hazard of breaking your neck, while your legs are either wedged in between chefts and boxes, or bolted up to your breaft in order to make room for them. If the British example cannot stimulate to improvement, the cafe is defperate. Americans are confantly telling one another that all mankind admire this country. The conftitution has existed but feven years, and our ENLIGHTENED citizens are three words already worn to tatters. Pray then do not let the ignorant Scots and English excel you fo prodigioully in accommodations for travelling. For be affured that the man who has travelled four hundred miles in England in fixty hours, will not be ready to admire a Baltimore or an Alexandrian stage-coach. It has been stated above that the people near London opposed the extension of turnpike roads to the remoter parts of that country, and in Scotland they were extremely unpopular. Yet wherever

they have been made, they are, within a flort time, unformly confidered as a great advantage to every body.

Americans univerfally complain of the uncertainty of the weather; that one day is intenfely hot, and the next infufferably cold. One part of their domeftic oconomy is highly fitted to aggravate this misfortune. Every native of Britain muft be able to recollect his difagreeable fenfations, when he first came within the effluvia of an American. showe. Even on days moderately warm the doors of the room are often shut with as much care as if the scene lay in Hudson's Bay or Nova Zembla, while the stove is heated to a degree that almost hinders a foreigner from breathing. When people quit fuch a place, and go into the open air, the bad effects of cold muft be felt in a proportionably stronger degree. Stoves overheated, are, in this country, undoubtedly one principal cause of difease and death.

Americans cannot be too thankful that, while Europe is convulfed to its foundations, the United States afford only pacific materials for history. Of the scenes now acting in the old world, we have a fingular fpecimen from a report made in May, 1794, by St. Just, to the Committee of Public Safety, at Paris. The neutrality of Denmark was purchafed with immenfe fums. St. Just fays, that corn received from that country, by the price which it coft, might have been mistaken for gold dust. The neutrality of Switzerland required bribes to the amount of forty millions of livres, or about eight millions of dollars. Genoa coft the Republic fifty-four millions of livres, or ten millions fix hundred thousand dollars. By this means France obtained permission from that state to buy up in her territories immenfe quantities of corn, of clothing, and of provisions of every kind. St. Just fays, that to these fupplies the Republic was indebted for the recovery of Toulon, and Marfeilles, the prefervation of Nice, and the peace and union of the Southern Departments. The Convention wanted to buy Genoa herfelf, to convert her government to their principles, and her money to their treasury. These are the words of the reporter; but the plan did not then fucceed. The enormous amount of these bribes shews the amazing expence of the war in general. It was kinder to buy the friendship of the Genoese than to bully them as the British did the Grand Duke of Tufcany. The fale of Toulon to

Lord Hood difcovers that both parties had recourse to the fame weapons. It is idle then to fuppofe any peculiar degree of immorality among the French. They have not yet done any thing fo exceedingly pitiful as William Pitt forging their allignats, and barreling them up for Quiberon\*. The noife about French bribery, by the friends of England is out of place; becaufe that country itfelf is the centrical point of ever species of corruption. Thus in the trial between Charles Fox and John Horne Tooke, on the 30th of April, 1792, the following, among other fifts, transpired. There had been in 1784, and 1788, two fuccesfive elections to Parliament for Westminster. Each of these coft each of the parties fifty thousand pounds sterling. An elector, before voting, must fwear that he has received no bribe, fo that Englishmen were not only bribed, at an expence of two hundred thousand pounds sterling, but perjuring themfelves by thoufands in the broad day-light of infamy. In 1788, a fcrutiny of bad votes was attempted by the two parties. Lord Hood expended on the ministerial fide fourteen thousand pounds, and the question was left undecided. Of his various charges about twenty thoufand pounds were paid by perfons in office. The Lords of Admiralty gave an hundred and fifty pounds each; the Lords of the Treafury two hundred pounds each; the Duke of Richmond and the Duke of Newcastle, five hundred pounds each, and those in the next degree of office below their Graces, three hundred pounds. Some individuals in these classes did not pay fo much as the rest. The remainder of the money was paid by the Secretary to the Treafury. What a precious government! Mr. Tooke had a written list of the particulars in his pocket, and when Lord Kenyon more than once attempted to interrupt his recital, he finally threatened his Lordship with an impeachment, and Kenyon was glad to be filent. This forms an equipoife to the bribery at Genoa. The corruption employed in October 1796, at the elections in Philadelphia, makes but a poor figure belide that of Westminster. Dr. Logan has been elected into the Affembly of the State, without his knowledge, and while he was on a journey to New England. Mr. M'Clenachan was not acquainted with his being on the lift, as Congressional member for the county of Philadel-

( 41 )

\* Vid. Hoche's difpatches.

F

phia, till near the day of election, and nobody fufpects that his feat cost him a folicitation, or a fixpence. The guilt of the city member is fortunately afcertained. About two years ago, the German Lutheran Church was burnt down, and Mr. Swanwick gave fix hundred dollars to affift in rebuilding it. Several Germans voted for him at the election; which it is quite impossible that they should have done, but for this previous act of bribery\*. It was undoubtedly with a fimilar defign that, about feven years ago, he paid for the pavement of St. Peter's Church. His corrupt artifices have extended to the erecting or adorning of almost every place of worthip in the city. What pity it is that, on the IIth of October last, we could not have had a little sketch of Westminster elections! Suppose now five hundred or a thousand freemen, paid by Mr. Wolcot and his clerks. Gorged with roast beef and port, brandishing bludgeons and cutlaffes, with cockades in their hats, and colours in their van, behold them rufh up Chefnut-freet to the field of action! There they are encountered by a phalanx of patriots equally firm, and fired with the nobleft difdain for ministerial corruption. Fifty or an hundred on each fide get themfelves knocked down, and are carried to the hofpital, while every fober citizen fhuts up his houfe and execrates alike both contending factions. This is the practical part of that British Conflitution which fome people think as fublime a difcovery as the mariner's compafs. + With fuch purity at home, Englishmen, when they looked abroad, were naturally flocked at the corruption and brutality of French mobs. It was impossible that immaculate politicians, like Pitt and Richmond, could think of treating with a herd of barbarians. At last, when they have contracted an additional public debt of more than an hundred millions sterling, when they have lost an hundred thousand men, when their confols have funk from ninetyeight per cent to fifty-four, when they have unfolded a volume of external defeat and domestic wretchedness that might exhaust the eloquence of Dr. Ames, in a word, when nothing but an arm of the fea, twenty-one miles broad, faves them from instant annihilation, the people of Eng-

\* However abfurd fuch an allegation may be, it is loudly infifted upon.

+ Vid. Mr. Adams's Defence of the American Conftitution.

land become difposed to acknowledge the existence of their conquerors. Aitonishing condescention ! We may foon hope to hear them acknowledge that the fun fhines.

A London newspaper for December, 1795, relates that eighteen millions sterling were wanted for the fervice of the enfuing year. This included two millions borrowed to pay off the bounties on importation of corn. Thus, before a word was fpoke about the loan in either Houfe of Parliament, the negociation had been closed, and the particulars were known at every tap-room in England. The conditions of this loan are involved in the technical terms of 'Change alley. One part of the bargain is clear and plain. The contractors for raising these eighteen millions, are to have a bonus of fix per cent. This comes, upon the whole job, to a premium of one million and eighty thoufand pounds, for the advance of the money; and there is faid to be alfo a difcount of ten per cent. for prompt payment. The latter stipulation, if accurate, shews that the minister must be in an alarming want of cash, since between the premium and difcount, he was going to give an extra bounty, for ready payment, of fixteen per cent. befides the current interest of the market. If the whole loan has been actually collected at this rate, the premium amounts all together to two millions eight hundred and eighty thousand pounds sterling, or twelve millions and eight hundred thousand dollars, at the rate of four shillings and fixpence sterling per dollar. Citizens of America! this fum is not the annual loan of England, but the premium for it; and fix other fuch premiums put together, would discharge the national debt of the United States.

This chapter will terminate with a recurrence to the internal fituation of America. The dangerous manœuvres of our Reprefentative, Mr. Swanwick, in affifting to build churches, has already been fligmatized with just opprobrium. There is, in the numerous arraignments against him, another charge not less important. He has paid a paternal attention to the feminaries of education in Philadelphia, an office for which he was fitted by his acquaintance with French and English literature, and with a variety of modern languages. In fome parts of the continent, education is of difficult accefs. Thus in Baltimore, the medium rate of school wages for reading, writing, or casting up-accounts, is four dollars per querter, befides the price of fire-wood, which comes to a dollar for the winter leafon. If a poor man fends four children to fchool, they cost him feventeen dollars each per annum, or fixty eightdollars for the whole. If we compute the wages of fuch a man himfelf at fix dollars and an half per week, and many fathers of families have not fo much, this comes only to three hundred and thirty-eight dollars a year, of which fixty-eight dollars for fchool wages, form fomewhat more than a fifth part. In confequence of this difproportion and extreme rate of fchool wages, many poor people in Baltimore cannot afford fending their children to fchool. It is then to be expected that the rifing generation are not remarkable for the purity of their manners. It will be needless to form a public library, as proposed, in that town. unlefs the inhabitants are able to read. It would be laudable in the more wealthy clafs of citizens to form an affociation for a Free School, where the children of the poor could be inftructed gratis, in reading, writing, and arithmetic.

At Germantown, in Pennfylvania, the children are always fent to fchool for a certain time, longer or fhorter. The wages are ten shillings per quarter, which is exactly one third of the rate above stated. Thus an hundred children may learn to read, write, and cast accompts, for the infignificant expence of two hundred pounds a year, and in no way can that fum be better expended. Baltimore has both a French and English theatre. The company belonging to the latter staid there, in 1795, about five months. They received nearly two thousand dollars, or feven hundred and fifty pounds per week. In the midft of fuch doings, it is not extravagant to apply three or four hundred pounds a year for a free fchool. Report fays that the flage improves public tafte. It may be fo; but how are vou to improve the tafte of a man who cannot read the ten commandments? As for fubstantial utility and advantage, a public free fchool bears the fame proportion to one of the Baltimore play-houfes, that a fhirt does to one of its ruffles.

The following remarks have reference to an impropriety common in books read at fchool. They are taken from the Philadelphia Gazette of the 8th of December, 1794.

"A proverb fays, that birds which have flown far have "fair feathers. This applies to Greek and Roman "writings. If a fentence has had the good fortune to be "composed in *Greek*, and two thousand years ago, it is "received with much greater deference than something "just as good, or perhaps better, that was heard without "notice yesterday.

" In no inftance hath praife been bestowed with lefs " judgment than on the orations of Cicero. It is vain to " quote the attestation of a thousand critics in defence of " his file. Cicero had great literary talents. His works " abound with beautiful fentiments. But take from him " his perpetual egotifin, his repetitions and digreffions, his " fcurrility and his adulation, and most of his harangues " will be reduced to half their prefent fize. In the Ame-" rican edition of Scott's Lessons, a large head is assigned " to fpeeches from Cicero and Livy. The former have " fome pretensions to authenticity. The latter have none. "It would be wifer to infert in fchool books, the best " public addreffes made in this country during or fince the " revolution. Instead of long harangues of which not a " fingle word was ever pronounced, let us infert the fare-" well addrefs of the Prefident to the Revolution army, " or the speech to the legislature 'of Pennsylvania, deli-" vered last Saturday, by Governor Mifflin."

## CHAPTER III.

State of the British Navy. Algiers. American Navy. Congress. Refolution moved by Mr. S. Smith, for counteracting the British Treaty. Importance of Seamen to America. The French Flag prefented to Congress. Examination of Randall continued. His Defence and Sentence. Whitney. Extreme hard/hip of his treatment. Acquitted. British Precedents on this Business. Motion by Mr. Williams about the mint. Retrospect. The motion rejected. Narrowness of Official Salaries. Motion by Mr. Livingston on the Mint also lost.

A BRITISH Almanack for the year 1796, flates the force of the British Navy. There were then in commission one hundred and fixteen ships of the line, twenty of fifty guns, one hundred and fixty-three frigates, and an hundred and forty-nine floops; in whole four hundred and fifty. Fifty-five soft the line, eight fifties, twenty-fix

frigates, and fifty-one floops, being an hundred and forty fail, were in ordinary. Thus the navy confifted all together of five hundred and ninety fail. An English newspaper of the 31st of May last fays, that the navy extended then to five hundred and ninety-eight vellels; eight of different. rates having been added fince the beginning of the year 1796. Many of these ships require a complement of a thousand hands. The one hundred and fixteen men of war, actually in commission on the 1st of January, 1796, would, on an average, want at least feven hundred and fifty hands, making in whole eighty-feven thousand. The three hundred and thirty-two remaining veffels on fervice could not, on a medium, have lefs than two hundred men each, in whole fixty-fix thoufand four hundred. Thefe, added to the former eighty-feven thousand, make the total number of their crews one hundred and fiftythree thousand four hundred.

With fuch a prodigious maritime force, poffeffing Gibraltar, and till of late, Minorca, the British, even in time of peace, have always chosen rather to keep the Algerines in their pay than to fight them. This fubmifion on the part of the greatest naval power in the world, gave but a bad omen of American policy with regard to thefe pirates. When, in the fall of 1793, they feized feveral ships belonging to this country, it was refolved to attack them, and on the 10th of March, 1794, a bill past in the House of Representatives for building fix frigates. The estimated expence was fix hundred thousand dollars, but a much greater fum is neceffary to clear off the whole charges. At what time any one of these frigates will be ready for fervice, cannot yet be determined; when they were finished, the original plan was to fail fourteen hundred leagues to encounter Algerines. From Gibraltar, England could attack thefe people with a thoufand advantages wanting to fix folitary America frigates. Her naval strength, alfo, for a regular attack, is two hundred times greater than that of the United States would be, were thefe frigates ready for fea. Six British feventyfours would unquestionably blow all the corfairs of Algiers out of the water, if they could only be fure of getting up to them; yet, for fome reason, England avoids an experiment.

A confideration of these circumstances might, on the first blush of the business, have convinced Congress what was their proper line of purfuit. A majority of fifty Reprefentatives outvoting thirty nine, went directly counter to the policy of the first naval power on the ocean. With the fame rationality, a captain of foot might think himfelf a greater general than Marlborough, or the King of Pruffia. No peculiar blame can be attached to this majority in Congress. Their project was then popular; and the pufillanimity of Mr. Madifon and others, who objected to it, formed a topic of regret to their friends and of reproach from their enemies. Thefe preparations have long fince become abfolutely ufelefs, which proves that the approbation of the public is often but a brittle commodity. So empty alfo was the American treafury that, on the 5th of February, 1795, eleven months after this expensive iquadron had been refolved on, Mr. William Smith, one of its chief patrons, laid before the Houfe of Reprefentatives a plan for paying off the national debt by annual instalments of Two per cent \*. It was fortunate for our feamen that the plan of fighting was dropt. The Algerines are far from being despicable enemies. Suppose a commander unacquainted with their peculiar mode of working their veffels, in an engagement, and with the point wherein their strength lies. Though he should navigate a much better ship than one of theirs, and have the fupport of a most able crew, he might unexpectedly go to the bottom. This is here given as the opinion of a well informed officer, who ferved during many years in the English navy, and, for a great part of that time, in the Mediterranean. The British have always studiously cultivated a friendship with Algiers, and almost every maritime people in Europe have done the fame. As the temerity of the American scheme is now confessed, nothing farther needs to be faid about it. . But the public would be glad to learn for what reafon captains were appointed, and entered into pay for the command of these vessels before they had been built. In the British navy, only the gunner, the carpenter, and the boatfwain get into pay, when the keel is laid. In naval policy, America should look up to Britain as a precedent; instead of which, there is in this instance a

\* Vid. A Short History of Excise, &c. p. 101.

culpable deviation from œconomy, as if a tenant were to pay rent for his future lodgings, during three years before the landlord built his house. Cocks make free with the horfe's corn, fays a proverb. If the perfons who pay thefe fix captains, were to have defrayed even one-tenth part of the money out of their own finances, they would have looked more tharply after the concern. No notice has yet been taken in Congress of this depredation of public refources. If infpectors were wanted, let them be appointed, but the captain of a veffel not yet in existence is a fingularity. If the keels of thefe fix frigates had been laid in the River Thames, they would hardly have been heard of, till ready for launching. They might have been, perhaps, two months on the flocks. In no part of the world are ships built faster or better than in this country, yet fuch is the inferiority of the American Admiralty to that, of England. If war had been declared between the two nations, an hundred of our privateers would have been completed from the first plank in one-fourth part of the time already confumed on these fix half finished frigates; while a multitude of American cruifers of all dimensions would have ambufcaded every port of the old world from Canton to Archangel.

It is an object of aftonishment, that Britain should be capable of fupporting a navy with an hundred and fifty thoufand men. Sir John Dalrymple, in his memoirs of that illand, gives as a rough calculation, that one man at fea cofts as much as four by land. By this rate, the British navy requires a much greater expense than what would maintain a land army of five hundred thousand men. For 1794, England paid eighty-five thousand hands in the naval fervice, befides fublidizing between thirty and forty thoufand troops on the continent, while her own land-forces, including militia, amounted to an hundred and forty thoufand men. On the 2d of February, 1795, Mr. Pitt propoled to augment the maritime forces by about thirty thoufand. On this occasion he mentioned that, in 1793, about an hundred thoufand feamen, and fourteen hundred thoufand tons of fhipping were employed in the trade of Britain. In 1796, the naval force of that country hath been still farther augmented, and is now, perhaps, even confiderably higher than the one hundred and fifty thousand men above stated. To this continent it is a question of intereft to learn by what means an ifland containing but fifty millions of acres, of which above twenty-two millions are lying wafte \*, hath attained to fuch enormous wealth and importance. The explanation must afford an ufeful lefton to citizens of America.

This fuperiority in maritime power was chiefly owing to the celebrated navigation act patt in England by the parliament which executed Charles the First. Various attempts had formerly been made in the reigns of Richard II. of Henry VI. VII. and VIII. and by Elizabeth. But they were of little effect till, in 1646, the republicans prohibited foreign bottoms from interfering in the trade between Britain and her colonies. In 1651, it was enacted, that no merchandize either of Afia, Africa, or America, should be imported into England, unleis in English built ships, whereof the commanders, and three-fourths of the crews, were English feamen. This law raifed some discontent; but it was fuccefsful. The French Republic have made an act to the fame tendency; and, when the prefent war ends, its operations will be fenfibly felt. This country is already making rapid firides to naval power. In 1792, American shipping amounted to four hundred and fifteen thousand tons. In 1789, it had been only two hundred and ninetyfeven thousand. This was an increase of an hundred and eighteen thousand tons in only three years, or about forty thousand tons per annum. If, as in Britain, there is a mariner to every fourteen tons of thipping, America had in 1792, thirty thousand feamen. England has done her utmost to lesien their number. One frigate has impressed thirty-five, and another, feventy American failors +. Numerous instances of this kind happen. Some thousands of that clafs of people are now probably confined on board of the British navy. Their fituation can be envied only by a flaye in Algiers. In fpite of fuch checks, the tonnage of

> \* In England, 6,259,470, acres. Wales, 1,629,307, do. Scotland, 14,218,224, do.

Total 22,107,001 acres. This is taken from the report of a Committee of Agriculture, published at London in spring, 1795.

† Cato on the British Treaty, No. 10.

G

American fhipping, and the number of American feamen must have at least doubled fince 1792.

## Summary of the

VALUE OF THE EXPORTS FROM THE UNITED STATES. Dollars. Cts.

	2000000000 00000
For the year commencing the 1ft Oft. 1790,	
and ending 30th Sept. 1791,	19,012,040 58
For the year commencing the 1ft Oct. 1791,	
and ending 30th Sept. 1792,	20,753,097.95
For the year commencing the 1ft Oct. 1792,	
and ending 30th Sept. 1793,	26,109,572 14
For the year commencing the 1ft Oct. 1793,	•
and ending 30th Sept. 1794,	33,026,233 91
For the year commencing the 1ft Oct. 1794,	
and ending 30th Sept. 1795,	47,989,472 44
	Income of the Address

For the year ending on the 30th of September, 1796, the accounts are not yet completed, but the exports will amount to fomething between fifty-five and fixty millions of dollars. This is flated as the opinion of that well-informed and communicative public officer, Mr. Tench Coxe, who fuperintends this department. Thus, in fix years only, American exports have trebled their amount, a rapidity of increase unequalled in the annals of commerce.

This flort fketch of the British act of navigation, and of the state of our own, feems naturally to introduce and illustrate the following propofal.

On the 4th of January, 1796, Mr. Samuel Smith laid on the table of the Houfe of Reprefentatives a refolution to this effect: "That from and after the day of "it fhall not be lawful for any foreign fhip or veffel to land

" it hall not be lawful for any foreign flip of veilel to land " in the territories of the United States any goods, wares, " or merchandize other than the produce of that country to " which the flip or veffel belongs." Mr. Smith expressed his apprehensions that the late treaty with Britain would prove fatal to American flipping. His refolution was intended to counteract that confequence; and it may be fupported by numerous arguments. The landed property on the coast of this continent cannot be fecure from pirates or invaders, unless it has the means of defence. Thefe means must be chiefly derived from a naval force. All maritime strength is founded on the number of feamen which a nation, in ordinary times, employs for its carrying

trade. America could fpeedily form a powerful navy, becaufe the has numerous thips and feamen. For this reafon, it is evidently her interest to support, and if possible, to encreafe the extent of her fhipping, that if any fudden emergency fhould plunge her into a rupture with fome foreign government, fhe may continue to poffefs this refource for defence and vengeance. During her war with Britain, American armed veffels did infinite mifchief to British commerce, and a fhort retrospect of admitted facts will. ferve to explain the object of this motion, which copies one of Mr. Madifon's refolutions proposed in Congress, on the 3d of January, 1794. A review of this kind will alfo tend to difpell that timidity which has been of late betrayed by fome people in this country, and will evince that the United States are far from being defenceless by fea. In 1774, it was stated in the British Parliament, that the number of merchant veffels belonging to Britain was fix thoufand two hundred and nineteen. In the maritime courts of Suffex, Effex, and Middlefex, three counties of Maffachufetts, there were libelled during the war one thousand and ninety-five British vessels with their cargoes, besides thirteen cargoes taken out of veffels that had been abandoned after their capture by American privateers. Of every hundred prizes at fea which the latter made, it is computed that fifty-five were retaken by British cruizers, before they reached the ports of the United States; fo that out of fix thousand two hundred and nineteen ships employed in British trade, two thousand four hundred and fifty may be reckoned as taken by the privateers equipped from only three maritime counties of Maffachufetts. More than one half of thefe two thousand four hundred and fifty veffels were indeed retaken, but the falvage to the re-captors, and the derangement from delay in the voyage were in themfelves a fevere burden upon British owners\*. But as America had many privateers befides those belonging to the three counties above mentioned, the havock to British shipping must have been prodigious. The total loss may be conjectured at fomewhere between ten and fourteen millions sterling. This could not fail to have a material effect in abridging that war. American failors are, therefore, in

\* These particulars are extracted from A view of the United States, by Mr. Tench Coxe. reality, a maritime militia, always ready for public fervice, and coffing the public nothing, while not actually in fervice. The feamen, alfo, are vaftly more numerous now than they were at the breaking out of the laft war. They could at this time prove much more troublefome to a nation poffeffing an extensive trade, than, in 1775, they were to England. At first view, one is led to think the British navy invincible, and that it would instantly destroy the whole shipping of a country like America. But the last war refuted this chimera, and shewed that all the naval ftrength of Britain was incapable of fully protecting her trade, or of blocking up a coaft which extends fix hundred leagues. If all the American cruizers fitted out in the laft war had been formed into a line of battle, it is true that twenty or thirty of the British first and fecond rates could with ease have dispersed or funk them. But plunder, not fighting, must to the United States, be the principal object of a maritime war; and in this way the American marine proved equal to the English navy. One reason why this country thould be highly folicitous to augment the number and protect the rights of her feamen is the difficulty with which an able mariner is formed. By land, a man may learn the military exercise in a few months, and experience, and the example of veterans will foon make him a tolerable foldier. But by fea, the cafe is quite different. Many years are requilite for accomplishing a skillful navigator; and even a common failor to be moderately useful must be far longer in training than a common foldier. This is the reafon why it has always been fo hard a talk for any nation to become fuddenly a great maritime power. With abundance of men and money, a formidable army can, by due attention, always be created in two or three years. But unlefs a country has previoufly poffeffed an extensive trade by fea, and a trade carried on in her own bottoms, it is utterly impoflible for her to form a navy. Without fuch a trade, no degree of wealth or population can raife it. This explains the anxiety which Britain has always difcovered to augment the number of her failors. Unlefs the can fapport merchantmen to educate and fupply her navy with skilful mariners, the navy itself is of no value; and even after every precaution on this head, fhe is often reduced, as at prefent, to a diffreffing fcarcity of hands. What renders the French fo remarkably inferior

in naval engagements to the British? It is admitted that their fhips of war are better built than those of England. It will no longer be faid, as it often has been, that they want courage. The French artillery is the best conducted in Europe. Here then we have excellent thips, brave men. and skilfal gunners. The only reason for their bad success is want of good feamen. The fuperior wifdom, vigilance, and refources of their new government will in time fupply this defect, but it must require the gradual exertions of feveral years. If America has a great number of merchantmen in fervice, fhe can, when neceffary, become a formidable enemy on the ocean. Her marine ftrength in war is exactly proportioned to the number of her bottoms in time of peace. Befides, the more feamen that fhe has, the fewer other nations can have, fince her fhipping perform the voyages which, if they were laid up, would be made by others. Whatever adds to her ftrength by fea weakens in an equal proportion her rivals or enemies, and thus a two-fold advantage is gained for the independence and fecurity of the union. On this account, her mariners, more perhaps than any other clafs of citizens, are entitled to her peculiar protection. Many people have thought that if the commerce of this country could be carried on entirely by foreign bottoms, like that of the Chinefe empire, it would be of equal advantage to the continent, and that citizens, who now act as failors, might be as profitably employed as landfinen in other occupations. The opinion has a plaufible appearance, but attentive reflection will difcover its inaccuracy. In China, labour is above ten times cheaper than here, fo that if tea were to grow in Pennfylvania, it would be lefs expensive to export it from that empire than to gather it at home. China is crouded with manufacturing towns, and the low rate of wages makes it impoffible for foreigners to import manufactures in any great quantity. In America, every thing is at prefent the reverse. To renounce the practice of navigation would be calling away those means of offensive war, by which alone the United States can ever hope to make their commerce fecure on the ocean. The chief object of Mr. Madifon's refolutions was augmenting the ftrength of this maritime militia, and at the fame time to reduce that of Britain. The great objection made on the other fide was that the latter country might revenge this check by counter regulations.

Nothing active has been done upon this refolution fuggested by Mr. Samuel Smith; but if the British treaty shall really produce those evils that have been predicted, it is like enough that fome expedient of a fimilar kind will be adopted by Congress. After this resolution had been laid on the table, the President's Secretary was introduced with an American officer bearing the flag of the French Republic, a prefent from the Committee of Public Safety at Paris. This flag is made of the richeft filk, and highly ornamented with allegorical paintings. In the middle a cock is reprefented, the emblem of France, flanding on a thunderbolt. At two corners, diagonally opposite, are reprefented two bombshells burfling; at the other two corners various military emblems. Round the whole is a rich border of oak leaves, alternately yellow and green, the first shaded with brown and heightened with gold; the latter shaded with black and relieved with filver; in this border are entwined warlike inftruments. The edge is ornamented with rich gold fringe. The staff is covered with black velvet. crowned with a golden pike, and enriched with the tricolor cravatic, and a pair of taffels worked in gold and the three national colours. The flag was to be deposited in the archives of the United States. It was accompanied with a letter from the Prefident to the Houfe; a fecond addreffed to Congrefs, from the Committee of Public Safety; a copy of the address of Citizen Adet to the President on delivering the flag, and his answer to the French minister. The letter from Paris was dated the 21st of October, 1794, and contained, as well as the address of Citizen Adet, the warmest professions of friendship for the United States. The answer of the President met half-way the advances of the French Republic. While in the most agreeable terms he complimented France on her valour, her victories, and her attachment to the caufe of liberty, he at the fame time, with the prudence fuitable to his fituation, avoided any remarks that might afford ground of offence or fufpicion to other nations in amity with this country, but whofe forms of government differ from those of France and America. In his addrefs to Citizen Adet we recognize the mafterly and well known pen of George Washington. The piece is couched in terms of unufual animation, and is as follows.

"Born, Sir, in a land of liberty; having early learned "its value; having engaged in a perilous conflict to defend "it; having in a word, devoted the beft years of my life

" to fecure its permanent establishment in my own country, " my anxious recollections, my fympathetic feelings, and my " beft wifhes are irrefiftably excited whenfoever in any " country I fee an oppreffed people unfurl the banners of " freedom. But above all, the events of the French Re-" volution have produced the deepest folicitude, as well as " the highest admiration. To call your nation brave, were " to pronounce but common praise. Wonderful people ! " Agesto come will read with aftonishment the hiftory of your " brilliant exploits! I rejoice that the period of your toils " and of your immenfe facrifices is approaching. I rejoice " that the interesting revolutionary movements of fo many " years have iffued in the formation of a conflictution de-"figned to give permanency to the great object for which " you have contended. I rejoice that liberty, which you " have fo long embraced with enthufiafm; liberty, of which " you have been the invincible defenders, now finds an " afylum in the bofom of a regularly organized government; " a government, which, being formed to fecure the happi-" nels of the French people, corresponds with the ardent " wifnes of my heart, while it gratifies the pride of every " citizen of the United States by its refemblance to their " own. On these glorious events, accept, Sir, my fincere " congratulations.

"In delivering to you thefe fentiments, I express not "my own feelings only, but those of my fellow-ci.izens, "in relation to the commencement, the progress, and the "iffue of the French revolution;" and they will cordially "join with me in purest wishes to the Supreme Being, that "the citizens of our fister republic, our magnanimous allies, "may foon enjoy in peace, that liberty, which they have "purchased at fo great a price, and all the happiness which "liberty can bestow.

"I receive, Sir, with lively fenfibility, the fymbol of "the triumphs and of the enfranchifement of your nation, "the colours of France, which you have now prefented to "the United States. The transaction will be announced to Congrefs; and the colours will be deposited with those archives of the United States, which are at once the evidences and the memorials of their freedom and independence. May these be perpetual! and may the friendflip of the two republics be commensurate with their existence." A meffage of thanks was unanimoufly voted to the Prefident for his communication. He was requested to congratulate the French government, in name of the House, on their brilliant atchievements, and to express a hope that they would end in a firm establishment of the liberty and happiness of the nation.

Robert-Randall was then brought to the bar. He had with him as counfellors, Mr. Lewis, and Mr. Edward Tilghman. Mr. Peters, judge of the district of Pennfyvania likewife attended, agreeable to a refolution of the Houfe, to administer oaths to fuch members'as it might be thought fit to examine in that way, refpecting the offers made to them by Randall. Informations already given in to the Houfe in writing by Mr. William Smith, Mr. Murray, and Mr. Giles were then read over to the prifoner. At the defire of Mr. Lewis these three gentlemen were fucceffively fworn and examined ; as was alfo Mr. Samuel Smith, to whom Randall had likewife made advances. Nothing material came out farther than what has been already fated. The Houfe then adjourned. Next day, Mr. Chriftie, to whom Randall had alfo fpoke on the bufinefs, was examined on oath. Mr. Sedgwick was likewife examined at his own defire, his name, as in fome way patrouizing the fcheme, having been mentioned by Randall to Mr. Chriftie. This charge proved to be groundlefs.

The tellimony being now clofed, Mr. Tilghman craved leave to make fome remarks in defence of the prifoner. He recapitulated the charges. They divided into two heads. The first was an attempt to corrupt members. The fecond was Randall having faid that thirty members of the Houfe had engaged to favour his fcheme. If the first head was not proved in the fullest manner, then it would be entirely improper to punish the prisoner at all; for he was entitled to the firictest justice. Mr. Tilghman began with the charge of corruption, which led him to take a view of the circumstances that gave rife to this bufinefs, the journey of Randall to Canada, last fummer, the affociation for buying the peninfula between lakes Erie, Huron, and Michigan, the propofal of extinguishing the Indian claim, the scheme of forty-one shares, and many other particulars with which the reader has already been made acquainted. In the plan itfelf, there was nothing exceptionable, providing that it was fairly purfued. It

was at first view clear, that other affistance would be wanted, belides the perfons fubfcribing the affociation. Five or fix private individuals were altogether unequal to grafping to immenfe an object. Accordingly, Randall firit applied to Mr Chriftie. From the declaracion of that gentleman, it appeared that no offer was made to him either of land or money, or any improper overture, for Mr. Chriftie had fo little fulpicion of foul play, that he afterwards gave a letter of introduction to another, member to explain this bufinets. Randall had next applied fucceffively to Mr. Samuel Smith, to Mr. Giles, Mr. William Smith and Mr. Murray. From probability, independent of the proof which Mr. Tilghman was about to examine, he argued that nobody but a madman would have attempted to bribe five gentlemen of respectable characters, and of independent fortunes. What was the language of the prifoner to Mr. Samuel Smith? " If you, as a member of Congress, " fee no impropriety in being concerned, we shall willing-" ly accept you; but if you do not think it right, we do not alk " your aid, for we can do without you." These were the words of Randall, as attested by the member to whom they were addreffed. There was no guilt here. It was the language of innocence. Mr. Samuel Smith faid that Randall had told him, that Mr. William Smith fould bring the matter forward. By this, Randall plainly fignified that he expected Mr. W. Smith to do fe, and Mr. S. Smith had miftaken the fuppolition for an affirmation. The fourth gentleman in order of application was Mr. W. Smith; and there was not one of the first four gentlemen who faid that any direct propofal was made to him. They only understood and inferred it. But a man is not to be convicted on the inferences, impressions and ideas of witneffes. - It would, in a court of law, cost but very few words to establish this point. A witness was only to relate facts. The jury were to make inferences, and form conclusions. Each of thefe four gentlemen had expressly declared that no explicit offer was made to him. Had Randall faid; " Give me " your vote, and you shall have fo many dollars, or fo " many acres for it," the accufation of bribery would have been fully established. But we find no such thing. The offer was improper, indelicate, and indecent in the highest degree; yet no direct offer was made, and none

H

could be made, till the law paft. The lands were by the loweft effimate to coft five hundred thousand dollars of purchafe money, befides the expence of extinguishing the Indian claim, and many other previous charges, before any thing could be made of the fpeculation. Thus each of the forty-one fhares would require in advance a very large fum of money. There might even be a lofs upon the bufinefs, inflead of a gain. After adverting to the evidence of the four first gentlemen, Mr. Tilghman came next to Mr. Murray. He teemed to give the most heavy accufation against the prifoner, but Mr. Tilghman was ready to reft the caufe of his client, his good name, or his infamy, on proving that Mr. Murray had miftaken his meaning. In the first place, by the account of this gentleman, twentyfour fhares out of the forty-one, were to have been at the acceptance of members, which had been conceived as if they were to be given gratuitoufly. The donation was to come out of theie thirty-fix fhares referved for Randall and Whitney, and it was too immenfe in proportion to the whole shares, to have admitted any chance of profit to these two people, on the twelve remaining shares. For this inference Mr. Tilghman appealed to the candour and judgment of every gentleman within his hearing. The thing being thus in its own nature incredible, would of courfe require the higheft degree of evidence to support it. It had. been proved that no direct offer of this kind had been made to other members. They understood that these shares were to be paid for in proportion along with the other partners in the fale. This was another reason for thinking that Mr. Murray was mistaken. Meffrs. William and Samuel Smith, and Mr. Giles had unanimoufly declared that they were to pay for their fhares. Upon the queftion being put to Mr. W. Smith, he answered: " I understood that those should pay " upon the footing of the original effociators." Mr. Giles, on this point had replied thus. " No direct offer was made to " him in land. The proposition was general, as related to " members of Congress, who would favour the scheme. " He confidered himfelf as included; but then all were to " come in, on paying their proportions." Again, Mr. S. Smith declared, that Randall "offered no direct bribe to him, " but proposed to take into the scheme, at first cost, such members as chose to embark in it." These three tesimonies clearly established that Randall had not thought

of any gratuitous offer to thefe gentlemen. Mr. Tilghman could account for the miftake of Mr. Murray. He had heard from Mr. W. Smith of the man, and his propofals; and that they were of a corrupt nature. While his mind was filled with thefe imprefilions, Randall waited on him, but had fo little dread of being on a criminal errand, that he made no foruple to begin the fubject before Mr. Henry, a Senator, who was accidentally in the room. Mr. Murray took him into a private room, for the purpofe of fifting him, and there it was that he difclofed the unfound part of his fcheme.

Here Mr. Tilghman referred to a passage in Mr. Murray's declaration, which is in these words. "At first, I un-"derstood that the members who should assist in getting the "thing through, might then retire to their homes, and "when the scheme was in activity, they might come in on "the fame terms as the original associates. But afterwards "I understood from Randall, that I might have a share if "I would accept of it, and this I understood from the "whole tenor of the latter part of his conversation. The "shares fet apart were to be for acceptance as donations. "I fo understood him."

From the word *accept* in the above conversation, Mr. Tilghman infifted that while Mr. Murray understood a donation, Randall could only mean a fhare, as offered to other members. Where had Randall cafh in hand to have laid down? [Randall was not long fince infolvent.] How could he give perhaps twenty or thirty thousand dollars in hand, for the vote of a member? The word accept, as coming from Randall, only meant " you shall have a share " on the fame terms as others, and if you do not chuse to " have a fhare, we will fell your fhare of the lands for you, " and you may get the profit made by the fale." Here Mr. Tilghman quitted the first head of the charge, by expreffing his hope that no fatisfactory proofs of direct bribery had been offered. He was happy to live in a country, whofe legiflators posselled fo much delicacy. The fecond head of the charge was Randall having faid that thirty members of the Houfe of Representatives, were to favour his fcheme. The counfel apprehended that this was no breach of privilege. He turned up the laws of the United States, and read over every passage regarding the privileges of the Houfe and its members. Nothing was to be found which could even remotely apply to this kind of conversation. The idea of the counfel was, that the House had the privilege effential to its existence to defend itfelf from any infult from within or from without, but not farther. The Constitution fays nothing of privilege, that reaches to the cafe of the prifoner; and one of the amendments to it fays, that the people mall be underflood to have retained whatever they have not granted. It follows then, that fince what has been expreisly granted reaches not to Raudall, it is retained. It is in contemplation to profecute this man, in a court of law. With what feelings must he be supposed to go there, if he shall previously be condemned in this House? A man would thus in fact be convicted in the public view, before his trial began. The Counfel then read a number of precedents from English books of law, to prove that, even for a direct offer of bribery to a member of Parliament, the prifoner would have been remitted to the Attorney-General, and profecuted with the ufual and indifpenfible folemnities in a Court of justice. Mr. Tilghman faid, that he would next venture to alk what kind of a Court of law is this? The members are uot upon oath, while they are at once parties, judges, and witneffes. Mr. Tilghman would have thought it more delicate for the Honfè to leave the prifoner to a trial in the . common form. He may be acquitted by a jury, after being condemned here, which might produce difagreeable feelin is in the public mind. It is, in reality, trying a prifoner twice for the fame offence, and making him hazard a double fentence. All this is inconfistent with every idea of justice. The offence was punishable at common law. What good reafon can then be given for trying it here? The fafery of the Houfe is not in danger. This is not a cafe, wherein they ought to infift on privilege. A thousand reasons might be adduced, befides those flated by the counfel, why it was inexpedient to bring the bufinefs here. The privileges of an English Parliament rested on immemorial usage: those of this House on a written constitution, which had, confiderably narrowed them in comparison with those of British Parliaments. 'The charge of having thirty or forty members engaged to fupport a fcheme is not a breach of privilege. Mr. Tilghman argued, that from the very face of the charge, as worded by the Houfe, no crime arifes. Are the House to bridle conversation without doors?

When a bill comes into the Houfe, is it not common for people to fay that fuch a law will pafs, or it will not pafs? Are they not at liberty to conjecture what members will vote for it, or againit it? Randall's flory about thirty members comes within this defcription. Are the Houfe to lock up the mouths of the people? Mr. Tilghman clofed by urging that as Randall was to be tried by a court of law, as he had been taken out of the hands of an officer belonging to a court of law, upon what authority the Counfel did not fee, the beft thing which could be done was to remit him to the ordinary form of trial.

Mr. Lewis then rofe. He read the charge as adduced by the Houfe, and agreed that this was not bribery, but a wild land-jobbing icheme. He objected to the having admitted sublequent depositions and informations in support of a charge previoufly made and specified. This alludes to the subsequent evidence given by some members, after the prifoner had received a copy of the charge. He contended that the evidence of Mr. Samuel Smith given fubfequently, had no connection with the original charge, and thould not have been admitted in corroboration of it. Mr. Lewis then took up the fecond point of accufation, that the prifoner had faid thirty or forty members would favour his scheme. The faying fo was no offence at all; for the thing itfelf, the agreeing to fupport a particular fcheme was confistent with perfect innocence. He trusted that the prisoner would be as safe in this House as any were else, that his unalienable rights would be as facredly watched; for it would be a dreadful reflection if that House were less delicate in administering justice than courts of law. He hoped that the Houfe would adhere to thefe fundamental rules of trial, which had flood the teft of ages. He then read fome of the articles of the bond between the original partners, to fhew the abfurdity of fuppoling that bribery ever could have been intended. It was impossible to have ever bribed members in the way alleged by Mr. Murray. He flated, that out of the forty-one thares, Whitney, and Randall, were to have thirty-fix out of which they were to give away twenty-four, a proportion in itself incredible, in as much, as the remaining twelve shares would, fo far from making their fortunes, have cost them more than they were worth. Mr. Lewis then argued on the offer to Mr. Murray, on the

fame ground as the former counfel. The plain hiftory of the affair was this: a number of people wanted the lands. They thought that it would accelerate their fcheme to get members of Congress embarked in it, and offered them, for this effect, a fhare in the lands, on paying an equal fhare of the expences, and with a promife of concealing their names. " If the gentlemen," faid Mr. Lewis, " to whom this ap-" plication was made, had kicked my client out of the room, " they would have ferved him right, and there, I think, the " bufinels ought to have ended." The British Parliament fend people attempting bribery to the Attorney General, They fend people to a trial by jury. Mr. Lewis denied that any part of this offence came within the definition of corruption or the reach of law. He had no conception that it could be punified, upon any legal principles whatever. Befides, there was nothing in the hiftory of privileges, like thus dragging a man from the jurifdiction of the Circuit Court, by whom he was apprehended, and whofe prifoner he was. Again, there could be a breach of privilege only, if the propofal regarded a bill actually before the House. It never could arise from a thing not in existence. All the books which Mr. Lewis had confulted, fpoke only of bribery, about a bill or a law fuit actually on hand. It was hazardous to quote precedents from an English Parliament. Its privileges had no limits, fo that fome writers on law called it omnipotent. Mr. Lewis admitted that the Houfe had the effential power of punishing violence, or open infult, which did not reach the cafe before them. He would not farther intrude on the time of the Houfe, by apologizing for the time which he had taken up already. He trufted that a power of creating offences would not be affumed; and that a thing which is not illegal will not be punisbable.

Here the pleadings ended. On the 6th of January 1796, Randall was again brought to the bar, and in a few words reprimanded by the Speaker. To call his offence indifcretion, impropriety, or indelicacy, was too mild a name. His conduct was *crime*. His apparent ignorance of the nature or extent of his guilt, had induced the Houfe to be more indulgent than they otherwife would have been. The Speaker then informed him that he was recommitted to cuftody, till further orders from the Houfe. On the 7th, Charles Whitney was brought to the bar, and granted a delay till he could obtain counfel. After he had been fent back to jail, Mr. Bourne remarked that it was very hard to put him to the expence of feeing lawyers. There was no appearance of any thing farther being brought against him, and admitting the charge as it flood, the whole amounted to but little. Mr Giles then read a refolution for difmiffing Mr. Whitney immediately. Mr. Hillhouffe objected, that it would commit the dignity of the Houfe to fay that they had kept a man in jail for a week, and then difmiffed him without a trial. However the majority wanted to end the affair as eafily as poffible. But a long debate enfued about the wording the refolutions, and in what way they were to account to their conflituents for keeping one of their fellow citizens fo many days in prifon, upon charges, that if proved, did not amount to blame. Several gentlemen fpoke in this difcuffion, who complained that they were mifunderstood. Mr. Macon, at one time, faid, that he would vote to difcharge Whitney for a particular reafon alleged by Mr. Giles. " Now, " replied Mr. Giles, " if the gentleman is to vote for the difinifion, becaufe that " is my reason, I defire him to vote against the dismission. " My reason for discharging Whitney, is totally different. " I argue that all which we have entered on the journals, " admitting it proved, does not amount to any breach of "our privileges. That is my motive for difiniting the " prifoner." One amendment proposed by Mr. William Smith to the refolution offered by Mr. Giles, was to fate that the conversation having happened in Vermont, and before Mr. Buck took his feat in the Congress, as the reason for difcharging Whitney; Mr. Gallattin fpoke on that head as follows. "Mr. Whitney was at our bar this " morning, and we directed him to prepare for his defence. "He is now gone, after having denied the charge laid " against him. In absence of the man himself, and with-" out allowing him an opportunity for vindication, we are, " by this amendment, to declare on the journals, that he " made an attempt on the integrity of a member, but becaufe it " was before the member took his feat, &c. What kind of " treatment is this? What right have this houfe to keep " an American citizen ten days in jail, and then declare him " infamous, without permitting him to be heard in his " defence. He has faid that the gentleman from Vermont " mifunderstood him. I believe that what the member faid

"is true; but it may possibly be explained away. I will "not vote for infulting a man by declaring him guilty, at "the very moment when we are forced to difinits him, be-"caufe we cannot find proof that he is fo." This amendment was negatived. Mr. Smith then moved to posspone the bufinefs till Monday next, the 11th current. He observed; that gentlemen feemed to forget the extreme criminality of the plan, which went to robbing the United States of a property worth perhaps twenty milions of dollars.

Mr. Giles was for difcharging the prifoner initantly, becaufe though every tittle were true, that flood on the journals against him, it did not all together amount to a breach of privilege. He had been, he believed, this day, a dozen times upon his legs, to explain his reafons, and they had still been mifunderstood. Indeed, if the houfe are to talk on from day to day, for the purpose of protracting Whitney's confinement, it would be better to vote plainly for fo many days of imprisonment. Mr. Giles could not help obferving, that in all which was faid this day, he did not hear a single sentiment of sympathy for the sufferings of this poor man, who had been kept ten days in jail on an accufation, which if proved did not amount to an offence. At last, the House by a majority of fifty-two to thirty, agreed to a refolution, " that Charles Whitney be difcharged " from the cuftody of the Serjeant at Arms." The prifoner was accordingly fent for from jail, and difmiffed by the Speaker with these words : " Charles Whitney, the House " have thought proper to discharge you without farther " hearing, by a refolution that will be read to you by the " Clerk. 'Here is not a word of reprimand, or admonition. Thus an American Citizen, a man whole political rights were as extensive, whose perfon was as facred as that of any member of Congress, endured imprisonment from the 28th of December 1795, to the 7th of January following, and then received his difmission without being examined, and without even an opportunity of hearing what his accufer had to fay. Not allowed to fpeak a fingle word in explanation of his conduct, or in defence of his character, he was difmiffed to freedom and infamy. When first apprehended, Mr. Whitney declared that he was ready to proceed without a noment of delay, in making his vindication. The houfe had not time to do justice and their duty, and till a more

convenient feason,\* they fent one of their equals to prifon. As for Randall, his criminality was, at the first glance fo palpable, it was afferted by fo many gentlemen of the most respectable characters, that he did not merit much ceremony; but as to Whitney, the cafe was widely different, for it was finally determined that the charge against him, if true, eid not extend to guilt. Mr. Buck, alfo was never crofs examined, or the very triffing flory which he told might have been reduced to fomething even yet more triffing. A material and obvious objection lay to his conduct and his testimony. This was, that though the converfation which Mr. Whitney held with him took place to far back as the 3cth of November, 1795, yet he never once mentioned it in Congress, till after Mr. Murray and the other gentlemen had published the manœuvres of Randali, In this moment of fufpicion and alarm, when every paffion was tremblingly alive, Mr. Buck brought forward his acculation. If he really judged that Whitney wanted to bribe him, and that this attempt deferved the interpolition of the Houfe, he should have made his discovery at the opening of the feflion, fince his concealment of it might have been afcribed to motives which did not actuate his conduct. Thus a counfellor pleading for Mr. Whitney might have urged that this delay arofe from a defign of waiting till Mr. Buck faw whether the plan was likely to fucceed, that he might have come in for his thare of emolument. From his own declaration emitted on the 2d of January, he does not appear to have felt the fmallest degree of refentment or detestation, when Mr. Whitney made the propofal. He does not feem to have betrayed any emotions of that nature, till Mr. Murray brought the bufiness before the House. The terms of Mr. Whitney were, by the account of the member himfelf, advanced in the most cautious stile. He was careful to premise repeatedly that nothing was defigned but what Mr. Buck should find just, honourable, and constitutional, of which he should be left to judge. Accordingly Mr. Buck difmiffed him with civility, took the matter Ad referendum, and told Whitney that he would make no engagement in the business, untill he was better informed as to the merits of the question. These are the concluding words of a written declaration given in to

\* Felix to St. Paul:

the Houfe by Mr. Buck. They decifively exclude all fufpicion of criminality. This cannot furely be the stile in which our Vermont Epaminondas would reject a bribe. He could not have fpoken with more composure about the fale of a pig. If the advances of Whitney were, in fact, reprehensible, such a patient reception was fufficient to enibolden him to make the fame-propofals to other members. The treatment of Charles Whitney deferves the warmest reprobation. He was indeed difcharged from the bar of the House, but he was conducted back to jail. His creditors at New York had heard of his commitment, and arrefted him in prifon. He was kept there for a confiderable time. Thus an American citizen, without being heard in his own defence, was imprifoned, made a bankrupt, and rendered infamous, though his innocence was fo clear, that those who imprisoned durst not arraign him. Here is a very pretty Pifgah profpect of an American Bastile.

Various objections occur to the conduct of Congress in this matter. It was admitted that their utmost power of punishing extended no farther than to confinement during the reft of the feffion. Thus it feems that their jurifdiction was incompetent. If the application of Randall had been made on the last day of the fession, he must have escaped with impunity. Here is a gross defect in jurifdiction. If Congress are to transmit one offender to a court of law, and try another at their own bar, that also is a violation of equity; for one man is thus to have the benefit of a jury, while another is to be tried by a tribunal at once parties, judges, and perhaps, as in the above cafe, even witneffes. When America shall be bleffed with that hereditary Senate recommended by Mr. Adams, fo flagrant a violation of justice may be endured ; but at present it appears indefenfible. The Houfe of Reprefentatives undoubtedly acted in the whole bufinefs without due reflection. This was frequently remarked by themfelves. Mr. Sedgwick, among others, faid that it was an unfortunate circumstance when the fame perfons were to be both parties and judges. People were apt to get into a paffion, when one came to them and faid, "I confider you as rafcals, and I want to purchafe a " portion of your rafcality." This was an exact picture of the cafe. Again, the Houfe were too bulky a machine for fuch petty employment. It was no better than cracking nuts with a mill-ftone. If the matter had been left to a

court of justice, it would have ended with much lefs expence to the public.

In this debate, much strefs was laid upon the prerogatives affumed by the British House of Commons. Congress should not be forward in appealing to the practice of that body. A few plain facts will thew that they are not always worthy of imitation. On the 9th of December, 1790, Mr. Horne Tooke prefented to that House a petition for redress against the election of Lord Hood and Mr. Fox for Westminiter. An order is made in the House of Commons, at the commencement of every fellion, " that if any thing shall " come in question touching the return or election of any " member, he is to withdraw during the time the matter " is in debate." In the teeth of this standing order, Mr. Fox was allowed to fpeak, and actually dictated the proceedings of the Houfe. No dependence can be placed on precedents from fo irregular an affembly. But farther, the infult committed by Randall, though indeed very great, was trifling compared to the ferocious contempt with which Mr. Horne Tooke addreffed the Houfe of Commons. In this petition he told them that their " feats for legislation " are as notorioully rented and bought as the flandings for " cattle at a fair." Yet this omnipotent House, as Blackstone defines it to be, did not attempt to punish Mr. Horne Tooke. They remitted his petition to a committee, for though Mr. Pitt wanted them to proceed to fome exemplary punifhment, yet this dark and implacable defpot found it neceffary to drop his defign. The petition was only voted by the committee to be frivolous and vexatious. The offence of Randall did not amount to one thousandth part of that committed by Mr. Horne Tooke, yet parliament did not chufe to meddle with him. This precedent from the Britilh House of Commons, would have justified Randall in demanding his difmission. But another well known cafe comes clofer to the point. In the reign of Charles the Second, a Houfe of Commons ordered their ferjeant to apprehend fomebody. The man gave notice that he would be arrested only agreeable to the laws of the land; and as no law gave to parliament an arbitrary power of arrestment, he had provided himfelf with piftols, and if arrefted would shoot the ferjeant. The Commons to get rid of this affair entered upon their journals that the man was fick, and had been allowed a month of delay. Thus their omnipotence

fneaked out of the scrape. Burnet, in his history, mentions that a House of Commons ordered their ferjeant to bring before them many of the people then called abhorrers. Of these several refused attendance. Observe their reasons. The practice was no older than the reign of Elizabeth." The Commons could not receive an information upon oath, nor punish those who refused to appear before them. In Burgh's Political Difquifitions, Book IV. Chapter V. the question of privilege has been handled at fome length, and its history proves a mere chaos, extremely unfuitable for a fource of precedents. It is not fafe to make frequent appeals to Britain. The burning of John Jay in effigy, at Lexington in Kentucky, and fome other things of that kind were, on the 26th of November, 1794, advanced by Dr. Ames in Congress, as an evidence that democratical societies were dangerous to the federal conflitution. But what were fuch rills of difcontent to the cataracts of English defiance? On the 4th of February, 1795, à meeting was held in London to celebrate the acquittal of the prifoners who had been recently tried for high treafon. Lord Stanhope was chairman, and Mr. Thompson, a member of the House of Commons, filled the chair in the fecond room. Mr. Sheridan was alfo at the meeting. Now, compare what follows with all the worft things ever faid by the democratic focieties. Mr. Horne Tooke declared that the fortune, the liberty, and the life of every man were in the hands of a fcoundrel Secretary of State, Mr. Dundas. "I would rather," faid he, " fweep the paffage for their honours and their lord-" thips, than I would hold a feat in the manner in which it " is now taken. I will not fit among the reprefentatives " of hell, and whole only conftituent is the devil." The company drank the health of Mr. Horne Tooke, and the whole proceedings were, next morning, fent to the newfpapers. This is a British precedent. It shews very fully the hazard of appealing to that fource, and what kind of treatment Parliament are forced to bear. Their patience forms a contraft to the behaviour of fome members of Congress to news-printers and reporters of debates. Take the following example. Meffrs. William and Samuel Lyman are in the prefent Houfe of Reprefentatives. In an early part of the fellion here described, the former made one day some remarks which appeared in the Philadelphia newfpapers. In two of them, the fpecch was inferted under the name of Mr. S. Lyman; in a third under that of Mr. Lyman. This miftake gave the utmost offence to Mr. William Lyman. He wanted Mr. Brown, the last of these three printers, to publish a paragraph advertising this incorrectness of his brethren. The proposal being declined, Mr. William Lyman was still more exasperated; with what reason the world is left to judge. If Mr. Bache or Mr. Claypoole had committed fo alarming an error, Mr. Lyman should have applied to them, and not to Mr. Brown, to repair this dilapidation of his literary fame.

On the 13th of January, 1796, the Houfe took up a petition from Randall foliciting his releafe. An order was granted for difcharging him from the cuflody of the ferjeant at arms on payment of the fees. But he was still in the cuftody of the city marshall, from which the House had no power to difcharge him, and he was yet liable to a profecution from the Attorney General. Thus, in a country which boafts of its freedom, a man may be twice tried and twice punished for the fame crime. A petition had, on the 8th of January, been prefented from Charles Whitney. He stated that Colonel Silas Pepoon, a gentleman from New England, was come to Philadelphia, who could explain the object of their land-jobbing scheme and vindicate his character. Mr. Sedgwick moved that the prayer of the petition should be granted. This was for permitting Whitney to exhibit Pepoon's evidence, and enter it on the journals of the Houfe. Mr. William Smith and Mr. Murray fupported this motion. But though the Houfe had imprifoned and ruined Whitney, and had fince acknowledged that they did fo without the smallest evidence of his guilt, the propofal was rejected with contempt; Mr. Sedgwick obferving, with fome warmth, that he faw no reafon for that holy indignation which had been expressed against it.

The account of this affair in Congrefs has extended to confiderable length; but it really deferves much attention from every man who defires to fludy the hiftory of the United States. The fate of Charles Whitney gives a glorious prefage of the government that will take place, at the end of this century, in the congreffional *Sanchum Sanctorum* of ten miles fquare. If Congrefs foort thus with our liberties in the centre of a populous city, they will be a thouland times more arbitrary in a defert remote from public infpection, and whereof they are abfolute malters. The peninfula, that produced this fcheme of land-jobbing, is admirably fituated for inland commerce. The climate is healthy, and the foil faid to be excellent. If, as reported, this tract contains twenty millions of acres, it is larger than Ireland, and in the proportion as two to five to the area of Britain. If the prefent war fhall reftore Canada to France, a colony on this part of our frontier might be requifite for the fafety of the interior flates of the union.

On the 19th of January, the Houfe went into a committee upon the bill of appropriations for the fupport of government in the year 1796. Mr. Williams moved to ftrike out all that groß fum appropriated for officers of the mint. This motion has a fingular appearance, but a fhort retrofpect will explain it.

In 1791, Mr. Alexander Hamilton, then Secretary to the Treasury, by defire of the House of Representatives, drew up a memorial respecting the establishment of an American Mint. This piece is inferted in the collection of reports printed by the Houfe. The possible advantages and inconveniences of fuch an inftitution in the United States, are there explained and illustrated. One chief objection to an American mint, though not stated by Mr. Hamilton, feems to be that there is a constant drain of money out of the continent, as well as into it. Thus American gold or filver coin would be conftantly exported, almost as foon as struck, while the perpetual influx of Spanish filver might augment that confusion in our current money, which is at prefent extremely troublefome. Some time after, the establishment was begun, and Mr. David Rittenhouse was appointed director. He accepted this office with reluctance, and, after having held it for a confiderable time, was, upon his earnest folicitation permitted Whatever unfortunate circumstances have atto refign it. tended this plan, it would be extremely cruel to caft reflections on Mr. Rittenhoufe. His averfion to accept this employment, his anxiety to quit it, and the well known uprightness of his private character placed him entirely above any fuspicion of interested views.

On the 9th of December, 1794, a letter from this gentleman, as director of the mint, was read in the Houfe. It bore date the 28th of October preceding. Mr. Rittenhoufe there flated that a beginning had been made in coining the precious metals. An hundred and twenty thousand ounces of bullion had been lodged in the mint, for coinage, but much of it was too bafe for the ftandard of the United States. It had been fucceffively refined in the mint and the procefs was ftill going on. A quantity of blank dollars was ready for coining, but a more powerful prefs, which was requifite to complete them for circulation, had not been got finished. Cents, to the worth of almost ten thousand dollars had been coined fince the establishment of the mint, and paid into the treasfury of the United States.

After reading this letter, the House took up the subject of the mint. Mr. Boudinot faid that he had gone to the bank of the United States to enquire for cents. He was told that none were to be had, becaufe the bank could not get them from the mint. He then went to the mint, where he was informed that cents were not coined faster, because the officers of the mint did not know where to get them vented !. He faid that this mint cost twenty-four thoufand dollars per annum, and every cent coined there cost the public feveral cents, though he could not exactly tell how many. In New Jerfey far more cents had been coined in a few months than had ever been coined all together, at the mint of the United States, and this had been done for ONE FORTIETH PART of the expence which the mint of the United States has cost. Several other members adverted to the prodigious inconvenience which is felt all over the union for want of copper coin; and it appeared to excite fome curiofity, on what foundation the officers of the mint faid that they could not get their cents vented. It was remarked by Mr. W. Smith, that, except as to Philadelphia, the mint is of little or no use whatever. The cents given out never go farther than the city. Mir. Boudinot, Mr. Trumbull, and Mr. Hunter, were appointed a committee to examine and report on the flate of the mint.

Next day, fome paragraphs refpecting this affair appeared in the Philadelphia Gazette. The writer began by remarking that at Edinburgh, in North Britain, there is a nominal mint, whereof the falaries come to a thousand pounds fter, ling a year. He then proceeds thus:

" It is not wonderful that fuch abufes are to be found in " an old, worn out, and rotten fystem like that of Britain, "which is just about to tumble into pieces. But the remarks "in Congress yesterday, concerning the American mint, "may lead this country to pluck the *mote* from her own "eye, before the touches the *beam* of her neighbour's.

" In the act of appropriation for the year 1794, the "mint flands as follows.

				11015.
" Director,			-	2000
"Affayer, -			- E -	1500
" Chief Coiner,	-		-	1500
" Engraver,		- 1-	-	1200
" Treasurer,			-	1200
" Three Clerks,	at 500 dolla	ars each,	1 a	1500
" For defraying		es of workme	n, ?	3385
" for the year	1794,		S	3305
" For the expen	ces of the m	int, includir	g	
" the pay of a	refiner, wh	en employe	d, (	~- <u>`</u> `
" for gold, til	ver, and co	pper, and f	or 🥻	2700
" the completi	on of the me	lting furnace	s, J	

" 14,985

"Thus the actual expence for 1794 was to be fourteen "thousand nine hundred and eighty-five dollars. Of this "fum two thirds are paid to a director, an affayer, a chief "coiner, an engraver, a treasurer, a refiner, and three "clerks. [In the appropriation bill for 1795, these clerks "are augmented to *four*, and *two thousand* dollars are "charged for them.]

"There are just other three articles in the appropriation act of 1794, concerning the mint, and to prevent any charge of partial quotation, each of them shall be inferted verbatim.

"The first is ' for replacing a fum of money advanced at "the bank of the United States for the purpose of an im-"portation of copper, to be coined at the mint, ten thou-"fand dollars.' This regards what is to be coined in future, "not what was coined in 1794. Of confequence the article "has no reference to any of the falaries paid in that year.

"The fecond article is ' for defraying the expence of "copper, purchafed in the year 1793, feven thousand three "hundred and fifty dollars."

" The third, and only other article, is, ' for the purchase

" copper in 1794, feven thousand three hundred and fifty "dollars;' the fame sum as that charged for the former year. "From this statement it refults, that the mint, in 1794, " cost fourteen thousand nine hundred and eighty-five dol-" lars, while the whole money coined was, at most, not " more than feven thousand three hundred and fifty dol-" lars; the expence is two hundred and eighty-five dollars " more than double the product.

"It has been faid, that the greater part of the money "hitherto expended on the mint, was on charges incident "to the *beginning* of a work, and that this charge would "hereafter be leftened. This pretence has not even *the* "veflige of plaifbility. In 1794, twelve thousand two "hundred and eighty-five dollars were confumed, not in "buying implements for coining, nor in building furnaces, "but for a director, an affayer, a chief coiner, an engraver, a treafurer, three clerks, and the workmen. If all thefe "officers are neceffary at prefent, when only feven thousand "three hundred and fifty dollars of cents are ftruck off, "then twice the number will be wanted, when twice the "quantity of cents are coined, and fo on.

"One article in this act is of an amphibious nature. "'For the feveral expences of the mint, including the "pay of a refiner, when employed, for gold, filver and cop-"per, and for the completion of the melting furnaces, two "thou fand and feven hundred dollars."

" Of this fum a part may have gone for building furna-"ces; but this is the only portion of the expences which "relates to the *beginning* of the undertaking. What em-"ployment can there be for four or even *three* clerks to "manage feven thoufand three hundred and fifty dollars "worth of cents? What ufe for any clerks at all, when "you have a treafurer at a falary of twelve hundred dol-"lars? What occafion could there be for fuch an apparatus " of placemen about a few cents? The United States may "have a thoufand tons of cents, whenever they pleafe to "fend and pay for them, from Birmingham, at an expence " on their actual value, of one or two per cent. at the ut-" moft, and the falaries of all this regiment of flipendiaries " may be faved \*. This was the cheapeft, the moft natural, " fimple, and expeditious way of going to work.

\* It is faid that an offer of this kind was actually made to our government by an English artist.

K

"Inftead of copper coin, the people of America are, "almost all over the continent, using dirty passe-board. In "the mean time, the nunt officers do not strike of half as "many cents as are equal to discharging their own falaries!

"We have looked into the British Court and City Ca-"lendar, for the expences of the mint at London. The fa-"laries of that great mint, all together, amount only to "two thousand nine hundred pounds sterling; and sup-"posing that perquisites may raise this reckoning to high as "fix thousand pounds, this, after all, is only double the ex-"pence of the American mint, at which there is not struck "off one thousandth part of the money coined at London.

"One article above cited, fpeaks of a refiner when em-"ployed for gold and filver. The public never have feen "any of this gold and filver coin, a few fpecimens excepted. "But the English news-printers, with their wonted accuracy "of American information, have generously iffued a plenti-"ful coinage of this kind at Philadelphia.

"The committee of the Houfe appointed to decypher "this bufinefs, will, no doubt, enquire, among other points, "as to the two following; *firft*, how the officers of the "mint came to tell a member of Congrefs, that they did "not firike off cents fafter, becaufe they could not get "them vented? And *fecondly*, what poffible neceffity there can be for an additional clerk in 1795, when the three clerks already paid have nothing to do? The affair is ftill worfe than the Scots mint above mentioned; becaufe, though the mint at Edinburgh coins nothing, yet the "people have plenty of excellent copper half-pence."

These observations confirm an old proverb, that the king's cheefe goes half away in parings\*. When the select Committee gave in their report to the House, they forbore to answer the two queries put in the last paragraph. That the bank of the United States would not circulate cents, was far from being the case. Whenever it was known in Philadelphia that a parcel of cents had

\* One of the daughters of George the Second requefted her father's permiftion to have her apartment papered. The king replied that " he could not afford it." She rejoined that " it could not coft more than ten pounds." " That

arrived from the mint at the bank, every florekeeper who heard of it hasted to feek them. It was a matter of favour to get cents in change for filver. The perfons, therefore, at the mint, who told fuch an abfurd ftory, acted improperly. The committee also omitted to specify the necessity for employing a fourth clerk. They expatiate, at fome length, upon the duties of the three formerly engaged. " One of them," fays the report, " keeps an account of all " bullion received and delivered by the affayer, acting in " the capacity of refiner." [What fhould hinder the affayer, who has fifteen hundred dollars per annum for doing very little, and who is alfo paid additionally as a refiner, from keeping fuch petty accounts himfelf, or giving one of the other clerks fifty dollars per annum to keep them for him ? The affayer would have made the expense of clerkinip lefs. if it had been to come out of his own pocket.] "He alfo " keeps an account of the workmen employed, pays them " their wages, and procures the neceffary materials." [The wages of workmen for the year 1794 came but to three thousand three hundred and eighty-five dollars.] "One " other is clerk to the chief coiner." [Another pennyworth at fifteen hundred dollars. ] "He (the clerk)" is prefert "at the payment of the workmen, and takes their receipts." This fhould have been done by the clerk who paid them; and most likely it is fo, for when there is next to nothing to do in a public office, the clerks naturally mount guard

" might be," faid he " to a common perfon, but I affure you " that it would coft me a thoufand."

The author from whom this anecdote is taken adds that the account would probably fland thus:

To A. B. Efq; M. P. for the borough of C.

furveyor of the princeffes apartment, -		£. 200
To Mr. J. D. deputy furveyor of the princef-		
fes apartment for himfelf and two clerks,	-	150
To Mr. F. K. chief paperer,	-	150
Deputy paperer,	-	50
To R. W. Efq; member for the county of N.		
comptroller of the works in the princeffes		
apartment, for himfelf,	-	300
Board wages for twelve fervants for a month,	-	40
Paper, paste, and a workman for four days,	-	10

Total,

£. 1000

in turn, while the reft feek employment or amufement fomewhere elfe. It is affirmed by people who frequent the mint, that they have been at a lofs to find a clerk there, and that fome of the receivers of thefe falaries of five hundred dollars do not once enter it, unlefs perhaps to fign a receipt for their wages. They are to be found regularly doing bufinefs at other places.

The report fays, that " the remaining clerk counts the " coin iffued from the mint." The depth of his calculations will not put him in danger of a head ache. There was a great deal more told about the duties and exertions of these clerks, and the officers of the mint, but no labyrinth of words could hide the abfurdity of paying fourteen thousand dollars, befides the price of copper, for the coining of feven thousand. As to the new additional fourth clerk, this report gives no reafon for employing him, and indeed the committee had found fufficient exercise for their ingenuity, in eking out fomething to do for his three elder brethren. In fact their report implies that he was useles, for they fay, p. 12. that " the accounts of the mint appear to be ful-" ly checked against every avenue of deception." In the bill of appropriation for 1795, this additional finecure paffed without objection. In this way public money goes, while the nation can hardly pay the interest of its debts, and while hundreds of the brave men who fold their certificates for a fhilling per pound, are annually heaping the table of Congress with waste-paper petitions. No blame can or ought to be attached to the gentlemen accepting thefe donations. To look behind every defk for an Aristides, or a Sully, is to demand from human nature what neither experience nor candour entitle us to expect. When cash is to be caft away, every bystander has an equal title to pick it up.

The Committee alfo gave in a state of the whole expences of the mint up to the 30th of September, 1794.

Dols. Cls	•
Lands purchased, 4,266 66	
Buildings, apparatus, machines, &c. 22,720 45	i i
Purchafe of copper, - 15,815 51	
Salaries to officers, 15,591 99	}
58,394 61	
Deduct the copper, 15,815 51	
Dollars, 42,579 10	2

Thus the wages and expences of the mint had coft, at that period, forty two thousand eight hundred and fifteen dollars. At the fame time, the country was fully fupplied with excellent Spanish filver coin, and as for cents, Mr. Boudinot affirms, that they could have been had in New Jerfey, at one fortieth part of the expence incurred by the mint of Philadelphia. The committee farther menace us with the necessity for a Refiner and Melter. This battalion of penfioners afford one, among many good reafons, why the public, in fea port towns, have been paying a shilling per dozen for onions half rotten, and half a crown for a couple of chickens, that a hungry cat would pick to the bones, without rifk of a furfeit. Thus affayers and coiners get each of them fifteen hundred dollars for an employment which cannot materially interrupt their other bufinefs, if they have any. At the fame time, perfons of real ufe are but reafonably rewarded. When a reprefentative to Congrefs comes eight hundred or a thousand miles from Georgia or Kentucky, to refide for fix months in Philadelphia, an exile from his family and his private affairs, he receives but a thousand and eighty dollars for the expenditure of his time; and commonly does not fave any part of the money. Many lawyers facrifice large fums annually, by holding feats in Congress. A member cannot, like a British legislator, afford to kifs the wives of his electors with guineas in his mouth. \* On the 27th of January, 1795, a motion was made in the houfe of representatives for a general reduction of falaries. On this occasion, Mr. Boudinot stated that he had been originally opposed to the fix dollars a day to members, but after spending three fessions at New York, he found on caffing up accounts, that he had either gained or loft, for he forgot which, the fum of forty-three fhillings and fourpence. Mr. Muhlenberg, while Speaker to Congress in that city, fustained during one settion a confiderable deficit. Most clerks in public offices have a difficulty in making the two ends of the year meet; and extra affistance is often granted to them by the legislature. Within the fhort space of fifteen months, Mr. Jefferson, Mr. Hamilton, and Mr. Knox, fucceflively gave up their places, as fecretaries of flate, of the treafury, and of war; and each of them alfigned as one reafon the narrownefs of

\* Vid. Burgh's Political Difquifitions.

his falary. While effective officers of the union have thus their faces held to the grindstone of æconomy, it is unaccountable to be supporting such charges at the mint. From this long digression, we now return to the motion of Mr. Williams, on the 19th of January, 1796, for striking out the gross sum appropriated to mint officers.

The Speaker thought the refolution too extensive. He would vote to strike out the ten thousand dollars for the purchase of new copper. Mr. Williams agreed to restrict his refolution. He mentioned that the cents are isfued from the mint at a cheaper rate than the price of the copper itfelf; fo that if a perfon chufes to melt down a pound weight of cents into a lump of copper, and takes this lump back again to the mint, he will receive more money for it than it was worth in cents. Thus the whole expence of workmanship is caft away. The refolution as amended was carried in the committee, and reported to the Houfe. Mr. Livingfton then moved, that the whole appropriation for the mint should be struck out. A member expressed his hope that the refolution would prevail. He had occafion to go to this mint on business for a bank which he named, in the state of Maryland, and had feen the way in which bufinefs was managed. The inflitution, he faid, was a bad one, and badly conducted. It had been most fcandaloufly carried on; and with very little advantage to the public. If not to be better managed in future than it has been, it ought to be thrown afide. The debate was continued next day; Mr. Livingston having excepted from his resolution the falaries to the officers of the mint. His motion was lost, ayes 40, noes 45. The amendment for striking out the ten thousand dollars for copper, which had been paft in a committee of the House, was lost, ayes 34, noes 44. Thus the mint efcaped, after numerous reflections of the feverest kind, The gold and filver coinage had now begun. Mr. Williams read a statement by which it appeared that the total iffues of the mint from its establishment up to that time, was four hundred and fifty-three thousand, five hundred and forty-one dollars, and its expence fixty-one thoufand five hundred and thirty-two dollars, being more than thirteen per cent. for coinage.

On account of the fpeaker being ill, the Houfe did not do any farther business till Monday the 25th of January. The fucceffive adjournments till that time created an appa-

rent, but hardly any real delay in the progress of public bufinefs. Almost the whole House are divided into select committees, fuch as that of ways and means, of elections, of claims, of commerce and manufactures, and of the mint. It is a miftake with fome people, that gentlemen have nothing to do except during the hours while they fit in a collective body. In fact, this is often but the lightest part of their duty. Mr. Venable, chairman of the committee of elections, obtained, about this time, leave for that committee to proceed with their feparate bufinefs, while the Houfe was convened, from the impoffibility of otherwife difpatching what they had to do. Mr. Tracy, chairman of the committee of claims, remarked in the Houfe, a few days before, that the members of this committee had but just time enough to eat and fleep. Justice to Congress required this explanation.

## CHAPTER IV.

Treaty with Spain. Correspondence of Dummore with the Creeks. Effects of opening the Navigation of the Western Waters. Advantages of Unanimity in the United States. Attempts to diffelve the Union. Webster. His scurrilous treatment of the Southern States. Wilcocks. Letter from the Aurora. Inflammatory Hand-bill against New England. History of the Connecticut claim on Luzerne. Mr. Pickering made prisoner. Trial as to these Settlers. Impossibility of driving them out. The Senate. Encomium on them by Mr. Sedgwick. Constitutional Queries.

N the 20th of January, 1796, intelligence was received at Philadelphia, of a treaty being figned at Madrid, on the 27th of October preceding, between the King of Spain and the United States. The principal object of the negociation had been to obtain, for American citizens, the free navigation of the Miflifippi. One might wonder why fuch navigation ever was denied, fince it could not injure the Spanish intereft; but the history of Europeans in America is full of fuch perverfenefs. Thus, when the Dutch held the province of New York, they had an hundred times more land than hey could occupy, yet they frequently quarreled with the New Engiand fettlers, and would have rejoiced in an opportunity to expel them. On

the other hand, the English were angry that the Dutch were fuffered to live in the centre of their colonies\*. In 1654, without provocation or pretence, and in the midst of peace, an English commodore drove the French out of Penobscot, and St. John's; and Hutchinson whitens over this usurpation by faying that the English had good right to the country. The French, when masters of Canada, were equally difposed to wanton mischief. Thus the jealoufy of Spain was not fingular. That nation had gone still farther. On the 20th of May, 1794, a meffage was received by the Houle of Reprefentatives from the Prefident. He flated that there had been danger of hostilities against the territories of Spain in the neighbourhood of the United States. Some papers, including a correspondence between the Executive and the Governor of Kentucky, accompanied the meffage, and were read to the Houfe. The tone of the Governor indicated, that he would make no vigorous exertions to prevent the expulsion of the Spaniards from the banks of the Miflifippi. He fpoke of them as a perfidous and worthlefs people, who were conftantly exciting the favages to murder the fettlers on the new lands. That the acculation was just, there can be no question. Something of this fort has been practifed by every European nation in North America. Kalm, the Swedish traveller, fays, that, far within the prefent century, the Dutch at Albany ufed to trade with the Indians, after the latter had made irruptions into New England. They bought filver fpoons and other articles of plunder. The New Englanders knew this, and fometimes threatened that, in the next Indian war, they would begin with burning Albany. The real caufe of the war in 1756, was fhortly this: France and England wanted each of them an exclusive privilege in three points. First, the honour of felling drams to the Indians. Second, a monopoly of cheating thefe people in the purchase of their furs. Third, the exclusive right of exciting them to butcher and fcalp individuals of the rival nation. The humanity of this project was equalled by its wifdom. Every campaign of that war cost each of the parties more money than would have bought, in fee fimple, all the furs in the world. The Spanish negociations with the Indians afford, therefore, no peculiar ground of reproach. It

\* Hutchinson's History of Massachusetts, Vol. I.

appears likewife that the British had entertained fome hopes of flimulating by connivance from Spain, the Creeks and Chickafaws to the fame employment. The charge is not advanced without evidence. The following depolition has been transferibed from an attested copy in the repositories of Congress; and deferves a place here to shew one of the many reasons that this country had for defiring a free palfage down the Miffifipi.

## Deposition of William Jones, Georgia.

WILLIAM JONES, of the county of Wilkes, in the State aforefaid, being duly fworn maketh oath and faith, that about four months ago, he was employed and did go through the Creek country, to carry a letter to Ford, Reid, and Co. at Penfacola, from Willing, Morris, and Swanwick, of Philadelphia; that arriving at Penfacola, the Lieutenant Governor directed him to go to the principal Governor at New Orleans, which the deponent did; that returning from New Orleans, and arriving at Penfacola about four weeks fince, he there faw Colonel Brown and Colonel Richard Paris, of and from the illand of New Providence, with letters from Lord Dunmore to the Governor of Pensacola, to obtain a paffport to the CREEK COUNTRY, which letters he faw delivered; and that the deponent understood they had a large quantity of goods for THE CREEKS, and was told by Baillie China, and the Indian trader Ruffel, that they were to hold a treaty with THE CREEK NATION. The deponent further faith, that from the above facts, and the circumstance of the apparent gladness of THE TORIES, who fied from the states and live there and at Tom Bigby, he suppofes they were on a public embally, and not on a trading fcheme.

The deponent upon his faid oath, further faith, that the houfe of Panton, Leflie, and Forbes, lately fent a parcel of goods to the Chickafaw country, and that the Mountain Leader had feized them, and made prifoners of the traders, alleging a treaty with the United States; and the deponent heard that their goods were alfo fent by the direction of the faid Brown and Paris.

Ŀ

## (Signed) WILLIAM JONES.

Sworn to in Severn County, the 15th day of August, 1794. In addition, the deponent further faith, that although he had been promifed a pafs to return to Georgia, *after the arrival of Brown and Paris*, he was refufed, otherwife than circuitoufly by water.

Thus we learn the kind intention of our British allies. The Spanish treaty will put an end to danger on that fide; for by the rapid increase of the south western settlements, the Creeks must be gradually furrounded and shut up as in a bag. In a few years, they will probably become as infignificant as the Six Nations. The news of the Spanish treaty was received in America with univerfal joy, as bearing the most favourable auguries of peace and prosperity. By the fourth article, the King of Spain fecures to the United States the free navigation of the Miffiffipi. By the twenty-fecond, he engages that they shall, for three years certain, have liberty to deposit their merchandize at New Orleans; and to export it from thence, without paying any other duty than a fair price for the hire of the flores that lodge it. If at the end of three years, the king of Spain finds an inconvenience in making New Orleans the entrepot for American exports, he promifes to allign another place for an equivalent establishment, on the banks of the Miffiflipi.

An agreement more favourable or advantageous for this country, it is impoffible to afk or even to with. It has likewife a chance to be permanent, for it is founded on the immutable principles of equity. Nothing can be more ridiculous or tyrannical, than that a king of Spain should ever have assumed a right of preventing the Americans from failing down the Miffifipi. The king of England and the emperor of Morocco, might as well confpire to hinder any people, excepting their own fubjects, from failing through the gut of Gibraltar. It would require a volume of paper, and twenty years of experience to enumerate and even to discover the multiplicity of benefits that may be expected from the navigation of the Mifliffipi being laid open to the United States. The western counties of Pennfylvania, Kentucky, and the Tennessee territory, will feel an immediate and ineftimable advantage by the advance in value, which their crops must acquire. Emigrants to thefe countries will augment in a fuitable proportion ; fo that by the lapfe of ten years, if no difastrous accident intervenes,

Kentucky alone will contain perhaps, as many people as Pennfylvania. The market of the Weil Indies muit, in fome degree, be centered at the mouth of the Miffishipi.

A notion has prevailed, that the navigation of this river cannot be of much benefit to our fellow-citizens, on the weftern waters, becaufe the rapidity which hurries their veffels down the Miffiffipi, will make it impoffible for them ever to get up again. But if the Kentuckians are not able to bring their veffels up againft the ftream, they will be able to fell them at prime coft, for they can build them at a cheaper rate than any other people in the world. Even if that market fhould fail, which is very unlikely, they can bring down their produce in boats, and a boat which defcends loaded, may furely, with as much expedition, afcend back empty, admitting every thing for the difference in the current.

This treaty muft convince the weftern citizens of the union of the extreme advantage which America derives from acting as one mafs of people. If they had been formed into an independent republic, the court of Madrid would have formed to grant fuch a free navigation. The Kentuckians, it is true, might kave burnt New Orleans, but they could not have ventured on the ocean. They would have been plundered by every nation, whofe veffels they happened to meet. It is only by acting in an united body, that America can become refpectable and important. An hundred years hence, when the population of this continent extends to fixty or eighty millions of fouls, posterity will be in a different fituation.

In no part of the union is the growth of population more rapid than in Kentucky and Tenneffee. The emigrants to the former, during the years 1795 and 1796 cannot have been lefs than fixty thousand perfons, and it will perhaps be proved from the registers kept for the routes of Pittfburgh and the Wildernefs, that they much exceed that number. Mr. White, delegate to Congress, from Tenneffee faid that he did not think the emigrants to that state for the year 1795, could be fewer than twenty thousand. The opening of the western navigation will augment the annual number, and may perhaps tend to reduce the price of land in the Atlantic States, and check the spirit of landjobbing. To monopolife all the lands in the western territory, is beyond the grafp of the most fanguine speculator. An immenfe tract of fertile country, interfected and laid open by a multitude of navigable rivers, prefents an object too valt to be embraced either by the purfe, or the credit of a few individuals. People on the Atlantic coaft will not fubmit to pay a high rate for land, when much better may be had on the Ohio, and the Milliflipi, for a tenth or an hundredth part of the money; and when that land is fo well fituated for the market of the Weft Indies.

While fo great advantages are to be derived from mutual union, every friend to the country muft regret those unlucky attempts which are often made to fow feeds of jealoufy between the different flates. Some notice fhall here be taken of publications tending that way, becaufe it is impossible to flart an idea more perfectly ruinous than that of a disjunction. The Aurora of the 24th of November, 1795, contains the following article, copied from the New York Minerva.

" Advices from Georgia announce that the blacks are " very troublefome and excite alarms. If the blacks in the " fouthern states become a little more restive, it will be a " very bad time for ambitious intriguers there to threaten " the union of the flates: And it is eafy to fee that their " efforts to shake our prefent excellent government and " administration, must end in a diffolution of the union. The " northern flates have carried through one revolution al-" most by their fole exertions. They have by the late treaty " affumed a fhare of the debts of the fouthern states. They " have borne much and borne long, and if the fouthern " flates will not fuffer them to enjoy peace with a good go-" vernment, it is apparent that a feparation must be the con-" fequence, an event greatly to be feared and regretted; " but one for which the minds of people feem to be fast " ripening."

No other newspaper hath fince the above publication mentioned any *alarms* from the blacks in Georgia. Nobody can point out the *ambitious intriguers* in that flate who threaten the existence of the union, or specify *efforts* to that effect. In 1794, a slight attempt was made by General Elistha Clarke\*, and a few other perfons to set up an in-

\* This is the gentleman fo diffinguished during the war of 1775, for his exploits against the Indians. They remarked that Virginia was the knife, and Clarke the point. dependent government upon lands belonging to the Indians to the fouth of the river Oconee. They built a fort, but never affembled at one time above eighty men. A few dragoons and militia were collected, and the people received notice that if they would abandon their fort, their perfons and property should be protected. They dispersed; and the fort was peaceably burned. Not a drop of blood was fpilt. These particulars are extracted from a letter dated the 29th of September 1794, from Constant Freeman to the Secretary at War. The flory is already as much forgot, as if it never had happened. How then is it eafy to fee that fuch trifles are to diffolve the union? That the minds of people feem to be fast ripening for fuch a diffolution is an atrocious untruth. The writer ought to have told what he means by faying that the northern states have borne much and borne long; and what he would fignify by fuppoling that the fouthern states will not suffer the northern to enjoy peace and a good government.

The following remarks are copied from the Minerva, of the 11th of February, 1796.

"It is worthy of notice that the *patriots* in Philadelphia, "who, at their late celebration of the French and American "alliance, made an invidious diffinction between the recep-"tion of *Mr. Jay* and General Wayne, when they re-"turned from their negociations, at the fame time toafted "the 'State of Virginia,' and withed all the flates to imi-"tate *her patriotifm*. Men who can toaft *Virginia patriotifm* "muft be fitted for any degree of moral turpitude.

"The patriotifin of Virginia, as well as her credit, fland among her fifter flates on the footing that Punic Faith did among the Romans."

As to the Romans, their canting about *Punic faith* refembled William Pitt railing at the *perfidy* of France. The citizens of Philadelphia who celebrated the French and American alliance, are, it feems, fitted for any degree of moral *turpitude*; or, in plainer words, they are complete rafeals. This is wholefale work. The reation given is as curious as the offertion itfelf. They toafted the State of *Virginia*, &c. If it is fuch a crime even to toaft that flate, it follows that Virginia itfelf must be one vast, NEWGATE out of doors. Webster, the printer of this newspaper, when in a feolding fit, frequently charges people whom he does not like with reviling the Prefident. But of all infults ever heard of, this is the groffeit, and the Prefident and his whole family, being natives of that flate, this reproach hits them as well as other people. To Webfler, we may apply what Peter Pindar fays of Jemmy Bofwell.

Loud of thy fame full many a tongue hath fpoken,

And wonder'd that thy bones were never broken.

Another most audacious paragraph was copied from this Minerva in the Philadelphia Gazette of the 18th of April, 1796. Speaking of the British treaty, Webster goes on thus. " One event is the most certain confequence of a " violation of the treaty by the Houfe of Reprefentatives, " a violation of the union. The northern states fought the " battles of the fouthern during the last war. They fed, " clothed and fupported the army. They fecured inde-" pendence. They have offered now to pay the debts of " the fouthern delinquents. They confented to give the " fouthern flates a fourth more reprefentatives than they " are justly entitled to by admitting two fifths of the blacks " to be reprefented; and yet those states are not fatisfied. " A violation of national faith, at this time, will be confidered " by the northern people, as a throw of the gauntlet. The " challenge will be accepted, and the northern flates will " rid themfelves of a weight that hangs like a millftone " about the neck of our prosperity."

The writer should have informed the public what authority he had for afferting that the northern flates would break the union, if the reprefentatives refused appropriations for fulfilling the treaty. When it was first published, the Bostonians held a numerous town meeting, and difpatched an express to the President, intreating him not to fign it. Several New England members, Mr. William Lyman, Mr. Dearborn, and Mr. Sherburne, for inftance, invariably voted against it. But if the New England states were to have feparated themfelves from the fouthern flates, they must alfo have renounced New York, New Jerfey, Delaware, and Pennfylvania, becaufe in all thefe states, the treaty excited great opposition. In every state of the union, it had likewife numerous friends, and none more zealous than those in Maryland and Virginia. The public at large appeared to be about as equally divided on the fubject as Congress itself. What then did this man defign by wanting, as he constantly does, to draw a line of distinction between the eastern and fouthern states? As to the

. 1

former ridding themfelves of a millflone, New England difjoined from the union would look like man's head when fevered from his fhoulders. It is needlefs to be referved in plucking a crow with this editor. Either he is wrong in the head, or he receives a British pension. If the court of London had hired an American newsprinter to diffeminate diffeord and excite a civil war in this country, fuch a tool would have affumed precifely the tone of the Minerva. As for the northern states having fought the battles of the fouthern, in the last war, every one of his affertions is unfounded. They have been refuted in Harrington's letters, published in answer to this paragraph in feveral newspapers.

They (the northern flates) have offered now to pay the debts of the fouthern delinquents! This is very decent language, and extremely conciliating. Are the four New England flates exclusively to pay them? or when are they to be paid? It was highly ridiculous in the Americans, at the end of the war, to difcharge one farthing of these debts. Mr. Guelph flould have paid the creditors himself, as he did the refugees.

They confented to give the Southern States a fourth (part) more (of) Reprefentatives than they are juftly entitled to. Thus we learn that about fifteen members of the Houfe of Reprefentatives should be turned to the door. Yet this man pretends to be the champion of the federal conflictution, and rails at every one who diffents from his oracular decifions, as an antifederalift. This is his conftant fulle. Compared with Noah Webster, the perfon who undertook to get into the quart bottle was a paragon of conflitency.

In a piece published in February, 1796, Webster compares Mr. Edmund Randolph felling the copy right of his *Vindication* to a criminal at the old Bailey, felling his body to a furgeon, and his confessions to a bookfeller. When an author fets off in this stile, it is only doing justice to the public to hold him out as an object of censure, as an instructive epitome of all which ought to be avoided. Admitting that Mr. Randolph was culpable for felling the copy right of his pamphlet, which by the laws of his country, he had a title to do, an appeal may fassely be made to every reader possible for fulling taste and delicacy, whether such similies are not an affront on the public, and a difgrace to typography. As Minerva is a Latin word, fome people may be ignorant what it originally fignified. As the paffage above quoted is only one among thoufands of the fame flamp, it is natural to guefs that Minerva meant an oyfter-wench. At leaft, it would never be fufpected, that fhe was the goddefs of wifdom, and the patronefs of the fine arts. But after all, if Mr. Randolph did fell his copy-right, it was proper that Mr. Smith, who printed the work fhould be as fure as poffible of indemnification for his expences. The Editor of the Minerva is himfelf a book-maker, and if he were to publifh a work that was expected to have an extenfive circulation, he would certainly, and with frict propriety, fecure the copy right. Why then rail at Mr. Randolph, or his printer, for doing, what is lawful and ufual for every other perfor?

Such a kind of writing has not been peculiar to the Minerva; nor is it the printer, but the readers who are anfwerable for its existence. If the world were firmly determined to difcountenance fuch publications, on whatever fide of a question they might happen to lean, party printers would foon acquire a decent fule. A New England news writer boasted, fome time ago, that fo many thousands of newspapers were printed in his state, and that, while the printing of newspapers continued to flourish fo greatly, while the people continued to receive fuch immense quantities of information, it was impossible for them to be misled or deceived. Experience will fometimes induce an oppofite conclusion. When a newspaper proves a mere vehicle for fcurrility, it is one of the vilest nuisances.

Another of the New-York literati has been at uncommon pains to fet the citizens of America together by the cars. A writer in the Aurora of the 25th of February, 1795, gave him juffice.

## " TO THE EDITOR OF THE AURORA.

"SIR,

"I am a plain man, and being incommoded with more than ufual auricular fenfibility, I avoid as much as poffible every fpecies of noife. All tedious talkers, and verbofe writers are my utter abhorence.

"Judge then what was my mortification, upon being forced this morning to read aloud to a large company two "letters printed by William Wilcocks of New York, who "certainly has an uncommon fhare of leifure time. "If this man had not, by the cruelty of nature, been "divefted of abilities, he would have proved an accom-"plifhed incendiary. As the cafe now ftands, his performances are marked by the incoherence of madnefs, with-"out its animation. The neareft parallel which I can find "to him is a toothlefs rattlefnake. I beg his pardon; I recol-"lect a ftill clofer refemblance, and that is the author of "the remarks on the political progrefs of Britain, alias ycleped "THE BONE.

"The latter is, however, by much the better of the two, "for he prints his commodity in a feparate pamphlet, fo "that you may either buy it or otherwife, as you pleafe; "but WILLIE, having gained over the printers of newf-"papers to his fide, is confantly flaring in our faces, whe-"ther we will or not.

"What profession does the man pretend to follow, that "he can have leifure to scribble such theaps of trash? "What good end can any printer imagine that fuch miserable "trumpery is to ferve? I would pay two dollars a year "additional of subscription to an editor who would give "me fecurity not to print one line either pro or con about "this endless chatterer, this typographical magpye, whose "most insignificant name is so oftentations?"

"Sir, fince I have begun to write, I fhall tell you ano-"their grievance. In all our letters, effays, congreffional "and other fpeeches, it is becoming fafhionable to fay that "America is the *admiration* and *envy* of the world. I ad-"mire this country and every thing about it, as much as "any body can. But this kind of fwaggering does not "fuit with the plainnefs and fimplicity that ought to dif-"tinguifh a Republic. Let us leave fuch foolery to Eng-"lifhmen, who have fo long deafened the world with pane-"gyricks on their moft excellent (*execrable*) conftitution.

"A. B."

About two years ago, the German Lutheran Church in Philadelphia was burnt down. Noah Webster turned this melancholy accident into jest, by a piece re-printed in the Aurora of the 8th of January, 1795. He faid that it happened during a meeting held in that church by the German Republican Society. At the fame time he knew this to be an untruth. No fuch meeting had been held in that place. Nine-tenths of its congregation knew as little of that fociety as they did of Webster. We need not wonder that Nero played on his flute while Rome was in flames. Philadelphia, likewife, can boast of a panegyrist of conflagration. This writer has celebrated the demolition of Dr. Priestley's meeting house, raves at the French as enemies to *religion*, and ranks among his patrons a doctor of divinity and a bishop\*. Literary fame appears farcical, when we look at the fources from whence it is to flow.

The people of the United States cannot be too much on their guard against injurious reports like those above defcribed. A recent inftance of that fort calls for particular notice. In October last, a handbill was circulated through feveral countries of Pennfylvania recommending Mr. Jefferfon as Prefident. It contained fome paffages deferving reprobation. For example: " The New England people " now support infurrection and forcible intrusion upon the " territory of Pennfylvania. It is a folemn truth, that " men, high in office in the Federal Executive and Ju-" diciary, belonging to New England, and their relations, "have been and are deeply concerned in that lawlefs " bufinefs, which would take away millions of acres of the " territory of Pennfylvania, and reduce her to become a depen-" dant province of New England. Seven years ago the high-" eft Federal Authority in the union, determined the claim " against the New England people; and little more than " a year ago, it was again determined against them by the "Federal authority; but they still go on in defiance of the "laws: Thus, appealing from one court to another is defying the laws !] "Yes, fellow-citizens? Federal New " Englandmen, as they call themfelves, who would have put " to death any citizen of Pennfylvania, who should oppose " them, would now, in the most voilent and lawlefs manner. " force you to give up near half the state, to their wicked " and unjust pretensions; and at the fame time ask you to " make one of their countrymen Prefident.

The flory here referred to has formerly coft bloodfhed, and feems even yet to be großly mifunderflood. A flort explanation will ferve to promote that good will fo extremiy

\* British Honour and Humanity, p. 54.

defirable among fellow citizens. James the First granted to the colony of Connecticut a charter extending their limits backwards as far as the South Sea. Charles the Second, by two charters to his brother and William Penn, croffed this grant, which ran in an oblique direction through New York and Pennfylvania. The Connecticut fettlers received no compensation, so that if a royal charter conferred a right, those of Charles were palpably unjust. To fay that the original patentees confented is nothing. It was the lamb confenting that the wolf should tear her to pieces. Connecticut never forgot her claim, and after many intermediate steps, a colony under protection of the state made about the year 1770, a fettlement at Wioming, in the county of Luzerne. Dr. Plunket, formerly an English highwayman, and thereafter a Pennfylvanian justice of the peace, with a body of armed men, attacked them. He was defeated. The British war enfued. The greatest part of the new fettlers went to the continental army, as part of the Connecticut quota. Had the other citizens of this state turned out as gallantly, Howe and his army never could have reached Philadelphia. In their abfence from Wioming, a body of tories and Indians under Butler and Brandt destroyed the settlement. If Wioming had been colonized from Pennfylvania, the inhabitants would have been expelled or extirpated. If it had not been planted at all, the favages must have come farther into the country in quest of plunder. Thus the state should have been thankful that this colony flood between them and the form. After the war, commissioners were appointed to meet at Trenton, and decide the claim. The proprietary right was affigned to Pennfylvania. The hand-bill fays, that, feven years ago, the claim was determined. If the decision had affected the individual planters, those who obtained the victory should have purfued it, by ejecting them. But no fuch ejection was contemplated by the decree of Trenton. The lands occupied by the Connecticut people had been formerly fold by Penn ; and the purchafers were haraffing the foreign fettlers. The Affembly of Pennfylvania paffed, about the year 1788, a law called the quieting act, whereby the lands possefied by the foreigners were confirmed to them, and at the fame time a flipulation was made that the claimants under Pennfylvania fhould be provided with other lands. The affignment was indefinite, and gave but fmall fatisfaction. The Connecticut people had been formed into a county, by their parent state, fo that they were not, as it has often been reprefented, a mere lawlels gaug of intruders without any legal countenance. The decree of Trenton having diffolved their union with Connecticut, it became their great object to obtain admiffion as citizens of Pennfylvania. This they had long folicited by petitions to the Aliembly, and it was now held out by the quieting or confirming act. They were to appear, at a place named, within a certain lpace of time, and give in their titles to commissioners appointed by the affembly to examine them. General Heifter, Colonel Pickering, now Secretary of State, and others, were nominated, and went up to Luzerne, wherein the lands are fituated. The people, anxious for legal fecurity to their farms, thronged in, and as it came out in evidence on the late trial, they were, a very few individuals excepted, extremely well pleafed with the plan. It was blafted by an unlucky circumstance. The land had originally been parcelled out into fhares of fix hundred acres each by an affociation of perfons called the Sufquehannah Company, acting under permission from the Assembly of Connecticut. The first clafs of fettlers were hence called whole share men. After the British war when the colony was menaced with an attack from this state, they advertised that any able bodied man, who was willing to fight in their defence, fhould have a half share, or three hundred acres. They were urged to this measure in felf-defence, for the matter had become fo ferious, that General Parfons of New England entertained fome thoughts of joining them with a body of troops. Ethan Allen, alfo, by a letter which was read in the late trial, offered to bring them a reinforcement of the people then called Green Mountain Boys. Indeed the history of Vermont is little more than that of Wioming upon a larger scale. This invitation and offer of half Thares drew together feveral adventurers, and by their means the committion ended without effect. The quieting act did not extend to thefe people, who were thus in danger of being turned entirely deftitute. Many of them left the colony, and went up to Tioga. Some of the old fettlers had even bought the lands of thefe half fhare men, and thus the confirming law was offenfive to them; but they were few in number. Colonel John Franklin, now a

( 92 )

member of the Assembly of Pennfylvania, was thought to be one of them, and fome of the commissioners, for they were not all in the fecret, gave notice to the flate government at Philadelphia that a plot had been formed, of which Colonel Franklin was faid to be at the head, to drive them out of the fettlement. Five men were difpatched up to Luzerne to arrest him, which, after a scuffle, was done and he was confined for eighteen months in the jail of Philadelphia. But this meafure hastened the expulsion of the commillioners. The terms of the confirming act were thus unfulfilled, but not by the fault of the original fettlers. It was entirely a scheme between the half share men, and a few whole thare men, who had purchased lands from fome of them. The next affembly of Pennfylvania, on finding that the law had not been fully complied with, repealed it. The matter has hung in fuspence ever fince. In revenge for the imprisonment of Colonel Franklin, the half sharemen, to the number of about twenty, took Colonel Pickering prifoner in his own houfe in Luzerne, where he had bought a plantation. They carried him into the woods, and kept him for twenty days with one of his legs chained to a log of wood. The militia of the County went out in fearch of him in every direction. At length he recovered his liberty, and never imputed the finallest blame as to this affair to the original fettlers. One of the perfons who feized him was mortally wounded by the militia. Others were condemned and imprifoned for an appointed time. Here the flory should have rested; but instead of that, when Wioming chances to be named in this city, an alarming narrative is in readinefs as to the feizure of Colonel Pickering. The fault is charged upon the people in general, though committed by a few defperadoes. In this hand bill, on the contrary, the wonted inconfistency of error alludes to Colonel Pickering as a fellow confpiriator with these alleged outlaws from Connecticut. Perhaps our Secretary of State is indebted for this mark of diftinction to his zeal in urging the Prefident to an immediate ratification of Jay's treaty, and to his remark that " the " ftruggle to defeat it was the act of a detestable and nefari-" ous confpiracy."\* At this time, Mr. Pickering knew that Mr. Randolph oppofed this ratification ; he was therefore

\* Randolp, p. 54.

included in the plot. Enviable are the tafte and talents of that difputant, who can convince the judgment of an antagonift without offending his perfonal feelings !

As fo much complaint has been made against the Connecticut fettlers, let a few words be endured in extenuation of their guilt. It is not difputed that the charter from Charles the fecond carried Connecticut quite across the continent, as far as California. It is also certain that these grants were for the most part dearly bought. Charles, though an expert extortioner from his fubjects, was constantly and deeply in debt; and even if he gave the charter above mentioned as a prefent to fome of his favourites, they would not fail to fqueeze the actual fettlers as far as poffible. Belknap's hiftory of New-Hampfhire flews how long that State was incommoded with the claims of proprietaries. Now, the Connecticut grant being paid for, Charles comes forward, and cuts off almost the whole territory marked out by himfelf. One part goes to his brother. A fecond discharges a debt which he owed to William Penn. This was no better than his flutting up the exchequer. partition of Connecticut was altogether as iniquitous as a partition of Poland. It could not be expected that a colony fo straitened for want of room, were to forget this invasion. The thing was impoffible.

Let us now turn to contemplate the conduct of the State of Pennfylvania, and how they treated this very charter to Penn, when it flood in their way. At a fingle wrench they feized the whole right of his family over a country that contains perhaps thirty millions of acres, and gave in return an hundred and thirty five thousand pounds sterling. It was never pretended that Mr. John Penn was a refugee, or that he in any fhape either betrayed or injured the intereft of Pennfylvania. If the State could have found any pretence of that kind, they would not, it is to be prefumed, have granted him a fingle farthing. They did not allege any fuch thing, and thus the feizure of his property was as undifguifed an act of irregularity as it is possible to conceive. Political expediency was the only alleged caufe, and one of the greatest weight. If the old charter had flood in all its force, the Penns would, before this time, have been abfolute fovereigns of Pennfylvania. A monarch propriefor of feven eighths of the foil, and with a quit-rent

over the greater part of the reft, would have been the most irresistible master that perhaps the world ever faw. The fociety of Friends, a fect fo numerous, fo powerful, and as impenetrably wedged together as the Macedonian phalanx, would have watched the interest, and supported the prerogatives of their chief, with all the zeal of loyalty and all the enthuliafm of religion. Their exertions, combined with that overwhelming influence poffeffed by the next to universal landlord, would, before the end of this century, have rendered the throne of the Penns as to internal authority, more completely founded, than that of any monarch on earth. Such confequences were forefeen. The knot which could not be loofed was cut afunder. But while the Affembly of the State were thus buriling through the charter of Penn, the only pretence which they had to the foil, they grounded on that very charter a claim to the territory of Wioming: It is easy to fee why the State could find nobody willing to fight in fuch a caufe. People are not here, as in the old countries, obliged fometimes to cut throats for "a livelihood. A labourer in Pennfylvania will very feldom give up a good diet, and a dollar per day to become a foldier, unlefs he has a motive more powerful than military wages. The Affembly, without pretending to any title but that of Brennus,\* feized thirty millions of acres, and then their fpotlefs purity was shocked because the Connecticut people, in virtue of a charter much older than that of Penn, retained about an hundred and fiftieth part of the common spoil. How must this act of wickedness have shocked the nerves of our fublime moralists in the Statehoufe! It was just like Julius Cæfar executing pirates. The citizens of Pennfylvania will, fometime or other, perceive the abfurdity of railing at their pupils in Luzerne. With fuch an example before them, it could be no furprife that the half share men attacked the commissioners. This was the kind of high treafon for which colonel Franklin was imprifoned.

The trial referred to took place at Philadelphia, in April 1795, in order to remove John Dorrance, a Connecticut claimant. He was caft, and an appeal was to have been made. In the mean time, the nominal profecutor, Cornelius Vanhorne, had fled the country for horfe ftealing. Some

\* Vid. Plutarch, in the life of Camillus.

formality of the law required a perfonal intimation of the appeal, and the defendant was embarraffed by the difficulty of finding out Vaphorne. Here the matter flood about five months ago.

The hand-bill has mifreprefented feveral things. There is at prefent no forcible intrusion or infurrection in Luzerne. The colony from Connecticut has been fettled for about twenty-five years. The country is in profound tranquillity. The laws are executed there just as any where elfe. The land actually possessed is less than two hundred thousand acres. As for Pennsylvania becoming a a dependent province on New England, no mortal can believe this allegation. To look at this hand-bill, one would think that the whole militia of New England were pouring in upon the north-west of Pennfylvania. The fettlers' are in the strictest fense incorporated with the rest of the state. They will never be driven out of their lands. The expence of law fuits would coft more to the claimants than the foil is worth. In the action against Dorrance, a portion of ground was gained of between twenty and thirty acres. The trial lasted for three weeks. The defendants had three lawyers at an hundred guineas each ; the charges being defrayed by a general contribution. The profecutor had fix lawyers; and after all the caufe is appealed. Vanhorne's farm was in whole about an hundred and ninety acres. Perhaps fix other law fuits with different defendants, will be neceffary to clear it. One thoufandth part of the business will be completed. It appears fuch another labyrinth as the Westminster scrutinies of 1784, and 1788. They would each have cost more time than Parliament had to fit, and, as Mr. Horne Tooke fays, fifteen hundred thousand pounds sterling. They were both, on that account dropt, as the law fuits against the Connecticut people will be, The State thrust itfelf into the place of the Penns, and should in common justice, have fatisfied these claimants, instead of configning them to an eternity of litigation. Connecticut has not, however refigned her claim; nor promifed acquiescence in. the decree of Trenton.

The circulation of fuch papers as this hand-bill, aided by the inactivity of government, produced the Western In-

furrection. Hence it is the duty of every man, who has the good of this country at heart, to difcountenance all publications of that kind. The Chief Justice of the United States, as being a native of New-England, is also mentioned in the most difres feelful terms.

The defign of this performance was to prevent the election of Mr. John Adams, as Prefident. In his *Defence* &c. Vol. I. page 70, Mr. Adams fays, "I only contend that. "the Englith Conftitution is in theory the most flupenduous "fabric of human invention, both for the adjuftment of the "balance and the prevention of its vibrations; and that the "Americans ought to be applauded inflead of cenfured, for "imitating it as far as they have (*done*.) Not the formation of "language, not the whole art of navigation and fhip build-"ing, does more honor to human understanding, than this "fyftem of government."

Mr. Adams has acknowledged his opinions with an honourable franknefs. The handbill only charges him with two faults his being a *Monarchift*, and a native of New-England.

Complaints had always been made of the Senate for keeping their doors thut. They were in the prefent festion fet open, but in fact the Senate have very little bufinefs. All bills for raifing revenue must originate in the House of Representatives; and almost every bill of consequence comes from them. From the 4th of March, 1795, downwards, the pay of the Senate rifes to feven dollars per day, while that of the Reprefentatives remains at fix. The pay of their Prefident is five thousand dollars per annum. The Senate, in June, 1794, rejected a bill from the other house, for the reward of those clerks who continued in public offices in Philadelphia, during the Yellow Fever, and for relief to the widows and families of those who died of it. The Reprefentatives had been unanimous. Perhaps Congress might have difpenfed with chaplains for one festion, and paid their falary to the widows and orphans of the deceafed clerks.

At the time of framing the federal government, each of the thirteen flates was allowed two fenators. Thus Delaware has two voices in the Senate, while its population entitles it only to one Reprefentative. Virginia, with but two Senators, has nineteen Reprefentatives, and Pennfylvania thirteen. The difference between the number of their inhabitants and those of Delaware, is encreasing every

1. 8

day. In twenty or twenty five years, the numbers of the two former will double themfelves. The flate of Delaware is already almost as crouded as it can expect to be for ages to come. When either of thefe two larger flates has increafed confiderably beyond its prefent population, fuch inequality of fenatorial importance never will be endured. No man of com non forefight can expect it to be fo.

New-York and Rhode-Island afford a contrast like that of Penufylvania and Delaware. Rhode-Island is at the height of its population; while that of New-York is augmenting with rapidity. The latter contains already about eight or nine times the inhabitants of the former. But it avails nothing for this great state to be adequately reprefented in one house of Congress, if a diminutive territory like Rhode-Island can match it in the other.

In forming the Federal Constitution, mutual concessions were neceffary; and their effects have teftified the prudence of the convention which granted them. But when the gradual progrefs of time has entirely reduced the relative importance of the leffer states, an alteration, or perhaps a diffolution of the Senate will certainly follow. The United States have at prefent near five millions of people. They double just about once in twenty five years, and thus in less than feventy years, the Union will have thirty millions of perfons. Thirty thousand whites are, by the Constitution, allowed one Reprefentative. At that period, therefore, the houfe will confift of near a thousand members. Suppose that the number of Stateshas augmented to thirty, the Senate will then have fixty members. A thoufand legillators would hardly fuffer the controul of fixty. The two houses have already had fome difagreements, fuch as that on the 6th of June, 1795, about the defence of the South Western Frontier against the Indians. The Representatives wanted to have the Prefident authorifed to call out, as occasion might require them, ten thousand militia. The Senate infilted on defending this frontier with a continental regiment of eleven hundred and forty men. The bill was dropt. If the Reprefentatives had then confifted of a thoufand members, they would not eafily have endured refiftance from fixty Senators. These hints shew that, within a century, changes must likely take place in the Federal Conflictution. A thousand Representatives would only be a legislative mob. In the next Senatorial arrangement, it

is likely that the period of continuance in office will be thortened; and it may furely be hoped that pofferity, at leaft, will fuffer no man to fill the chair of legiflation, while his confituents have undertaken to prove by legal evidence, that he deferves a very different place.

On the 10th of March, 1796, an attempt was made in the House of Representatives, to fink their character by a comparifon with that of the Senate. Mr. Sedgwick fpeaking of the latter faid, " Who, as contemplated by the Consti-" tution, were they? The most enlightened and the most " virtuous of our citizens. What was the fource from " whence they derived their elevation? From the confi-" dence of the people, and the *free* choice of their elec-" tors." (Now, take notice!) " Who were those electors? " Not an ignorant HERD," who could be cajoled, flattered, and " deceived, not even (here he tries to get rid of that unlucky " word herd) not even the body of enlightened American " citizens; but their legislators, men to whom the real " characters of the candidates would be known." [It is to be withed that Mr. Sedgwick would fpecify which of his fellow-citizens are the herd, and which the enlightened. The latter word was most likely inferted next morning, as a Peccavi, when the member had cooled, and wrote out his fpeech for the prefs ] " They did not poffels their feats " in confequence of influence obtained by cajoling and de-"ceit," [Such infinuations apply to every member in the houfe, and every citizen who voted for fending members there. As to the Senate of Congress, there is no probability that they are elected by men more honourable, or acting from better motives than the bulk of citizens. Senators are chosen by the legislature of each respective state; and if corruption is to be fought after, the chances of finding it are as great among members of a legislature as among the mais of citizens. We go on with Mr. Sedgwick. ] " prac-" tifed in obscure corners, where the means of detection were " difficult, if not impracticable ;" [It is hard to guess what the member meant by impracticable? If bribery or bludgeons have gained an illegal majority, fuch questions come

\* This gentleman complained to one of the takers of debates for vulgarizing his file, by the infertion of low phrases, which it was impossible that he (Mr. Sedgwick) ever could have used. ( 100 )

before the very Houfe whom Mr. Sedgwick was addreffing. Hence it refults that the gentleman confidered electioneering juffice as inacceffible in the Houfe.] " but they were " telected from the most confpicuous theatres," [The Houfe of Reprefentatives must be the principal one of them.] " where their characters could be viewed under every affect?" [efpecially when members fpeak one harangue, and write another effentially different for the newfpapers,] " and by " thole most capable of diffinguishing the true from the " falfe." \* This whole paffage contains an undifguifed attack on the Houfe and their constituents. The word herd, fo bountifully befowed by the member, is an exact echo of Mr. Burke's Swinifh Multitude. If American citizens defire to be called by fuch a name, it would be invidious to diffurb the tranquillity of their approbation.

There is no exact copy of this fpeech. Mr. S. Smith has quoted from it one remarkable paffage not in the edition of Mr. Bache, and the ignorant herd would perhaps have been fuppreffed, if that gentleman had not alfo cited and replied to this claffical metaphor. "Who are we that we fould " attempt to judge over the heads of those wife men : We, " who are collected from the remote corners of the union?" + The above is the paffage omitted. During this fellion, one of those wife men fent a challenge to Mr. Baldwin, of the House of Representatives. Another, who sat in the last Congrefs, has for feveral years been a bankrupt of a fingular kind. He is proprietor of more land than would form an hundred German principalities. Yet his notes, to the amount of millions of dollars, have been long fold at half their nominal value, and fometimes for much lefs; while as many tradefmen as could eat a roafted ox at one breakfast have, with their families, been reduced to great difficulty by his non-payment of their bills. The Houfe of Representatives can boast of no such wife men. What did Mr. Sedgwick mean by the Reprefentatives being collected from the remote corners of the union? Is Philadelphia a remote corner? Was not its representative fitting at his left hand, and the member from this county in the chair just over against him? Both Houses are elected exactly from the fame corners, though not by the fome individuals. On the first Monday in December, 1797, at farthest, Mr. Sedg-

\* Eache's Debates. Part I. p. 102.

† Ibid. p. 218.

wick himfelf is to be one of the wife men. He ought to begin as early as possible.

Particular attention is requested to to the following paffage in the fame speech. The House were debating whether they had a right to call for Jay's correspondence. Mr. Sedgwick went on thus: "A thousand circumstances of " foreign relations would occur in the history of any coun-" try, under which nothing short of unlimited powers of "negociation would be adequate to a prevention of enor-" mous, perhaps ruinous evils. But it might be objected, " that a power fo enormous, and comprehending-fuch " essential interests, might be abused, and thence he asked, " where is the remedy? To this he answered, that a na-" tional affociation required, for the great purpose of pre-" fervation, an UNLIMITED confidence on many subjects. "Hence, not only this, but perhaps every other national " government, had delegated to it an UNLIMITED CON-"TROUL over the persons and property of the nation. " might, by the express power given to it of raising armies, " convert every citizen into a foldier, and by a fingle affeffment " of a tax, it might command the use of all the property in " the country. The power to raife armies and taxes was " limited in its exercise, by nothing but the discretion of the " legislature, under the direction of its prudence, wifdom " and virtue."

Mr. Sedgwick, in the first part of this quotation, thinks that unlimited powers should frequently be granted to an ambaffador. This may be dangerous. Were he fent to the Court of London, with fuch powers, it is highly probable that he would fell his country. The British would have a much better chance of buying him than Prefident Reed; becaufe, at a distance from home, he could accept a bribe without risk of detection. Fifty or an hundred thousand guineas would be no object when compared with a favourable treaty. Burnet, in his history, fays, that " the whigs fet every thing to fale." He complained of the practice of bribing parliament to King William, and the latter affured him, thas it was not poffible to help it. Now, in a court where every other commodity is bought and fold, the confcience of an American amballador cannot, if it be veudible, want a purchafer. It would thence be highly imprudent to give him an unlimited commission.

Unlimited confidence to government, on many fubjects. is next affirmed to be neceffary. It is never fo. It is never even expedient. Mr. Baldwin made fome excellent remarks on the general advantage of publicity in national businels \*. Confidence is the cant word of a British minister. and a cloak for all forts of corruption. Jay, if *unlimited*, might have flipulated, that a British garrison were to mount guard at Mud Ifland. But by far the worst part of the fpeech is yet to come. We are told that government has an unlimited controul over our perfons and property, might convert every citizen into a foldier, and by a fingle affeffment, feize the whole property of the country. Our only refuge is in the prudence, wifdom, and virtue of an hundred and thirty-feven men, whom the gentleman calls Government. Thus we come directly back to the Roman Decemvirate. Such doctrines are too despotic for the darkest cell of the inquifition. The only use or meaning of the federal constitution was to limit the operations of Congress and of the Prefident. Can government grant titles of nobility? No. Can they lay a tax or duty on articles exported from any, state? No. Can they pais an ex post facto law? No. Can they lay a tax of more than ten dollars on the importation of an emigrant? No. Can they grant privileges to the port of New York beyond that of Boston or Norfolk, or any other? No. [Something of this fort has got into the British treaty, of which we shall hear farther in its properplace.] Can government impose a greater excise on one flate than on every other? No. Can they compel a Quaker to take a judicial oath, or to shoulder a musket? No. Can they inflict unufual punishments? Can they, for instance, break a man on the wheel; or, like the British government, fix his head on an iron fpike, and direct the hangman to cut out his heart and dash it in his face? No. For the conflitution fays, that " cruel and unu/ual punishments shall not " be inflicted." Can they impose a capitation tax, unless in confequence of, and in proportion to a cenfus? No. As to the universal army, the power of making every man a foldier; the conflitution fays No. Could government have ordered the judges of the federal court to march out as privates in the western expedition? No. Were they to fend a meffage over the way to the attorney-general of

\* Bache, Part I, p. 13.

Pennfylvania, Mr. Ingerfol, requiring him to accept the command of Fort Recovery, would that gentleman obey their orders? No. Could they punish him for refusal? No. Could they force one of the door-keepers of Congress, or any perfon whatever to enter even into the militia, if he chofe to pay his fine ? No. An effort of that kind would require fomething quite different from an arbitrary mandate of government. Can the present government pass a law on the 4th of March, 1797? No. Can they force us to pay a parfon for preaching fermons which nobody chufes to hear? No. Can they punish their fellow-citizens for difbelieving imposture, and laughing at nonfense? No. Can the captains of our formidable navy, if it shall ever be launched, impress an American seaman? No. In a word, the Federal Constitution rifes in one universal and indignant negative to the doctrines of Mr. Sedgwick. Nor are they new, for he broached fome things of the fame ftamp about three years ago, in difcuffing the fugar and fnuff excife act; and which were taken down at the time, and printed in the Philadelphia Gazette. This act itfelf shews that our legiflators can go far enough in all confcience, without overleaping the rails of the constitution. Hannibal at the gates of Rome was never half fo terrible as American excife at the gates of a fnuff-mill.

This creed of Mr. Sedgwick is the doctrine held out by Dr. Johnfon, in his *Taxation no Tyranny*, a pamphlet attacking the American revolution. Let us compare the two writers. "In fovereignty," fays Johnfon, "there can be "no gradations. There may be limited royalty; there "may be limited confulfhip; but there can be no limited "government. There must in every fociety be fome power "or other from which there is no appeal, which admits no "refirictions, which pervades the whole mafs of the com-"munity, regulates and adjufts all fubordination, enacts "laws or repeals them, extends or contracts privileges, "exempt itfelf from queflion or controud, and bounded only "by phyfical neceflity."

In opposition to Mr. Sedgwick and Dr. Johnson, to the member of Congress, and the man who called the first Congress *rebels*, we find a proper antagonist in Mr. Paine. Indulgence is entreated for the length of these quotations; they will probe to the bottom of Mr. Sedgwick's principles. In *Rights of Man*, Part I. the writer gives a full and accurate definition of what a conflitution is, and concludes thus: "A conflitution, therefore, is to a government, what "the laws made afterwards by that government are to a "court of judicature. The court of judicature does not "make the laws, neither can it alter them; it only acts in "conformity to the laws made: and the government is in "like manner governed by the conflitution.

In Part II. Chap. IV. Mr. Paine goes over the fame ground. "The laws which are enacted by governments, "controul men only as individuals, but the nation, through "its conflitution, CONTROULS THE WHOLE GOVERNMENT, "and has a natural ability fo to do. The final controuling "power, therefore, and the original conflituting power, are one "and the fame power. Dr. Johnfon could not have ad-"vanced fuch a position [that above quoted] in any country "where there was a conflitution; and he is himself an evi-"dence, that no fuch thing as a conflitution exists in "England."

Such a position has, we see, been advanced in America, and even in Congress. Blackstone, in his Commentaries, has a paffage defining the powers of parliament. Another quotation might be tirefome, but the fubstance of his doctrine is, that parliament has prerogatives unlimited, above controul, and omnipotent. In the trial between Vanhorne and Dorrance, Judge Paterson, when charging the jury, read the paffage in Blackstone here referred to. He read it to prove that in England there can be no fuch thing as a conflitution. He demonstrated that an unlimited power in government was irreconcileable with the very being of a conflitution. For a people under fuch uncontroulable government to fpeak of their having a constitution was a contradiction in terms. It ferved only to fhew that they were unacquainted with the meaning of the word. In fhort, the judge agreed as precifely with Mr. Paine in his doctrine, as Mr. Sedgwick agrees with Johnfon and Blackstone. The charge has been printed, and the curious may confult it. To fpeak of the highly refpectable character of Mr. Paterfon would be unneceffary. He was long governor of New Jerfey. He refigned that fituation to accept a feat on the bench of the Supreme Court of the United States. and Mr. Paine stand in the closest conjunction with each other, and in the directeft opposition to Mr. Sedgwick and the two English writers. The American constitution itself in every fentence, revolts against the doctrine of the reprefentative.

## CHAPTER V.

Farther remarks on the American Constitution. Not as alleged a Government of diferetion. Senatorial Anecdotes. Mar-Shall. Gunn. Rutherford. Extraordimery doctrine of partitioning the United States. Rufus King. Scheme of a Standing Army. Ruinous effects of fuch an eftabliftment. Enormous rate of interest in Philadelphia, Folly of unlimited confidence in the Senate. Commutation Act for Invalid Officers. Objections to it. What Congress fould have done. Sketch of the public fervices of Mr. S. Dexter. His incivility to Representatives from the Southern States. His Amendment to the Naturalization Bill. Mr. Hillkoufe verfus Emigrants. Congressional linen conveyed by post. Scanty payment of Clerks in public offices. Anecdotes of the British House of Commons. Privileges of the House of Representatives. Their dangerous tendency. A peep at St. Stephen's Chapel.

HE principles advanced by Mr. Sedgwick in the speech last quoted, contain fo much novelty, and the member by whom they were delivered bears such weight in Congress, that the subject merits further explanation.

One of the doctrines given as indifputable is, that government can force every man to be a foldier. The conflictution in Article I. Section VIII. fays, that " Congress shall have " power to raife and fupport armies; and to provide and " maintain a navy." A few words are added as to calling forth the militia, if neceffary. But if government can oblige every man to enlift, then it is as absolute as the antient kings of England. When a man refused to lend or give his money, they fometimes charged him with a meffage to the diftance of two or three hundred miles, or perhaps he was put into the ranks as a common foldier. Thus perfons of property were frequently haraffed into the payment of large fums. The federal government may as well fend any citizen whom they chufe to man a navy as an army. Even a prefs gang on the river Thames take up none but feafaring people and reputed vagabonds. By this new doctrine as to

enliftment, no man could be fecure of attending to his own bufinefs for a fingle day. The power of feizing the whole property in the United States by a fingle affeffment is another principle alleged as deducible from the constitution. This would indeed be what the gentleman calls a government of difcretion. He gives but a poor comfort by adding, that " the interests of the rulers were inseparably connected " with those of the people; that they could impose no " burdens in which they themfelves did not equally partici-" tate." A legiflature has often laid on a tax, and fhared three-fourths of its amount among themfelves and their dependants. The burden to each citizen is perhaps two guineas per annum, which the member pays indeed along with other people; but then his fhare of the fpoil comes to an hundred or perhaps a thousand times that amount. This is not an equal participation of burdens. The gentleman again repeats his doctrine, that " fuch powers (viz. of govern-" inent) must always be unlimited;" but in the end he fays, that, if " intolerable burdens were wantonly imposed, if " neceffary to defeat opprellion, oppolition and infurrection " would become a duty." Remonstrance would be the first duty; and if strongly supported by the public voice, it would prove fuccefsful, unlefs government had a powerful standing army. An instance occurred at this very crifis. A large majority of the Houfe of Reprefentatives condemned the British treaty, and they would have defeated its execution. All at once the public opinion arole in its favour; and the reprefentatives by flow degrees, and with much reluctance, receded from their point.

Again, Mr. Sedgwick fays, that "the right of refiftance "refulted not from the conflictution itfelf, for it had declared "no fuch right. No conflictution could declare it." He refers the right to original principles. But this Conflictution has declared both the right of refiftance, and the mode of exerciting it. The Prefident, Vice-Prefident, and all civil officers of government, are to be removed from office on impeachment followed by conviction. The right of impeachment appears open to every citizen. This right affords a wide door to refiftance. Suppofe a prefident by meffage recommending to the reprefentatives to bring in a bill for an affeffment that would comprehend one half of

\* Bache, Part I. p. 101.

the property in the country, or for imprefling all the quakers in America, and lending them to ferve on board of a navy. He would most likely be stopped by an impeachment, before the bill, by paffing into a law, could become an act of government. In the fame way, any public officer might be ftopt in the carreer of ulurpation without fo defperate a refource as infurrection. He could be effectually checked by a method pointed out in the Constitution. The boundaries of the authority of each branch of government are defined as exactly as the framers of the Conflicution knew how to do it. This was a fufficient precaution. At the end of every claufe the Convention might have fubjoined a threat of Infurrection, in cafe it was violated; the additions would have been abfurd, but nothing was more eafy than to infert them. As for this remedy of a revolt, the idea is by Mr. Paine more fuitably couched under the hint of a natural ability to controul. The limits fo anxioufly prefcribed in the Conflitution to each of the three branches of Government, thew clearly that the defign of the Convention was to limit the powers of the whole collectively. The right of impeachment goes as far as decorum would permit in expreshing the doctrine of refistance. Yet Mr. Sedgwick imagines that government has no limits to its power, and that the people have no legal mode of refifting it. The American Conflitution stands right over against him. The two antagoniss do not make even the approaches of common civility. They give to each other the negative direct. If the Conflictution was not to limit the exercise of government, there could be no use for making it.

One of the refources of the people, in cafe of oppretion, is, by Mr. Sedgwick, traced to the Prefident. "Was there "no dependence to be placed on the Prefident? the man "elected by *a refined procefs*, pre-eminent in fame and vir-"tue, as in rank?" This query does not refer to General Washington, but to Prefidents in the mass; and history will warrant a supposition that out of the next ten in the United States, fix, or most likely nine, will be no better than they should be. As for the *refined process*, it is hard to fay what superior refinement has been discovered in the election of November, 1796. Each party employed all the usual methods of gaining a majority in the choice of electors. For inflance, the hand bill against Mr. Adams,

which has been already quoted, does not difplay much delicacy. The writer evidently looked upon those for whom he defigned it, as grofsly ignorant and prejudiced, and as capable of digefting any fort of affirmation. The imprudence of employing fuch a ftyle was equal to its illiberality. In the Luzerne Gazette of the 1st of November, 1796, an anfwer appeared to this trafh, which placed it in a proper light. "In my opinion," fays the remarker, " the ad-" drefs under confideration, is a libel against the New-En-" gland States, an indecent attack upon the citizens of this " county, and a gross infult to the understanding of the free-" men of Pennfylvania." In Luzerne the returns were eight for the Jefferson ticket, and four hundred and seven for that of Mr. Adams. The handbill was of itself fufficient for enfuring fuch a reception. The fuperior importance annexed to the choice of a Prefident, the greatnefs of his falary, and the augmenting patronage of his office, will make each party far more active in canvalling for his electors than for a feat in Congress. Instead of the process being more refined than that of common elections, it has every chance of being much lefs fo.

The violent and exclusive panegyric bestowed by Mr. Sedgwick on the Senate, does not exactly coincide with an examination of particular facts. Humphry Marshall is one of the Senators from Kentucky. Above a year ago, two judges of that State published a figned advertifement in the new spapers, wherein they engaged to prove him guilty of perjury, if he chofe to bring an action against them for a libel. His acceptance of this challenge has not yet been communicated to the public. The cafe of James Gunn, a Senator from Georgia, is likewife fomewhat fingular. The Houfe of Reprefentatives of that State, by a minute dated the 19th of February, 1796, and printed in the news-papers, charged him with an attempt to corrupt fundry members of the Georgian legislature, for a fcheme of land jobbing. Their allegation is founded on three depositions also printed, and their attorney general is directed to profecute him. The houfe fay that James Gunn attended the Affembly of Georgia, during a whole feffion, when he should have been in Congress. Thus a Congreffional Senator may with impunity quit his feat for any length of time that he judges convenient. Other circumftances of a lefs ferious nature may be adduced to prove

that Senators are not abfolutely infallible. Sir John Temple, Britifh Vice-Conful at New-York, came under fufpicion as the author of a publication hoftile to the character of John' Rutherford, a Senator from New-Jerfey. On the 4th of November, 1796, a cudgelling took place in Cortland ftreet, New-York. The news-papers fay that the Senator was but about thirty years of age, and the Vice-Conful about feventy; that the former had a bludgeon and the latter only a finall horfe whip; that the Vice-Conful, knocked his antagonift down, and gave him a hearty drubbing. It is added, that the Senator had travelled from Suffex County, in New-Jerfey, to chaftife the Vice-Conful.

One frequent objection to the Senate was, that till the feffion under review, they conftantly kept their doors flut. This practice has not been borrowed from the British Peers, who let theirs stand open. In 1740, the Earl of Chefterfield fpoke in that Affembly as follows. " By excluding " ftrangers, when you have nothing of a fecret nature un-" der confideration, you will only raife a jealoufy of the " dignity of your proceedings."\* Debates have occurred in the Senate of Congress which made it expedient enough to exclude strangers. Were a British Peer to propose in Parliament the ceffion of Wales or Yorkshire to some foreign nation, were he to affirm that the legiflature are entitled to give away by treaty one half of the British empire. he would run fome hazard of being torn to pieces on the freets of London. " In the course of the Senatorial debate " (respecting Jay's treaty) the right of ceding by treaty a " whole State, nay, any number of the States, fort of a " majority, was boldly afferted and strenuously argued."+ It would certainly be improper to give fuch legiflators the unlimited confidence above recommended. Already, they think themfelves authorifed to give away by treaty feven States out of the fixteen to Spain, or England, or the Dey of Algiers. Thus the Constitution and Independence of America have become an appendage to the power of making treaties lodged in the Senate and Prefident. The piece last quoted came from the pen of Mr. Alexander Dallas, Secretary to the State of Pennfylvania. His accels to information cannot be doubted, and the charge has not been denied.

\* Burgh, Book 4th Chap. 6.

+ Features of Mr. Jay's Treaty, fection 8.

, One could will to know the names of those aspiring legiflators, and the detail of their bold affertions and ftrenuous arguments. They certainly belonged to the majority of twenty, who voted for the ratification of John Jay's treaty. Mr. Mafon incurred very great blame from fome people, for breaking the Senatorial injunction of fecrecy, by fending a copy of this inftrument to the Aurora. Before that happened, Rufus King, a Senator, had shewed it to the British Ambassador.\* Thus it was a crime to tell the people of America the fecret previoufly entrufted to the agent of their mortal enemy. Mr. King hath fince been appointed Ambaliador to the Court of England. A more complaifant choice could not have been made. His diflike to France was well known. In fummer 1793, John Jay and he figned and published a tittle-tattle card against Citizen Genet. This piece announced a fuperior degree of stile and understanding that justly pointed them out as envoys to Britain. Rufus King can remove one eye-fore. The Court of London had conceived that Americans were a free people; this was a bad precedent. Our Ambaffador, on the authority of his friend Mr. Sedgwick, may affure Pitt and Grenville that the United States are under a government of discretion, which, by a fingle affefiment, can feize.upon every blade of grafs, and every ear of corn on the continent. From himfelf, Mr. King may add that the United States can be pared or cut to pieces by the Senate and President, with the exactness and tranquillity of a grocer cutting a pound of cheefe. In exchange for one good article in a commercial treaty, you shall have Maffachufetts, New-York for a fecond, and Pennfyivania for a third. Such authority has been lodged by the Conftitution in these two branches of government, and yet their friend below stairs complains of the limited confidence with which they are vefted.

A keyftone is yet wanting to complete the arch of arbitrary power. The parties aggrieved perceive and lament the chafm. Their attempts to fupply it, though hitherto crufhed, ought not to be forgotten. On the 12th of March, 1794, a motion was made in the Houfe of Reprefentatives for adding fifteen thousand men to the military establishment. On the 1st of April, 1794, a bill was brought in for

\* Randolph, p. 29.

adding twenty five thousand men. On the 19th of May, 1794, the bill was difcuffed, and the twenty five thousand, along with fifteen thousand, and ten thousand were fucceffively proposed and rejected. Mr. Sedgwick was one of the leaders in this plan. A bill past in the Senate for ten thousand men, but on the 30th of May, 1794, it was rejected by the Reprefentatives. The regiment of eleven hundred and forty men, already referred to, was then propoled by the Senate, and refuted by the Reprefentatives. Mr. Giles expressed his extreme furprife at fuch perfeverance on the part of the Senate in an idea fo highly offenfive to the majority of the reprefentatives. Proteus, he faid, had never affumed a greater variety of thapes than this attempt for a flanding army. The people of the United States did not with to be trode down by a flanding army. Since this difcuffion two years and an half have elapted; and the intervening feries of events has juffified the negative to an additional establishment of twenty five thousand regular troops. There has indeed been an infurrection, in the fall of 1794, in the four Western Connties of Pennfylvania. But that was fuppreffed without opposition, by fifteen thousand militia; and it never could have existed in any fhape, unlefs fostered by the negligence, or, as many believe, by the deliberate defign of Alexander Ha-milton. It would be found difficult to pay these twenty five thousand regulars. Several of the militia who went out on the Western Expedition, have not yet received their arrears, and the whole expence of that affair is but a trifle to what fo great a body of regulars would have coft. If a perion is unable to difcharge a debt of fix pence, he can still less refund five guineas. A fummary of plain facts will demonstrate that this comparison is not overdrawn; and that the cost of maintaining fuch a body of troops in time of peace would endanger the existence of the Union.

The wages of the labour of twenty five thousand work the men, at a dollar per day, comes to an hundred and fifty thousand dollars a week, or feven millions and eight hundred thousand dollars per annum. On the fath of February, 1795, the Representatives discussed a bill for a felect corps of militia, and, on that occasion, Mr. Sedgwick stated a dollar per day as loss to the public by the absence of each man from labour. The abstraction of twenty five thousand

hands from labour would give a fatal stroke to the infant manufactures of America. Viewed in that light, this project forms a corps de reserve to the excise upon Sugar and Snuff. Few tradefinen in America, who attend clofely to their bufinefs, are able to overtake the whole of it in fatiffactory time. An English gentleman, who bought a farm fome years ago, within twenty miles of Philadelphia, faid that when he first came to the country he was furprifed to fee feveral of his neighbours in fuch extreme want of affiftance from a fhoemaker. At laft he found it owing not to inability of buying floes, but to the difficulty of getting a perfon to make them. Break the key of your defk, and get an American finith to mend it. You find it cheaper to buy a new lock and key from England. Wages to fervants and journeymen of all kinds are, through many states of the Union, higher than in any part of Europe, and after all, hands are fometimes not to be had. The journeyman carpenter, on whofe aid his employer depended for the fupply of cuftomers, bolts off without warning to Kentucky or St. Domingo, or the Federal City, or fets up a tavern, a ftage coach, or a billiard table; or determines to live like a gentleman till his last cent is expended. Before his fucceffor can be found a month elapfes. In many parts of the country this cafe frequently happens. Under fuch circumstances, to take twenty five thousand men from the chillel and the plough, unlefs urged by politive neceflity, would be highly abfurd. It would tend directly to deftroy the refources from which alone a ftanding army could expect to be paid. In Britain, at the beginning of a war, the public are often glad at the raifing of new regiments, as taking offidle or diforderly people. But here the demand for labour is fo great, that the least industrious man is generally thought worth his room. These observations point out the negative expence of this fcheme, that part of it arifing from the diminution of the quantity of labour. This would in a fingle year quadruple the whole char-ges of the Western Expedition. We now come to the positive expence, or, the amount of money which must be actually raifed and laid out on fuch a plan.

In the debate last referred to, Mr. Sedgwick read an estimate of the expence of fitting out a felect corps of militia. The arms and accoutrements would cost ten dollars per man; his clothes, by which was only meant a coat,

required twelve dollars. His rations for four days were to coft two dollars, or half a dollar per day. Mr. S. Smith in reply obferved that the arms would coft nothing, as they were to be had from the repolitories of the United States. Confine the outfet charges, therefore, to clothes and bounty money. The former could hardly be lefs than forty dollars. In one of the bills propofed about this standing army by the Senate twenty dollars per man was allowed for bounty money. Thus each man would coft in advance fixty dollars, which on the whole twenty five thousand comes to fifteen hundred thousand dollars, and adding the price of horses, with a multitude of incidents and jobs, this army would require between two and and three millions of dollars, at its outfet. The rations and pay could not, in whole, be lefe than a dollar per day. At feven days in the week, or three hundred and fixty five dollars per annum for each man, the total pay of the privates is nine millions one hundred and twenty five thousand dollars a year. The additional pay to officers, furgeons, chaplains, the death of horfes, the wafte of gunpowder, and repairs of all kinds could not make the entire annual charge lefs than twelve millions of dollars. This fum added to the wages of these people, computed, as before, at feven millions and eight hundred thoufand dollars, would make the real expence twenty millions of dollars per annum, of which twelve millions must have been paid out in ready cath. The latter would, in fix years only, clear off the whole public debt; but the money could not be found. Had taxes or loans for fo vaft an additional burden been imposed in May, 1794, the Western Infurrection that enfued would have been but the smallest of public misfortunes. Annual taxes to the extent of twelve millions could not have been raifed; but the bare attempt to realife them must have filled the continent with confusion and distrefs. An annual loan to that amount would have extinguished public credit; and then the federal machine must have stood still, or rather tumbled to pieces.

Befides the principal fum expended, obferve the march of compound intereft, at three, four, or five per cent. per month, or perhaps of two and an half per cent. per day, for in October, 1796, the latter premium was offered in Phi-

P

ladelphia by fome enterprifing traders\*. Such is our fituation without that flanding army. Its effablishment would have made matters an hundred times worfe. For efcaping this plan, fo andently preffed by the Senate, and by fome gentlemen in the other Houfe, the nation is indebted to the fuperior good fenfe of a majority of the reprefentatives. The former thrust the conflictution to the edge of a precipice. The latter conducted it back again. In time of actual war, the citizens of America will, if neceffary, fubmit to the greatest burden. Their history has evinced that they will do fo. But when the nation is at peace, it has too much fpirit to endure fuch impositions under any pretence whatever.

This explanation of the obvious effects of a ftanding army affords of itfelf good reafon why the Senate ought not to receive unlimited confidence, and fhews that they do not enjoy any fuperior portion of wildom. Certainly the gentleman from Maffachufetts had not, when he delivered this encomium, any prefage of his own approaching e evation to the upper flory. If this profpect was the motive, his anticipated Ipfe pinxit does honour to his taste. The Si mea cura of Tacitus, and the fained Ho Xenophos Athenaios + fade from a comparison. His theoretical principles of government are, as above examined, in oppofition to the fpirit of the American conflitution. But in protection of Charles Whitney, we have feen him its fleady defender against the representatives, when perpetrating an arbitrary imprisonment. In the very last stage of this business, when fupported almost only by Mr. W. Smith and Mr. Murray, he afforded the Houfe an opportunity to atone for part of its injuffice by placing on the journals Mr. Pepoon's exculpatory evidence. Mr. Sedgwick failed in his attempt, but he deferved great thanks from his fellow-citizens for making it.

In England, no minister ever thought of a military augmentation of twenty-five thoufand men, unlefs when the State was on the brink of a foreign war. But indeed no English fratefman ever conceived, like some American fe-

† In the Anabafis, the writer introduces himfelf thus: "Now, there was in the army of Cyrus, one Xenophon, an "Athenian."

<sup>\*</sup> This face is here advanced on the best authority.

nators, that he had a right to partition his native country. A difference in ultimate views may account for a difference in previous measures. The army of Cromwell was the first which, during peace, England ever faw. Before his time, the fovereigns " maintained no standing forces, and neither " had guards to attend them in their progress, nor to stand " as centinels at their gates."\* At the accellion of Charles the Second, the country had, for twenty years, been in a ftate of revolt and anarchy, and was then full of fectaries and malcontents of all denominations. Yet only a finall body of troops for guards and garrifons was kept up. Their numbers varied from four to eight thousand men. They excited fo much jealoufy that in 1679, the Commons by a vote declared their establishment contrary to law. Britain, when as full of combustibles as a bomb-shell, was kept in peace by fix or eight thousand men. But in the United States, the people are about as happy as profperity can make them; and as well fatisfied as the levity of human nature will permit. Their government, like every thing of the kind, has faults, and these are often very freely pointed out; but this has no connection with refinance or rebellion. Excepting Wayne's handful of men, the whole armed force of the country is lodged in a militia, by whom the conflitution is admired, and the Prefident adored. Congress is full of veteran officers. You may travel five hundred miles without meeting a beggar. It is impoffible either to fee motives or materials for infurrection. The western mob did not, upon enquiry, deserve that name. There is very flrong reafon for thinking that Alexander Hamilton purpofely neglected its outfet, that he might have the honour of crushing its maturity. Such being the happy state of public affairs, an additional standing army, if it had not been to coft a shilling, was politively ufelefs. The motives of the American Senate are inexplicable. In April, 1794, John Jay had received his water-gruel miffion to England, and fome of the Senators must have well known, that all chance of hostility on that quarter was at an end. Great anxiety has been expressed for discharge of the public debt. A defire of adding wantonly twenty millions of dollars per annum to the

\* Hiftory of the Public Revenue of the British Empire, by Sir John Sinclair, Part I. Chap. 1X. public burdens would rather feem to betray a fystematic delign to increase and rivet that calamity.

Before Congress raile new armies, they should be fure of making honourable provision for the prefent race of invalids. On the 2 fl of February, 1795, a law paft fupplementary to one dated the 28th of February, 1793, regulating the payment of penfions to invalids. The first fection directs that the penfion shall be computed to commence from the time that the invalid, in obedience to the former act, shall complete his testimony before the district judge or commiffioners as therein specified. No claim for antecedent arrears can be admitted. The fecond fection fhould be got by heart by every perfon who intends hereafter to fight the battles of America. It runs thus: " And be it further " enacted, that no commissioned officer, who has received " commutation of half-pay, shall be paid a pension as an " invalid, until he shall return his commutation into the Trea-" fury of the United States; except where special provision " has been made, in particular cafes, for allowing penfions " on the return only of certain portions of the commutation."

Imagine that an old officer was entitled to a penfion of fixty pounds as half-pay, for ferving in the army during eight years, for performing five winter campaigns without thoes, and five in fummer without a thirt. At Long Island, he ran up to the neck in a morafs, and fafted for three days after the defeat of Guildford. At Whitemarsh, he was almost frozen to death in a hut ; and fainted under the rays of the fun at the battle of Monmouth. At Germantown, he was thot through the floulder blade; and his fkull was trepanned at Saratoga. His wooden leg reminds him of the furrender at York town. The burning of his houfe and barn, the beggary of his wife and children, and an inveterate palfy or rheumatifm, feem to have clofed the circle of his exertions and his fufferings. The government, as infolvent as himfelf, could not pay this annuity of fixty pounds, but fix years ago, he received perhaps a commutation of three hundred, or fome fuch fum. He has expended this money on the education of his family, or the purchase of a farm; or has loft it in trade by the burning of a ftore, the finking of a thip, the fineffe of a land-jobber, or the bankruptcy of a fenator. Hearing that half-pay is to be had, and being not master of a shilling, he calls at the treafury office to feek his money. Inflead of receiving it,

the Secretary alks him for three hundred pounds in advance, and fubjoins that, fix months after making this payment, he shall in return receive thirty pounds. We must observe the words of the law. He shall return his commutation, before he touches a dollar. The man is not worth a dollar; and the door is shut against his receiving half-pay, because he is unlucky and poor. The door is fhut for the very reason for which it ought to stand open. The framers of this law were well aware that multitudes never could comply with the fecond fection, becaufe they had not one cent to spare in advance. In all likelihood this was the reason for which some of our legislators inferted that clause. The anecdote which follows will explain what is here meant. Just before this bill went through the Houfe of Reprefentatives, Colonel Maxwell, a land furveyor from Vermont, came to Philadelphia to folicit half-pay. He was defperately wounded at Bunker's hill, ferved through the whole war, or nearly fo, and has in every fituation fuftained a refpectable character. His health was broken by the fervice. He is now on the downhill of life, and has begun to be unfortunate. On his arrival he waited on one of the representatives to explain and enforce his request. We want to get rid of you all as eafily as we can, were words that efcaped through a chink in the converfation. Thus a farmer speaks of a superannuated horse. It would be unfair, perhaps, to publish the name of this individual member, becaufe the Houfe, by paffing the fection above recited, generoully took the burden from his fhoulders, and placed it on their own. An officer in the late American army, who refides in Philadelphia, was prefent with the author when Colonel Maxwell told the ftory. It is pleafant, fays the proverb, to die for your country. True. But it is not agreeable to flarve or beg for any country. It is yet lefs flattering to be flighted by perfons whofe fculls, but for the bravery of fuch men as Colonel Maxwell, would have been picked by the crows, and have fluck, at this day, on the fpikes of Temple-bar.

But admit that the invalid has money, or fells his plantation to raife it, and comes to Philadelphia. He pays the price of his farm into the treafury, and as he is old and infirm, dies on the road going home. His annuity dies with him, and his family are reduced to want by the farcical benevolence of this law, while the United States pocket three hundred pounds by pretending to grant a penfion. Thus government becomes a jobber in annuities. If relief had been honeftly intended, and if the ftate of public finances required, "before giving a penfion, that the commutation fhould le returned, there was a ready way to prevent all murmurs and all injuffice. "Your annuity," fays the legislature, " commences on a day specified. But it must be " detained to repay the commutation that you have already "got. Three hundred pounds will be cleared off by a pen-"fion of fixty, in five years. At the end of that time, your " actual falary will begin to run. It might run from this " day, by your advancing the three hundred pounds; but " we do not with to handle your money, or traffic in the " price of a veteran's blood. Go home, and when the com-" mutation has been liquidated, the falary shall be thank-" fully transmitted. Your class of citizens is the very last " on the continent whom we shall venture to neglect. In " the course of human affairs, we must foon want a fecond " army; and we cannot expect to get one, if we defraud " or difregard the fervices of the first. It is true that our "administration has some little flaws. We have fent to "New-Jerfey for a lawyer\* to be director of the mint, " with a falary of two thoufand dollars. He is an able coun-" fellor, was long an ufeful member of Congress, and point-"ed out feveral abuses of the institution; but he cannot be " expected to understand mineralogy. We have fent thirty " miles to Wilmington, for a phyfician to be treafurer of the " mint, with a penfion of twelve hundred dollars. He has "extensive practice in his own profession in Philadelphia, " and our bounty enables him to fave the carnings of his in-" duftry. On the fame plan, we have befpoke a haberda-" fher to be our engraver, a dancing master for our affayer, " and a bishop as chief coiner. You have no doubt, in com-"mon with the reft of your fellow citizens, given a Sar-" dinian fmile at our paying for the officers of a non-exifting "navy, and for chaplains of whom we are most heartily " tired. But thefe are only motes in the fun of our legiflative " progrefs. Compared to the faults of an old government, " to that of the happy Canton of Berne, our peccadillos are "but like the fcratch of a pin to the gafh of a battle axe. "When a newspaper tells you that there is in Congress a

\* Mr. Boudinot.

" confpiracy to defiroy the confitution, and that one half of "your Reprefentatives are penfioned by a foreign enemy, "believe not one word of it; for though we difpute and "wrangle, and of late have begun to give hard names", "we all do the beft that we can for the fervice of our con-"fituents. At an heart-rending expence of time, patience "and wages, we debated for three weeks, on the meaning "of three very plain lines in the Confitution. Such is our "microfcopic fidelity to the duties of our flation! But we "are fo often in the right that we muft be fometimes in the "wrong."

If it was proper that the commutation fhould be refunded, and this might be the cafe, it ought to have been deducted from the penfion granted. This would be a more decent way of refusing relief. It is termed refusing, because perfons intimately acquainted with the question aver that, in many inftances, the commutation already received is much more valuable than any penfion which can be expected. To propose getting back the commutation, and then paying fomething lefs valuable is worfe than refufing a penfion. When this bill had gone without opposition, through the house of Representatives, some remarks on it were published in the Aurora of the 29th of January, 1795, from the vain hope that it would be fent back by the Senate, with the falutary amendment of striking out the fecond fection, or, that the Prefident at least, as being himfelf an old foldier, would refuse his fubscription.

It has been flated that gentlemen fometimes write out their speeches for the newspapers. In spring, 1794, Mr. Samuel Dexter digressed in one of his harangues, to ridicule members who adopted this practice. When a legissator has delivered his fentiments in a public body, there is no harm in his withing to fee them correctly printed. It is a mark of respect to his conflituents, and to the public. The readers of newspapers are, in the last refort, the masters of America. They compose a body of citizens too numerous to be resisted, and too intelligent to be defpised. The practice has been common enough in the Britiss Parliament. It is faid of John Wilkes that he was once delivering his fentiments with great boldness in the House of Commons, when he was enjoined to fit down. "I must go on," faid he, " for

\* Infra. Chap. VII.

"Woodfall has got it all printed two days ago." In the old provincial Alfemblies, and in the prefent Alfembly of Pennfylvania, the practice has been always common. The speech of a President, or governor, is constantly printed, and that of a Reprefentative is often as deferving of notice. It is common for fome Reprefentatives in Congress to write out their fpeeches for the prefs, and no gentleman affects to make a fecret of having done fo. The harangue of Mr. Samuel Dexter conveyed, therefore, an express infult on many of the most useful members in the house. But last and worft, this gentleman himfelf was in the habit of cafually writing out his remarks for publication. During that very feilion, he extended feveral speeches for the Gazette of the United States, and one if not more for the Philadelphia Gazette. With an undaunted front he flood up and ridiculed a measure innocent in itself, and which his audience knew that he practifed. " It is time to take enormity by the " forehead and brand it."\* For the first fession of the third Congress, that body did not contain even one speaker who had any refemblance to this Reprefentative of Boston. In the fecond feffion, a gentleman from one of the Southern States did afford fomething like him. When the houfe had been perfectly tired of speaking, and were just ready for a vote, Mr. Dexter would often stand up and detain them for half an hour or an hour together; while in the mean time indifference was visible in every face on the floor. It feemed his pastime to tire out the patience of his audience; and his enjoyment reached its zenith, when the late worthy Mr. Abraham Clark of New-Jerfey betrayed tacit fymptoms of difgust or derifion. In a British House of Commons, fuch an orator would be rapped into filence with the butt end of an hundred canes. Mr. Dexter poffeffed a fleady ill-nature which did not correspond with the apparent frivolity of his mind. Of this an inftance may be given in his behaviour to Mr. Niles of Vermont, an inoffenfive and decent gentleman, who was old enough to have been his grandfather. About the end of the first fession of the third Congress, Mr. Niles uplifted his falary for some days in advance. He fet out for Vermont a day or two before the rifing of the Houfe, and just as long before the time was expired for which he had received his falary. This

\* Ben Johnson.

overfight might be excufed from the plea of age and want of memory. On the day when the Houfe role, the 9th of June, 1794, Mr. Dexter wanted to make a motion about this triffe, in a general stile indeed, but pointing with fufficient clearness at Mr. Niles. Somebody of more diferention than himfelf kept him from rifing. But the malevolence of party was not yet gratified. The precious information was taken home to New-England, and circulated in the newspapers to injure Nr. Niles at the enfuing election for the fourth Congress\*. In the fecond fellion of the third Congrefs, which fat down on the 3d of November, 1794, Mr. Dexter abfented himfelf for feveral days together, while attending in the Federal Court, on the caufe of Mr. John Nicholfon. His pleadings on that occafion stand printed in the State trials of Pennfylvania, and afcertain the accuracy of this allegation. It is true that, in the feilion here defcribed, Mr. Sitgreaves, one of the members for Pennfylvania, was abfent for a few days on leave, to attend fome country courts. But then he openly asked permission from the Houfe, urged his reasons, and did not, for the time when he was absent, uplift any falary. On the contrary, Mr. Dexter used to come into the House a little before three o'clock, and it is now stated on the best authority, that he received payment for those very days for which he was likewife feed by Mr. Nicholfon. This inftance of meannefs and felfishnefs has not, it is believed, a precedent in the annals of Congress, and it is here held up as a warning to the public in general. This was the perfon who wanted to ridicule and injure an old gentleman for a triffing miftake about fix or twelve dollars.

Mr. Dexter was fertile in that fort of eloquence which ftruts round about the heart without ever once touching it. In the debates on the first Snuff excise bill, in fpring 1794, he wantonly told Mr. Smilie and Mr. Nicholas that their fears for the Constitution from the introduction of excise were like *Salecoats*, fitted for every other subject as well as excise. In taking fome notes of his speech for the Philadelphia Gazette, this vulgarism, with other materials equally unimportant, was omitted. Two days after, Mr. Dexter came to Mr. Brown's printing office in agitation at the brevity of

\* These particulars have been communicated by a member of the House. the fketch. The editor, folicitous to oblige members, whenever it was practicable, defired him to write out his obfervations, and they fhould be published. This was actually done, and the *Salecoats* made their appearance. The world is left to judge what ceremony fuch an orator deferves.

In the enfuing winter, Mr. Dexter overfet his popularity by the part which he took in a debate on the naturalization bill. The affair is interefting; it made at the time a great noife; and the imprudence of Mr. Dexter might have been a means of involving this country in a civil war. It is proper to hold up his conduct as a warning to others. On the 1st of January, 1795, Mr. Giles moved, as an amendment to the above bill, that " in cafe any alien ap-" plying for admiffion to citizenthip shall have borne a title " or order of nobility, in any kingdom or State from whence "he may come, he must renounce all pretensions to his ti-" tle before the Court to which he applies, and this re-" nunciation must be registered in the laid court." Mr. Giles observed that, before the revolution, the French nobles were, by the lowest calculation, rated at twenty thoufand, and a great proportion of them might be expected to settle in America.

A debate enfued, and much extraneous matter was introduced. The true question lay in a fingle fentence; Is this amendment agreeable to the spirit of the Constitution? That instrument forbids Congress to grant any titles of nobility, and forbids all perfons in their fervice to accept a title from any prince or foreign state unless by confent of Congress. This prohibition plainly thews that the framers of the Constitution wished to exclude all perfons bearing titles of nobility, from any fhare in the Federal Government. Their intention is as clear as words can make it. But they had not forefeen the approaching downfall of nobility in France; and hence it came out in this debate that a French nobleman, a Duke of Orleans for example, might come to this Country, be admitted a citizen, and finally take his feat in Congrefs, without renouncing his title. This was clearly against the spirit if not against the letter of the Constitution. The framers of it never could with to grant a privilege to foreigners that they would deny to native Americans. This polition is extremely plain. Hence the amendment offered by Mr. Giles was merely filling up an accidental crevice in the Conflictution, and harmonized exactly with it.

Mr. Dexter faid that he was not very anxious against the refolution. He however opposed it. Little can be stated about his arguments. A bystander might often listen to him for ten minutes together without picking up a fingle idea. Every thought was finothered in verbage. In this fpeech he went out of his way to ridicule the Roman Catholic religion. A historian, or a polemical writer, has a right to examine the tenets of every fect. But an American legiflator ought not, in his public capacity, to ridicule any one. He wantonly offends and infults people as good as himfelf, and who pay a share of his falary. Mr. Madison role next. He pointed out the impropriety of ridiculing Roman Ca-They had, many of them, proved good citizens tholics. during the revolution. He supported the amendment of Mr. Giles. As to hereditary titles, they were proferibed by the Constitution. He would not with to have a citizen who refused fuch an oath. Mr. Page argued on the fame fide. He did not want to fee a Duke come here, and contest an election for Congress with a citizen.

Mr. Sedgwick oppofed the amendment, though he agreed with the arguments of Mr. Giles. The point in view was, he faid, explicitly provided for already. By taking an oath, the individual not only renounces, but folemnly abjures nobility. The title is deftroyed, when the allegiance is broken, by his oath being taken to the federal government. This abjuration has deftroyed all connection with the old government. Why then provide for it a fecond time?

This kind of reafoning contained an evident obliquity. If it was right to abjure nobility by one oath, there could be no harm in repeating the obligation by another. Mr. Giles rofe next and explained this inconfistency. He quoted fomething from Mr. Dexter. That gentleman rofe, and faid that Mr. Giles had mifunderstood him. He involved himfelf in a wildernefs of words. When he had done, Mr. Giles declared himfelf incapable of comprehending whether Mr. Dexter was for his motion or against it. He replied to Mr. Sedgwick, whofe chief argument had been that the thing was provided against already. It could only be fo by implication. This was a very bad way of making a law, because it gave room to endless disputes. If the thing is in it/elf right, why refuse to vote directly for it? Why leave it only to be implied? Mr. Giles declared that he would call for the yeas and nays. This intimation gave

a vifible damp to one or two chicken-hearted members. Several other gentlemen fpoke. Mr. Tracey took up the point upon the ground of the Confliction. Congress have only a check on officers in their fervice. Any other American citizen may accept a title from a foreign prince, may return to this country, and retain his title if he chufes to do fo. The argument of Mr. Tracey was that, even if this amendfhould pass, the alien might renounce his title, become naturalifed, and in an hour after accept of the fame or fome other title from a foreign prince. Congress can make no haw to prevent it.

These remarks, the last excepted, were just, but they chiefly shew that the framers of the Constitution had They had not been not fully expressed their ideas. able to forefee and provide for every future contingency; but the old objection remained in its full force, that nothing could be more contrary to the fpirit of the Federal Conflitution than to fee a perfon with the title of an English Duke, a German Elector, or a Russian Prince, coming to America, and getting a feat in Congress. As for the cafe of an alien renouncing his title, and accepting it again within an hour, Mr. Nicholas had fuggested a complete remedy, that the alien should in his oath engage never to accept of fuch a thing in future. Mr. Tracey hinted his fufpicion, arifing from fome doctrines which he had lately heard, that the houfe might become political cannibals, and devour the other two branches of the legislature. Mr. Giles had urged a regard for the Conflitution, as his motive for the amendment. Out of this ground it was impoffible to drive him. The Cannibals were introduced as a retort, by hinting that Mr. Giles and others were ready to extend the powers of the Houfe at the expence of the other two branches. A recent explanation of the power of making treaties hath fince buried the Constitution under the difcretion of the Prefident and Senate. The fears of Mr. Tracey must therefore be at an end.

The propofal for taking the yeas and nays had given much offence to fome members oppofing Mr. Giles. They forefaw that his amendment would be popular without doors. They complained that he wanted to charge them with an attachment to titles and ariftocracy. A correct attention to the debate did not warrant any fufpicion of fuch a previous defign. Mr. Giles could not tell whether his amendment would be oppofed or not. As for the yeas and nays, it has but a very mean appearance when any member wifnes to conceal from the public on what fide of a queftion he votes. The antagonifts of Mr. Giles neither did nor could deny that his/amendment was in unifon with the fpirit of the Conftitution. Mr. Sedgwick only objected becaufe it was *fuperfluous*. Mr. Tracey objected becaufe the effect of the amendment could be *evaded*. This was the effence of their reafonings. In the mean time Mr. Giles, becaufe he could not be refuted, was, with one-half of the Houfe, upbraided by a fimilie from New Zealand. Mr. Dexter offered to vote for the amendment, if qualified with this addition: "And alfo in cafe fuch alien thall, at the time of his appli-"cation, hold any perfon in flavery, he fkall in the fame "manner, renounce all right and claim to hold fuch perfon "in flavery."

This was a direct attack on the members from fouthern states. It is to be supposed that every one of them has To declare that a foreign emigrant fhould renounce flaves. his flaves, before being admitted as a citizen, was a reference too plain to be mistaken, and too uncivil to be forgiven. Mr. Giles immediately rofe. He faid that he should begin to think his amendment of very peculiar importance, if fuch extraordinary refources were adopted to difappoint it. He lamented and detested the existence of flavery. He was forry to fee it made a jeft of in that House. This obfervation aimed at Mr. Dexter, who had introduced his amendment with an air of jocularity. Gentlemen had objected to the call for the yeas and nays. " Have not the " public," faid Mr. Giles, " a right to know the fentiments " of the Houfe on every public queftion?"

Mr. Madifon explained feveral regulations adopted in Virginia for reducing the number of flaves. The operation was going on as quickly as poffible. The mention of fuch a thing in the Houfe had a very bad effect on the minds of thefe unfortunate people. Mr. Nicholas faid, that Mr. Dexter had, on more than one occafion, hinted his opinion that poffeffors of flaves were unfit to hold any legiflative truft in a republican government. Mr. Dexter then rofe, and complained of the attempt to take the yeas and nays, as a defign of holding up certain perfons to public odium. He fhould withdraw his amendment, if the gentleman would withdraw his for yeas and nays. This was the most pitiful and shallow overture which could be conceived. If Mr. Dexter was confcious of having acted/right, he had no reafon to be afraid of having his name appear. The heads of the debate were to be published in the Philadelphia Gazette. He was fure that the fide which he took would be there flated, fo that with regard to himfelf, it was not of the least concern whether the yeas and nays were taken or not. He was already as deep in the business as he poffibly could be.

Mr. Heath read a claufe of the conftitution which indirectly prohibits the propofal for abolithing the flave-trade for many years to come. When the Convention, in 1787, drew up the prefent conflitution, the preamble declared one of the defigns to be the fecuring of liberty. A fanction of flavery could not very decently be introduced, but it was done indirectly by the following claufe : " The mi-" gration or importation of fuch perfons, as any of the flates " now exifting thall think proper to admit, thall not be pro-" hibited by the Congress, prior to the year 1808: but a " tax or duty may be imposed on fuch importation, not ex-" ceeding ten dollars for each perfon." The fifth article of the amendments makes allusion to the above clause as inviolable. Mr. Heath afked how gentlemen, in the face of an express article of the constitution, could propose an amendment like that of Mr. Dexter? This query did not admit of an answer.

Mr. Sedgwick made a paffionate fpeech against the yeas and nays. That evening, he wrote it out for the prefs, and therein urged the conciliating merit of Mr. Dexter in withdrawing his motion. Mr. Sedgwick was here mistaken. Mr. Dexter only offered to withdraw it. The whole fpeech of Mr. Sedgwick was a mafterpiece of wrong reafoning. The amendment of Mr. Giles was "extremely fri-"volous and inexpreffibly puerile." Thus it is a thing extremely *frivolous* that an English Duke with his ftar and garter should be a member of Congress, and to attempt the prevention of fuch an incongruity is inexpreffibly puerile. Yet Mr. Sedgwick had before admitted the amendment to be agreeable to the constitution. He likewife affirmed that the call was only with defign to affix a ftigma upon gentlemen as friends to a nobility, when they were no fuch thing. Such an objection may be made against every call. It is uncandid and unconflitutional. The call had been fupported by the number of members required to enforce it. The motion was innoceut; and even had it originated in a

hostile defign, fuch a confession of foreness was only doubling the triumph of an enemy. But when Mr. Sedgwick fpoke of ftigmas, he fhould have recollected his friend Mr. Tracey and his cannibals. As to the merit of Mr. Dexter in withdrawing his motion, that, if he had really done fo, was but a very fmall atonement for the irregularity and infolence of having ever brought it forward. Mr. Sedgwick infifted that Mr. Giles should retract his motion, because gentlemen who had spoken against it would be bound in honour to vote against it. This argument was to the last degree abfurd ; for Mr. Giles was equally bound in honour to fupport his amendment, as Mr. Sedgwick was to fupport his fpeech by a vote. He complained that endeavours had been made and with too much fuccefs, to make it believed that certain gentlemen were "friends " to ariftocracy, and therefore unfit to administer a govern-"ment founded on the principle of an equality of rights." In a speech already quoted, we have seen Mr. Sedgwick declare that the people have no rights at all; for he fays that they lie totally at the difcretion of Congress, and that we have no remedy but infurrection.

The debate was renewed next day, the 2d of January, 1795. Mr. M'Dowell pointed out the alarming effects that Mr. Dexter's amendment might produce, and the diffatisfaction that it would create both among mafters and flaves in this country. He pointed out the injustice of faying to a foreigner, You Shall not have that kind of property which other people have. Mr. Dexter then role to excule his motion. An old member who was at one of the windows when he got up, fpoke thus to a stranger: " Dexter and his friends " have got into a ridiculous fcrape, and his amendment is " but a very foolifh attempt to get out of it. His language " feems to be this, ' You want to hold us up to the public " as ariftocrats. I, as a retaliation, will hold you up to the " fame public as dealers in flaves." Mr. Dexter told the House that he did not want to irritate. He, for that reafon, withdrew his motion, under the hope that the yeas and nays would not be taken.

Mr. Bourne of Rhode-Ifland, Mr. Jeremiah Wadfworth. Mr. W. Smith and fome other gentlemen argued with much ingenuity against the amendment of Mr. Giles, chiefly on the fcore of its being *fuperfluous*. Nobody fpoke a word in defence of Mr. Dexter. His friend Mr. Sedgwick entirely loft his temper. No member, perhaps, fince the new conflitution, ever made an exhibition fo entertaining as he did on that day. He deprecated the call with a prostration of humility which completed the triumph of his oppofers. Mr. Madifon, and Mr. W. Lyman fucceffively replied. Mr. Sedgwick had faid that the amendment was trifling. This Mr. Madifon denied. He had fpoke much of conciliation. "His own behaviour," faid Mr. Madifon, " feems to " betray a confcioufness that he has not promoted concilia-"tion." Mr. W. Lyman observed that ever since he fat in that Houfe he had feconded every call for the yeas and nays, that the public might understand as fully as possible what members were about and how their votes went. Turning round to his right hand, and looking at Mr. Sedgwick, Mr. W. Lyman flated that it was extremely wrong to afcribe improper motives for fupporting fuch a call. It was facrificing the dignity of the Houfe to caft out fuch infinuations. After an obstinate struggle the call was taken. The amendment of Mr. Giles was carried; yeas fifty-nine, nays thirty-two. That of Mr. Dexter was rejected; yeas twenty-eight, nays fixty-three.

In the courfe of this debate not one member in opposition to Mr. Giles alleged that his amendment was unconflitutional. Mr. Ames indeed asked if it was defigned to give a new text for *fedition*? But if a motion exactly in the tone of the conflitution shall become feditious, it must, like many other texts, have been widely twisted from the meaning of its author. Mr. Giles and his amendment could not be held accountable for fuch commentators.

No member ventured to fay one word in defence of Mr. Dexter's amendment; and yet twenty-eight voted for it. His friends muft have confidered it as indefentible. They muft in their hearts have difapproved of it. Their giving votes in its favour could arife only from the doctrine of *atting together*. This is perhaps the first instance in Congrefs where a minority, after meeting with warm oppolition, have voted in fupport of an amendment without offering a fingle fentence in defence of what they did. The state of the votes shewed pretty well what was the merit of this amendment. It was voted against by Mr. B. Bourne, Mr. Boudinot, Mr. Fitzsimons, Mr. W. Smith, Mr. Trumbull, and Mr. Jeremiah Wadfworth. These gentlemen were all old and experienced members, of the first weight and

influence. They were all friends to Mr. Dexter, and voted against the amendment of Mr. Giles. This, by the way, affords a pleafing instance that American parties have independent opinions, and do not alway follow each other through thick and thin. The amendment was a direct infult on the President, who has a great number of flaves. It was an infult on the fouthern members who constitute almost one half of the House. It was an infult on the fouthern flates. It was not merely a text for fedition, but for revolution. It rushed directly into the throat of the constitution. It brandished a dagger against the peace of the country. The filence obferved by those gentlemen who voted for it shews that they were entirely confcious of this fact. Mr. Dexter himself did not, if the author was able to understand him, offer one fingle argument in its excuse. He only held it up as a bugbear, that Mr. Giles might withdraw his call for the yeas and nays, a call which occurs perhaps ten or twenty times in every fession. On the 27th of November, 1794, only five weeks preceding this debate, the yeas and nays were called for and taken three times, in the fpace of half an hour.

By the clamour raifed against this call, a stranger in the House might have thought that it never was adopted but in the utmost extremity, that it was something as rare as the confultation of the Sybilline books, or the Roman dictator driving a brass nail into a stone wall to stop a pestilence.

The extraordinary mode of opposition which Mr. Giles met with did well deferve that this transaction should be recalled to public notice. The conflituents of Mr. Dexter were not much pleafed with the figure which he made in the printed sketch of debates. A great number of them declared that they would never vote for him again. An election foon after took place. Mr. Dexter lost his feat, and the town of Boston escaped from the oddity of having fuch a reprefentative. No other part of the union ever fent to Congress a member like him. Mr. Dexter took frequent occasion of reproaching the fouthern members with the unlucky circumstance of flavery. He might as well have held a match to a barrel of gunpowder. The affront-was too mortal to be endured. If Congress had, on the 2d of January, 1795, contained fifty fuch members as Mr. Dexter, the debate of that day would most likely have put an end to the federal constitution. Mr. Dexter was a kind of legiflative flambeau lighted at both ends. Certainly he did not fee the tendency of his conduct, or that his petulant allufions to the French Republic might endanger the external peace of America. As to the account given of the above debate in the Philadelphia Gazette, and which, as ufual at that time, was copied into the Bofton newfpapers, Meffrs. Dexter and Sedgwick have fince complained of its inaccuracy with regard to themfelves. They did not complain at the time, though the writer of that piece was every day flanding on their floor; and though he had repeatedly advertifed that he was ready to receive and publifh corrections. The plain inference is, that thefe gentlemen were confcious of having only received juffice, in as far as the very humble capacity of the reporter was able to give it.

In this debate on the 2d of January, 1795, Mr. Hillhoufe faid, that if Mr. Giles " would fo modify the amendment " as wholly to exclude that clafs of foreigners, or any other, " from ever becoming citizens, fo far as to elect or be elected " to any office, he would most heartily join in giving his " vote for it." In a subsequent speech, the member repeated this idea. He conceived, he faid, that Americans could legislate for themselves, much better without any affistance from foreigners. Many other very cold compliments were paid to emigrants in the mafs. One gentleman declared his extreme indifference whether any more of them ever came into the country. He was afraid of their contaminating the purity and fimplicity of the American character. A third member spoke much about the danger of people from the British islands becoming spies, and entering into plots against the government. Mr. Fitzfimons, a native of Ireland, and then member for Philadelphia, at length rofe, and afked whether the gentleman really meant to fay, that all the foreigners who came into this country were ready to act as spies? Mr. Dexter founded the alarm about the jacobins from France and England overturning . the American government. The debates on this naturalization bill became at last extremely tirefome. So little attention was paid by members to each other, while fpeaking, that it was often impossible to hear them on account of the intense noise of fubordinate harangues. In one of the latter, a gentleman fpoke as follows: "Why, we are " growing worfe than ufual. We have got five or fix

" lawyers among us, who would talk on about nothing till "the day of judgment." Indeed their amendments upon amendments very often got into fuch a labyrinth that it was utterly impossible for the most expert taker of debates to have told what the House was disputing about, or what they would be at.

We return to the quotation from Mr. Hillhoufe. Other members belides Mr. Fitzfimons were natives of Ireland, fo that this propofal amounted to politive rudenels. Mr. Fitzfimons, one of the beft informed and most ufeful members in the Houfe, reprefented Philadelphia during three Congreffes. He has fince been felected by the Prefident as one of the commissioners for executing the British treaty. He is perfonally a man of great temper and politenels, and to treat him fo harfhly in one speech after another, proved that America, all perfect as the is, hath yet to learn from Europe fome leffons of decorum.

The appearance of America would not be much improved by the absence of those foreigners who have settled in it. About one half of the adult citizens of Philadelphia were born in Europe. To exclude them, as Mr. Hillhoufe by implication recommended, from being elected to an office, and even from the right of voting, would be the most pitiful and improper fcheme imaginable. It would be the certain way to erect a formidable foreign faction in the heart of the country. It would place the United States in a fimilar condition with Spanish America. In that country the natives of Old Spain enjoy exclusively all offices of truft. They have numerous privileges above the creoles. This distinction produces a mutual animofity, and European fupremacy fupports itfelf between the jealoufy of the two contending parties. But the American conflication does not maintain its ground by fuch expedients. It rejects them with difdain. It fays, that " no perfon except a natural " born citizen, or a citizen of the United States at the time " of the adoption of this conftitution, shall be eligible to the " office of Prefident ;" and this flipulation expressly announces that a foreign emigrant may hold any other office. This rule is followed in practice. Alexander Hamilton, late Secretary of State, is a native of St. Croix. The eleventh claufe in the amendments to the conftitution fays. that " the enumeration, in the constitution, of certain rights

" thall not be construed to deny or disparage others, retains-"ed by the people." One of these is an universal right of citizenship, under certain rules as to admission. If Mr. Giles had adopted fuch an amendment, he would have been in a still worfe scrape than Mr. Dexter. He would have gone through the very heart of the conflictution. If Congrefs were to make fuch a law, they would exceed They can lengthen or abridge the their authority. time of probation. They can point out a way of enquiring about the moral character of the emigrant. Any act which they pass can be repealed or amended by their fucceffors or themfelves. But the conflitution has not this ephemeron mode of existence. It is immutable. Congress have no right to meddle with it. For this reafon they can regulate but they cannot reject the claim of foreigners to the rights of citizenship. A Frenchman or a Jew, landing to-morrow, must perform his legal quarantine of residence and probation. He is then entitled to hold any office in the country, that of Prefident alone excepted. No law could have made this exception. It lies in a fource antecedent and fuperior to the laws. It is a part of the conflictution.

'It is ftrange that a member from Connecticut fhould make this churlifh propofal. Above any flate in the union, Connecticut has rained down emigrants to every point of the compass. They are welcomed as fellow-citizens in every flate, and they ought to entertain liberal fentiments on this fubject. The citizens of Philadelphia think very differently from Mr. Hillhoufe. For fix years they were reprefented in Congress by an Irishman. He has been succeeded in the two following elections by an Englishman, who carried the day against a native American. In the fifth Congress the county of Philadelphia is to be reprefented by an Irifhman, who, as already noticed, was chosen without folicitation, by the fpontaneous preference of a large majority of electors. The American revolution could not have been effected but for the affiftance of foreign emigrants. Those from Ireland were of the last importance to the caufe. They were fighting for America by fea and land, while Benedict Arnold was burning florehoufes in Virginia, and while tory Butler, at the head of a gang of Connecticut refugees, was destroying the north-western frontier of Pennfylvania. While fome of the reprefentatives from that flate are fo much fcandalized at French cruelty, they would do well

to remember the conduct of part of their own citizens in the laft war The fettlers at Wioming were turned out into the defarts of Northumberland by their perfonal acquaintances from one common flate. Some women in pregnancy were delivered in the woods. The tories exceeded, in favagenefs, even their confederates the Six Nations. This trait is given on the testimony of a native of Connecticut, who was prefent when his countrymen came to attack an infant fettlement planted under the aufpices of Connecticut itfelf.

Thus much for Mr. Hillhoufe, and his amendment. The extreme indifference professed by another gentleman about emigrants coming over can hardly be fincere. Mr. Vans Murray has a literary turn. He is foud of reading, and his ftile announces that he has studied the English language with diligence and fuccefs. Take away all the Scots and Irish booksellers from Philadelphia, and the member could hardly fupply his library. With three or four exceptions, the whole trade centers among foreigners. The cafe is much the fame both in New York and Baltimore. If emigrants had never done any other fervice to America, the importation and reprinting of fo many good books should entitle them to respectful notice on the floor of Congress. To them Philadelphia has been largely indebted for its fuperior progrefs in printing. The first regular office for book printing in the city was established by Mr. William Young, a native of Scotland. This took place only twelve years ago, and the plan was regarded as chimerical. Before that time the trade was almost entirely, if not altogether, carried on as it is now in Lancaster, Alexandria, and other places, by printers of newfpapers and almanacks. Mr. Young hath fince done ten times more in the way of printing books than any perfon had attempted before him. He has likewife built a paper mill, an undertaking of the highest advantage and utility to the United States. His fuccefs has been fo clofely followed up that Philadelphia has now about thirty offices exclufively for printing of books. This gentleman, according to fome of our legislators, might as well have staid in Europe. He is not fit to be entrusted as an alderman, or even with a vote for the choice of one. The Encyclopedia has been republished, with valuable additions, by a Scotchman; who has also reprinted above an hundred other useful

books. A fplendid bible, at twenty dollars per copy, is now in the prefs by two Englifhmen. Guthrie's Geographical Grammar, at fixteen dollars, was reprinted by an Irithman. About one half of the work was written over again, and innumerable blunders corrected in thereft of it, at an expence of a thoufand dollars. Two young men from Ireland gave America her first edition of Shakipeare. Are not the United States indebted to fuch citizens? Are they to be told that they were welcome to have flaid in Europe? Philadelphia has not forgot the day, for it is but lately past, when four bookfellers held a confultation about the printing of Dilworth's Spelling book.

Of the five daily new spapers printed in Philadelphia, the first and fecond were fet up and conducted by two natives of Ireland, who ferved during the war in the American army, and who by industry and perfeverance have acquired ample fortunes. One of these two, the Philapelphia Gazette, after deducting all charges, nets to its editor at least fixteen thousand dollars a year of money punctually paid. Englishmen are proprietors of two other prints in this city. The first stenographer in Congress was Mr. Loyd, an Englishman, the second Mr. John Carey, an Irishman. When the Houfe of Representatives wanted a perfon of that fort, they fent to Petersburgh in Virginia for a Scotfman. Thusit goes, and yet emigrants are to be defpifed. America is under no necessity to court them, but it is just as improper to flight them. Of the two principal historians of the revotion, the one, Mr. Gordon, was a Scotfman ; the other, Dr. Ramfay, is faid to be a native of the British islands. When Congress in fummer, 1794, thut up fix fnuff mills in this state, two of them belonged to a Scotiman. The plan of the bank of Pennfylvania, which defrays the current charges of the government of this flate, was drawn out by an Englishman. An engineer to superintend the Delaware canal has, it is faid, been got from England. The aftonishing improvements in labour-faving machines will one day be transplanted by emigrants from England to America. Of the importance of these the reader may judge by the following extract of a letter from Edinburgh, dated the 20th of August, 1796.

"We have made great improvements in labour-faving "machines. Our linen yarn is now frun by water, and our "women weave. In flort we manufacture almost double " the quantity of this kind of goods that we did formerly, " and with fewer hands." The writer of the letter is a perfon of veracity. This invention alone would shew what useful leffons in political economy remain to be acquired by the United States. Many perfons in this country are willing enough to flight emigrants, without legiflative exhortation. Some of these people were lately travelling on foot across New-Jersey. They were refused a drink of The reason alligned was that it had been brought water. from a confiderable diftance, and the carriage of it required trouble. One of the emigrants fell fick, was refufed affistance of any kind, and had almost perished for want of those common offices of humanity which are to be had among the Creeks and Cherokees. Some time ago, a gentlewoman from England, with her two daughters, arrived by the stage-coach, in a certain city that shall be nameles. On alighting at the inn they asked for a dish of tea, but it could not be got. They found their way to another inn, where tea was procured, but it was hardly drank when they were told that the room was bespoke, and they were a fecond time turned adrift. Some gentlemen from England were fupping in a tavern where they called for cheefe. The answer was that the house had none cut. Ask for a bed, and you are fometimes answered with this question : Do you intend to flay a fortnight? These things which do fometimes occur, are perhaps polite and hospitable, but they look very odd to a perfon just arrived from the old country.

As to the contamination of purity and fimplicity, the hazard is not great. There never existed a country where inutual reproach was more bountifully beflowed than in the United States. Almost every newspaper speaks of confpiracies against the constitution formed by one-half of the people. This is the tone of almost all party writers from Camillus down to William Wilcocks. Every difputant fees in his antagonist a confpirator in the pay of France or Britain. In April, 1796, it was affirmed that all the representatives who voted against the British treaty were French penfioners. They were branded as the faction of Robespierre, who had been put death in July, 1794, before they were elected. On the other fide, it will perhaps be inferred that the legiflators who wanted to raife a ftanding army, had a defign of fubverting the constitution. It is more natural to suppose that they did not see in its fuli

extent, the confequence of what they were doing. They wanted to firengthen the hands of government beyond the proper degree, and in their eagernefs for doing fo, they forgot that the expence of their plan made it i opracticable. As to the perpetual difputes in Congrefs, they are a thoufand times lefs objectionable than if members were to vote unanimoufly without enquiry. Difference of opinion exifts in every fociety, and this obvious explanation might have faved our writers from the labour of inveftigating a fucceffion of fanciful plots againft the prefent government.

But while our citizens are reproaching each other in fuch a way, they have no right to claim any purity and fimplicity over the natives of other countries. The latter on landing in America have fometimes met with ufage remote from fimplicity. A British family, confisting of feven perfons, landed at New York in the fall of 1795. Some of them fell fick at a lodging-houfe, where the family paid feventy dollars per week for board wages. They had no money to caft away, and this was cruel treatment. If their landlord could not afford to let them ftay for a lefs fum, he might furely have found them quarters where they could be fubfifted for half that expence. When a poor man has been ten weeks on the fea with his family, has not perhaps two hundred dollars about him, is a stranger in the country, and has not begun to earn a fhilling, it is inhofpitable and ungenerous to fcrew him at fuch a rate. The gentleman from Maryland is requested to pardon this criticifm on his panegyric. The author has a high refpect for his character, and is hopeful that where offence has not been intended it will not be taken.

Since the ratification of the Britifh treaty, greater quantities of goods than formerly have, it is faid, been imported from England to this country. Of many kinds, it is affirmed that there is at prefent on hand an affortment large enough to ferve the market of Philadelphia for eighteen months. Some of thefe goods have been fold in Philadelphia for lefs than prime coft. In October laft, at an auction room in this city, a lot of flannel of four pieces was knocked down at nine cents, or fivepence fterling per yard. It is not thought that fuch a price would repay the Britifh expence of fpinning, unlefs by the new water machinery. When this bargain went off, an old quaker, after looking at the goods, exclaimed, "Friend, fuch work is - N

" ihameful." The date of this affair, and the name of the feller have been offered for publication; the reader may rest affured that the fast is strictly true. But indeed every man in Philadelphia knows that, for fometime paft, various goods, hardware, cutlery and muflins for example, have been often fold at one-half of their wholefale price in Sheffield or Manchester. This is another feature of American fimplicity. Such retailers can fcarcely have a defign of paying their correspondent. Thus British piracles by fea are partly retaliated upon dry land. The violent support which the late treaty received in the fea port towns of America, derived part of its vigour from the profpect entertained by certain perfons of extending their mercantile credit. It is fair to flate the conduct of those people who buy British goods on trust, and fell them for ready money at lefs than their first cost. This is a postfcript to the Jewilh scheme of spoiling the Egyptians. That affair produced a golden calf, a rebellion, and a maffacre. The cafual abufe of British credit, besides its intrinsic baseness, ought to be exposed for another reason. If the new executive shall perfift in the prefent anti-Daytonian fystem of enfuring the payment of British debts, we may look for a governmental diicharge of these infolvencies in the next edition of the treaty. Thus, in the fequel, the cottons and cutlery, like the jewels of Egypt, may prove a dear bargain. As matters at prefent fland, Lord Grenville needs not to be afraid for fome of these debts. They could not defray the expence of an act of fequestration, to that were Congress to arrest them, the loss to English creditors would be but nominal. It is the duty and the interest of every honeft trader to warn his British correspondents of fuch a practice; because it cannot fail to injure the credit of the country.

"Mr. Lemuel Benton, from South Carolina, having been "prevented by want of health from appearing in his place "during the laft fetlion, in the Houfe of Reprefentatives, "happened to arrive in Congrefs, on the 9th of June, 1794, "the very day on which they rofe. He was by law en-"titled to his travelling expences; but he refufed to accept "them. *Precedents of this kind deferve to be recorded.*"\* Mr. Benton afterwards afked for and received the money.

\* American edition of Guthrie's Geography, vol. 2, p. 312.

5

Congress have set many excellent examples of œconomy. The Emperor Julian, on afcending the imperial throne, difmilled from the Byzantine palace, feventeen hundred ufelefs domestics. Some American legislators would, in the fame fituation, have acted as wifely. The franking law formerly fuffered bundles to be fent by post, and packages of foul linen were sometimes transmitted in that way for an hundred and fifty miles, to elude the exorbitant expence of a Philadelphian washerwoman. This trait is inferted from found authority. Of one gentleman who adhered to this practice the name has been often mentioned. He did not reprefent any district in the fouthern states. "I am " not only witty myfelf," faid Falstaff, " but the caufe of " wit in others." Thus, Congress are the the cause of aconomy in many of the clerks in public offices, and fome of them could not refide in Philadelphia, and fupport the rank which they are entitled to hold, unless they had other refources than their public falaries. Mr. Beckley, clerk to the Houfe of Reprefentatives, has fifteen hundred dollars a year, which, in the prefent depreciation of money, will not go farther than an hundred and fifty pounds sterling in London or Dublin. The first clerk to the Secretary of State has only eight hundred dollars a year, of which he probably must pay two hundred and fifty for the rent of a tolerable house. One gentleman, in a case of emergency, hired clerks who were necessary at his own charge, and retribution was refused. The loss came to heavy that if he had not been possessed of separate funds, he must have broke up housekeeping. This last instance arose from the acutenefs and frugality of a perfon still very high in office. At this fame time, Congreis were paying captains of frigates not yet launched, and chaplains, whilst a clerk at the mint got five hundred dollars a year for iffuing twenty dollars per day; and while Congress were adding a fourth clerk at the fame falary, though when previoufly cautioned in the Philadelphia Gazette, the felect committee could not invent an use for him. Mr. Boudinot ought furely to difmifs those gentlemen who told him that they could not get cents vented, when all the cents which they ftruck off did not, pay half their own falaries. An act fhould have been made ordering these pensioners to receive their allowance in cents, and in no other fort of money. This would have been a fure way to get copper coin circulated, and even flruck off.

The officers would have made a wonderful exertion before they had wanted cents fufficient to pay their own falaries.

In the American Congress, every member profess to judge for himfelf, and to form his opinion from the various rays of information concentrated by diligent enquiry. Hence a speaker ought not to assume that British phrase, the gentlemen with whom I have the honour to ACT. On many points members who commonly vote on the fame fide shift their ground. Thus in the stenographical debate, on the 29th of January, 1796, Mr. William Smith, Mr. Giles, Mr. Harper, and Mr. Nicholas were in favour of the repor: of the committee. Mr. Sedgwick, Mr. Baldwin, Mr. Swanwick, and Mr. Hillhoufe, were against it. Never was a pack of cards more completely fhuffled than the parties in this arrangement. When a member at London mentions his honour of acting, he refers to that scene of faction and corruption which Parliament uniformly difplays. The life of Lord Chatham, printed in two quarto volumes, affords some curious traits of this aftion. Old Pitt used to fay, "I was forced to borrow the Duke of Newcafile's majo-"rity, to carry on the public bufinels." In what way bufinefs will be done by a borrowed majority, let any man judge. The fame book fays that, at one time, Mr. Felham was entrusted with " the pocket-lift of the Houfe of Com-"mons." The phrafe of acting together does very well at four o'clock in the morning for a ministerial whipper-in, when the cieling of St. Stephen's Chapel rings with Hear him ! Hear him! and when every member has at least one bottle within his doublet. In the Houfe of Commons, gentlemen feldom begin to affemble till five o'clock in the afternoon, and it is commonly fix, feven, or eight in the evening, before important business comes on. If a debate enfues, it is hardly pollible for the Houle to rife before midnight. They frequently fit till two, three or four in the morning, and fometimes, it is faid, till feven \*. Many members, from want of health or fatigue, are forced to pair off. The nofes, to use a parliamentary term, are always counted beforehand.

\* At London, day and night are inverted by the fashionable world. The present President of the Scots Court of Session was once, when in that city, invited to dine at ten in the evening with the Duchess of Gordon. He excused himself, as being previously engaged to supper at eight. When a gentleman on each fide is tired out, they both agree to go home without voting. By this flipulation the balance between a minister and an opposition remains equal. Great numbers retire at dinner time, that is, about eight or nine in the evening, to adjacent taverns. There they fit eating or drinking, till a meffage informs them that the queftion is just going to be taken. At notice from their fengle-man, they crowd by dozens into the houfe, and give their votes without pretending to hear a word of argument. The American conflictation flould have expressly prohibited members from meeting after dinner. At prefent they never do fo, above once or twice in a feffion, and fometimes not even once. If they get into the British practice, the fame confequences will enfue. Americans need not wonder at any act of folly committed by parliament. The Houfe of Commons very feldom transact business until one half of them are half drunk. Charles Fox has been hauled at midnight from a gaming table and a bottle to give a harangue, and, in fpite of a plentiful libation to Bacchus, he has made an excellent speech. Pitt and Dundas have been feen damaged on the treasury bench. Their strange orders and counter-orders about American shipping must partly be ascribed to the predominance of port; for to call the leaders of the British cabinet fcoundrels would imply a degree of confistency and of confequence, which they hardly poffels. A few years ago, it was a point of diversion, with many gentlemen in the Houfe of Commons, to rife in a body and ruth out, with as much noife as they could well make, whenever Edmund Burke began to fpeak. This obtained for him the nick-name of the dinner bell. Some people once entering the house, met a band of this kind coming out, and enquired whether the Houfe was up? "No," faid one of them, " but Mr. Burke is up." They once in their retreat behaved with fuch marked rudenefs, that Burke fcolded them in the dialect of a fish-woman. On one occasion, a vote was going to be taken by furprife, before the regiment in which Edmund then ferved, had appeared on the parade. He role, and in defiance of every call for the question fpoke on, till couriers returned from the quarters where his troops were billeted. These few anecdotes may ferve as a commentary on the text of Mr. John Adams. When an act is going to be paft, the draft is usually fent round to every public office, and the heads of each add what claufes

they think convenient for themfelves. This medley is, without further examination, hurried into parliament, and fcourged through by a majority who have been at beefsteaks and claret, while the few men of butiness in the House canvalled its contents. The tobacco bill mentioned in the late Hiftory of Excife is an example of this kind, as alfo the corn bill defcribed in the first part of The Political Progrets of Britain. On this account three or four fuccelfive statutes are often wanted to explain one. Mr. Sheridan, fome years ago, took up this topic in a ludicrous file. "Here," faid he, " we have a bill to explain an act to ex-" plain a bill to amend a statute, &c. &c. We get into a " circle like that in the fchool-book. This is the cat that " killed the rat, that eat the malt, that lay in the house " that Jack built." In fuch a way is public bufinefs conducted; yet fome perfons in America have been fo ill informed as to admire this mais of legislative putrefaction. It is only just better than the old government of France, under confesiors and superanuated mistresses, the Maintenons, the Pompadours, and the Barrys. Most of these ladies fold public offices as openly, as a farmer's wife in the market fells a turkey, or a basket of peaches. The following narrative, among ten thousand others of the fame kind, will fhew what fort of a composition the British government is. when, from the top-mail of theory, we defcend to the main-deck of practice.

In 1771, the Houfe of Commons ordered fome printers to be apprehended for publishing their debates. They obtained likewife a royal proclamation against the offenders. The lord mayor and aldermen of London protected the printers, and forced the perfon who took them up to find fecurity to answer for his offence. In patting it may be observed, that Congress are, in the city of Washington, to be both lord mayors and aldermen in their own perfons; fo that a taker of debates is fure of being Whitneyed. The London printers continued to publish the debates. One of them fent to the Speaker a copy of an opinion by lawyers, that the warrant of the houfe and the royal proclamation of a king who can do no wrong, were, both of them, illegal, unconstitutional and void. The lord mayor and alderman Oliver were afterwards fent to the tower, the houfe refuling to hear their defence by counfel. Alderman Wilkes was ordered to attend the houfe, but not being fummoned

as a member to answer in his place, he would not go near them. Amidst this jumble of anarchy and arbitrary power, the printers perfisted in publication. No man of correct ideas will fay that precedents or decifions from fuch an affembly are worth much attention; and as for comparing their constitution to the art of printing, or the mariner's compass, the thought is over-strained. In Randall's affair. the house referred to their inherent right of fending their ferjeant at arms to any quarter of the union, to arrest and bring to their bar a perfon accufed of breaking their privileges. The very word privilege implies a refemblance to ulurpation. It refers to fomething which the poffeffor holds in exclusion of every body elfe; and of which he would not have an exclusive possession, but by a particular law or cuftom. We do not fay that a man has a privilege to yoke his plough, to mount his horfe, to polt his leger, or to threfh his wheat. Thefe are not privileges but rights. That which is not right is at best on the highway to that which is wrong." This remark feems to apply to that affumption by the Houfe of Reprefentatives of an univerfal power of arrestment. It is not much better than Mr. Sedgwick's alleged univerfal right of affefiment. In the above cafe of the London printers, the British House of Commons, though backed by a royal proclamation, could not take up or stop the progress of an editor, who was just under their beak. But if the Representatives take umbrage at a newfprinter of Boston, or Savanna, they at once isfue a warrant, and by their own arbitrary privilege drag a perfon two, four, or twelve hundred miles from his office and his family. When he arrives at the bar, the houfe are buly about fomething elfe, and order him to fee lawyers, and be ready, in a week or ten days for his defence. He goes to jail, or by fpecial favour is admitted to bail. But absence from business, the positive charges of that absence, the lofs of credit, and the odium attending fuch treatment from fo powerful a body, all together make him, as in the late instance, a bankrupt. After haggling for two or three weeks at the bar of the house, they gracioully difmifs him, or perhaps he is never examined at all. By this privilege, claimed and tacitly admitted in the cafe of Whitney, it appears that either house of Congress, when they chufe to be at the requisite expence of character and decency, can ruin almost any man. On what

part of the Constitution, Congress found this claim they have not faid. It was rather stated as fome incomprehenfible inherent privilege. Yet the noble stand of the London printers proves that the British house of Commons, though fufficiently despotic, dare not exercise it. Stringer,\* with a pair of loaded piftols, held them at defiance. The Constitution fays that " each house may determine the rules " of its proceedings, punish its members for diforderly be-" haviour, and, with the concurrence of two thirds, " expel a member." This feems to be the only passage in that instrument, which has a reference to active exertion of privilege. The words in italics may be fcrewed up to an universal power of arrestment just as reasonably as the Senate, by their engulphing explanation of the power of making treaties, have fnapped through the vitals of the American constitution. If this be the way in which we are to torture the text of that clear and valuable production, it is hardly worth its room in the corner of a cheft. Lord Peter explaining his father's will + is entirely as logical. The Reprefentatives have affumed a right to receive information upon oath, and it appears above that the British Commons do not claim fuch a privilege. Thus the houfe, without authority from the constitution, and without even a questionable precedent from the Commons of England, plunge into privileges of which no mortal can guess from whence they came, or where they are going.

This right of fending for a perfon to the congressional bar, amounts to a sufferentiation of the act of Habeas Corpus. The measure is never adopted in Britain but in cases of ferious alarm. It is sure of meeting with a violent oppofition; yet the American House of commons in effect assume it as a matter of course. The federal constitution fays that "the privilege of Habeas Corpus shall not be "sufferended, unless when in cases of rebellion or invasion "the public fastery may require it." The House of Reprefentatives fay that the printer of a newspaper may be hauled

\* If the Author is not miftaken, this was the name of the perfon before mentioned. The anecdote, which he has met with more than once, was many years ago taken from fome book of which he does not at prefent recollect the title.

+ Tale of a Tub.

The Constitution, Article 1. Section 8th, defines the powers of Congress. As to the expenditure of public money, it has these words. " No money shall be drawn " from the treasury, but in confequence of appropriations " made by law." Congress occasionally trespats upon this rule. At the end of a fellion, each Houfe has more than once made donatives to fome of its officers, without the common form of a bill. It is not the propriety of giving the money, but the irregular mode of doing fo, that is here flated as a point for objection. When a perfon is employed by the public at a falary, a Houfe of Reprefentatives are furely not warranted in augmenting any more than they would be in reducing it, unless by the joint operation of the whole legislature. For this reason, a gentleman at the head of a public office declined, not long fince, a donative to his clerks, unlefs it could be procured by a bill. His conduct deferved praife and imitation. Nobody will fay that a prefident can by his own authority, raife the falary of a fecretary of state. Yet he is within his own fphere entirely as independent as the Representatives. If he cannot augment the allowance to a fecretary, unlefs by a bill paffing through both houses, neither can any one of them give an hundred dollars extra to a door keeper without the fame formality. It is not the quantum but the principle that lies open to cenfure. The conflitution is explicit. It does not even stipulate that every member shall have three daily newspapers at the public charge, in any other way than by a bill. Every expence must be comprehended in an act ratified by the three branches. To plead the merit of individual officers, or the propriety of a member being acquainted with the contents of newfpapers, is totally shifting from the question. If your ferjeant at arms has too fmall a falary, pafs a bill to enlarge it. If you cannot afford to buy newspapers out of the public allowance, pafs. a bill, and get what you think necessary. That the House in granting a donative to one of their officers act with up. right-intention is not a proper apology. If a pin may with inpunity be pushed through the constitution, the whole instrument will foon be in tatters. One cafe will by degrees authorife another, till administration finks into a bundle of precedents. This is the real flate of what is improperly called the British conflictation. Nobody can tell when the first parliament fat, and it is a point very strongly contested, at what æra the commons got into it. Every question about them refolves into the usage of parliament. When a new case occurs where the lawyers are at a loss, or where the former practice stands opposite to the object wanted, a new act is patched up by the majority to serve the prefent turn. The constitution is like a fiddle, and parliament is the stick, by which the temporary holder plays whatever tune he pleases. This is the government by discretion which our Vice-President admires, and which Mr. Sedgwick, and the partitioners up stairs, have mistaken for the American constitution.

The Houfe of Reprefentatives will acknowledge the legality, and their good fenfe will fee the propriety of fuggesting fuch errata as may be fufpected to occur in their proceedings. Of one thing the author is internally confcious that no perfon feels a higher refpect than himfelf for that body. His impreffions are perhaps ftronger than those of an American who has never feen with his own eyes the governments of Europe. The full value of a truly republican legislature is best known by those who have fuffered from want of it. What a hideous contraft to the Chamber of Reprefentatives is held out by St. Stephen's Chapel! Behold William Pitt imprisoning printers for the bare republication of his own pamphlet! and Henry Dundas, the blafted prompter to the feducers of his late wife, railing at the wickedness of Thomas Paine ! Observe Paul Benfield tearing from the bowels of India a compound interest of four per cent per month on a debt which never was contracted ! and Tarleton, with his hands reeking from American affaffination, deploring the barbarous captivity of Fayette ! From one bench Pulteney vindicates the partition of Poland. From another, Wilberforce, the advocate of African freedom, pleads for enflaving twenty-feven millions of Frenchmen ! Behold thefe gentry, while their country was on the brink of a famine, giving an hundred and twenty-five thousand pounds sterling per annum to a Prince of Wales, dripping from the kennel \*. This is

\* Some years ago his royal highnefs, and that coloffus of public virtue, Charles Fox, were croffing Grofyenor Square,

that allembly which Horne Tooke affirms to be the Reprefentatives of Hell.

## CHAPTER VI.

Mr. Adams. His panegyric on the British Constitution. An appeal to facts. Anecdotes of the British Cabinet. Remarks on the late speech of George the Third. What the British Inland is worth. Whether an American Ambaffador at St. James's runs hazard of being bribed. Sketch of the Government of Pennfylvania fince the Revolution. Its injustice to the claimants on Luzerne. Elegant stile in some part of its journals. Mr. Wolcott. His imprudence as to Citizen Adet. A curious trait of Mr. Hamilton. Diplomatic Blunderbuss. Patronage of its author by Mr. Wolcott, and the Tories of Philadelphia. Anecdotes of Diplomatic History. A French war probable, from infulting the French Ambaffador. Features of the late Election of Presidential Electors. Defence of the Southern States against Pelbam. His proposal for breaking up the Union. A glance at Mr. Wilcocks. Remarks on Fauchet and Mr. Randolph.

S our Vice-Prefident is fuch a fanguine admirer of the Britifh conflitution, he would certainly be glad at feeing fomething like it fet up in the United States. One half of our citizens think him fit to be their fupreme magiftrate. It is hence of importance to examine his principles. For this purpofe, ever fince General Wafhington gave in his refignation, the newfpapers have been blocked up with long extracts from The *Defence*. But good facts are better than good arguments. The latter may be fhaken; the former cannot. For inftance, if it fhould come out as an admitted *fact*, that an American citizen turned informer to the Attorney-General of England againft Thomas Paine,

about twelve o'clock at night; one of them got into the above fituation. Whether it was the prince or the prime minister cannot be told, as the night was dark. A very large company had once affembled in a tavern near London, and were begun to dine, when George the Fourth entered the room, and immediately difcharged the contents of his flomack on the floer. Upon this the company broke up. that he wrote untruths from this country to England, to exafperate the profecution, and complete the ruin of that benefactor of America; that the Attorney-General flould in open court pull out the letter of his fpy, read it, and appeal to its authority; after thefe circumftances had been proved, no fucceeding fact would be capable to wipe out their ignominy.

Instead, therefore, of entering into long theoretical difcuffions about forms of government, we shall begin this chapter with a few facts relative to the British constitution, as it operates in practice. This leads us directly to the inmost recesses of the Vice-President's heart. While he knew that conflitution only by theory he abhorred it, and on that account promoted the American revolution. When he went to refide at London, when he faw with his own eyes the purity and felicity produced in practice by that conflitution, he reverfed his fentiments and fell in love with it. Let us proceed to particulars, and give a few random but interesting anecdotes of British parliaments, ministers, and kings. In America, human nature is composed of the fame materials as in England, fo that monarchy would produce fimilar effects on both fides of the Atlantic. By this sketch we shall fee what it is that Mr. Adams admires.

On the 7th of October, 1796, George the Third, in his fpeech to Parliament, fpoke or read thus: " Our extensive " and increasing commerce has been protected to a degree " almost beyond example." [The New Annual Register for 1795, Part I. p. 256, relates that the French in this war have taken three thousand British vessels, while they have loft but eight hundred. ] " The fleets of the enemy " have, for the greatest part of the year, been blocked up " in their own ports." | If English commerce has fuffered fo dreadfully while they ftay within, it must be ruined when they are able to come out. In this blocking up, the French had clearly the advantage. They staid at home and did nothing. The English, who watched them, came abroad and did nothing. But the story is untrue. ] " The opera-" tions in the East and West Indies have been highly ho-" nourable to the British arms, and productive of great " national advantage." [As to the East Indies, the Cape of Good Hope has been taken from the Dutch; but Gage might as well have boafted of reducing Maffachufetts, by the battle of Breed's Hill. The Dutch fettlements extend for feveral hundreds of miles into the country, which is, in many places, extremely mountainous, and even often almost absolutely inaccessible. It is inhabited by a race of hardy, well-armed, and independent farmers. Dr. Sparrman, a refpectable traveller, about fixteen or twenty years ago, penetrated into the back fettlements. He fays that the colony could muster feventeen thousand musqueteers. The English at the Cape must depend on them for daily subfistence. As to the West Indies, the English regiments that went out in January, 1796, are fucceflively returning to Europe with a tenth part of their original complement. A letter from Martinico, quoted in the Aurora of the 28th of November, 1796. fays, that from the 1st of April to the 1st of September, five thousand fix hundred and fifty died in the army. Speaking of Germany, and the repulse of Jourdan, George goes on thus: ] "Such a turn has lately been given to the war " as may infpire a well grounded confidence." [About a fortnight before this speech was made, Buonaparte had exterminated Wurmfer's army in Italy, and thut up that general himfelf in the citadel of Mantua. The Elector of Bavaria was engaging to pay two millions of dollars to the French, befides an enormous mais of fupplies, which if exacted from Pennfylvania, would fhake her to the centre. That Prince must even give the republicans their choice of twenty of his paintings.] " The enemy has openly ma-" nifelled their intention of attempting a descent on these " kingdoms. It cannot be doubted what would be the iffue " of fuch an enterprize." [He does not fay what the iffue would be, but it is eafily forefeen. Put the cafe that two hundred thousand Frenchmen were difembarked, England, in the first place, wants a general. Cornwallis or Sir Charles Grey, cannot, in point of experience, be compared even to the fourth rate names in the French army. This would make a miferable odds in point of manœuvres. Again, almost all the English veterans have been destroyed in Flanders and the West Indies, and the private men, though by nature as brave as the French troops, want experience. A confcioufness of this defect will tend to deftroy that felfconfidence, without which no army has a chance for victory. The very landing of the troops would produce fuch a fall of the public flocks, that the bubble would, in three days, most likely burst. This of itself, though the French were

not to fire a piftol, would, with mathematical certainty, break up the government. England has not one place of ftrength, which could hold out for half an hour. A fingle defeat of the English would be likely to end the businefs, and who can be fure that the French would lose the first battle? As to the British navy, at the revolution, in 1688, William the Third landed in England, while a British fleet superior to his was lying wind-bound, fo that he passfed by unmolested.

This royal fpeech, from the first line to the last, is full of untruth and fophistry. Instead of paying such a man an extravagant falary, parliament, as a due reward for his triffing, should have turned him out of their prefence. Yet Mr. Adams wrote his defence of hereditary succession at the court of this king. As to parliament, that discovery which he thinks one of the most supervised in nature, fomething shall be faid. During the war of 1775, Lord North upon one occasion stated a very large sum for *fecret fervice money*. Mr. Wilkes arole, and enquired what had become of this money? "It has gone," added he, "*into* "the packets of the members of this house. We are at this "day, Mr. Speaker, THE MOST CORRUPTED ASSEMBLY "IN EUROPE." If a Representative were to hold fuch language in Congress, the returning fense of shame would prevent him from ever speaking in that house again.

Soon after the acceffion of George the first, Mr. Robert Walpole, who had undertaken " to manage the Houfe of " Commons, was gratified with the double place of Pay-" mafter to the army, and to Chelfea Hofpital \*." Four years before, this man had been turned out of the Houfe of Commons for a fraud to the extent of five hundred guineas. His political refurrection might have been confidered as an infult on the public, if it had not been tacitly underflood by all parties, that he was just as honest as any other gentleman in St. Stephen's chapel. Parliament did not preferve that shadow of decency which is necessary even for the administration of a bagnio. Were the waiter in such a place detected stealing a watch or a bank note, his master, in justice to the reputation of the house, would think it requifite to kick him down stairs, or perhaps tofs him out of a window. With the modefly which was to be expected

\* Smollet, Book ix.

from fuch a character, Mr. Walpole now informed Parliament, " that he wanted words to express the villainy of the " last Frenchified ministry."\* On the 6th of April 1715, a motion was made in the House of Commons for taking into confideration the king's proclamation, upon calling a new parliament. Sir William Wyndham afferted, that the ftyle was unprecedented and unwarrantable. A debate enfued. He was ordered to withdraw, and was accompanied by an hundred and twenty-nine members. The affair ended in his receiving a reprimand from the Speaker, who told him that he had " made an unwarrantable use of the freedom " of fpeech granted by his Majefty." + This claim of the crown is a ridiculous remnant of Norman defpotifm. If the members of Parliament possess not a hereditary right to freedom of fpeech, there can be no use for their meeting at all. The public has already been furfeited with citations from Mr. Adams's Defence. On that account, it is here only flated in general, that he attempts to make a diffinction as to the British government, between its theory and its abufes; to admire the former, without approving the latter. This attempt cannot fucceed, becaufe, as already flated, the British constitution is only a bundle of precedents. It never had a theory but what arofe from a feries of accidents. Judge Paterfon and Mr. Paine have already fettled that point. If Mr. Adams does not approve the British government as it now practically exifts and operates, he is enamoured with a political dulcinea, who, like her fifter in Cervantes, never had a being. The following narrative is a continuation of the proceedings of the affembly above mentioned.

The inconveniencies of the English form of government never appeared in a more striking light than during this fession of parliament. The great body of the nation were highly fatisfied with the peace of Utrecht, and looked up to its authors as public benefactors. "The people," fays Dr. Johnfon, "who had been anufed with bonfires and

\* Tindal, vol. xi. p. 46,

† Tindal, vol. xi.——Smollet feems often to have attempted nothing more than to abridge Tindal. On this occasion, he has confounded Sir William Whitlocke, who at once asked pardon of the House for this expression, with Sir William Wyndham, who refused it. Vid. Book is.

" triumphal proceffions, and looked with idolatry on the " general and his friends, who, as they thought, had made "England the arbitrefs of nations, were confounded be-" tween shame and rage, when they found that mines had " been exhausted and millions destroyed, to fecure the Dutch, " or aggrandize the Emperor, without any advantage to our-" felves ; that we had been bribing our neighbours to fight "their own quarrel; and that, amongst our enemies, we " might number our allies. That is now no longer doubted, " of which the nation was then first informed, that the war " was unneceffarily protracted, to fill the pockets of Marl-" borough; and that it would have been continued with-" out end, if he could have continued his annual plunder." \* Of this the whigs were fenfible; and, apprehenfive that their own prefent authority could be fupported by nothing but violence, they adopted fuch measures as might have been expected from a horde of Tartars. On the oth of June, 1715, the Houfe of Commons determined to impeach Bolingbroke, and Harley Earl of Oxford, for high treafon, but the former had already made his escape in the end of March. On the 21st of June, a motion of the like nature was agreed to, against the Duke of Ormond, by a majority of two hundred and thirty-four voices against an hundred and eighty-feven. So doubtful a victory, which was obtained after a desperate battle, is, in itself, an ample attestation of the innocence of Ormond. Several of the court party forlook, on this question, the phalanx of Walpole; and their defertion affords a pleafing, though folitary proof, that the partizans of a minister may be capable of shame. The crime of the Duke was, that, in obedience to the orders of Queen Anne, he had accepted the command of the English army, on the dismission of Marlborough. He fled, and was ruined. The Earl of Oxford came into the Houfe of Lords on the 10th of June, the day after his impeachment had been refolved on by the Commons. He was avoided as a pestilence. Only three years and a half were elapsed, fince he had created twelve peers at a fingle firoke. After fuch a fignal example of ingratitude and bafenefs, who would be ambitious of the power of difpenfing peerages? The art of making pin-cushions bestows a more durable advantage on its poffeffor. Oxford had been introduced to his

\* Johnfon's Life of Swift.

office as champion of the church, but the Bishops were determined to fail with the times. On the first motion for his commitment, of twenty who were in the Houfe, only fix voted for him. On Saturday the 16th of July, he was fent to the Tower. He was then fo much indifpofed by the gravel, that Dr. Meade declared his removal to be at the hazard of his life. He requested leave to remain under cuftody in his own houfe till the following Monday. His defire was refused. What would Mr. Adams have faid or thought if, in fuch a fituation, the Houfe of Reprefentatives had fent John Jay to jail. Harley remained under confinement for almost two years. About the end of June, 1717, he was brought to trial; but the two Houfes quarrelled as to the method of proceeding. After a hearty foolding bout among themfelves, a frequent and honourable circumftance in their hiftory, they parted, and the Earl of Oxford was difinified from the bar. Here is a valuable precedent for the confinement of Charles Whitney. Harley defcended fo far from the dignity of his fituation, as to be folicitous of appearing at court. George forbade him. The Commons, at the fame time, prefented an addrefs to the crown, requesting that Oxford might be excepted from an act of grace, which was then about to be paffed. His Majefty thanked them for this gracious hint, and affured them, that he fhould comply with it.

Our fympathy for the fate of Harley is fomewhat abated by his ungenerous return to the talents of Dr. Swift, a man, whole name will be remembered with efteem and veneration, when Harley and Guelph thall be alike forgotten or defpifed in the vulgar catalogue of minifters and of kings. As the whole literary world has felt an intereft in the domeftic difappointments of this inimitable writer, it may not be improper to obferve, that, in all probability, he was indebted for his perfonal fafety to the obfcurity of his retreat. Had he been advanced, as we now fondly wifth, to a feat on the bench of Englifh bifhops, his abilities, his integrity, his inflexible pride, the memory of the paft, and the dread of the future, muft all together, have marked him out as a fuperior object of Hanoverian vengeance.

Our Vice-Prefident ought to have turned with indignation and horror from fuch a government. He has wrote largely in its praife. An encomium on the exploits of Benedict Arnold in Virginia, flould not be more repugnant to the feelings of an American than the Defence of Mr. Adams. The motives for this perfecution of Harley were moft exceptionable. It has been affirmed by two or three thoufand hiftorians of the whig party, that the laft years of the reign of Anne were the worft of times. This epithet may, with more juffice, be transferred to the first year of the reign of her fucceffor. To enumerate the additional lift of victims who were facificed to whig ferocity, would exceed the prefent limits. The fatal ceffation of arms! The difgraceful treaty of Utrecht! was the peal inceffantly rung in the ears of an infulted, an opprefled, and an indignant nation. Lewis the Fourteenth was an antagonift kneeling for mercy, and the Queen of England and her tory minifters forbore ftabbing him to the heart. This was that unpardonable crime, which filled fo many bofoms with horror, and fo many tongues with reproach.

The politicians of America are found of calling themfelves whigs. Perhaps they may bring the word into credit; but in the old country it has, with a few exceptions, been always the badge of knavery. The boafted revolution of 1688 was, with refpect to its leaders, a mere job, of which full evidence may be found in the Political Progress of Britain. \*

The following particulars will flow the infide of the Britifh government, and may inftruct Americans in the happinefs of their efcaping from a hereditary Senate, and the royal family of Braintree.

On June 9th, 1714, Harley fent to the Queen a brief ftate of public affairs. A fingle paragraph may ferve as a

\* That Whig divinity William the Third was one of the vileft characters in hiftory. He acknowledged to Burnet, what was known to all the world, that he lay under the utmoft obligations to John de Wit. Yet when this great man and his brother were furrounded by a mob in the prifon at the Hague, William refufed to fend a fingle foldier to their affiftance. It has been often afferted that he was in the fecret of that infurrection. His benefactor perified almoft under his eye; and the horrors of the fcene equal whatever is recorded, even in the annals of the illuminated Jews. On this point, the reader may find information in Memoirs of the Two Brothers, prefixed to the Political Maxims of John de Wit, tranflated by John Campbell, Efq; and published at London in 1746. fpecimen of the firength of national credit when he fucceeded to the whigs. "" The army was in the field; no "money in the treafury; none of the remitters would " contract again ; the bank had refused to lend an hundred " thousand pounds to Lord Godolphin, on very good fecurity. " The navy and other branches of fervice were eleven mil-" lions in debt, which enhanced the price of every thing " proportionably; the civil lift was in debt about fix hun-" dred thousand pounds; and the yearly income too little " for the current certain expence by the lowest computa-" tion, one hundred and twenty-four thousand four hundred " and ninety-five pounds, two fhillings and fourpence."\* This account may be exaggerated, but affairs must have been horribly bad, when they admitted of fuch exaggeration. Harley knew that his affertions were to be examined by his enemies, who underftood the bufinefs just as well as he did. In the fame paper, he proceeds to fpecify that, within a few months after coming into the cabinet, he had raifed finking credit, and had prepared funds for difcharging nine millions of the public debt. What follows may discompose your gravity. " Harley gave offence to some " of his fellow-fervants, who told him plainly, that he " ought to have told his fecret, and if he would no. get " money himfelf, he ought to have let his friends fhare an " hundred thousand pounds, which would not have been FELT

" or found out, in fo vaft a fum as nine or ten millions." As to the fituation of public credit when Godolphin was removed from his employment, we may also confult Dr. Swift. "I could never," fays he, "learn, whether that "Lord had the finallest prospect of clearing that incum-"brance, (the navy debt) or whether there were policy, "negligence, or defpair, at the bottom of this unaccoun-"table management; but the confequences were visible and ruinous; for, by this means, navy bills grew to be "forty per cent. difcount, and upwards; and almost every "kind of navy flores, bought by the navy and victualling "offices, coft the government double rates, AND SOMETIMES

\* Tindal, vol. x. p. 290. It is painful to reflect, that a perfon of abilities, like Oxford, fhould find himfelf placed in fo ridiculous a fituation. His memorial was addreffed to a filly woman, whom he could not have entrusted with the duties of a chambermaid. " MORE; fo that the public hath directly loft feveral mil-"lions upon this one article." \*

The character of those allies for whom England fuffered fuch imposition deferves next to be confidered. In a memorial prefented to the Queen by the Commons, about the beginning of the year 1712, we are informed, that though the invalion of Spain was undertaken at the earnest and particular defire of the Imperial court, and for a caufe of no lefs importance than the reftoration of the Spanish Monarchy to the Houfe of Austria, yet, till the preceding year, they had fupported only two thousand infantry at their own expence, while England, in the course of feven years, had fent no lefs than fifty-eight thoufand men, befides thirteen German battalions, and eight squadrons, for which the paid a fublidy to the Emperor. They close a long detail of enormities by afferting, that the nation had expended above nineteen millions sterling more than its share of the expences agreed upon by treaty. They cast the whole blame of this mifconduct on the whig ministers.

On the other hand, the committee of fecrecy, appointed by the whigs in 1715, difcovered that large fums of public money had been converted to the private ufe of Harley himfelf. + By this expression, it can only be underftood, that the committee could not trace this money farther. Part of it, and most likely the whole, must have been employed in the purchase of rotten boroughs, peers, and independent country gentlemen. From such a scandalous reckoning, we know not what to believe. One conclution feems evident, "That, between two thieves, Whig and "Tory, the nation has been crucified."  $\pm$ 

If any further proof is required, as to the diffipation of public money, Dr. Swift affords an ample atteftation. His Project for the Advancement of Religion, has this remarkable paffage. "The many corruptions at prefent, "in every branch of bufinefs, are almost inconceivable. "I have heard it computed by skilful perfons, that of fix "millions raifed every year for the fervice of the public, "one third, at least, is funk and intercepted through the "feveral classes and fubordinations of artful men in office

<sup>\*</sup> Four Last Years of the Queen, Book iii.

<sup>†</sup> Tindal, vol. x. p. 300.

<sup>‡</sup> Burgh's Political Disquisitions, vol. i. p. 402.

" before the remainder is applied to the proper ufe." A merchant or manufacturer must certainly feel fatisfaction in parting with his quota of the cuftoms, or excife, when he knows that the money is to be fhared by fuch a band of plunderers. In the fame tract the Doctor fays, " I could name a commission, where several persons, out of a " falary of five hundred pounds, without other visible re-" venues, have lived at the rate of two thousand, and laid " out forty or fifty thousand upon purchases of land or an-" nuities. Au hundred other inftances of the fame kind " might eafily be produced." Sir John Sinclair computes the coft of this war at upwards of forty-three millions fterling. The Houfe of Commons, as above quoted, fay, that England fpent above nineteen millions more than her fhare. Dr. Swift in his Conduct of the Allies affirms that the monied men got fix or feven millions as premiums. He alfo fays that one-third part of all public money is funk in management. The accompt will then stand thus.

Total expenditure on the war, Of this fum, overpaid to allies, f. 19,000,000 To ftockjobbers, 6,000,000

One-third of the whole expence pilfered by perfons in office,

14,000,000

## 39,000,000

## Really applied to public fervice,

Take the compound intereft of thirty-nine millions at five per cent. from the 31 ft of December, 1710, to 31 ft December, 1796. The principal doubles itfelf exactly fix times. If the money had therefore been placed at intereft it would, at this day, have augmented to two thousand four hundred and 'ninety-fix millions sterling. This is at least double the worth of the whole British Island, if it could be fold at auction. Mr. Morgan, in his Facts addreffed to the l'eople of Great Britain, quotes Pitt as having lately estimated the whole landed and perfonal property in that ifland at thirteen hundred millions sterling. Mr. Morgan gives many reafons for thinking this effimate very much exaggerated. These observations prove the folly of the British government, and the impropriety of holding up that fystem as an object of praise.

£.43,000,000

£.4,000,000

The exposing of fuch a mais of corruption will help the public to folve this interesting question, Whether it is possible that an American ambaffador at the Court of London is in dans er of being offered a bribe? Peculation is at that court engraved on the front of every other part of public butinefs. Sir Ichn Sinclair above quoted quarrelled with his friend Pitt becaufe he could not get in to be a Commissioner of excise, or fome other placeman. In his history of the revenue, he complains of being refused information at public offices, and he explains in a very frank stile, feveral of Pitt's blunders. He stood under the standard of Sheridan for a lorg time, but has now become peaceable, and has no doubt dilcovered the justice of the French war, on receiving five hundred pounds sterling a year as Prefident to the board of agriculture. A minister, who is thus in the habit of buying confciences by the hundred, will certainly think of fuch an expedient with an American envoy. Nothing in this fuppolition alludes to our federal Fabricius John Jay. The advantages fecured to this country by his treaty are enormous. One of them is likely to be a war with France. Hence it is more probable that Jay bought Grenville, than that Grenville bought lay.

While Americans are furprifed at the corruption of Britifh ministers, let us look for one moment at the administration of Pennfylvania fince the peace of 1783. It has already been stated that the affembly thought fit to feize the whole property of Penn. The last inch of that immense eftate is long fince completely gone. In September, 1794, a fession of the assembly was held chiefly about the western bufinefs. It was there flated, that the land office of Pennfylvania had fold feveral millions of acres more than was contained in the whole furface of the flate, the rocks of the Allegheny and all together. The exact overplus could not be told, but it was gueffed at two or three millions. An alarm was instantly taken and an act past for stopping farther fales. When the Penn family disposed of land, they did fo in small parcels, and for its fall worth. It is probable that the fales of the patentee would not have been completed for half a century to come. At the end of the war the population of this state was about eight perfons to a square mile. In spite of colonies that have been daily going down to Kentucky,

How many acres the flate did actually fell, fince the forfeiture of Penn, cannot at present be stated. When the war began, probably not more than a third part had been fold off. The remainder would have been fomewhere about twenty millions of acres; but let us conjecture that the state had upon its hand ten millions of tolerable foil. This may be more or lefs than the fact; and it is not material to the point. The mode of conducting the fale, and not the extent of it, forms the object of censure. When Mr. John Penn fold the Wioming lands, he received thirty pounds currency for each hundred acres. At this price the ten millions would have brought into the treafury of the state three millions of currency. This fum could not have been had instantly, but the gradual fales would have brought in money as fast as it could be reasonably wanted. The best way to dispose of these lands might have been by a quit rent, if American farmers could be fatisfied with that kind of tenure. This would have brought in an annual revenue of perhaps a million of dollars, a fum fufficient for making canals and highways all round the country. Government might then have purchased arms for the militia, and hindered the college of Carlifle from tottering above the heads of its professors.

It is hard to fee what honeft reafon the ftate can give for leaving the claimants of Luzerne to encounter an army of lawfuits. An hundred thoufand guineas, and a century of victorious litigation, would not drive out the Connecticut colony. The attempt is like thrufting a needle into the rump of a rhinoceros. But as government had feized the whole eftate of Mr. John Penn, they were bound in juffice to pay his debts, and if they fhall ever attain a true fenfe of equity, they will be fure to do fo. If the claimants had now a writ of univerfal ejection, the country would once more get into a civil war. The fettlers would not quit their lands without bloodfhed, and it is very doubtful whether the militia would fight againft them. They were formerly brought into the field with reluctance, and, under their footpad commander, behaved but indifferently. Their language was that they would not fight for land jobbers. The journals of the affembly, at the time of pailing and repealing the Confirming Act, are admirably fitted for raifing fuch fcruples. Thus the affembly below flairs, by a majority, and after violent debates, paft an act. The council of cenfors above were at the fame time, by another majority protefting against it, in various forms, and in the ftrongeft language of abhorrence. It is impossible to keep from finiling when you read fome of the polite productions on both fides. Each party, by a majority, declared the other unfit to be trufted. Addifon fays that Virgil toffed his dung with dignity. A fimilar commendation was not always merited by the affembly and the cenfors.

In fcolding, the British parliament could furnish them with an happy precedent. About five years ago, Mr. George Rous, a member of the last parliament, published a letter, addreffed to Mr. Burke. In page 119, he fays, " Does not the whole effective power of raifing money re-" fide in the Ministers of the Crown? What edicts of tax-"ation have our Parliaments refufed to register? Or " when did they even name a Committee to infpect the " public accounts, that the lift was not prepared by Minifters? "Have not the prefent Parliament voted eight hundred " thousand pounds per annum of additional taxes, almost " without the compliment of a debate? Yet when the Span-" ifh convention was concluded, when the fubject had " paffed into history, Did they not refuse to investigate how far " the expenditure of FOUR MILLIONS was neceffary ?" What an abyfs of imposture yawns before us in these concife queries?

In the year 1770, Sir George Saville faid, in the Houfe of Commons, "This Houfe hath betrayed the rights of the "people." He was called to order, and the Tower was mentioned with fome emphafis. Sir George replied, "that • "he never employed any other words, when he fpoke of the "proceedings of the Houfe on the Middlefex election, and "that he would always ufe the fame words." This was upon the noted cafe of Wilkes and Luttrell. Serjeant Glynn defended the words. He observed, that they were the only words proper to express an idea of the transaction; with much more to the fame purpofe. Edmund Burke faid,

" that Ministers were confeious of the truth of the affertion, " and therefore crouched under it." He faid, the people abhorred the prefent Ministry, and afked the Speaker. If the the chair did not tremble under him? To complete the fcene, Sir George rofe again, and faid, " Standing in my place as " member for the County of York, I do declare, that the "House of Commons has betrayed the rights of the nation." There has not elapfed a Sellion for an hundred years paft, without fome fquabble of this fort, in the proper ftyle of a gang of house-breakers debating about the division of their booty. The charges of falsehood, fedition, defpotifm, are alike refounded from both fides of the Houfe. It would be ungenerous to difbelieve either party; they are in habits of intimacy, and know each other perfectly well. But there is one question which, by leave of Mr Adams, the reader may refolve at leifure, whether it is neceffary for the wehare of a great people that they fhould be governed by a British Constitution ?

Our American ministry, who are fo much scandalized at the wickedness of France, may from these anecdotes confirm their confidence in the virtues of Britain. If a war enfues with the republic, the imprudence of our prefent fecretary to the treafury must bear a part of the blame. He has countenanced a pamphleteer who confantly heaps on the French unfounded abufe, and whois no w reviling the French ambaffador. If Mr. Wolcott wanted a war between the two countries, this is the very way to haften it. With respect to citizen Adet, Mr. Wolcott received, a few months ago, fome friendly hints.\* They have not been fuccefsful. On the 26th of November, 1796, the Philadelphia Gazette contained an advertisement of The Diplomatic Blunderbuss, a pamphlet attacking Citizen Adet. The title-page mentions " his famous cockade proclamation." This is a perional attack. When a Spanish Ambassador went lately to France, fome marks of difrespect were shewn on account of his drefs, and of his being decorated with fome orders of knighthood. The directory, fo far from encouraging this rudencis, published an official admonition against it. What a miferable contrast is held up in our Connecticut cabinet. If Citizen Adet has acted improperly, to irritate

\* British Honour and Humanity, p. 55

him by fourrilous pamphlets is the height of folly. When the writer of the Blunderbufs publifhed, in September laft, an account of his being on good terms with Mr. Wolcott, the latter fhould have taken fome way to convince the public that the accufation was groundlefs. But what was to be expected from Mr. Wolcott, when Alexander Hamilton' fent invectives against France to the newspapers? This fact can be proved, and there can be shewn paragraphs of that kind written in the office of the American treasfury.

People do not feem to perceive the danger of exafperating Citizen Adet. English prints afcribe the present war between Spain and Britain partly to incivility from Lord Grenville to the Spanish Ambassador. The citizens of Frankfort felt unufual alarm at the approach of the French, on account, as it is faid, of a newspaper of that city, which had been fevere against them. The Pope, and the King of Naples, are to pay dearly for having infulted French Ambaffadors. America will, in her turn, run the gauntlet of repentance. It is not here faid that the Blunderbufs was written by defire of Mr. Wolcott. But the friends of Britain, and 'this gentleman in particular, have constantly patronifed its author. Nay, fuch is the dread entertained of the man, that, though feveral pamphlets have been printed against him, the writers, one or two excepted, carefully conceal their names.

The Blunderbufs begins with a preface, of which here is the first fentence: "When we fee an unprincipled, shame-"lefs bully, a dog in forehead, and in heart a deer, who en-"deavours, by means of a big look, a threatening afpect, "and a thundering voice, to terrify peaceable men into a "compliance with what he has neither a right to demand, "nor power nor courage to enforce, and who, at the fame "time, acts in fuch a bungling, stupid manner, as to excite "ridicile and contempt in place of fear; when we fee fuch "a gafconading impudent bluff as this (and that we do "every day), we call him a blunderbufs."

The perfon here meant is Citizen Adet. No government in Europe, either free or otherwife, would fuffer fuch treatment of a foreign ambaflador under any pretence, even if the two nations were juft going to war. An ambaflador is a character of a peculiar defcription. He is placed in a fituation entirely different from that of any other perfon in the country wherein he refides. He bears, as it were, a

X

flag of truce. Among all civilized, and generally amongft all barbarous nations, he is held inviolable, unlefs he commits fome express act of treasfon against the government. In that case caution is observed in proceeding against him. This branch of the usage of nations is not exactly comprehended by fome civizens. A few historical instances will help to fet them right.

When the Cifalpine Gauls befieged a city in Italy, the Romans fent three ambaffadors to intercede. They were received with refpect in the camp of the befiegers, and fuffered to enter the town. Forgetting their bufinefs, they joined in a fally. The fequel thews how well the limits of the diplomatic character were then underflood. The Gauls immediately broke up their camp, marched to Rome, and burnt it. The previous refpect and confidence granted to thefe envoys proves the veneration in which their office was held.

During the American war, English newspapers teemed with reproaches against the cabinet. They went on with impunity, till fome of them published fevere reflections against the Russian Ambassador. This was a direct affront upon his miftrefs, and a precedent for mifufing the English envoy at Petersburg. Six or feven editors were apprehended with as much abruptness as if they had been forging bankbills. They obtained a declaration from the ambaffador himfelf that he had never afked nor wifhed for their being punished. They published this acknowledgment, and tried but in vain to interest the public in their behalf, by harping upon that favourite ftring, the liberty of the press. They affirmed that it was only picque in the ministry themfelves. This was partly believed to be true, and as the affair happened near the clofe of North's ministry, government had become very unpopular. But all fober men faw the impof-. fibility of living in friendship with any foreign court, if its representative was to be scandalized at the pleasure of newsprinters. Accordingly, the offenders were feverely chaftifed. Had they attacked the Empress herfelf, they would have been in very fmall danger. About thirty years ago, the Spanish ambasfador prefented a memorial, complaining of a piece in one of the prints, that burlefqued the king of Spain. He was told, that the people of England could not be hindered from abufing even their own fovereign. The piece was printed anew in other papers, to let people fee of what it was that the ambaffador complained. If the attack had pointed at the envoy himfelf, the printers would, as in the former inftance, have finarted feverely. Thus, in England, the character of an ambaffador is held more facred than even that of the king or government which fends him.

Mr. Wolcott and his friends are fond of British precedents. This of the Russian ambassador proves, that for a fimilar exploit in London, the writer of the Blunderbuss would have been instantly fent to Newgate. Were he to receive notice, that he muss either let the ambassador alone, or that Mr. Wolcott and the British tories in Philadelphia would defert him, the public might be assured of his filence.

The laft leaf of this pamphlet proves who are the prompters of the man. On one page he advertifes a hiftory of American *Jacobins*. On the other he prints propofals for an edition of Mr. Adams's Defence. He fpeaks of having received a number of fubfcribers. The language of the party thus runs: "Write libels againft the French Ambaf-"fador. Call him *a dog*, and every other fcurrilous appel-"lation. Provoke him to be as angry as you can. We "want to get into a war with France. To revile her am-"baffador is the certain way of obtaining it. As a premium "for your trouble, we fhall fubfcribe to an edition of the "Defence of Monarchy."

A cartload of copies of this book were not long fince lying in the garret of a bookfeller in South Second street. In all likelihood they are still in that place, unless they have been removed to a cellar, or a snuffmaker's store. This discovers that the subscription is but a muster roll of the party, and an expedient for fatisfying its great champion. Meffrs. Pickering and Wolcott are friends to Mr. Adams. The connection between the Blunderbus and the proposed impression of the Defence will not be denied. From these premifes it follows that fome of the friends of Mr. Adams wifh to exafperate the French minister, and by difrefpecting in his perfon the executive directory, to haften a rupture with France. This plan is going on at the very time when England has acknowledged the republic, and opened a negociation for peace. That event has already perhaps taken place, or may happen in the prefent winter. America is then to be left contending fingly with France, or to pay fome enormous requifition, as the well earned confequence of her ingratitude, infidelity, and infolence to her ancient ally.

Our Connecticut miniftry muft be fenfible of the dangerous effects that this Blunderbu/s may produce. Their friends are too well drilled to fupport the writer, unlefs by mutual concert. Thefe allegations are explicit and convincing. Meffrs. Wolcott and Pickering are attempting to drive this country into hoftilities with France. Mr. Pickering termed opposition to the British treaty a detefly able confpiracy. Hence the State Houfe yard of this city contained, at one time, five thousand confpirators. An enemy may, from the preceding facts, retort this charge, and with as much reason as the Secretary made it.

Citizen Adet has iffued fome publications which the friends of Mr. Adams do not like. In August, 1699, the Spanish Ambaffador at London gave in to ministry a memorial by which William the third was offended. He did not excite a pamphleteer to call the envoy a dog, but ordered him to leave England. If our executive does not like Citizen Adet, let his recall be folicited, as happened to Genet. The only time within memory wherein the court of London encouraged perfonal attacks on a foreign minifter was at the beginning of the prefent war. Chauvelin, the French envoy, was inceffantly abufed in the Sun. This newspaper is under the direction of George Rofe, a member of Pitt's bacchanalian ministry. At last they ordered Chauvelin to quit England. The French declared war, and England hath fince applied for leave to fend an envoy to France. This does not form a promifing precedent for vilifying French ambaffadors in Philadelphia.

The fiyle of the preface above quoted, independent of its exceptionable matter, is very ftrange. Speaking to the Democrats, the writer fays, "filence you yelping devils; "go growl in your dark kennel; flink into your ftraw;" Bithop. White has declared his anxiety to poffefs a complete collection of the productions of this writer. David Walker, merchant in Philadelphia, is another of his admirers. Dr. James Cunningham, in Chefnut Street, and Mr. Andrew Spence, dentift, are profuse of their encomiums on the fame pen; additional names might be cited. In other points, the perfons here fpecified enjoy decent characters. They have no alliance with difrepute unlefs by their patronage of this writer. They are here noticed merely as a caution to other critics of equal depth. A perfon like their favorite could not have earned fubfiftence, by his typographical efforts, in the fervice of any bookfeller in England. Readers of politics in that country have, most of them, a better taste than to peruse fuch materials, though wrote upon their own fide of the question.

Some time ago a gentleman called on Mr. Ellicott, geographer to the United States, at his houfe in Philadelphia. One of the pieces of the Tory and epifcopal favourite was lying on the table. "Do not imagine," faid Mr. Ellicott, "that this thing belongs to me, or that I am reading it; "for I look upon its author as a very great blackguard." This is the being brought forward to plunge the country into a conteft with France.

During the canvaffing of electors for chufing a prefident, the conftant cry of the Adamites was that Mr. Jefferfon, if elected, would involve the United States in a war with England. Some leaders of that very party are toiling to entangle America in a French quarrel. This is not a blindfolded affertion like that againft Mr. Jefferfon. The plan is here completely proved. Some people may deny, but they cannot difbelieve it.

Mr. Sedgwick fpoke of a refined process in chuling the prefident. His friends have not, on the late occasion, exhibited fuperior fanctity. The continent has rung with this palpable untruth, that every man who voted for Mr. Jefferson voted for a British war. The following anecdotes afcertain what contempt not only of honesty, but of decency has been displayed.

William Brown was one of the fifteen perfons nominated in the Jefferfon ticket of Pennfylvania. By the first returns from Lancaster county, he had not a fingle vote. Governor Mifflin, furprifed at fo unufual a circumstance, demanded duplicates of the returns. They were fent, and fill William Brown remained without a vote. The Governor fent an express to demand the ballot boxes from the Prothonatory. The Judges of Lancaster were convened, and the boxes were refused; but this bench transmitted an acknowledgement that William Brown had fix hundred and eighteen votes. These traits are copied from the Aurora of the 25th of November, 1796. Queer accidents do fometimes fall out at Lancaster. A counfellor, from whom the author had the ftory, was fent for from Philadelphia

about two years ago, to plead in a criminal caufe before a court in that town. After the trial was over, it, came out that three of the jury did not underfland English. Another election trick attempted by " the friends of good order" is related in the above newspaper. James Edgar was named in the Jefferson ticket. In the return from Bucks county, he was omitted, and *John* Edgar appeared in his room. The ballot boxes were demanded by the Governor. The prothonatory had not all the ballot boxes, and only those from Newtown were fent. When the ballots were opened, not a fingle ticket had John Edgar upon it; they all bore James. On examining the returns from the feveral diftricts, only one ticket had John Edgar. If the Governor had not authority to compel the delivery of the ballot boxes. his jurifdiction is incomplete; and unlefs an act is paffed, empowering him to enforce fuch a demand, the fame frauds will be attempted on the next opportunity. For the fake of example, the offenders ought to be profecuted, and on conviction, difabled from voting at an election in future. Other unaccountable things have occurred in this contest. The townships of Strasburg and Lampetre, in the county of Lancaster, usually give about feventy votes. The Aurora of the 2d. of December, 1796, flates that they gave at the above election between five and fix hundred. The number came within three of the whole taxable inhabitants.

Mr. Dexter, in his fpeech about *Salecoats*, launched into a long encomium on the State of Connecticut. Mr. Jeremiah Wadfworth was then a Reprefentative in Congrefs from that flate, and one of the most candid and well informed members in the house. On another day, when a comparison of States was flarted, this gentleman rose. He felt as much partiality, he faid, for his own country as any man. But during the war, he never could discover that any one State was more virtuous than another. The opinion of this able judge of mankind ought to check that felf conceit, that contempt for their fouthern neighbours, for which Eastern citizens have fometimes been remarkable.

The New World of the 30th of November, 1796, contains an effay figned Pelham, which recommends a disjunction of the United States. The Patowmac is pointed out as the proper boundary. One of this man's objections to the federal conflictution is, that flaves were taken into the account, in fending to Congrèfs Reprefentatives from the fouthern flates. By that instrument, members are admitted for three fifths of all the flaves, as if they were freemen.

The first objection to fuch a disjunction is the extreme profperity of the country. Matters could hardly be improved. and the chances are ten thousand to one that they would become infinitely worfe. Pelham enlarges on the bad treatment of negroes by their masters. Ecclesiastical tyranny exifts in many places of New England, and it is as repugnant to the fpirit of liberty as that of white people over flaves. The latter is on the way to extinction. An immediate abolition of flavery would, as Mr. Sedgwick once remarked in Congrets, be the very height of madnefs. But an immediate abolition of taxes for preachers could do no harm. The New Englanders are not taking steps of that kind. Virginia led the way in demolifning the defpotilm of religion, and this prefents an equipoife to the abolition of flavery in Maffachufetts. The constitution of the latter State, in the declaration of rights, article third, recognizes an alarming power. It fays that the people have right to invest the legislature with authority to provide "for the support and maintainance of public protestant "teachers of piety, religion, and morality, in all cafes, "where fuch provision thall not be made voluntarily." This principle has opened a flood-gate of robbery. While a New England parfon is dragging a baptift to jail, and feizing his cow, he is entirely as iniquitous as any tyrannical master of flaves. Such laws are held in abhorrence by many citizens of New England. The devilifh idea of making converts was an expression once employed in private by a reprefentative from that country. The gentleman was, at this time, deploring the progress of what he called priestcraft. If his pious constituents had over heard him, it would have been amufing to contemplate their looks.

Americans ought to eye with horror every thing refembling an eftablished church. That of England is supposed to cost about fix millions sterling per annum, and does infinite mischief. This is the account of Arthur Young. A few dignitaries roll in luxury, while the great body of the clergy are straitened, and some of them almost starving. What goes to the bench of bishops would support five hundred poor families. The dean and eleven prebendaries of Weftminfter get, each of them, five hundred pounds fterling a year. They can find a fubfitute for the whole dozen at twenty-five pounds a year. "Canon law and ecclefiaftical "jurifdiction ought to be fwept to hell, faid Burnet to "Winfton; fo faid Archbifhop Grindall, and fo fay I."\* While the people of New England fofter a fyftem fo dangerous to liberty, they fhould fpeak lefs of flaves in Virginia, and they fhould not hold up their mafters as unfit citizens for a free government. The republics of Greece and Rome

were full of flaves. A New England citizen will not fay that he is more jealous of his perfonal honour, more attached to the liberty of his country, than Leonidas, Themiflocles, or Socrates. He is not more fociable or goodnatured than the younger Pliny, who, in his epifles mentions a fick flave with the tendernefs of a father. Martial, who appears to have been an amiable man, wifhes for a well fed flave  $\dot{\tau}$ . General Washington has flaves. He is fit to be an American citizen. Writers against the Southern States commonly introduce an encomium on the Prefident. Pelham does fo, and it is an express contradiction.

Pelham urges that the Eastern States might as well fend reprefentatives for "three fifths of the whole number of " their horfes and cattle." But even then, to be on a level, the fame privilege fhould be allowed for the cattle of the Southern States. The exportations from the latter, and of courfe the navigation of the continent are much indebted for their augmentation to the labour of flaves. The institution is in itself hateful, but in half a century it will. most likely be reduced to nothing. It is a misfortune which can only be cured by time. The granting reprefentation for flaves was only giving to each flate a power conformable to its real weight and importance. When the matter had been fo fully debated, a constitution fettled, and the country placed in a state of prosperity, to break up the union within only feven years after it commenced would be a most fignal act of folly. What does Pelham mean to do with the national debt? This effay is copied from a Connecticut newspaper.

Speaking of his plan, Pelham fays " whoever shall exe-

\* Dyer's Complaints of the poor people of England, Edition 2d. Part 3d. Chap 2d.

† Sit mihi verną fatur, fit non doctifima conjux, Sit nox cum fomno, fit fine lite dies.

"crate, let the tongues of the democrats be fealed in " filence, for the machinations of Pandemonium are out-" ftripped in the career of guilt by the plots of our demo-" cratic fellow citizens." There are democrats in every state of the union, and many staunch aristocrats reside fouth of the Patowmac. The disjunction recommended would not ferve to feparate the fheep from the goats. The worst machination afcribed to the democrats was their wanting to overturn the conftitution. That is the very plan espoufed by Pelham. "The Northern States can " fubfilt as a nation, a republic, without any connection " with the Southern." [Yes, and fo can Nantucket, but for what length of time, or with what prospect before it?] "When it becomes a ferious question, whether we shall give " up our government, or part with the States fouth of the Pa-" towmac, no man north of that river, whole heart is not " thoroughly democratic, can hefitate what decifion to "make. That this question is nearly ripe for decifion, "there can be little doubt." There is very great doubt whether any man in America would write in this stile, unlefs he were hired to do fo by fome foreign enemy. Pelham has chofen an excellent feafon for explaining his fcheme, when the country is in danger of a French war.

The New York Gazette has an effay dated the 15th of November, 1796, figned William Wilcocks. This piece conveys an attack on Citizen Adet. It contains this fentence : " To imagine that we will tainely fuffer any "foreigner, however diftinguished by title or office, to infult "our magistracy, or to exercise the little and infamous " intrigues with us, which are practifed upon the wretched " and illiterate flaves of Europe, is if possible a greater de-" ception." The allusion cannot be miltaken. Has the French ambaffador infulted our government? No fuch thing appears. He differs in opinion from them. He is very angry at them. But if this is to be called infult, diplomatic business must be at an end in every part of the world. The citizens of the United States are highly obliged to Citizen Adet for publishing his recent correspondence with Secretary Pickering. Information is always a good thing. Who are thefe wretched and illiterate flaves? Or would any one but a madman fpeak in this way of an hundred and fifty millions of people? What whomous intrigues has the French ambaffador practited? We know

that Mr. Hammond, the late British envoy, hired a man in Philadelphia to write incendiary pamphlets against the French nation, and against all their friends in America. Citizen Adet has not adopted such expedients. "Americans," he fays, "when put to the test, will rally about the stan-"dards of law and constitution. A most powerful and "blassing evidence of this was given to the *diforganizers* "upon occasion of the debates in Congress on the late "treaty with Great Britain, and fignally in the case of the "Pennfylvania rebellion."

Pennfylvania then comes in for her fhare of the duffing. "That infurrection fhould appear in that heterogeneous flate, "is not furprifing, when it is obferved that they have had "in high offices, and ftill continue to retain therein, men, "who at the time of that rebellion, With Mr. Randolph "(the precious confeffor) at their head, were BALANCING to "decide on their party! Men, by whom with fome thousands of dollars, the Republic (of France) could have decided on civil war or peace! Men, pretended PATRIOTS of America, who already have their prices! Well might Mr. Fauchet "exclaim, what will be the old age of this government, "if it is thus early decrepid?"

4

New York has as great variety in the fources of its population as Pennfylvania; and this is no caufe of reproach to either flate. The words in Italicks are quoted from Fauchet, which leads to fome remarks on his difpatches and certificate.

America is now rid of that envoy. The party in France who fent him here have been overturned. He may be fpoke of withou rifk of offending the republic. His difpatch, No. 10. fets out with announcing that he had wonders to tell, and ends with telling almost nothing. It is a model of froth and impertinence; and affords a good explanation why he was recalled. In No. 6, after telling that he had been folicited for money by Mr. Randolph, then American Secretary of State, he adds, "I thall draw my-"felf from the affair by fome common-place remarks, and "by throwing myfelf on the *pure* and *unalterable* principles "of the republic." Of thefe principles, as they exifted at that time, we have feen a fpecimen in the report of St. Juft\*. Fauchet, in using fuch a ftile, acted as Mr. Hammond

\* Supra, Chap. z.

would have done, if he had fent home to Pitt a lecture on packed majorities and rotten boroughs. This paffage evinces that Fauchet has frequently that with the long bow. His defign feems to have been to draw money from his masters under pretence of bribing people in America. Just before the above extract he fays, "It was impossible for me "to make a fatisfactory answer. You know my want of " power, and my defect of pecuniary means." This is a clear intimation that he could do fomething important, if he had the command of proper funds. His real object undoubtedly was to get the handling of fome cath. He knew that work of this kind was going on in Europe, and he naturally inferred that America would be thought worthy of purchafe. When a republic fuch as Genoa received ten millions of dollars in bribes, undoubtedly the United States would be worth more or lefs. To enfure getting money, he fets us down very cheap. Some thousands of dollars were to have overturned the prefent government.

The difpatch, No. 10, is full of palpable fictions. The friends of Alexander Hamilton should not with to advance its credit, for Fauchet has every where painted both him and them in the worft colours. Though many paffages are very confused, and obviously shew that the ambaffador was digging intelligence from his invention, yet the defire is always uppermost to blacken Mr. Hamilton and every perfon connected with him. Thus in fection twenty-fecond, Fauchet has these words: " It is asked of what use are " fifteen thousand men in this country, in which provisions " are fcarce, and where are to be feized only fome turbu-" lent men at the plough? Those who conducted the expe-" dition knew this. The matter is to create a great expence ; " when the fums shall come to be affessed, no one will be will-"ing to pay, and should each pay his affestment, it will be " done in curfing the infurgent principles of the patriots."

This extract offers a fair fample of the envoy. It is full of untruth and nonfenfe. As to the fearcity of provisions in the weltern counties, Fauchet contradicts himfelf. In the twelfth fection he had faid " the *abundant* fruits of their " labour run the rifk of perifhing for the want of means of " exchanging them.— They therefore convert the *excefs* " of their produce into liquors."

The Prefident, and after him Governor Lee of Virginia, conducted the expedition. It is abfurd to fay that they, or A'e.tander Hamilton, or any body elfe in the army wanted to create a great expence. This was a ready way to make excife, and its father Mr. Hamilton, unpopular. He wifhed for an exertion of government, but furely not for a needlefs wafte of money. The expence was not to be defrayed by an affeffment, fo that there could be no room for curing it in that fhape. No patriot has infurgent principles. Here the envoy works himfelf deeply into nonfenfe, or rather into jargon. We fhall leave him there.

Again, in the tenth fection, he pretends that the Executive did not want the Miffiffipi to be opened, and gives Mr. Izard of the Senate as his informer. It is hardly poffible that Mr. Izard ever fpoke fuch a thing. The fubfequent Spanish treaty thews that the acculation was entirely unfounded.

"Why referve to fell or distribute to favourites, to a clan " of flatterers, or courtiers, that which belongs to the flate, " and which should be fold to the greatest possible profit of " all its members." Section eleventh. The triends of Alexander Hamilton will certainly pronounce every word of this paragraph to be untrue; they want to recommend the veracity of Fauchet when he impeaches Randolph, and to difown it when he impeaches Hamilton. On the fame fubject Mr. Paine fays, " Profperity mixed, even " in the bloffom, with the germ of corruption. Monopo-" lies of every kind marked your administration, almost in " the moment of its commencement. The lands obtained " by the revolution were lavished on partizans; the in-" terest of the difbanded foldier was fold to the speculator; " injuffice was acted under the pretence of faith; and the " chief of the army became the patron of fraud."\*

In fection fifteenth, Fauchet speaks of "the very paci-"fic union of the counties in Braddock's field." It was neither *pacific*, nor an union of counties.

In fection eighteenth, Fauchet fays that Mr. Hamilton wanted to accompany the Prefident on the expedition, and that the latter *dared not to refufe him.* This is not true.

"The Govenor of Pennfylvania, of whom it never "would have been fulpected, lived intimately and publicly "with Hamilton." [And why not?] Though they had different opinions in Philadelphia, it would have been very

\* Thomas Paine to George Washinton, p. 7.

ftrange to exhibit thele, in a breach of common civilities, when they were jointly employed to fupprefs an infurrection.] "Such an union of perfons would be matter fuffi-"cient to produce refiftance in the western counties, even ad-"mitting they had not thought of making any." Section twenty-first. Mere nonfense.

Speaking of Mr. Hamilton the envoy obferves that "the monarchial fyftem was interwoven with thofe "novelties of finances, and that the friends of the lat-"ter favoured the attempts which were made in or-"der to bring the conflitution to the former by infenfible "gradations. The writings of the influential men of the "party proved it; their real opinions too avow it, and the "journals of the, Senate are the depofitory of the first at-"tempts." Section fifth. The friends of our ex-fecretary will deny all this. They do not believe one fentence of the difpatch, but the fingle paffage that impeaches Mr. Randolph. This mode of believing is extremely convenient for the ends of a party; but when a man hasjuft told ninetynine lies, he has no title to credit in his hundredth affirmation.

This fubject will be farther difcuffed in the next chapter. The prefent shall close with fome circumstances mentioned chiefly for their singularity. Fauchet fays above that the Hamiltonian system of sinance is designed to intoduce monarchy; and so have thousands faid before him. Mr. Adams has been supported as a candidate for the presidency by that party of which Mr. Hamilton is the prime mover. Mr. Adams has wrote a defence of monarchy, for that is the real object of his book. This combination of opinions proves that the Aristocrats  $\ddagger$  want to make Mr. Adams KING. No true-blue democrat will entertain a doubt of it.

The writer of a recent feries of papers called the *Federalif*, defigns to recommend Mr. Jefferfon as Prefident, in oppofition to Mr. Adams. In No. 10th, he fpeaks thus. "That "gentleman (Mr. Adams) will never hefitate to admit, that "the has often fpoken of the *funding* fyftem as *certainly* to "bring upon this country evils the most extreme. There is not

<sup>‡</sup> They are here and in other places called for merely for want of a better name, and to avoid circumlocution.

" a citizen of equal confideration in the United States, whofe "fentiments upon the funds and the bank are more opposed "to the opinions of every perfon, whoever has been, or "now is an officer of the treafury department."

Thus the confpirators aforefaid with to make a perfon prefident, who, if he was able to do fo, would kick their favourite system out of the country. The Federalist is not a man who would make fuch affertions without being able to prove them. They have not been denied, and they never will be fo. Now, can any man in his fenfes believe that the arithocrats would with to invest Mr. Adams with hereditary power, or to make a king of the perfon who is a mortal enemy to their favourite plans of finance. What may be the private withes of Mr. Hamilton are best known to himfelf. Perhaps he might be perfuaded to accept a federal diadem; but furely he never would confent to place his financial antagonist in that fituation. The supposition that he wants to make Mr. John Adams a fovereign implies an abfurdity. It is a conceit which almost no possible degree of evidence could make worthy of belief. Thus ends the Hamiltonian confpiracy for introducing an American Monarch.

On the other hand the Adamites charge Mr. Jefferfon with antipathy to the prefent plans of finance. This accufation produced the above retort from the Federalift, who goes on thus : "Let all who are concerned in their eftates and "political interefts confider and examine well into this highly "important matter. [The paffage laft quoted]. The fact "is abfolutely true, and the importance of it is immenfe. "Thefe firong observations proceed from no malignity to "wards Mr. Adams, but from a long reflected and fettled "opinion, that the great financial operations of this Govern-"ment, were wife, neceffary, and inevitable."

Thus we find that this writer, though oppofed to Mr. Adams, beflows praife upon the plans of Mr. Hamilton. This is a firong prefumptive proof that they are, at leaft in a great measure, approved by Mr. Jefferson, and that the charge made as above against him is without foundation.

The most incredible fuspicions and inferences are allumed on both fides. No two thinking men in America have exactly the fame fet of opinions upon every political topic. You may as well expect to meet with two faces as with two minds which are perfectly alike. Yet a fiery politician

1. 8

Rigmatizes every man who differents from an iota of his creed with the most extravagant and criminal projects. "You "will go fufest in the middle," faid his father to Phaeton. Truth feldom lies in extremes.

Civis, a correspondent in the Gazette of the United States, of the 3d of December laft, has quoted a long paffage from letters published by Mr. Adams, while in Holland. No composition can breathe a more pure and ardent spirit of republicanism, vore can do higher honour to its author, as a political writer, and a friend to America, than this extract.' Civis concludes by fome remarks of his own. "There can be no doubt," he fays, " that the French go-" vernment is endeavouring, by intrigues, corruption, me-" naces and feduction, to obtain domination over the United "States." The only evidence on this head comes from Fauchet, and he attefts that he had no money to corrupt any body, and that the Republic fcorned fuch proceedings. Again, Civis speaks of "A FACTION, composed of old "tories, and foreign emissaries, the emanations from the "dunphills of jacobinism in France." The latter affertion is very erroneous. The old tories all over the union have been, with a very few exceptions, in favour of Mr. Adams. Surely this writer is not afhamed of fuch ufeful friends. Whatever honour or difrepute can be derived from thefe allies, must belong exclusively to the Vice-Prefident. In this class are to be found men as virtuous as in any other. To brand them in the mafs as corrupted and bad characters is to the utmost degree unreasonable and absurd. No man can help his opinion. It is only when opinions break out into unwarrantable action that they become a fource of reproach. But as the tories are flaunch friends to Mr. Adams, coarfe ulage on the part of Civis is ungrateful and impolitic, as much as it is illiberal. In thefe letters, Mr. Adams fpeaks of the British government with the utmost detestation. He remarks that the history of ministerial and parliamentary tricks to deceive the people of America, would fill a volume. He mentions the British parliament as the most corrupted in the world.

## CHAPTER VII.

Explanation to the Reader. Imperfect flate of American Hiflory fince 1783. Findley. Brackenridge. Addifon. Hopkinfon. Want of Monthly Publications. First Congress at New York. Oddities of it. Female Levees. Overflrained Eulogiums on the President. Fauchet. Defence of Democratic Societies. Strange remarks upon them in Congress. A Turkish Democrat. Escape of the Federal Constitution in November, 1794. Fauchet and Randolph. Scheme of Hammond and Wolcott. Artifice and Rancour of the Connecticut Ministry. Conduct of Fauchet.

THE first plan of this work was to give one chapter on the proceedings of Congress, and one alternately on milcellaneous occurrences, till we had got entirely through the fession. A fummary from that period to the end of the year 1796, would have completed the undertaking.

This delign was adhered to till the close of the fourth chapter. The congressional narrative should then have been refumed, where it had flopt on the 25th of January, 1796. An accident as to manufcript forced the alteration of this arrangement for one or two chapters. The rule being once broke through, it is proposed to clear off a quantity of miscellaneous materials. The review of Congress, till they rofe in June, 1796, will then be refumed and given in one compact body. With that the volume terminates. The continuation to the close of the year 1796, cannot for many reafons, be at prefent published. The writers of English Annual Registers, on whole model this work has been attempted, are never in a fingle instance, able to complete the history of a year in one volume, even though their publications feldom or never appear, till fix or eight months after that year has expired. When an event of confequence happens, a confiderable time often elapses before adequate materials for composition can be collected. Dodfley's Annual Register was a well-conducted performance. Yet, during the war of 1775, the accounts from the East Indies fometimes fell behind for three or four years. The delay feems to have arifen from want of proper intelligence. Defects of that fort occurred in every volume. Similar caufes have, in the prefent work, produced fimilar effects, though upon a lefter fcale.

Another reason made it proper to stop short before the end of the year. The publication would have swelled to an inconvenient fize. To make the history of the prefent year intelligible, it was necessary to go backwards, and explain some characters and events interparably connected with the proposed narrative. This retrospect became still more unavoidable from the peculiar situation of American history.

Since the peace of 1783, that subject has been imperfectly treated. The detached atoms are fcattered on fuch an immense furface, that it is difficult to collect a regular feries of information. Pamphlets have been written on different fides of political questions. They lie open to feveral objections. Most of the writers anxiously conceal their names. This does not feem fair. A man comes forward with bold affertions of facts advanced fometimes on his own bare authority, and arraigns public characters in the fharpest stile. At the fame time he is afraid of being known. Fauchet, in his difpatch, No. 10, fays, that Mr. Taylor, a fenator, wrote in fpring, 1794, three pamphlets against the finan-This was more than the public formerly ciering fystem. knew. When facts are afferted without evidence, the world have a right to the author's name, that they may be qualified to judge what credit is due to his perfonal testimony. Mr. Findley and Mr. Brackenridge have printed hiftories of the western infurrection. Their characters are known. Hence a reader is able to estimate the credit due to their books. By the way, Mr. Findley has every where condemned the conduct of the rioters. He has been again chofen to a feat in Congress. The newspapers fay that he had every vote in his diffrict, excepting five or fix. This unanimity ftrongly proves what his history had afferted, that the great body of the weftward people highly difap-proved of the diffurbances. Referring to what has already been faid as to emigrants, it may be observed, that Mr.

Findley is a native of Ireland, that Mr. Brackenridge is from Scotland, and that Judge Addifon, who, at that crifis, gave a much admired charge to a grand jury in the weftern counties, is likewife a Scotfman.

The want of knowing an author's name is almost always a defect. Hence, in England names are often fabricated. " I do not like a book without a name," faid the late Andrew Miller of London, to an author who had fold him a manufcript. " Give me ten guineas additional," anfwered the writer; " I will' revife the piece, and prefix my " name." "That wont do neither," rejoined the book-feller. The confultation ended with coining a name. Guthrie's Geographical Grammar was not written by William Guthrie. When he was dying, Mr. Knox, a Scots bookfeller in London, undertook it, and obtained leave Thefe from Mr. Guthrie to call it his potthumous work. anecdotes thew the supposed necessity in England for a name. When an American pamphleteer keeps himfelf in the dark, he is like other people in a fimilar fituation. He must be apt to do and fay things which will hardly bear the ight. It fometimes however happens, that a writer, without giving his name in the title-page, has made it effectually known. He does not come under the exception above stated.

Another blemish in many American pamphlets is the violence of their stile. By this they lose fome of their credit. In Britain, parties hate each other, and expose the faults of each other, as frankly as in the United States. But in proportion to the quantity of writing, there is not the fame profusion of vulgarity. The late Judge Hopkinfon of Philadelphia, attempted to rectify this failing. As a master of ridicule, he may stand on the fame shelf with Swift and Voltaire. His endeavours did not fucceed, if we may judge from what follows: "That lump of walking "tallow flreaked with lamp-black, that calls itself Samuel "F. Bradford, has the impudence to fay that my wardrobe "confisted of my old regimentals."\* This is the stile of the most popular writer now in America.

A third objection to fome of the pamphlets above-mentioned is, that they make an imperfect allufion to many

\* Political Cenfor for Sept. 1796, p. 69.

circumflances not generally known, and their ambiguous hints perplex inflead of informing.

A pamphlet is generally foon loft or forgotten. America has not any periodical publication of much confequence, excepting newspapers. These often give facts in fo detached and inaccurate a way, that it is difficult to digeft them. In Britain, a compiler has at hand twenty fets of monthly magazines. Some of them give an account of every new book. Debates in parliament are constantly published, and always at least one Annual Register. Hence. to write a tolerable hiftory of England, for the last forty years, is an eafy undertaking. In the United States, every thing is otherwife. The Columbian Magazine of Philadelphia, and the American Mufeum, were both given up for want of proper fupport. A great part of the debates of the Convention in 1-87, and of Congress fince that time, have never appeared in print. No fingle book gives a regular and copious detail of those events which produced and accompanied the forming of the prefent conflicution. The skeleton account of Dr. Morse is just better than nothing.

For a few years paft, materials may be found with lefs difficulty; but in a country where fo much is read and printed, there might be expected fome decent hiftory of the laft fourteen years. Mr. Alexander Hamilton could well execute this tafk, if he chofe to curb his temper, and to forbear dubbing as *confpirators* people not worfe than himfelf. A ftranger on landing from Europe, is affailed with accufations of the way in which the public debt has been arranged, and of frauds faid to be committed on the late continental army. He enquires for evidence, and can meet with few particulars, but what are floating in converfation. To wade through a mafs of newfpapers is impofible. No book of much importance, recording a chain of facts, has appeared on any fide.

The hiftory of Congrefs at New York would form an entertaining narrative. Mr. Adams behaved there in a fingular way. He had but lately been ambaffador at London. The fyftem of ftars and blue ribbons run frefh in his head. He ufed to come in great ftate, every day, to Congrefs with a coach and footmen. When he walked, it was with his hat under his arm, and a fword by his fide. The Prefident himfelf had fignified that he was to accept no falary, but his houshold expences. Before his arrival, a houfe had been prepared for his reception at the public charge. Splendid furniture had been purchafed, and fumptuous entertainments were provided under the idea that they were to be deducted from the falary to be affigned by law. General Washington despised this foolery. He refused to wash his hands in a filver bason. To his atten- . dants he fignified that he was a plain man, and loved fimplicity. He faw no ufe for fuch parade. When he was to be installed as Prefident, much confultation was held about what title he fould bear, whether the illustrious, the most serene, or some such name. General Washington would accept none of them. He avoided, with marked diligence, all those airs of oftentation assumed by Mr. Adams. While Congress fat at New York he was feized with an illness. and Mr. Adams is faid to have betrayed fymptoms of fatisfaction at his approaching chance for the Prefidency. Perhaps he never did fo; but undoubtedly a coolnefs exifts in that quarter. Mr. Adams has been Vice-Prefident for feven years, and General Washington has never treated him as an executive officer. He has not confulted Mr. Adams, nor participated the official bufinefs with him in any form whatever. He has held him exactly as prefident of the Senate, and thirty-five thousand dollars are too much for the duty required by that office.

N.B.

When Congress first met at New York, they lived in a high flile of expence and diffipation. This proved inconvenient to individuals, and unfuitable to the humble fituation of public affairs at that æra. The former behaviour of British officers at New York washeld out as a pattern. Mrs. Wallington, Mrs. Knox, Mrs. Hamilton and other women held female levees. One reafon given by fome friends of Mr. effection for preferring him as Prefident is, that he has ' o f'n. He is yet young enough to have ten fons; but he has a prefent no wife; 10 that, for fometime at least, the country would want the burlefque of a female levee. The log flators at New York fet out like children with a new rattle. They did not know how to make noife enough. By degrees they began to cool. Their wives, Mrs. Wainington excepted, became contented to fee their acquaintances in the old way. Mr. Adams refumed his ante-diplomatic habit of walking on foot. Many people in New York, who had befpoke carriages, countermanded their commiffions. The strange appearance which Congress at first bore has been fully deferibed in conversation by one of its members. From that fource fome of these particulars have been taken. The Prefident hinsfelf had a principal share in checking the career of folly. For this he deferves great praise; and it becomes the more neceffary to beftow it, because his character has effentially fuffered by absurd encomiums. The faviour and father of his country, the man to whom we owe every thing, are expressions common in company. This is the language of ignorance bordering on ideotifm. If the merit of the Revolution could be divided into ten thousand equal portions, it is rash to fay that fifty of them would fall to the share of any single perfon.

Something was owing to John Adams for his activity when ambafiador in Holland, and much to Benjamin Franklin as ambaffador in France. Thomas Paine, of whom more shall be faid hereafter, seems to have as large credit in the revolution, as perhaps any other man. Congress itself was the centrical instrument. Much was owing to General Green, the Buonaparte of the Southern States. General Gates, and the gallant militia of Connecticut, come in for the capture of Burgoyne, that opening wedge of American independence. The retreat of Clinton from Philadelphia, and the furrender of Cornwallis at Yorktown, were the immediate confequence of a Frenchfleet, a French army, and a French remittance. But for the French fleet Clinton would have relieved Cornwallis. But for the French army, the latter would unaided have been about a match for his American beliegers. But for a French remittance, those American affailants could not have transported their baggage and artillery to Yorktown. In its fabordinate parts the revolution was the atchievement of perhaps an hundred and fifty thousand individuals, in America, belides the armies and fleets of her allies in every quarter of the world. But for the intervention of France, Spain and Holland, the British could have maintained the war forten years longer than it actually lasted at lefs nominal expence than it actually cost them. They never could have fubdued the interior country, but they. would have kept the fea coalt in a flate of alarm and defolation. After fuch a state of facts, nobody pretending to argument will fay, what is daily and hourly faid,

that America is indebted for every thing to one man. The affertion is injurious to every other man who bore a fhare in the revolution, and to the memory of eighty thousand Americans who are computed to have fallen in the course of it. A general without foldiers does not gain a campaign. Divested of his army, Turenne was but a centinel

We have infenfibly dropt into this fubject. The reader has already been informed of the courfe that will be purfued in the remainder of this work, that a few chapters will be devoted to mifcellaneous anecdotes and remarks, and that it will clofe with the fkctch already begun, of proceedings in Congrefs during the laft feffion.

In the last chapter, fome obfervations were made on Fauchet's difpatch No. 10. That enquiry is now to be completed.

On the fixteenth paragraph in that piece is founded the clamour against Mr. Edmund Randolph. It has been quoted above an hundred, or probably a thousand times, within the last twelvemonths. Another citation must be tirefome. The subject is here revived from an apprehension that it has never been held up in a just light, and that it is possible to place Mr. Randolph beyond fuspicion.

" Of all the governors, whofe duty it was to appear at "" the head of the requifitions, the governor of Pennfyl-" vania alone enjoyed the name of republican : his opinion " of the fecretary of the treafury and of his fystems was " known to be unfavourable. The fecretary of this flate " poffeffed great influence in the popular fociety of Phila-" delphia, which in its turn influenced those of other states; " of courfe he merited attention." [This is Mr. Alexander Dallas, author of the Features of Jay's treaty, and of a collection of reports, of which Lord Mansfeld is faid to have spoken with applause. It has been wifely regretted that this native of the WestIndies should have been fuffered to hold the office of fecretary of state. He merited attention. From whom? From the perfons over whom he poffessed great influence. He commanded attention must have been Fauchet's meaning, if he had any, which is very doubtful.] "It appears, therefore, that these men, with " others unknown to me, all having, without doubt, Ran-" dolph at their head, were balancing to decide on their " party." [On what party? Or what, in the name of common fense can we suppose that they wanted to be at? In Pennfylvania, the arraignment of Governor Mifflin, and the Secretary, is a fable too much despifed to require an answer. At the election in October, 1796, General Mifflin was re-chosen without opposition. If this party ever had existed, the governor could gain nothing by joining them. He was already at the top of preferment, at least as to this state. A confpiracy for overturning a constitution comes from the outs, and not from the ins. The fame remark occurs in favour of Mr. Randolph. He was Secretary of State. If the Speaker of the Houfe of Reprefentatives was not his equal or fuperior in rank of office, Mr. Randolph held the third place under the federal conftitution. It is infinuated by Fauchet that Mr. Dallas poffeffed great influence in the Democratic Society of Philadelphia. The members are not to be led by Mr. Dallas, or any individual. The Prefident, in his fpeech to Congress, on the 19th of November, 1794, was supposed to make an unfavourable allufion to democratic focieties. A warm debate enfued in the Houfe of Reprefentatives about framing an anfwer to this part of the speech. An implication of censure on the focieties was finally rejected. In this difcuffion, Colonel Parker stated that he had the honour to be a member of one fociety, and that those members of it with whom he was acquainted were among the most respectable in the community. Several of them had thewn a diffinguished alacrity in turning out on the western expedition. Mr. Chriftie faid that nine-tenths of the democratic fociety of Baltimore took up their muskets on this occasion, and marched into the field. In the Philadelphian fociety, great numbers did the fame. Mr. Scott indeed stated, that in Washington county some of the leaders of these focieties had been leaders of the riots; but people at the diftance of three hundred miles, and who are arming themfelves to difperfe rioters, cannot furely be held accountable for what they do.

Mr. Ames made an ingenious fpeech againft the focieties. He complained of the democratic club of Vermont. One reafon for their eftablifhment was "the unmerited abufe "with which the public papers have fo often teemed againft "the minifter of our only ally." Mr. Ames faid that this was long after Genet's whole correspondence had been published, and after France had unequivocally difapproved of his conduct. Genet cannot be defended on any ground but one. It is now underflood that he acted agreeably to his inflructions. There is a wide difference between accurate reprobation and low fcurrility. The latter was employed against Genet; and whether he had been previously recalled or not, the public were indebted to the Vermont fociety for attempting to flop the torrent. When difmified he could no longer do mitchief, and, in fuch a cafe, to continue railing at him was an ufelefs, and not a very reputable way of fpending time. Mr. Ames mentioned feveral other inflances of mitconduct in the clubs. If he had been accuftomed to live in England, he would have confidered every inflance that he fpoke of, as a mere phantom.

Mr. W. Smith read a refolution of the democratic fociety of Philadelphia, as a proof of their dangerous principles. They objected to the appointment of John Jay, as envoy to Britain. They pointed out various reasons for their doing fo. One of thefe was his having been taken from his office, as Chief Juffice of the United States. Thoufands of the best informed people in America have, on this last ground, condemned that appointment. Congrefs, by attempting to cenfure what they durft not attempt to punifh, would have demeaned themfelves exceedingly. The third article of the amendments to the conflication prohibits Congrefs from " abridging the freedom of fpeech, or of the " prefs." But if people may not give an opinion on a public appointment like that of Jay, this article is erafed. It is indeed, like one-half of the conflictution, erafed by article 1ft, fection 8th, claufe 17th, of that inftrument itfelf. But that extinction cannot take place, till Congress shall remove to the Federal City. If the reprefentatives had paffed this vote of cenfure, it would have been precifely faying to their conftituents, "We would be glad to break the con-" flitution and punish you, but we dare not."

Voltaire, in his life of Charles XII. relates that a Turkifa Sultan came, one evening, in difguife, into a coffee-room in Conftantinople. He heard a feaman exclaiming againft the Turkifh naval officers, and boafting how much better he could have done. This was still bolder than the refolutions of the democratic fociety, read by Mr. W. Smith; for the members did not allege that *they* were fitter than John Jay for being envoys to Britain. Next morning, the Sultan gave a commiflion to this man, and by degrees he

became Grand Vizir. Thus, as to freedom of fpeech, a fultan, discovered more liberality of fentiment than onehalf of the reprefentatives. The cafting vote of the fpeaker, Mr. Muhlenberg, faved the Houfe from passing this refolution. The doctrine to which it pointed is repugnant to any flate of existence above that of a miner in Siberia. Even Pitt and his fedition bills have not approached to fuch Egyptian darkness of despotifm. In spite of his immense ftanding army, his profecutions, the British parliament, the aristocracy, and the church at his back, every fecond number of the Courier or the Morning Chronicle arraigns Pitt, his faction, his principles, and his meafures, in the most hostile and exasperating accents of disdain and detestation. A paper like that of the Philadelphian fociety against John Jay would, at this moment, be paffed without fear by any ale-houfe club in London. But indeed it is believed that no-judge in England has, for an hundred years paft, been taken from the bench to become 'an ambaffador. The example was highly alarming. The refolutions of the fociety confift with reafon and truth.

The grave authors of the New Annual Register for 1795. term the British cabinet a mock ministry. For some years past, the stile of that work has been uniform. The administration are constantly held up as difgracing the places which they fill. The publishers were long ago fent to jail, becaufe one of their shopmen had inadvertently fold a copy of Paine's Rights of Man. But England contains men who are neither to be bribed nor bullied into filence. Mr. Miles, a friend to the minister, has lately published the correspon-dence of M. LeBrun. He says, that Pitt is now "defamed, " execrated, and blafted." The power of government is greater than it has been fince the Dutch revolution; yet, in defiance of its fangs, people continue to think and to print. After contemplating this scene, let us ask ourfelves one question. What would be the condition of American citizens, if the Philadelphian fociety could be punished by Congress for fuch a paper ? English liberty, in its last stage of degradation, would be ten times superior to theirs. Yet one half of the last House of Representatives pointed at this doctrine. They faid, indeed, that they had not power to punish. But in answer to this, Mr. Giles justly remarked, that, if Congress undertook to cenfure, they would undertake to legiflate. The Senate, in their anfwer to the President's speech, pronounced a severe reprobation. An apology for these focieties has been taken up in this place unespectedly. The quantity of invective daily vented against them, demanded an explanation. We now proceed with Fauchet. ] " Two or three days before the procla-" mation was published, and of course before the cabinet " had refolved on its meafures, Mr. Randolph came to fee " me with an air of great eagerness, and made to me the "overtures of which I have given you an account in my " No. 6. Thus with fome thousands of dollars the repub-" lic could have decided on civil war or on peace! Thus the " confciences of the pretended patriots of America have " already their prices ! It is very true that the certainty " of these conclusions painful to be drawn, will forever " exift in our archives! What will be the old age of this "government if it is thus early decrepid !" Thus far the Hamiltonians believe every thing that Fauchet fays. But in the very next fentence he begins to be a most atrocious violator of truth.] "Such, citizen, is the evident " confequence of the fystem of finances conceived by Mr. Ha-" milton. He has made of a whole nation, a flock-jobbing, " fpeculating, felfish people. Riches alone here fix confi-" deration; and as no one likes to be defpifed, they are " univerfally fought after. Neverthelefs this depravity " has not yet embraced the mais of the people; the effects " of this pernicious fystem have as yet but flightly touched " them."

The latter part of this paffage contains a notable inconfistency. " A whole nation" have become debased. A fentence of bitter invective comes next. "Riches alone fix " confideration," &c. In the enfuing period, " this depra-" vity has not yet embraced the mais of the people." - All this corruption Fauchet afcribes to the agency of Alexander Hamilton. If the first part of the paragraph is true, and deferving of credit, becaufe it comes from Fauchet, the fecond part is equally fo, and taking them both as authentic. the friends of Mr. Hamilton cannot rejoice in the difcovery. The diffiatch muft stand or fall together. Where facts, real or pre ended, make their appearance, we must either believe the whole, or reject the whole, unless fome foreign tefti nonv comes in to the confirmation of a particular avermen. Regarding Mr. Randolph, nothing has transpired unless through the medium of Fauchet.' The difpatch is

full of abfurdity and untruth; and to felect a tale, in itielf utterly improbable, as the fingle object of belief, becrays a voracious appetite for calumny, or an extreme unacquaintance with the common rules of evidence.

Dates are the finews of his flory ; and a brief comparison of the dates which occur as to the difclosure of this dispatch by Mr. Wolcott, will demonstrate that a fair discussion never was defigned. If impartial investigation had been an object, Mr. Wolcott would have acquainted Mr. Randolph with the affair fo early that he could have confronted both Mr. Hammond and Fauchet. This was avoided ; but a short narrative of facts will be requisite for the fake of explanation.

The dispatch No. 10. is dated the 31st of October, 1794. It was addreffed by Fauchet to the minister for foreign affairs at Paris. It was put on board the Jean Bart, a French corvette bound directly to France. The veffel was taken by an English frigate, and the dispatch was transmitted to the Court of London. Grenville knew that Randolph opposed the British interest, and in this paper perceived the probable means of his difinifion. The difpatch was transmitted to Mr. Hammond, then British Ambassador at Philadelphia, and directions were undoubtedly given to make the best use of it. This minister intimated its contents to Wolcott. In a letter to Randolph, dated October 8th. 1795, Wolcott fays, " that Mr. Hammond did not " intimate, or request, that its contents might be commu-" nicated to the Prefident: it was my fuggestion, that the "letter ought to be delivered to me for that purpofe."\* That the Prefident and the public might fee it, could be the only motive with Grenville in fending it over; and, as it has brought out fome curious information, America is indebted to him. Wolcott got the letter from Hammond on the 28th. of July, 1795. The President was then at Mount Vernon. When he returned to Philadelphia, on the 11th of August, the dispatch was laid before him. On the 12th, the British treaty was discussed in the President's house by himself and the three fecretaries, Randolph, Wolcott, and Pickering. On every day, Sunday excepted, Randolph had at least one private interview with the Prefident. Not a word transpired of Fauchet, or his dif-

\* Randolph, p. 23.

patch. On the 14th of August, the President visited Randolph at his own house, and as he never pays a visit to any body, unlefs perhaps to a fecretary, this was a diffinguifhed mark of confidence. On that day Randolph figned the ratification of the British treaty. On the 15th, the Prefident invited Randolph in the most cordial way, to dine with a felect party of friends, and placed him at the foot of the table. On the 18th the fame air of hospitality was affumed.\* The difclofure was referved for the 19th. In the mean time Hammond, the bearer of the difpatch, had, on the 15th of August, fet out from this city for New York, and failed from thence for England on the 17th in the morning. The letter was not exhibited to Mr. Randolph till half past ten in the forenoon of the 19th. All chance of being confronted with Mr. Hammond was thus debarred. Of this protracted filence Mr. Randolph juftly complains. It is common for a public officer to fend duplicates of preceding difpatches. In the letter No. 10, Fauchet refers to some particulars which he had related in No. 3, and No. 6. It was probable that along with the former a duplicate had been feized of the latter. The above extract as to bribery has a mysterious air. "Until I faw " No 6," fays Randolph, " I could not, in the fmalleft de-" gree, fatisfy myfelf, how money came to be involved." ± There was a chance that Mr. Hammond could have produced these papers; but by delaying the accusation until he had failed, this probable fource of exculpatory teftimony was cut off. It looks rather unkind, on the part of Mr. Hammond, that he should have placed a train of impeachment, and that, in the moment previous to its explofion, he chose to retire. To men of honourable feelings, his retreat at fuch a crifis must appear extremely fneaking. There is no doubt that he and Wolcott acted in concert to ruin Randolph, and that the difcovery was purpofely fupprefied till Hammond should get out of the way. Fauchet was the only other witness to whom Mr. Randolph could appeal in defence of his character. " My chief refource," fays he, " was in an explanation from the writer himfelf. " But where was the writer, when the letter was thought,

\* Randolph p. 50. || Ibid. p. 55 & 56. ‡ Ibid. p. 86 " ripe for my crimination? Probably on the high feas, or " in France, or, at any rate, three hundred miles distant. " [At Rhode Itland.] Mr. Fauchet had long quitted Phi-"ladelphia; and the frigate which was to convey him to "France, waited for nothing but favourable weather, for " paffing the British ship Africa." When Wolcott received from Hammond the intercepted letter, he must have known that Fauchet had either failed or was on the point of failing for Europe. It was also plain that the shortest and only fatisfactory way in which Mr. Randolph could, if innocent, vindicate himfelf, was, by following Fauchet, and forcing him to give an explanation. But while every moment was ineftimable to the vindication of Mr. Randolph, while Fauchet was hourly expected to fail, Mr. Wolcott kept the whole accufation fnug in his pocket, from the 28th of July, to the 11th of August, in the evening, when the President arrived in Philadelphia from Mount Vernon. Nay, when the Prefident came to Philadelphia, and more franknels and equity might have been expected, the fame fystem of concealment was continued. Had the dispatch been laid before Randolph, on the 12th, or even on the 14th of August, he could have got up to Fauchet sooner by five days than he did. He could have interrogated this envoy in prefence of proper witneffes; and if innocent, he could have squeezed out of Fauchet an acknowledgement that he really was fo. Wolcott and Pickering did whatever lay in their power to prevent an interview between Fauchet and Randolph; they laboured to exclude Randolph from the benefit of confronting his accufers. They deferred the difcovery till Hammond had failed. Fauchet, the only other witnefs or accufer, was at Rhode Island, or rather, as they had reafon to believe, he had failed. Here we may reflect for a moment on what were the certain confequences if Fauchet had really gone to fea before Randolph had overtaken him. If Randolph had wrote to the envoy in France, it is to be doubted if he ever had received an anfwer. A voyage in perfon muft likewife have been a forlorn hope. Before either of these methods for exculpation could be brought to bear, the character of Randolph must have been ruined. There was indeed the greatest likelihood that, if Fauchet had once fet

\* Randolph p. 56.

fail, no light ever could be cast upon the business; and hence by a dexterity of manœuvre, the American fecretary of state was to be scandalized beyond redemption, and without the fmallest chance of an opportunity for affording a vindication. The most artful schemes are sometimes overturned by mere chance. Fauchet had been for fometime at Newport, in Rhode Island, prepared to fail for France, on board of the Medufa frigate. The Africa, a British ship of fixty-four guns, lay at the mouth of the harbour, and had for a confiderable time, prevented the Medufa from failing. The difclosure of the dispatch to Randolph was made on the 19th of August, 1795, and next day Randolph heard that ten days before, the "Medufa had not failed." He fhould have got himfelf ready in half an hour, to fet out for Rhode Island, and to fave his character from de-Aruction. Inertness or infatuation has diffinguished almost every part of his behaviour in this bulinefs. He lingered in Philadelphia till the afternoon of the 21st. He fays that a difappointment in some necessary papers, and other unavoidable causes, hindered him from reaching Newport till Monday, the 31st of August. If the Medusa had failed before his arrival at that place, the flowness of his movements must have fatisfied all mankind that Randolph was afraid of getting up to Fauchet. He at last reached Newport, and, as he fays, called on Fauchet between eleven and twelve in the morning. He complained of the difpatch, and demanded an explanation. Fauchet was now in a fcrape. After the accufations that he had transmitted to France, his giving Randolph a certificate of exculpation was violating the dignity of his office, and might have led him to the scaffold. Again, if he refused the request, there was a chance of perfonal violence to himfelf.

The fame nervelefs conduct adopted in the previous fleps accompanied Mr. Randolph to the laft. He fhould not have once parted with Fauchet till he had forced him to appear before a magiftrate; and emit an acknowledgment of his precife meaning. Inftead of this plain way, Randolph permitted himfelf to be put off till next morning at eight o'clock, when Fauchet promifed to have a certificate or explanation ready. For granting this delay the fecretary apologizes by faying that the Medufa was

§ Randolph p. 9.

blocked up in the harbour, and durft not fail. Here it may be remarked, that if Fauchet had been confcious to himfelf of writing only truth, he never would have entertained an idea of apologizing, becaufe, in whatever form this could be done, his own reputation for veracity was fure to fuffer. To the complaints of Randolph he might have answered in terms like thefe: "You and I know that the accufation " is true, and as not one fous ever paffed from my hand to " yours in the form of a bribe \*, I am out of your power. " I fear nothing from your menaces, or your refentment. "I have no fecrets in your cuflody, nor terms effential " to be kept with you. In communicating your corrupt " offers to the French government, I only did my duty to " the republic. At the fame time I acknowledge that I am " extremely concerned even on your account, for this " aukward difcovery. I know that you are the friend of "France, and that you have been out-numbered in the "American cabinet by a British junto. Yet I cannot at-" tempt to retrieve your credit by a denial of what " I have written. My republic would not forgive this " violation of her dignity."

If Fauchet had been really innocent, this was the anfwer which he would certainly have made. On the contrary, his behaviour, and his certificate, alike demonstrate his internal condemnation. He was to be ready with his palinode at eight o'clock on the Tuefday morning. This was 2 space of twenty hours. If he spoke only truth, he might have difpatched the matter in five minutes. But he was confcious of guilt, and if he had gone off without giving an explanation, the matter would have been painted to his fucceffor, Citizen Adet, in the strongest colours, and its effects might have followed Fauchet to France. No envoy, indeed no individual, who feels himfelf to have acted fairly, will ever acknowledge the contrary, unless perhaps when a dagger is held to his breaft. No compulsion was used to Fauchet. On Tuefday morning, September 1st, Randolph watied on him for the paper. Still it was not ready. Fauchet promifed to deliver it by twelve o'clock of that day. In the mean time, the Medufa weighed anchor, and and prepared for going off to fea. Fauchet was hastily

\* This appears from No. 10, and is underftood to be admitted on all fides. fent for on board, where he continued writing till half paft one o'clock. It is clear that this certificate muft, in that time, have undergone feveral editions, and that the inventive faculties of its author were upon the rack. Randolph, hearing that Fauchet had fet fail, fent a boat after him, which returned without having been able to reach the frigate. Fauchet, fafe at fea, would undoubtedly have been very willing to caft his certificate into the fire. But he was aware of the complaints and remonstrances which Randolph would make to his fucceffor. It could only be from this apprehension, and from the natural ascendancy of innocence over guilt, that he fent the paper back.

This view of the fubject will help to explain the motives by which Fanchet was induced to write a recantation fo difgraceful to himfelf. The certificate was not transmitted directly to Randolph, but to Citizen Adet, who afterwards furnished him with a copy of the original, and an English translation. This precaution was to prevent the government of France from thinking that he had made concessions to Randolph with which they were to be unacquainted. At the fame time, he fent back by the pilot, who took the frigate out of Newport, a letter to Randolph informing him of his having fent the paper to Citizen Adet. Thus Randolph returned to Philadelphia before he ever faw it. We shall bestow a few lines on this performance.

Citizen Adet has employed an unlucky translator. Fauchet, when fpeaking of the interception of his difpatches, is made to fay that they " are commented upon without " doubt, and mutilated according to the pathons of those " who use means to noble and generous." \* The reverse of these epithets must be the meaning of Fauchet. The certificate abounds with protestations of the integrity of Mr. Randolph. "I have never infinuated," fays he, " nor " could infinuate in that letter, that I fuspected on his " [Mr. Randolph's] part even the most distant corruption." He goes on in this way as long as Mr. Randolph or his best friends could with. But it was neceffary that he should look before as well as behind him. He was obliged to fay fomething which would feem to reconcile the alleged offers of perfidy with the retraction of the certificate.

\* Randolph, p. 13.

This has been attempted, but in a very clumfy way. If complete evidence were wanted that Fauchet was not fqueamifh about affertions, it is only needful to compare the difpatch with the certificate. We shall do fo, in the next chapter.

## CHAPTER VIII.

Fauchet's Difpatch, No. 6. Its inaccuracy. Inconfiftent with No. 10. The Certificate contradicts both. Abfurdity of the whole accufation. Extract from the Philadelphia Gazette The Prefident's repugnance to the British treaty. Anecdote of Mr. Hammond. Of John Olden. Objections to the British treaty. French Impiety. Curious plan for robbing Churches. Defence of Thomas Jefferson. Phocion. His singular reasons for recommending Mr. John Adams as President. His infolence to General Washington.

THE first hint of Randolph asking money, occurs in the dispatch of Fauchet, No. 6. Before proceeding to the certificate, we shall take up the story as it originally sprouted from the imagination of the French envoy.

"Scarce was the commotion known, when the Secretary "of State came to my houfe. All his countenance was "grief. He requefted of me a private conversation. It is "all over, he faid to me. A civil war is about to ravage "our unhappy country. Four men by their talents, their "influence, and their energy may fave it. But debtors of "English merchants, they will be deprived of their liberty, "if they take the fmalleft step. Could you lend them in-"ftantaneously funds, fufficient to shelter them from Eng-"lish perfecution? This inquiry associated me much." \*

The idea of *four men* who were to fave the country from a civil war, is ridiculous. Fauchet fays that they were debtors of English merchants, and would be deprived of their liberty, if they took *the finalleft flep*. All this is fabulous. There is not, in this extract of No. 6, any word about the corruption or decrepitude of government, of patriots offering their confciences to fale, or of Governor Mifflin, his Secretary, and Mr. Randolph, wanting to pro-

> \* Randolph, p. 11. B b

mote the infurrection. Of the latter Fauchet only fays, that " all his countenance was grief." At writing of No. 6, Fauchet knew as much of these fecret manœuvres, as he did when he framed No. 10. He does not, in the latter, affect to have received new information. He should, at the first, have told his employers all that he knew. His filence, during Nos. 7, 8, and 9, is fairly implied by his reference in No. 10 fo far back as to No 6. If this confpiracy had come into his invention at drawing up No. 6, he would have told it at that time, especially as he was fo very impatient to get rid of it in No. 10. His filence as to any thing criminal, till fo late as No. 10, is a ftrong proof that he had not then thought of it. Any perfon who, throwing afide the rant of party, will examine this circumstance, by the fober and candid rules of evidence, must fee in that alone a strong prefumption against the whole story. In No. 6, the propofal is foolish, but innocent. In No. 10, the tale changes its nature. It becomes infinitely more foolish, and is highly criminal. Thus the two difpatches contradict each other. Were each of them in itfelf probable and confistent, yet the reciprocal collition of contradictory affertions would reciprocally dafh their credit to pieces. Suppofe A affirming to day that B is in a fit of the gout. It is perhaps believed. To-morrow A affures us that B is walking on the flackrope. We must be prepared to digest the veracity of both statements, before we can reconcile No. 6 to No. 10.

The certificate comes next, and completely demolifhes No. 10. The recantation as to any criminal or corrupt defign in Mr. Randolph is as ample as can be defired. About Governor Mifflin, or Mr. Dallas, of their balancing between two parties, or of patriots who wanted a purchafer, the envoy does not fay a fingle word. He knew that the calumny was too detestable to be forgiven, and too abfurd to admit of defence or apology. On this account, he entirely finks that part of No. 10. He fairly pockets the lie, by not daring to advance a fyllable in explanation or excufe for it. This glaring omiffion was fure of holding him up to his own government in a most dishonourable point of view. He must have forseen this effect ; and, as the certificate was difpatched from a diffance at fea, he had every advantage of framing a flory without rifk of being confronted for a long time to come. Yet fo far from prefuming to take the benefit of his escape, to vindicate and fupport his accufations againft Meffrs. Randolph, Mifflin, and Dallas, he fent back a paper ftuffed with compliments, and recantation. Mr. Randolph could not demand a more decifive triumph, unlefs he had forced the poor man to advertife himfelf as a liar in the newfpapers. "Calling to "mind," fays he, " all the circumitances to which the "queftions of Mr. Randolph call my attention, 'I have an "intimate conviction that I was miftaken in the propofi-"tions, which I fuppofed to have been made to me."\*

But it was requifite for Fauchet, as he valued his neck, to keep up, not indeed the appearance of confiftency, for that he found impossible, but fomething like the shadow of an appearance of it. Accordingly, in this certificate, while bedaubing Mr. Randolph with encomiums, he revives the ftory first broached in No. 6, about the four men. He tugs most pitiably to make up a narrative of Mr. Randolph wanting him to obtain information from certain flour merchants for the use of the American Cabinet. At the time of the western infurrection, France was in great want of provisions. Fauchet, being a stranger in this country, applied to Mr. Randolph to recommend him to fome proper perfons, with whom he could contract for the purchase of flour. His certificate introduces Randolph speaking to him in the following terms : " He replied upon this, that having " formed many connections by the means of flour contracts, " three or four perfons among the different contractors " might, by talents, energy, and fome influence, procure " the neceffary information, and fave America from a civil " war, by proving that England interfered in the troubles " of the West." + In No. 6, Mr. Randolph is made to affert that four men may fave the country. In No. 10, it is broadly infinuated who three of them were. In the certificate Randolph is made to enquire if three or four fuch men were to be had? This idea that Randolph knew nothing of himfelf, about where to find thefe flour contractors, is again fully expressed in these words : " At the mo-" ment he was mounting his horfe, he observed to me, that " the men, whom I might be able to employ, might be debtors " of English merchants : that in this cafe they might per-" haps be exposed, on the flighteft movements which they " fhould make in this important affair, to fee themfelves har-

\* Randolph, p. 16.

+ Ibid.

" raffed by procefs and arrefted by the purfuits of their cre-" ditors." This paflage flands in contradiction to his *poftive* affirmation that they were debtors to Euglith merchants. The certificate clofes with a volunteer fib, that could anfwer no end but that of exposing the inconfistency of Fauchet's memory. "The morals of my government, feverely for-" bid the ufe of money in any circumflances which could " not be publicly avowed." + Look at the report of St. Juft.

To acquit Randolph of the imputations advanced against him by Fauchet, it is needlefs to go beyond the writings of that envoy himfelf. The following arguments may be given as a fummary. First, there is no proof real or pretended against the American Secretary, but what is drawn from the difpatches of Fauchet. Second, thefe pieces, even when taken fingly, are unworthy of credit. We have No. 10 entire, and all parties will agree that it contains a very great number of fictions. The Hamiltonians are in particular interested in this remark, for they are attacked in almost every fentence. Third, admitting that No. 10 were confistent with itfelf, yet it differs totally from the certificate, and that again is at variance with No. 6. Hence, each of the two latter pieces demolifhes the other, and the certificate blows up No. 10. Fourth, while the pretended evidence is utterly contradictory within itfelf, the charge involves the groffest abfurdities. To make it credible would require the ftrongeft evidence, and it is fupported by nothing deferving that name. You could not kick a dog upon fuch testimony. Without taking the least notice of Randolph's Vindication, or of the rubbish that he and his adverfaries have fo industriously heaped about it, the papers themfelves deftroy their own credit.

Before quitting Fauchet, a few remarks may be made on the nineteenth paragraph of this No. 10. Some notice of it has been recently taken  $\ddagger$ , but as it involves a very ferious charge, it shall be more fully explained.

While the Prefident was with the Weftern army, the Philadelphia Gazette chanced to mention that he would perhaps retain the command of it, to quell the infurrection. A reply to this remark appeared in the Aurora, which denied

\* Randolph, p. 16.

† Ibid. p. 17.

‡ British Honour and Humanity, p. 58.

the right of the Prefident to do fo. Fauchet has vamped up this into a defign of the Secretary of State for "infrin-"ging the confliction in its most effential part, in that "which fixes the relation of the prefident with the legifla-"ture. But the patriotic papers laid hold of this artful "attempt. I am certain that the office of the Secretary of "State maintained the controverfy in favour of the opinion "which it was defired to establish. A comparison between "the Prefident and the English monarch was introduced, "who, far removed from Westminster, yet strictly fulfils his "duty of fanctioning." And again, "the fimilitude was "treated with contempt." A heap of additional verbage is raked together.

Mr. Randolph is here charged with wanting to violate the conflitution. He did not write a fingle word of the controverfial paragraphs. The author happening to be in his office, on the day when the attack appeared in the Aurora, afked whether he thought it worth a reply? Mr. Randolph anfwered, that he faw no occasion for it. The reply was written afterwards, and it was printed in the Philadelphia Gazette without the Secretary of State, or any other perfon except the editor himfelf, being confulted about, or feeing a fingle word of it. As the piece is but thort, it is here inferted to fhew what Fauchet called infringing the most effential part of the conflitution.

"There are fo many real defects in the beft administration of any government, that it is very unlucky when honeft people difturb themfelves by conjuring up the phantom of imaginary evil; when they expatiate on mifconduct and misfortune which never have existed, and which, in all probability, never will.

"We flated, fome days ago, that the Prefident of the "United States ' may find it expedient to act as commander "in chief of the militia, raifed to quell the weftern infur-"rection.' A doubt has been flarted, whether he is quali-"fied to do fo by the conflictution? It has been hinted that "Congrefs cannot legally tranfact bufinefs, without his "prefence. The fecond fection of the fecond article of the "conflictution, begins in thefe words:

" The Prefident shall be commander in chief of the " army and navy of the United States, and of the militia of " the feveral flates, when called into the actual fervice of " the United States.' It is beyond the power of human " language to express more clearly the right of the Presi-" dent to affume, at this moment, the command of the wef-" tern army. No part of the claufe fays, that he shall " refign this office when Congress affembles. On the con-" trary, there is an explicit provision, that in cafe of his " ' inability to discharge the powers and duties of the faid " office, the fame thall devolve on the Vice-Prefident.' But " a diftance of three hundred miles, implies no difability. " The Secretary of State may transmit the communications " between Congress and the President, with first legality, " and without inconvenience. In the fame way, the con-" fent of a king of England is requifite to acts of parlia-" ment, and in the fame way, the obstacle of his absence " has been furmounted.

"We do not pretend to infinuate any knowledge, whe ther the Prefident will, or will not, continue in the weftern counties, during the feflion of Congrefs."

A rejoinder appeared in the Aurora, and there the matter was fulfered to reft\*. This is the mighty affair which occupies fo large a part of that difpatch. The republic had better have employed fome of the newfprinters in Philadelphia to fend a monthly packet to Paris. Not one of them could have executed the office fo poorly as Fauchet actually did. It may be expected that Randolph fhould be quoted in his own defence, and, though that feems hardly needful, a few lines fhall be given.

Of the certificate he fpeaks in thefe terms. "Although "it cannot fail to be fatisfactory to the people of the United "States, it has been lefs explicit than it would have been, "had it been in my power to have examined him (Fauchet) "upon its feveral parts." + Undoubtedly. The very

\* Nothing more has been found on examining the file of the Philadelphia Gazette. The pamphlet laft quoted fays, that there was a fecond piece in that paper. This, on recurring to it, appears to be a miftake.

† Randolph, p. 77.

reafon why the paper was concealed from Mr. Randolph from the 11th to the 19th of August, 1795, could only be to give every chance for Fauchet and Hammond to get out of the way; and then the certificate could not have been had. Justice must exempt the president from a share in this plot. He had no perfonal intimacy with Hammond. He could have no object but what was honourable.

It feems that Mr. Randolph was tired of his office. In his letter to the prefident he fays, "You were acquainted "with my determination to refign at the beginning of the "enfuing year.—Not a fingle hour was ever brightened "by the pleafures of the post; and I should have shaken off "its irkfome weight at the end of last year, had I obeyed "my interest or inclination, instead of my attachment "to you."\* Such a general readiness to refign feems to shew that the falaries of the three chief Secretaries are, in the prefent cheapness of money, by far too fmall, as that of the Prefident himself is perhaps too large.

Speaking of No. 6, Randolph fays, "That the narra-"tive is mutilated appears from the very face of the paper, "which Mr. Adet affirms to contain the whole of what re-"lates to the overture, as it is called. Naked as the repre-"fentation is, it is incomprehenfible in itfelf. What four "men upon earth could have been contemplated? Why "was British perfecution to be apprehended?" +

The Vindication published by Mr. Randolph contains a variety of curious particulars, It was not till after a very great ftruggle that the Prefident figned the British treaty. " Scarcely a day passed, on which he faw me, that he, did " not enumerate many objections to it; objections going " not only to the commercial part, but alfo to the Canada " article, which though feemingly reciprocal in words, " would, as he thought, want reciprocity in practice, to the " omiflion of the compensation for the negroes and property " plundered, and to fome other parts of lefs confequence." The following instance affords a fample of Mr. Hammond. The Prefident had refolved to ratify the treaty ; but news in the mean time arrived that American vefiels freighted with provisions for France were feized by British cruizers. He refused his ratification till that grievance should be put to an end. " Mr. Hammond afked me, if it would not be

\* Randolph, p. 60. † Ibid. p. 88. ‡ Ibid. p. 28/

" fufficient to remove the order out of the way; and after " the ratification to renew it? I replied, perhaps with fome-" warmth, that this would be a more shift, as the principle " was the important thing." \* This expedient was quite in the dirty pettifogging file of Pitt's whole ministry. Thus the Prefident, under the mafk of a ratification, was to have betrayed American fhipping to British pickaroons. After fo treacherous and infulting a propofal, Hammond was of courfe to be greatly fcandalized at Randolph foliciting a bribe from Fauchet. There can be no rational question. that if " fome thousands of dollars" could have bought Randolph, Hammond would not have flood in hefitation. Birds of a feather flock together, fays the proverb. The confidence of the British envoy centered in the congenial bosom of Mr. Wolcott. The President excepted, Randolph appears to bave been the only real friend whom the United States had in the executive counfels. It appears that Wolcott and Colonel Pickering were animated with the most implacable rancour against Randolph. By infidious artifices, they prevailed upon the President to pre-judge his cafe, and to difmifs him from an office which he had refolved to give up. They urged the ratification of the British treaty. with as much zeal as if their fortunes depended on that event. Wolcott, at least, was on the most intimate terms with Hammond, and, where a point is to be gained, British ministers are in the habit of buying every thing.

The French are equal mafters of corruption, but the difpatches of Fauchet afcertain that Randolph was not bought. Fauchet, by his own account, had no money to give him. The difpatch, No. 10, having fo divertingly blundered into public view, fhould have convinced all mankind that under Fauchet, French bribery had not extended to the United States. By the moft fingular perverfion of teftimony ever heard of, the very difpatch that demonftrates a negative, has been held up as proving an affirmative. An American Secretary of State folicited a French envoy to bribe him. The envoy had neither money nor difpofition to buy his influence. Erge, he was bought, and along with him that majority in the Houfe of Reprefentatives of Congrefs who difapproved of the Britifh treaty. When a party can be fo flupid as to believe, or fo hardy as to affert fuch enormous

\* Randolph, p. 31.

contradictions, it is needlefs to argue with them. They are in a flate of mind beyond the power of logic.

Many most reputable citizens of Philadelphia, men who are strongly disposed to the British interest, begin to be convinced that British influence is driving this country into that abyss of perdition a French war. At the late election of electors for a President, a number of staunch tories in this city voted for the Jefferson ticket. John Olden was one of them. A friend asked why he came to leave John Adams? The answer was, that before the day of election, he and a fet of his acquaintances held a meeting. They turned the subject round; and, after a careful examination, they agreed in this opinion, that, from the way in which the Adamite ministry were going on, the election of Jefferson was the only chance which the country had to keep out of a rupture with France. On this account they quitted the tory standard.

The time chofen for making the British treaty was highly critical. It proves that a war with the French' Republic must have come within the calculations of those by whom the bargain was formed. America was in close alliance with France, when that country plunged into a contest with England, marked by features of unufual animofity. The object in dispute was not a fugar island, a fishing bank, or the boundary of a frozen defart. Each party professedly aimed at overturning the national government of its rival. Under such circumstances, the United States, by stepping forward to embrace England, betrayed a fordid and provoking indifference about France, which could not fail to cut up the cordiality between the two countries. Without going into the law of nations, or the rights of neutral powers, a short comparison will bring this matter home.

I have a neighbour who wants to fhoot me. You offer to fell him a pair of piftols. You fay that you have a right of doing fo. I fhall not deny your title, but all good tellowfhip between us must be at an end. You offer at the fame time to fell me piftols to defend myself. This only farther convinces me that you are a felfish rafcal. It is but lately that this enemy of mine broke into your house, and was putting you in irons. I entered after him, knocked him down, flung him into the ftreet; and now you tell me that I did this not on your account but my own. He has ever fince continued to infult and rob you. He is doing fo at this moment. On the contrary, I have treated you not indeed with romantic and abfurd generofity, but yet with integrity, refpect and kindnefs. When my eldeit fon was married I fent you å pair of gloves \*, and an invitation to the wedding. You fent me a polite aniwer, which wanted nothing but confiftency with your actions +. When my family were flarving, you fold me, at the higheft price which you could get, an hundred and fixteen barrels of flour. But you and I know that if Belzeebub had offered one cent per barrel more than I did, that cent would have turned the fcale of preference againft me.

Befides the point of feeling and gratitude, there was impropriety in entering into long Ripulations about commerce, till it was feen if, at the end of the war, England was to have any. Her contests with France last usually for fix, eight, or ten years, whilft every campaign opens and closes with predictions of peace. At a medium, we may still reckon on four years of war. By that time, England will be indebted five hundred millions sterling, and if the French fucceed as they hitherto have done, they will then be masters both of the East and West Indies. If relative circumflances shall be thus totally changed, Jay's treaty must vanish into smoke. The acceptance of that inftrument, while England was involved in fuch a quarrel, was like enfuring a houfe, while it was on fire, or buying an annuity on the life of a profligate heir just attempting to fhoot himfelf. These observations do not arraign the merits of the treaty itfelf, but the extreme abfurdity in chusing the time to frame it.

There must have been fome double game about this tranfaction. Fauchet, in his difpatch, No. 3, brings forward Randolph fpeaking as follows: "I affirm, that there is no "question in Jay's mission, but to demand a folemn reparation "for the fpoliations which our commerce has experienced on the "part of England."  $\ddagger$  The proposal of Mr. Hammond above stated, shews how little he thought of reparation. The piracies were only to be sufferended till the treaty could be ratified. This single idea shews what contempt he felt for the American ministry. From such a beginning, nothing but gross infolence and treachery were to be expected.

\* The French flag. + The Prefident's answer to Citizen Adet.

‡ Randolph, p. 18.

The progrefs of the connection has corresponded with its outfet.

One of the trite objections to the French revolution is the dilapidation of church property, and difrespect for the Christian religion. As to the first, it has been fo ably defended by Mr. Paine\* that nothing farther needs to be faid. The fecond has been explained in British Honour and Humanity, where many wonderful miltakes in point of fact have been amply corrected. The fcurrilous pamphlet entitled A New Yar's Gift for the Democrats, begins with this charge. That thing is highly admired by Mr. Wolcott, who was no doubt most tenderly affected by the recital of thefe atheitlical ravages. But a modern British historian has printed to fingular a plan for the robbing of churches, that it deferves infertion here, to shew that the French are not fingular in panting for facred fpoil. Sir John Dalrymple, Baronet, is a baron in the Scots Court of Exchequer. During the American war, he projected an expedition by fome private adventurers to the coaft of Spanish America. His propofed affociates were merchants in Glafgow. The plan fell through, but in 1789, he gave it to the world for the benefit of the next age. The passage referred to is as follows.

" I cannot recollect any difference of opinion amongst us, " but one. I had made up from printed books, three litts; " one was of the stations, and time of continuing on them; " another of the open towns on the coast, which might be " taken and laid under contribution without danger, and " of towns weakly defended, which might be taken in the " night-time by furprize with little danger ; the third was " a lift of the churches and convents, with the probable value " of the gold and filver place, gold and filver images, and " jewels in them: And from what is mentioned curforily " in Ulloa and other books, I thought I had reafon to be-" lieve that there is more gold, filver, and jewels, in thefe " places of devotion, than there is in the whole of the three " Eritian kingdoms. The belief is probably well founded; for " it is natural for the poffeilors of wealth to give that to " the church which they cannot otherwife difpofe of, who " can find few borrowers to pay interest for money in coun-" tries where there is little agriculture, manufactures, or

\* Rights of Man, Part I.

" trade, who are not permitted to fend the precious metals " or jewels home without the confent of government, " whofe wives and daughters cannot bear above a certain quan-" tity of gold and jewels on their dreffes without finking un-" der them, and who are themfelves the most superstitious " of all the European nations. In the richest part of the "South Seas, where the night is equally long with the " day, the attack upon the towns in the night, by furprife, " is eafy. The fecuring of the plunder of the churches, is " equally eafy, from the form of the Spanish towns in " every part of the world; for they all have a great fquare " in the centre of the town, and in that centre stands the " chief church : to that invaders marching directly to that " fquare, can both command the town, and fecure the trea-" fure in the church. But I received a private note from "Mr. Glassford, that the idea of touching things dedicated " to God made him uneafy, and he wished that part of the " project to be dropt. Perhaps I may be miltaken; but "I thought I observed, in confequence of that fcruple, a " ftruggle in the minds of fome of my Glafgow friends, be-" tween their respect for religion, which made them averse " to plunder churches, and their hatred of popish superstition, " which made them recollect that they were only popula " churches. And this last confideration feemed to me to re-" move the scruple a good deal from their minds."\*

As for popifh churches, the learned judge admires Lucretius. To him all churches are alike, fo that by this inuendo he was but attempting to play on the credulity or prejudice of his correspondents. The reference to wives and daughters is not followed up; but the historian certainly meant to firip, or at leaft feel them to the fkin. He fpeaks highly of Woodes Rogers, the English corfair. This man relates that a party of his people once landed on the coast of Peru, and went into the country. They came to a houfe where fome ladies had fled for fafety. Their drefs was thin, fuitable to the climate. The English failors groped round on the ontfide of their petticoats; and finding that they had concealed fome female trinkets, by fixing them close to their thighs, they ordered the ladies to retire into an adjacent room and undrefs. The jewels were delivered,

\*Memoirs of Great Eritain and Ireland, Vol, 2d. Appendix, No 1.

and Woodes Rogers extols the referve and delicacy of his failors for not obliging these people to strip stark naked in their prefence. The New Year's Gift blames the French for pillaging churches and women. These British anecdotes may stand as a counterposife. From Mr. Randolph, we now proceed to the defence of another late American secretary of state. The facility of Faucher's submission states and states a mixed seeling of compassion and contempt. The adversary now to be handled is of a different stamp. He keeps no medium, and equally diffains to give or accept of quarter.

About the month of November, 1796, fome letters conveying an attack on the public and private character of Thomas Jefferfon, appeared in the gazette of the United States. They were fubfcribed *Phocion*. A part of them has fince been reprinted in a pamphlet under the following title: The pretentions of Thomas Jefferfon to the Prefidency examined; and the charges again of John Adams refuted. Addreffed to the citizens of America in general; and particularly to the Electors of the Prefident. United States, October, 1796.

The piece opens with fome notice of Hampden, a writer in a Richmond newspaper, who has enumerated the qualities that point out Mr. Jefferson as a suitable Prefident. The publication of Hampden is not at hand, and the prefent question may be investigated without it. If the veracity of Phocion can be trufted, Hampden " afferts the " exclusive right of VIRGINIA to fill the office of Presi-" dent." The character of Mr. Jefferson, and the degree of public attachment that he enjoys, are matters altogether diftinct from this affirmation. If Hampden advanced fuch a doctrine, he was unworthy of the two pages bestowed on him by Phocion. But when we come to fee the mode of quotation practifed by the latter, it will appear doubtful whether Hampden ever wrote what is afcribed to him by Phocion. By the way, it is rather offenfive that obfcure writers in a newspaper should prefume to christen themfelves with celebrated and venerable names. If the author of a copy of verfes in a daily print was to fubfcribe himfelf Homer or Shakespeare, the world would laugh. But, to take a fimile from Falstaff, Catos, Phocions, and Polybiufes, are" as plenty as blackberries." Sejanus, Vatinius, or Anytas, who conducted the profecution of Socrates, could furnish many writers with a fuitable Cognomen. Befides the prefent luminary, America has another felfcreated Photion.

About one half of the pamphlet under review confifts of general affertions unfupported by evidence; for we cannot give that title to naked affirmations from an author who chufes to conceal Lis name, and who, at the fame time, advances mutilated quotations, interlarded with phrafes invented by himfelf, that twift the plain meaning of the text from which they are quoted. One half of his fixty-four pages drop, therefore, dead born under the touch of their commentator. To follow Phocion through all his windings would require a production twice as large as his own. Avoiding extraneous materials, we fhall here examine his leading arguments. If *they* tumble, the reft of the fabric follows of courfe.

" Of all beings a philosopher makes the worst politician; " if any one circumstance more than another, could dif-" qualify Mr. Jefferson for the Presidency, it would be " the charge of his being a philosopher." p. 14 In its original, this laft word fignifies a lover of wifdom; in its modern fense, it rather perhaps implies an enquirer after, or a poffeffor of knowledge. The two characters bear a close affinity, and the term in queffion generally comprehends both. Hence, the argument of Phocion stands thus: " Thomas Jefferfon is a lover of wildom, a poffeffor of, and " an enquirer after knowledge. But a President of the " United States ought to be an enemy to wildom, and a " contemner of knowledge. He fhould be a fool; and de-" fpife the advice of persons better informed than " himfelf. Mr. Jefferson is a man of sense, open to " information and conviction. On that account he is unfit " to be an American Prefident.

To prove that philofophers are "the worft politicians," Phocion refers us to Mr. Locke, framing a conttitution for Carolina, and to Condorcet a Frenchman, who perifhed in the late revolution. As for Locke, he wrote on the principles of government in a liberal and intelligent file. His opinions were, during the revolution war, highly effimated in America. They have been recently quoted with refpect by Jared Ingerfol, Attorney General of Pennfylvania. This was before the Supreme Court of the United States in May, 1795, in the trial about the Connecticut fettlers of Luzerne. Phocion will not

difpute the professional difcernment of Mr. Ingerfol. As for Carolina, Mr. Locke was no doubt limited by the proprietors in forming his constitution. Whether he was, or was not, is of no confequence in the prefent question. The word philosopher applies with propriety to an infinite diversity of characters. The last King of Prusia was a fuperlative military and political character. He was a philofopher, in the first acceptation. He left behind him thirteen unpublished octavo volumes of literary composition. He had previoufly published Memoirs of his family, and a volaminous treatife on military discipline. He produced all these works though his official fituation immerfed him in a torrent of business. He courted the reputation of being a philosopher with more affiduity than Mr. Jefferson ever did; and his posthumous works attest that he deferved this title. Yet on the principles of Phocion, this character would have been rejected as prefident, not from his arbitrary principles but from his want of capacity.

Phocion objects to Thomas Jefferson, if he is a moral philosopher. " The merits of the famous equestrian, Ricketts, " would have been at least as likely to recommend him to " a flation which may occafionally require great military" " talents." Thus the best officer in Europe, by his unfor-tunately being a moral Philosopher, and, like Jefferson, fond of retirement, would have been completely difqualified for his bufinefs. He could no longer have conducted a campaign against Doublehead, or the Cornplanter. With fifteen thousand militia at his back, he could not have difperfed the western infurgents, if they had ever affembled. But this, with their usual malice, they never did, to the infinite mortification of " the fpirited and truly patriotic "Hamilton," p. 34, who had anticipated the triumph of hanging or flooting fome hundreds of them. Mr. Wafhington himfelf is a moral philofopher, and remarkably fond of retirement. The latter is one reason that he gives for declining a third election, and by the reafoning of Phocion, these two circumstances would be fufficient for rejecting him as a prefidential candidate. Did Phocion mean to infult the prefent Prefident by fuch objections to Mr. Jefferson, or are they merely imputable to his own poverty of intellect, and abhorrence of philosophy ? The introduction of an equestrian is a polite compli-

ment to the fentiments of fo great a part of the citizens of America as compose the friends of Mr. Jefferson. It feems that they had better have looked for a candidate in ftables and riding-fchools. Yet even a proficiency in philosophy, or a fondness for retirement is confistent with skill in riding. The king of Pruffia, with all his philosophy, was the first of equestrians, and gained his battles in a great measure by the fuperior and peculiar manœuvres of his cavalry. Solon, Plato, Lycurgus, and the younger Cato were all men of the most eminent political talents. They were philofophers in the most literal fense, and fuch was the Athcnian whofe name this pamphleteer has affumed. The ancient Phocion was forty-five times clefted General of the Republic of Athens. So great was his accutenefs, that when he rofe to speak Demosthenes used to say, there comes the pruner of my periods. At the age of eighty, he was condemned to drink hemlock, and with his dying breath enjoined his fon to forgive his enemies. Such a character has no kind of connection with our American Phocious. They might have copied the candour of Charles Jenkinfon, fince Lord Hawkefbury. In a newfpaper effay, he very fuitably figned himfelf Domitian.

If the modern Phocion be right in his fyftem, neither his Athenian namefake, nor Cato, nor any of the other great men above-named could have been eligible as fucceffors to the Prefident. The office which he fills can be held only by an enemy to moral philosophy, by a Goth, in fhort, by a blockhead.

Take notice to the following contradiction. "How dif-"ferent was the conduct of the *fpirited* and truly patriotic "HAMILTON. He wifhed to retire as much as the philo-"fopher of Monticello. He had a large family, and his "little fortune was fast melting away [No doubt it was !] in "the expensive metropolis, but with a Roman's fpirit, he "declared, that as much as he wifhed for retirement, yet "he would remain at his post, as long as there was any "danger of his country being involved in war." On this ground, he fhould fill have kept his place, for the recent correspondence between Adet and Pickering looks as like war as any thing which has occurred for these four years.

The paffage above cited fpeaks pathetically of Mr. Hamilton's fortune melting away. This must have been the

1.1

cafe, although he kept very little company. We fee that the Prefident himfelf, though a regular economift, can barely fubfift on twenty-five thoufand dollars per annum. Yet he has no family excepting his wife and fervants. He is fubject to no extra-expence, but an occafional dinner, on a moderate feale, to members of Congrefs. At entering upon office, he declared his refolution to accept no more of the public money than his neat houfehold expences; and, fuch is the dearth of the times, that he finds it neceffary to draw upon the treafury for his whole falary. He can barely defray his current charges, fo that Mr. Hamiltor, with a falary of only three thoufand five hundred dollars muft have been annually finking prodigious fums.

Now comes the contradiction. Mr. Jefferson had the fame falary as Mr. Hamilton. His family was lefs and his vifitors were more numerous than those of his brother Their difbursements must have been about fecretary. equal. Mr. Jefferfon, as it was generally underflood, loft money by his office. Yet Phocion, p. 64, fays that " Mr. " Jefferfon clung for four years to the honours and EMOLU-"MENTS of office, under an administration," &c. This is part of the concluding fentence of the pamphlet. It is brought forward as the clenching nail. Mr. Hamilton, with the fame funds and expences, had been reprefented as melting away his fortune. The two affirmations contravert each other. Mr. Jefferson, agreeable to the facts already stated, must have been finking fifteen or twenty thousand dollars per annum. The Prefident, with a falary above feven times larger than his, expends every cent of it in his houfhold expences, though he lives, for a great part of the year, upon his own farm at Mount Vernon. Thus, even from the statement of Phocion himfelf, Mr. Jefferson stands acquitted from this charge of venality. We have alfo feen him freed from the imputation that becaufe he was a moral philosopher, he was unfit for a prefident. Both thefe points of this indictment are fo abfurd that one is almost ashamed of giving them an answer. Either the enemies of Mr. Jefferson labour under an alarming dearth of materials for acculation, or a furprising penury of tafte in the felecting of them.

We proceed to a third charge, that of *impiety*. As this writer has just been detected in printing a malicious

Dd

untruth, and which he must have known to be fo, it might be enquired what is the title of *his* religion? or, why he does not blush to speak upon such a subject? He quotes, p. 37, from Mr. Jefferson the following passage. It is here given in two different columns. One of them contains it as quoted by Phocion; the other as published by the author.

## PHOCION.

"Mjllions of innocent "men, women, and chil-"dren, fince the introduction "of Christianity, have been "burnt, tortured, and im-"prifoned."

#### JEFFERSON.

"Difference of opinion is "advantageous to religion. "The feveral fects perform "the office of a *Cenfor morum* "over each other. Is uni-"formity attainable? Mil-"lions of innocent men, wo-"men, and children, fince "the introduction of Chrif-"tianity, have been burnt, "tortured, fined, imprifon-"ed; yet we have not advan-"ced one flep towards unifor-"mity."

Even the mutilated quotation is invulnerable to criticifm. It flates in a few plain words a fact as well attefted as any hiftorical fact whatever. Phocion muft have been at a very great lofs for fomething to fay, when he quoted fuch a fentence as reprehenfible. By breaking off the laft femicolon, and printing the words *fince the introduction of Chriftianity* in Italicks, he meant to infinuate that this paffage aims at caffing odium on Chriffianity. He wanted perhaps to fqueeze out of it an affertion *that fuch carnage did not exift before Chriffianity, and had occurred only in confequence of it.* Phocion next quotes another extract from Mr. Jefferfon. Speaking of the flate of religion in Pennfylvania and New York, the latter fays, "religion there is well "fupported, of various kinds indeed, *but all good enough*; " all fufficient to preferve peace and order."

Phocion clofes the paragraph with these words from Mr. Jefferson, without offering any comment. He begins the next thus: "Which ought we to be the most shocked at,

### PHOCION.

follow, as printed by the two authors.

"It does me no injury, "if my neighbour is AN "ATHEIST, becaufe it does "not break my leg."

#### EFFERSON.

" Our rulers can have au-" thority over fuch natural " rights only as we have fub-" mitted to them. The rights " of confcience we never " fubmitted, we could not " fubmit. We are answerable " for them to our God. The le-" gitimate powersof govern-" ment extend to fuch acts " only as are injurious to " others. But it does me no " injury for my neighbour " to fay there are twenty "gods, or no god. It nei-" ther picks my pocket nor " breaks my leg. If it be " faid, his testimony in a " court of justice cannot be " relied on, reject it then, " and be the stigma on him. " Constraint may make him " worfe by making him a " hypocrite, but it will never " make him a truer man."

Phocion prints the words AN ATHEIST in capitals. The paffage that he gives as from Mr. Jefferfon is in reality his own; for thefe two words are not in it. The becaufe is likewife an addition, and gives to the whole fentence a clumfy and ludicrous air. Phocion afks, "which ought "we to be the most fhocked at, the levity, or the impiety of "thefe remarks?" The first fhock is in quoting, as from Mr. Jefferfon, words that he never wrote, and in printing them with capitals as his. The whole paffage as fairly quoted is unexceptionable. It vindicates, in a liberal file, the univerfal right of confeience. After quoting it, Phocion takes up the fubject in thefe words. "What? "do I receive no injury, as a member of fociety, if I " am furrounded with atheifts, with whom I can have " no focial intercourfe, on whom there are none of those " religious or facred ties, which reffrain mankind from the " perpetration of crimes, and without which ties, civil " fociety would foon degenerate into a wretched flate of " barbarifan, and be flained with scenes of turpitude, and " with every kind of atrocity? Good God ! is this the man " the patriots have call their eyes on as fucceffor to the " virtuous Walhington !" Yes, Sir ! this is the man, and the patriots feel no reafon to recant their choice. It is amufing to obferve the afe which fome people make of the Prefident. Whenever it can ferve their turn, his name is introduced with the utmost reverence; yet these very men are in the practice of abufing that very prefident, and his family. They outrage his feelings as a public officer, and a private citizen, in the most infulting and afflictive stile that can be conceived.

We have feen above, the way in which Noah Webster and fome newfyrinters who copy from him, fpeak of the fouthern states in general, and in particular of Virginia. The whole people in that state are represented as anti-fedederalists, diforganizers, bankrupts and fwindlers. In thefe elegant productions, the Frefident and his family are never once excepted, though common decency would require fuch a qualification. But getting over this omiflion, what must the Prefident think of pancgyrifts who, while they pretend to be celebrating his praife, are reviling, in language the most indefensible, the state which gave him birth, which gave him an independent fortune, that flate whofe influence placed him at the head of the American revolution, and enabled him to act that part which he has fupported in the hiftory of the new world. To fuppofe that General Waihington is not attached to the State of Virginia, to fuppofe that he does not prefer that country and its citizens, to whom he is under fuch indelible obligations; before every other fpot and every other clafs of people in the universe, to suppose that he does not feel intense deteilation for the authors and abettors of fuch atrocious wholefale calumny, would be to impeach General Wathington as divested of the ordinary feelings of a man. Yet this practice of railing at his country has, for feveral years paft, been carried on at his elbow, under the explicit patronage of Alexander Hamilton and his tenth legion. Nay, while

they are thus combating with his judgment as a man of fenfe, and his local prepoficitions as a native of Virginia, they, with the most superdous inconfistency, arrogate to thensfelves the exclusive honour of *refpecting* him. Their infolence is no doubt one caufe of his withing to recede from public life. He has reason to be tired of such a hornet's neft.

To close this chapter, we shall take notice of a faithful ally of Phocion. The Bloody Buoy is one of the most elaborate productions of "its author. He profeses to take it entirely from French books, all written by Frenchmen, and all except ONE printed at Paris. He adds that every reader has "as good an opportunity as he of coming-at " those books." He challenges any perfon to prove " the " falfity of one fingle fentence contained in the book." Introduction, p. 12. Yet, without going to French writers, we find him fumbling in this very introduction. He rails at all our newfprinters in the stile already exposed in British Honour and Humanity. The defign of the piece is to fligmatize the French as barbarians. It is as eafy and as common to print fictions at Paris as at Philadelphia. To afcertain the truth of an affertion we must have better evidence than merely that it was printed at Paris. But the writer has given full proof as to his veracity, without going fo far. Speaking of the French maffacres, he fays, " Can " these generous friends of the American revolution tell " us of any maffacres that took place in this country? Did " they ever hear of women and children being drowned " and fhot by hundreds? Seven years of civil war defolated " thefe states, but the blood of one fingle woman or child " never stained the earth." \* ~

During the British war, Mr. Guelph hired every favage tribe of Indians, whom he could get together, to take up the hatchet. They are in use to butcher old and young. They did fo all around the inland frontier of the United States. As to the first query, of "any malfacres taking "place," every campaign produced them. As for women and children being flot, Mrs, Caldwell was fo, by a British foldier, and a British officer wanted to burn her body. To fay that the blood of not a fingle woman flained the earth is the most notorious of untruths. The Indians were every

\* Bloody Eusy, fecond edition, p. 204.

where, within their reach, murdering whole families. The Old Jerfey held up, for *fix fucceeding years*, a fcene of cool and fystematic barbarity, which has no counterpart in the French revolution. An editor capable of fuch imposture may often speak truth, but we must have better testimony than his own, before his affirmations can be trusted.

This Bloody Buoy deduces the recent degeneracy of the French from their having renounced the Chriftian religion. The premifes and the conclusion are equally unfounded. The character has not degenerated. Religion is not renounced. France has long been full of infidels. Every one acquainted with French writers must know this to be true. Whatever was his fubject, almost every author of that country, for the last fifty years, took an early occasion for letting his readers understand that he despised the established religion. This might be very wrong, but fuch was the fact; and ignorance or falfehood only can deny it. Thus far no degeneracy can be afcribed to Deifm, fince the latter existed, in all its violence, long before the revolution. It does not appear from the maffacres of Carrier, and his accomplices, that the bulk of the people are more barbarous than their neighbours. All the stories in the Bloody Buoy, if authentic, are not within one twentieth part fo bad as Burke's defcriptions of the English in Bengal. The flave-trade evidence given before the Houfe of Commons is equally horrible. The clamour about French barbarities is not excited in this writer by virtuous indignation. It is the yelp of a hireling, who rejoices in the burning of meeting-houses, the ruin of dissenters, and the return of a yellow fever.

America would be in a charming plight, if every man who difbelieved religion were incapable of moral feelings. To the north of Hudfon's river, prudence makes infidels in general to be filent. They become more numerous in the middle flates. To the fouth of the Patowmac, perhaps one half of the white people have, at bottom, no religion whatever. Yet when the Boftonians had fqueezed themfelves into a British war, which by prudence might have been for fome years averted, the profane province of Virginia rejected a trimming flate of friendship and tranquility with Britain. She could eafily have preferved her external fafety; but she chofe to conquer or to perifh with her fister Maffachufetts.

Of late certain perfons in New England, and their friends in the middle states, have begun to revile Virginia. At the fame time, they are loud in protestations of gratitude to the late king of France and his confort. In England, Virginia was, before the revolution, regarded as a loyal state. and New England as difaffected. The former had been founded by partifans of the court; the latter by fugitives from epifcopal vengeance. Much was counted by the British upon the impossibility of Virginia suffering itself to be dragged after New England into revolt. It was by many believed that Bolton would stand alone. New York and Pennfylvania were full of people not likely to fecond the zeal of New England. Had Virginia betrayed, on this occafion, a coldness, the revolution must have been stifled. But Virginia took an early and decided part. Her example on either fide would have turned the fcale; and with a judgment and magnanimity that do her the highest honour, her citizens were next to unanimous. In return, that state is now a favourite object of invective in fome newspapers of New England. Menaces of feparation are held out. This is the first item in the account current of gratitude.

As to the Queen of France, the whole revenues of the United States would not have fupported her actual expences. On printing the Red Book, a deburfement was flated in her name to the amount of fix hundred thoufand pounds fterling, in favour of one Polignac. The payment was faid to be for acting as mafter of the houfehold to his own wife<sup>\*</sup>. This chafte couple were fubfervient to the perfonal conveniencies of, Antoinette in a capacity too difgraceful for a plainer explanation. Such a character could not be fuppofed to interest herfelf in the welfare of any people. To France fhe was an intolerable fcourge. Towards her memory American gratitude needs not to beat high.

As for Louis, if he had been actuated by moral feelings, he would have fludied the peace of his own country, inflead of plunging her into foreign quarrels. He began a war that loaded his people with dreadful burdens, wafted their commerce, and coft them perhaps an hundred and fifty thousand lives. This was a ftrange way of shewing his benevolence. If he had been the real author of the war with England, these circumftances must have proved

\* New Annual Register for 1791.

him to be a tyrant. Gratitude from this country would have been abfurd; fince his friendfhip could only flow from the motive of facrificing the blood and treafure of his people for the fake of humbling a foreign rival.

But Edmund Burke has, in Dodfley's Annual Register, given the matter a different afpect. He fays that the king of France was perhaps the only perfon in that country averfe to the war. Men who looked forward to a revolution were for it. The whole nation confidered this as the most precious opening ever to be expected for avenging the black catalogue of infults and injuries from England. The affiftance granted to America arole from a complexity of motives. In fome, fuch as Fayette, it was chiefly, per-haps, an inflinctive zeal for republican freedom. In others, it was the expectation of a job, or the ambition of charging at the head of a regiment. In all there must have glowed an ardent defire to humble the pride of an implacable enemy. The king had not in himfelf a force of mind capable of rushing into hostility in contradiction to the universal with of his people. He was a paifive agent, borne along on the tide of public enthuliafm. This, though a fecret in America, is a fact well known in Europe. Those who pretend the utmost gratitude to him, affect indifference or diflike to the nation at large. The creed of gratitude stands thus.

"I, a New England federalift, or a Hamiltonian, or a "friend to order, do flander and hate Virginia, becaufe fhe "was the axle-tree of the late revolution, and becaufe fhe" "might fill urge against me a debt of gratitude.

"A French army croffed the Atlantic, and faved Ame-"rica from a fecond feven years of war. They behaved "with exemplary difcipline, and even decorum. They "fole no horfes. They burnt no barns. They flaved no "cafks of cyder. They flript no infant naked; nor did "they hold a bayonet to the breaft of its mother. They "were not monfters. They were only men. For thefe "troops, I felt no more affection or attachment than for "their rannods. I now hire newfpapers to calumulate "French armies in the lump. I abhor them, becaufe they "have done for themfelves what they formerly did for "me.

" I am grateful to the late king and queen of France, to " whom I never had any difinterefted obligations. I pro-" fefs this gratitude, becaufe my alleged benefactors *cannot*, "now claim a return; and becaufe this profeffion gives me "an opportunity to blacken the whole French nation, "who in reality did fo much of my bufinefs. This is my "truly federal fystem of gratitude.

"I believe that Thomas Paine is the greateft rogue and fool in the univerfe. My deteftation is not founded on his recent ruptures with Chriftianity, and with General Wathington. I had ftrained every note in the trumpet of reprobation for fome years before these circumftances were given to the public. But as they afford a more tenable ground of attack than any one which I could formerly meet with, I now chuse to reft my abhorrence chiefly on my horror of blafphemy, and my reverence for Wathington.

"I believe this man to be a fool, becaufe he had no bufi-"nefs to inftruct Americans in the advantages of indepen-"dence. I think him a traitor, for he had already fworn "allegiance to his lawful king. I am offended to hear that "an old broken excifeman \* was able to fchool the most en-"lightened nation in the world. I am forry that Robefpierre "did not cut off his head. I am glad that he was a twelve-"month in jail, and that this confinement has induced an "immoveable abfects in his fide. The French were, at that "time, in want of American provisions. They were court-"ing American friendship. Three lines of requisition "from the greatest man that ever existed, would have ob-"tained the instant difmitsion of Thomas Paine from the "Luxembourg.

"Like many better men than myfelf, I believe that a "continental army of twelve hundred foldiers can protect a "fouth weftern frontier of twelve hundred miles. I be-"lieve that fix American frigates can do, what a Britifh "navy of fix hundred fail does not chufe to attempt. I "believe that it is proper to enter into a fixtieth treaty "with the Creeks, and to punifh an American farmer who "purfues them acrofs the boundary line in queft of his horfe, "his wife, or his children. I believe that he fhould rather "fend a difpatch to Philadelphia, and entreat the Prefi-"dent to enter into the fixty-firft negociation with thefe "affaffins. I believe that when a man has pledged himfelf "to ferve his country for nothing, he cannot fubfift upon "lefs than twenty-five thoufand dollars a-year."

\* Vid. The Political Cenfor.

Еe

# CHAPTER IX.

Defence of Thomas Jefferson continued. Anecdote of Charles II. On the universal right of Conscience. Anecdote of Dr. Swift. Shocking fanaticifm in Massachusetts. Isaac Backus. 'Judge Rush. His blundering appeal to Montesquieu in Defence of Christianity. Abuse of General Washington by Phorican. Remarks on the Defence of Mr. Adams. Trial of Mr. Paine. Portrait of a British Spy. On the state of American parties. Singular propofal by Mr. Adams for an universal hanging bout of the Tories. Vindication of Paine's Rights of Man. Farther Defence of General Washington and Thomas Jefferson. Anecdotes of John Adams. On the Algerine armament. Philip Freneau. Miserable accommy in paying the clerks in public offices. Character of Davila. Tit for Tat. Atrocious treatment of John Swanwick. The Democratiad. Francis Bailey. Pitiful attack upon him. Lancaster Journal. Its victory over the Friends of Order. Menace against Mr. W. Lyman.

N p. 36, Phocion writes thus. "Mr. Jefferfon has "been heard to fay, fince his return from France, "that the men of letters and philofophers he had met with "in that country, were generally *atheifts.*" The fact is known without his atteftation; or rather, it is known that thefe people affinmed that title. On the fame page Phocion gives a novel and furprifing piece of intelligence. "The "late impious and *blafphemous* works of Thomas Paine, re-"viling the Chriftian religion, have been much applauded "in France, and have been very industrioufly circulated "in the United States, by ALL that clafs of people, who are "friendly to Mr. Jefferfon's politics, and anxioufly defirous "of his election to the prefidency." Thus one half, or a majority of the citizens of America, are *apofiles of blafphemy*. They are industrious in circulating blafphemous writings.

Charles the Second of England had an unruly horfe, which he proposed to give away to any one of his courtiers who could tell *the greatest lie*. While the circle were in a state of competition, a countryman on some business came into the house, for Charles was quite accelfible. The man was told of the offer, and invited to furnith his quota. "May it pleafe your Majefty," faid he, "I never told a lie in my life." "Give him the horfe," faid the king, "for *that* is the greateft lie which has been "told to-day." If Phocion the third had been prefent, the countryman might have loft the prize, for the paffage laft cited contains one of the moft incredible and felf-condemned falfehoods that ever blotted paper. Has John Olden circulated the Age of Reafon? Indeed the very title-page of this pamphlet betrays the writer's internal conviction of its iniquity. Inftead of telling the name of the bockfeller or printer, or of the place where it was published, we have only, "United States, October, 1796."

Three flanding nick-names are held in conflant readinefs by the clergy, for those whom they do not like. These are Infidel, Deilt, and Atheilt. The first simply denotes an unbelief of something. The presbyterian does not believe with the quaker, nor the latter with the prefbyterian. Each of them is thus, as to his antagonist, an infidel. The term does not imply reproach. Deift fignifies a perfon believing the existence of a Supreme Being, but rejecting particular revelation. Such is Thomas Paine. To accufe him of blafphemy, that is, of denying the exiftence, or moral attributes of the deity, is an act of groß injustice. We might as well accuse a Jew or a Turk of blafphemy, becaufe they adhere to Mofes or Mahomet. In as far as the deift believes, he is right. The only fault is, that he believes too little, and the most noxious part of his incredulity is his refuting, wherever it is in his power, to pay tithes or go to church. But a Christian parfon would think it equally hard if he were compelled to hear the fermons of a Jewish rabbi, and to give him pigs, lambs, and sheaves of wheat. The Deist does not believe any thing which is false. His missfortune lies in not believing all which is true. He is like the perfon who admits that in fpring, 1796, the British fent twenty thousand land forces to the West Indies, to burn the French plantations, but who difbelieves that nine-tenths of thefe gentry have fince died of the yellow fever. Error would always become truth, if it could. No man ever perfisted in an opinion which he knew to be wrong. Such an idea implies a contradiction. Deifm, like other mistakes, is involuntary, and therefore to punish it as a crime, must be the very height

of iniquity. Mr. Jefferfon juftly obferves, that for our religious opinions we are anfwerable to our God.<sup>±</sup>

The third of these theological nicknames is Atheis, an application bestowed with great fluency. An Atheist is, like the deift, an individual whofe opinions are involuntary. They are under the guidance of his judgment, or rather of his folly. Every thing around us announces the prefence and agency of a fuperior fpecies of being. The infinite divisibility of a grain of fand, the incomprehensible cohelion of its atoms, " forever diftant, yet forever near," at once reduces a Newton and his investigations to the level of infancy. The infinite retrospective series of eternity, the conception of fomething which never had a beginning, at once burlefques the approaches of mortal comprehension. Under fuch circumstances, to deny the being of fomething fuperior in its intellectual endowments to man is an abfurdity. Of perfons enjoying the capacity and habit of reflection, it is difficult to think that any one in his own mind, ever difbelieved the existence of fome power totally fuperior to himfelf. An affectation of this fort prevailed in France, but it has been remarked by Dr Moore that, though these people talked more of infidelity than most of their neighbours, they at the fame time believed more. When French atheifts were examined on their grounds of belief, they got into a wilderness of words about the eternity of the world, the plastick powers of nature, with other phrases which, when explained, refolve themfelves into an acknowledgement of a supreme being. The correspondence between Frederick and the famous D'Alembert affords a complete instance of this kind. Both professed an equal contempt for all religions. They believed as little as poffible. In a feries of letters they mutually attempt to explain their ideas, and the above is the refult. Thus a doubt remains, whether there is fuch a character as an atheift; but even he would be a most improper object of persecution. D'Alembert, lived in a state of defiance to all religions. The French clergy refused him the common rites at his burial. But he was an honest, humane, and virtuous man, and as fuch was held in the highest effeem.

‡ Notes on Virginia, Art. RELIGION.

Yet, by Phocion's rule, he was *incapable of focial intercourfe*, &c. &c. One would take him for a fort of biped Hyana.

The most violent professors of religion are often infidels at bottom. Dr. Swift, a pretendedly rigid churchman, came under this class. His first production, the tale of a tub, has been often quoted as anti-christian. In his Argument for not abolishing christianity, he speaks thus. "Who " is there that believes or fays that he believes, or would " have it faid that he says he believes one word of the " matter." He affected to use this stile in jest, but he was in earness; for long after his death a copy of verses was published from his own hand writing, wherein he ridicules the day of Judgment. He makes Jove address the affembled human race in these lines:

> You, who in different fects were fhamm'd, And come to fee each other damn'd, (So fome folks told you, but they knew No more of Jove's defigns than you.) The world's *mad* bufine's now is o'er, And I refent your pranks no more. I to fuch blockheads fet my wit! I damn fuch fools! go, go, ye're bit!

Philip, Earl of Chefterfield had the original copy of the whole poem, of which the preceding is an extract. This piece fairly mocks religion. The phrafe of Softme folks teld you requires no commentator. Yet Dr. Swift wrote many fermons, hated differences, spoke of them upon all occasions with the utmost contempt, and inveighed against free-thinkers. After such a tremendous instance of hypocrify, it is difficult to be certain that any man is a christian. The very perfecutor himfelf may in his heart be a difference. These remarks tend strongly to prove what Mr. Jefferson fays as to the folly of perfecution.

But if a fystem of religion is to be inforced, what fect shall we prefer? Philadelphia has three Episcopalian, three Prefbyterian, three Roman Catholic, two German Lutheran, and three Quaker places of worthip. We have likewife one Baptist, one Moravian, one German Calvinist, one Universalist, one Methodist, one Jew, one Free quaker, and one African meeting house. Some others have perhaps escaped recollection. Two other fects are distinct from all these, one of which never thinks about religion; the other rejects it. In fuch a medley of opinions, tole-

ration is unavoidable. The quakers deny baptifm, the facrament, and the peculiar holinefs of the fabbath day. The Universalists, or one fort of them, deny hell. One fect denies the Unity, another denies the Trinity. In fact every fect denies fomething; and if all the negatives were collected, they would make a thorough fystem of infidelity. Yet Phocion wants to ftir up the cinders of fanaticifm. In the federal constitution, no notice whatever is taken of religion, excepting by two negatives, one in the inftrument itfelf, and the other in the adopted amendments. The first forbids any religious test, fo that by the constitution an atheift may be chosen prefident. The fecond prohibits Congress from setting up any kind of religious establishment. The whole piece betrays as much indifference about religion, as if it had been exclusively penned by Benjamin Franklin himfelf. It is well known that the doctor believed nothing. He was by far the greatest philosopher of whom America can boast. Yet all the world knew that this great man difbelieved chriftianity. If America should ever have an enthusiastic church-ridden chief magistrate, if fuch a perfon began to pester his fellow citizens about their articles of belief, or he would, like James the Second of England, be fent about his bufinefs. Mr. Adams is faid to be a Socinian. His faith is therefore of the most flender kind. Surely Phocion would not with to perfecute Mr. Adams. An eminent Socinian preacher was once asked by the author how he reconciled his doctrine to the bible? His anfwer was this. " By denying fo much, I am bringing thefe fools one " ftep nearer to common fenfe."

The remarks of Mr. Jefferfon in defence of an univerfal right of confcience do him honour. They are juftified by the voice of reafon, of an infinite majority of his fellow citizens, and by the federal confliction. To cenfure free-thinking is now transformed into a badge of party. Thus Mr. Swift, in his work on the laws of Connecticut,\* after taking it up, makes a *general* attack on the perfonal character of Thomas Paine. A book was publifhed in June laft, in the town of Bofton, by Mr. Ifaac Backus, a minister of the Baptift focicty in the State of Maffachufetts. The volume contains about three hundred pages refpecting religious perfecution. It proves that in fome parts of New England, the public mind is fteeped in the

\* Book V, Chapter 7th.

fouleft dregs of bigotry. Mr. Backus unfolds a fcene of the blackeft villainy which can be conceived. Mankind had a thoufand times better difmifs religion altogether than make it the handle of fuch atrocious robbery. Here tollows a fpecimen of the bleffed effects of religion as *eftablifhed by law*.

" But as this has reftrained our legiflature from making " any certificate law to exempt the differters from the con-" gregational denomination from taxes to the worfhip, and " they have put the whole power into the hands of the ma-" jority of voters in each town or parish, this iniquity has " no covering left among us. For ministers are fupported " by worldly men, who act without any fort of religious " qualifications, and therefore there is no religion in their " doings. And they now violate the most effential rule of " all civil governments which is, that the majority of every " civil community is the body politic, and that the minority is " not the body. Therefore Mr. ELLIS was never elec-"ted as paftor of the first parish in Rehoboth, from whom " many thousands of dollars have been taken for him; neither " was Mr. NATHAN UNDERWOOD ever elected the pafter " of the fecond parish in Harwich, by the body of the parish, " who have been all taxed to him.

" But Mr. ELLIS's great fuccefs appears to have embold-" ened Mr. UNDERWOOD, and his collector feized fix men " who were Baptifts, on the first day of December, 1795, " and carried them as far as Yarmouth, where one of them " was taken fo ill, being old and infirm before, that he faw " no way to fave his life but to pay the tax and cofts, which " he did, and the other five were carried to Barnstable pri-" fon, where they also paid the money, rather than to lie in " a cold prifon all winter. And thefe things moved many " to pay faid tax, rather than to be ftrained upon. Though as " all did not do it, their collector went with aid to the " house of one of the Baptists, when he was not at home, " Jan. 8, 1796, and feized a cow for a tax to faid minif-" ter; but his wife and daughter took hold of the cow, and " his wife promifed to pay the money, if her hufband did " not, and they let the cow go, and the went to Mr. " UNDERWOOD the next day, and paid the tax and cofts, " and took his receipt therefor."

This is the kind of work that provoked Thomas Paine to write his Age of Reafon. It is plain enough that Ellis would rather burn people alive than let them efcape contribution. This is the monfter INTOLERANCE, which the French reformers have fo completely demolifhed; and its overthrow is the very obvious reafon why the clergy of all countries and claffes are, though with many honourable exceptions, enemies to the French revolution. The citizens of Pennfylvania may thank the good fenfe of William Penn that they alfo are not fent to jail in winter for nonpayment of tithes; that they alfo are not dragged from

home, at the hazard of their lives, at the nod of a parfon; that their wives and daughters have no occasion to relieve cows from the gripe of an ecclessifical highwayman. This is the kind of government that Phocion would vindicate, and which Thomas Jefferson abhors. The flory is not yet finished. Mr. Backus goes on thus.

"Yet four days after, the woman and two daughters, one of whom was not there when the cow was taken, were feized and carried before authority, and fined feven dollars for talking to the collector and his aid, and taking hold of the cow while they had her in poffeffion, fo that they let her go. Thefe things we have had very diftinct accounts of, and if there is the leaft miftake therein, let them point it out in welcome. Another inftance in the County of Plymouth, is fimilar to thefe in one refpect, though not in others. The minister of a parifh lately incorporated, was never chosen by the majority of the inhabitants therein, nor by many who are taxed to him, one of whom was lately feized to be carried to prifon, but he paid the money, and others are threatened with the like treatment.

"Before this diftrefs was made for the falary of faid mi-"nifter, he got feveral Baptift minifters to preach in his "pulpit, and feems to be in earneft to draw them into com-"pullive meafures alfo. Yet the line of his parifh was ex-"tended eight or nine miles from this meeting, in order to "take in two valuable lots of minifterial lands, which lie "near a Baptift meeting, where a Baptift minifter is fet-"tled. Thefe are a few of the evils which have come from "the practice of confounding the church and world toge-"ther, about the government of the church, and the fup-"port of religious minifters. Whereas if the civil government "would protect all its fubjects impartially, without fupport-"ing any minifters by tax and compulsion, all true belie" vers would lead a quiet and peaceable life in all godlinefa " and honefty, and the power of other men to opprefs them " on religious accounts would be taken away."

In a late charge to the grand jury of the county of Berks, Judge Rush quoted Montesquicu to demonstrate that the Chriftian religion is necessary for the support of public "The penetrating genius of Montesquieu," morality. fays the learned judge, " taught him to entertain fenti-" ments very different from those of the Age of Reason." In another place he quotes Bacon, as an advocate for the Christian religion. But Bacon is supposed to have been a concealed Deift. Montesquieu, in his Persian Letters, makes a violent attack on the Holy Scriptures. Nay he offers an express defence of fuicide. This is the writer quoted against the Age of Reason. It is needless to enlarge on this mode of citation. The judge likewife fpeaks thus: " Christianity, we are told by our law-books, is part of the " law of the land." The conflitution is antecedent and fuperior to law-books, and declares that the law of the land has nothing to fay to Christianity. These fame law-books will probably tell Judge Rush that a king and parliament are effential for the making of laws; but he ought to remember that he is not in England, but in America.

Alluding to the French, the judge remarks that Mr. Paine " has by an attempt to overthrow all religion, indi-" rectly endeavoured to justify their blashemous endeavours " to extirpate it." The French have made no fuch endeavours. This has been proved in British Honour and Humanity. There are fome fingular characters elected in America to the office of Judge. Thus Judge Chafe has been fent for from Maryland to a feat in the Supreme Court of the United States. Upon an average through the year, at least five hundred curfes per day are pronounced against this magistrate in the state of Maryland. For one article, it is faid that he procured the passing of a most iniquitous bankrupt law, and that he was in his own perfon, the first bankrupt who took the benefit of it. Again, Judge Wilfon is another member of the Supreme Federal Court. His exploits as a land-jobber are univerfally celebrated. As their natural and merited termination, he was, in December, 1796, in the cuftody of the city marshall of Philadelphia. Dr. Redman was a judge in one of the courts of this city. About a year ago he fled the country for numerous

acts of theft. Here comes Judge Rush speaking untruth and nonfenfe, as fast as he can, and difplaying an utter want of information on every topic that he touches. His charge concludes thus : " Save us, gracious heaven, from " fuch patriots, and the extension of their baneful principles " among us !" Save us, gracious heaven, from judges, whofe names are fynonimous to fwindling, from land-jobbing and thieving judges! Save us, from Judge Rufh, who quotes Montesquieu before he reads him, and who, under the pretence of recommending religion, has grofsly flandered the greatest nation in Europe ! An extract from this profound charge, containing the passages above quoted, has been printed in feveral newspapers. What are we to think of the Lancaster judges, who wanted to cheat William Brown out of fix hundred and eighteen votes? They, no doubt, are all found Christians. Beccaria feems to have had about as much religion as Montesquien. But like him, and Bacon, and a thouland other writers, Beccaria was obliged to trim his stile to the feelings of the public. In his famous treatife, he makes a formal apology for faying nothing about a certain species of crimes and punishments. He fairly confesse that he durst not. These punishments were a branch of the fame family with the feizure of the baptift's cow.

Phocion, on p. 37, quotes the following paffage from the late farewell address of the President : " Of all the dispo-" fitions and habits, which lead to political profperity, reli-"gion and morality are indifpenfible fupports. In vain " would that man (he feems to point at Jeffer fon !) claim " the tribute of patriotifm, who should labour to fubvert " thefe great pillars of human happines, thefe firmest props " of the duties of men and citizens." The pointing at Jefferfon is a very honourable infinuation, and if just, would reflect very great credit on the judgment and candour of General Washington. The way in which his name is treated by a certain fet of people reminds one of a ftory told in the American war. Some British partifans were taken prifoners, and obliged to stand before the American foldiers, while the latter levelled their muskets over the shoulders of the British. " This," faid the letter writer, " is a good fpecimen of Yankie cunning." Thus the name and authority of General Washington are held up as a buckler, while Phocion levels his arrows of cenfure against Mr. Jefferson. The latter was four years Secretary of

State under the Prefident. He ferved him with fidelity and fuccefs. His defence of the Prefident against Genet, his extent of information, his acutenefs, his elegance, excited and merited universal admiration. He tore the bandage from the eyes of the public. He exposed the indifcretion and rafhnefs of that minister in their proper colours; and was the immediate instrument of his recall. He then refigned an office which he could not hold without finking annually twenty thousand dollars. Mr. Jefferson is not opulent, and this of itfelf afforded a fufficient motive for his retirement from an active public life, in which he had been engaged for about twenty years. That there was a political difference between Mr. Jefferfon and the Prefident, Phocion has the honour of being the first and exclusive difcoverer. That General Washington, under the mask of recommending morality and religion, should " labour to fubvert" the character of a friend who had rendered him fo many faithful fervices, is a very odd fuppofition. Phocion acts yet worfe than the Yankies aforefaid. They flot over a prifoner. He shoots through him. Mr. Jefferson was formerly objected to if he was a moral philosopher. Here he is objected to as an enemy of morals. Our Prefidential candidate must not be a moral philosopher. He must not be an enemy to morality. Phocion fhould tell what he ought to be; but he only tells that Mr. Adams is a fit character. Mr. Adams has wrote three thick volumes on the philosophy 3 thick Yolumes of government; if philosophy were a tangible substance, his guilt and incapacity would be three times greater than those of Mr. Jefferson, who has printed but one thin volume. If the Prefident, in the above paffage, pointed at Jefferson, he likewise pointed at his deceased friend Dr. Franklin. Dr. Franklin, though an excellent moral writer, was no Christian; and thus the Prefident would be degraded by this indecent fcribbler, into one of those jackalls who gnaw at the memory of that philosopher. Phocion, p. 38, is very angry at Mr. Jefferson for faying that all the religions in New York and Pennfylvania are "good enough." What fhould he have faid? that they are all bad enough. Would that alteration improve the fentence? Or indifferent enough. Would that make a better of it? There have been in the world fix thousand different tribes of Christians. Only one of the whole multitude can be right. Each of them has

five thouland nine hundred and ninety-nine chances against one of being in the wrong.

As the opinions of the Prefident are of great weight, we shall here quote a passage from an English clergyman to fliew the impropriety of fetting down as a bad man every perfon who difbelieves in the Christian religion. Dr. Conyers Middleton was librarian to the University of Cambridge and was one of the greatest men whom England ever produced. Mr. Gibbon, in his pamphlet in vindication of fome passages in his history, speaks of this writer in these words. " The works of Dr. Middleton are to be found in " every library, nor is it impossible that a diligent fearch " may yet discover some remains of his antagonists." Let us now obferve how frankly this divine fpeaks about freethinkers. " Every man who has practifed the world, and " used the conversation of men of letters, must needs have " met with many perfons of much feeming honour, virtue, " and fobriety of life, who partly profess to have fcruples, " partly an entire difbelief of all revelation."

After pointing out the folly of railing at fceptics in order to reclaim them, he adds, " Is not fuch treatment fure to " have a contrary effect? being confcious to themfelves that " your charge upon them is both *falfe* and malicious." \*

No fentiment can be farther from the fact than that men difbelieving the Christian religion are incapable of focial intercourfe. A number of people in every state in the union are of that fort, and they are not to the vulgar eye worfe or better than their neighbours. The Houfe of Reprefentatives of Congress contains a portion of this fect. The fame is the cafe in Europe. A judge in the Scots Court of Seffion, lately deceafed, ufed fometimes to tell his confidents that, for the last thirty years, there had been but one Christian on that bench. Lord Kaimes, of the fame court, is well known in the literary world. Once, upon a circuit, his Lordship being at church heard a fermon that highly pleafed him. " I believe," faid he, " that were I to refide " in this town the preacher would make me a Christian." Dr. Robertson, the historian of America, was a clergyman. He lived in intimate friendship with David Hume, who, like Montelquieu, published a very indecent and worthless

\* Dr. Middleton's Miscellaneous Works, quarto edition, vol.,2, p, 240. vindication of fuicide. Robertfon corresponded with the illustrious Edward Gibbon, another deift. Their correspondence has been lately printed. In a letter marked No. 97, the Doctor writes thus: "I am much pleafed with your "mentioning my friendship with Mr. Hume. I have always "confidered that as one of the most fortunate and homourable "circumstances of my life." There are good reasons for affirming that Robertson himself was an infidel. Examples of this kind are infinitely numerous. This shews the infignificance of attempting to stigmatize, as fomething uncommon, the alleged infidelity of Thomas Jefferson.

This pamphlet is fo choaked up with malice, abfurdity, and untruth, that to expose them all is here impossible. The tafk would fill a book as large and almost as tirefome as the Defence of Mr. Adams. On p. 23, Mr. Jefferson is accufed of having made an attack on that book. To caft water on a drowned moufe has the appearance of ill nature : but as this performance did, perhaps, find twenty or thirty readers in the United States, it became the duty of a good citizen to explode it even for the fake of these happy few. It is needlefs to fay any thing in this place about The Defence. The friends of Mr. Adams would be gladder than any body elfe at feeing the last copy of it reduced to ashes. Its recent removal from the garret of a bookfeller to his counter will be but transitory. The prodigious noife at present made about it is like the fnuff of a candle, which has the clearest glimmering just before it goes out.

But what was this attack by Mr. Jefferson? When he received from Europe a copy of the first part of Paine's *Rights of Man*, he fent it to a bookfeller in this city to be re-printed. He also fent a card which contained the following words: "I am extremely pleased to find it will be "re-printed here, and that fomething is at length to be "publicly faid against the *political herefies* which have "fprung up among us. I have no doubt our citizens will "rally a fecond time round the *flandard* of common fense."

Phocion fays, that " there was not a man in the United "States acquainted with the infinuations which had been " propagated againft Mr. Adams, who did not inflantly " apply the remark; and the fignal was fo well underflood " by the partizans of the writer, that a general attack im-" mediately commenced." P. 23. The legiflative principles of Paine and Adams are as opposite as they can be. Mr.

Jefferson, by approving the former, tacitly admitted his detestation of the latter. He was entitled to express his opinion, for the people of this country have not yet begun to wear padlocks on their lips. We should be in a precious fituation if an American Secretary of State durst not cenfure an elaborate encomium on British despotism. Instead, of this hint, Mr. Jefferfon ought to have taken the bull by the horns. He should have pointed out Rights of Man as an antidote to the political arfenic of The Defence. Are we not at liberty to pafs our opinions on every book, and on every fubject? There was no use in fighting eight years for liberty, if the must lick the spittle of a Vice President. Phocion himfelf has attacked the Notes on Virginia moft violently; yet, as this writer imagines, Mr. Jefferfon was not warranted to drop a hint against Mr. Adams. This is the height of inconfistency. Thus much in defence of Jefferfon, after admitting the fuppolitions of Phocion. But it feems that the Secretary of State denied having any defign to criticize Mr. Adams. In a publication quoted on the fame page by Phocion, Mr. Jefferfon protested that " the gentleman alluded to never once entered his mind." If Mr. Adams had come into his recollection it would have been proper to name him, and to warn the public against tuch a pit-fall.

But let us now look at the conduct of Mr. Adams himfelf, and fee whether it entitled him to any peculiar tendernefs. He published a reply to Mr. Paine, which his friends have fince affected to difown. But that point is untenable. An account of the trial of Thomas Paine at London, was re-printed at Philadelphia in 1794, by John Parker. Two passages in that pamphlet place the character and principles of John Adams in a clear point of view. They are as follows.

"I beg leave to read you a few extracts from a work "written by Mr. Adams, an American gentleman, in an-"fwer to Mr. Paine. This, in my opinion, fuccessfully "attacks the most daring affertions of the defendant. [The "Attorney General read a few extracts."] P. 13.

Mr. Adams "The Attorney General read the contents of a third never write " letter, which he had received from THE SECOND PERSON a work " in America (Mr. Adams). Having had the honour of his a Letter to " acquaintance, the Attorney General faid, I wrote to him " relative to the profecution, and in anfwer I was informed that Attorney General in his Life

and never claw the Man

" that it was the wifh of Thomas Paine to convene the "people of Great Britain, who had neither government nor " conflitution, for the purpofe of prevailing upon them to " adopt a conflitution fimilar to that of France, and to " eftablifh a government proceeding directly from the fc-" vereignty of the people." [Thomas Paine before this trial had, in his Addrefs to the Addreffers, publifhed the plan of a Britifh convention, fo that Sir John Scott was not under the neceffity of fending to America for fuch information. But his object in reading the letter was to lug in the name of the SECOND PERSON in America.] "Mr. Paine had alfo " called on the citizens of America, to rally round him, in " order to afford afliftance to Great Britain, in the comple-" tion of a revolution. Thefe facts were admitted by Mr. " Erfkine." P. 15.

Thus we find an American Vice Prefident degrading himfelf into a Britifh fpy, a common runner in the troop of informers to the English Attorney General. Like other fpies and informers he completes his character by transmitting false intelligence. Thomas Paine never called on the citizens of the United States to affist the British in a revolution. That people, when they are ripe for it, will do the business much better without foreign aid. The local fituation of America makes it impossible, or next to it, for her to interfere. Behold an American Vice President whetting the British scalping knife against the author of Common Sense !

Be ready Gods ! with all your thunderbolts.

Every man of judgment in America muft hear of fuch conduct with contempt. Every honeft man, every friend to the late revolution, muft hear of it with indignation and horror. No trait of behaviour can betray a more diftempered understanding, or a heart more purely diabolical. The transition of character is fo extravagantly monstrous that there cannot be two opinions about it. Even tories, the very men who, themfelves, would be proud of acting fuch a part, muft, as coming from an American Vice Prelident, regard it with abhorrence. If a Lord Chancellor of England were to folicit the office of executioner, he would not make a more abrupt defcent from his proper dignity than that fo happily atchieved by Mr. John Adams. Sir John Scott had long been confidered as at the bottom of the feale of moral degeneracy. This was a miftake. If nothing lefs than a British informer can ferve American citizens for their prefident, it would be better to fend at once for John Reeves, and instal him *neat as imported*.

Perhaps the future Prefident may continue his correfpondence with the English Attorney General, and support the traffic of information upon a more extensive plan. In common reason, this ought to be expected. You may know. Hercules, fays the proverb, by the print of his foot. The informer against Thomas Paine cannot hope or decently ask for the confidence of American citizens.

We have feen Adams verfus Paine. Let us turn to Paine verfus Adams.

" John Adams has faid (and John, it is known was always " a fpeller after places and offices, and never thought his " little fervices were highly enough paid), John has faid, " that as Mr. Wafhington had no child, the prefidency " fhould be made hereditary in the family of Lund Wafh-" ington. John might then have counted upon fome fine-" cure for himfelf, and a provision for his defcendants. He " did not go fo far as to fay alfo, that the vice prefidency " fhould be hereditary in the family of John Adams. He " prudently left that to ftand upon the ground, that one " good turn deferves another \*.

" John Adams is one of those men who never contem-" plated the origin of government, or comprehended any "thing of first principles. If he had, he must have feen " that the right to fet up and eftablish hereditary govern-" ment never did, and never can, exift in any generation " at any time whatever; that it is of the nature of treafon, " becaufe it is an attempt to take away the rights of all " the minors living at the time, and all fucceeding genera-" tions. It is of a degree beyond common treason. It is " a fin against nature. The equal rights of generation is " a right fixed in the nature of things. It belongs to the " fon when of age, as it belonged to the father before him. " John Adams would himfelf deny the right that any for-" mer deceafed generation could have to decree authora-" tatively a fucceffion of governors over him, or over his " children, and yet he affumes the pretended right, trea-" fonable as it is, of acting it himfelf. His ignorance is his " best excuse.

" \* Two perfons to whom John Adams faid this told me of it. " The fecretary of John Jay was prefent when it was told me." "John Jay has faid (and this John was always the fyco-"phant of every thing in power from M.Girard in America "to Grenville in England), John Jay has faid, that the Se-"nate fhould have been appointed for life. He would then "be fure of never wanting a lucrative appointment for him-"felf, nor have had any fears about impeachments. Thefe, " are the difguifed traitors, that call themfelves federalifts\*."

Phocion proceeds with his remarks on the card from Mr. Jefferfon to the bookfeller in thefe words. "The confide-"ration that a citizen of the United States had written, in "a foreign country, a book containing flrictures on the "government of that country, which were regarded by "IT as libellous and feditious; that he had dedicated this "book to the chief magistrate of the union, that the re-"publication of it, under the aufpices of the Secretary of "State, would wear the appearance of its having been "promoted, at least of its being patronifed by the govern-"ment of this country, were confiderations too light and "unimportant to occasion a moment's hefitation." p. 24. To vindicate Mr. Jefferfon may require a retrospective explanation.

When the American revolution began, it was oppofed by a numerous party. For the tories of 1775, many obvious and reafonable excufes can be offered which will not vindicate the tories of 1796. Within the laft twenty, and efpecially within the laft feven years, more real light has been diffufed on the genuine principles of political freedom than the world ever faw before.

Rights of Man is only a continuation, on a very improved fcale, of the doctrines advanced in Common Senfe. The latter was the creed of the patriots of 1776. By the friends of liberty it was univerfally read, admired and quoted. Common Senfe had a fuccefs and an importance never enjoyed by any former political pamphlet in the annals of hiftory. Many ministers of New England preached fermons which were little more than extracts from it. When the first copies arrived in the American camp at Cambridge, they were perufed with transport. An officer then in that army observed lately that a reinforcement of five thousand men would not have infpired the troops with equal confidence as this pamphlet did, in the justice of their

\* Thomas Paine to George Washington, p. 12.

Safer: Add Blank.

caufe, and the probability of their ultimate fuccefs. To reprobate Common Senfe is precifely to reprobate American independence.

In the victories of this pamphlet, the force of original genius was flrikingly exhibited; the unadorned charms of truth and reafon obtained a complete triumph. Before the plain arguments of an obfcure individual, whom his enemies childithly reproach as a difcarded excifeman, the penfioned and titled advocates of royalty funk into forgetfulnefs. The greatest orators of antiquity did not more tyrannically command the conviction of their hearers than the writer of Common Senfe: nor did Taliessin or Offian, at the head of their fellow foldiers, ever infpire more inflexible enthusiasm. Like the Draper's letters, a pamphlet of fixty pages, a pamphlet which has neither the fafcination of poetry, nor the elegance of profe, irrefiftibly feized the helm of public opinion, and tore up reliftance by the roots. The fuminons to liberty and to vengeance refounded from New Hampshire to Georgia. From the degraded appendage of a foreign monarchy, the thirteen United States role to independent existence. Thomas Paine was the Tyrtœus of that revolution.

When the peace of 1783 fecured the freedom of the United States, immense crouds of those Americans who had resisted the revolution, attempted to get back into this country. Mr. Alexander Hamilton affumed, on this emergency, the office of Receiver, and Protector General. To this he might be instigated by motives of humanity. The usage of American refugees in Nova Scotia, paffes all defcription. Many fhocking particulars yet unpublished might be given, but they are foreign to the point. Let us observe by the way what reception tories would have met with from " the fe-" cond perion in America." The Annual Register for 1781. part 1ft. p. 259, contains the copy of a letter from Mr. John Adams, dated Amsterdam, the 15th of December, 1780, to Thomas Cufhing Lieutenant Governor of Malfachufets. It was found on board of the prize brigantine Cabot, and contains the following paragraph. " It is true, I " believe, what you fuggest, that Lord North shewed a " difpolition to give up the contest, but was diverted from " it, not unlikely, by the reprefentation of the Americans " in Lendon, who, in conjunction with their coadjutors in

or any other Man

This Letter Now a Forging. No Such Litter was war written to Mr Eushing by John Adams.

"America, have been thorns to us indeed on both fides of "the water; but I think their career might have been flopt "on your fide, if the executive officers had not been too timid in "a point which I so STRENUOUSLY RECOMMENDED AT "FIRST, namely, to fine, imprifon, and hang ALL inimical "to the caufe without favour or affection. I forefaw the evil "that would arife from that quarter, and wifted to have "timely flopt it. I would have HANGED my own brother, if "he had took a part with our energy in this conteft."

In 1576, Mr. Adams declared the fame fentiments to Colonel Josiah Parker, now of the House of Representatives of Congress. The conversation took place at the War Office in Philadelphia, in presence of Major General Lee.

After fuch a fact has been laid before the public, we shall certainly hear no more of the peculiar barbarity of Robespierre. The Frenchman committed most of his murders while the axe, under which he at last fell, was hanging over his head. Mr. Adams, an ambaffador in Holland, was beyond perfonal danger. At the diftance of five years and a thousand leagues, when his paffions had enjoyed every opportunity of cooling, he continued to recommend a fystem of extirpation. The very idea of fuch a plan must make every tory inftinctively claphis hand to his windpipe. It must have ended in the massacre of one half of the people in America. The fcheme was by a thousand degrees more bloody than any thing which could enter into the imagination of Robefpierre. Many ftrong and obvious arguments may be advanced in apology for the tories of 1776. The wrongs of America, a few points excepted, were but in fpeculation. The country endured fome reftrictions on its foreign trade. The introduction of negroes and felons was an unpardonable infult. But then the provinces paid no internal taxes. They were thriving as fast as they could thrive. They had, at no expence, the protection of the British army and navy. The Bostonians refused, with propriety, to pay the duty upon tea; yet many wife and virtuous men were of opinion that it would have been better to pay these three-pences than to risk a revolution. The destruction of the tea itself was a scandalous outrage. The town of Boston ought to have indemnified the East-India Company for the robbery committed by a mob.. This, and many other circumstances, tended to difgust thinking people with the plan of a revolution. Much more might be faid in behalf of those loyalists whom John Adams was fo impatient to hang.

When a general amnefty reftored thefe people to the bosom of their country, that part of them who had not difcovered the inaccuracy of their old doctrines, beheld Thomas Paine with mortal abhorrence. They were too feeble. too detefted, to form a seperate faction; but a series of accidental circumstances has obtained their admission into the ranks of that powerful party who wish to call themselves federalis, who take every decent opportunity, and fometimes opportunities not very decent, of preferring the interest of Britain to that of France. Their strength lies in New England, as that of their opponents lies in the -Southern quarters of the Union. New York, Jerfey, Pennfylvania and Maryland are more equally divided. The old tories, fecure under the banner of their new allies, have within thefe two years begun, upon all occafions, to revile the American revolution. Pamphlets have been printed and fold in our fea-port towns, for which but eight years ago, the writer would have had his houfe pulled down. Hence it is that we hear fuch extravagant abufe of the Southern States, and the frequent propofals for a disjunction. Hence also the torrents of oblique fatire which are conftantly levelled at General Washington. though one of the boafted badges of the whole party is an extreme respect for the President and Senate.

The cenfure of Thomas Paine cited from Phocion, proves him to be one of the unreformed refugees, who have incautionfly been fuffered to enter the federal phalanx. He is one of those gentry who would equally rejoice in fending both parties to perdition. He wears the regular uniform of the Tories of 1776. The fecond perfon in America always excepted, no man in his fenses can be a friend to the American revolution, and a perfonal enemy of Thomas Paine. He may condemn the Age of Reason, and welcome. He may find other faults with its author, for every man has fome blemish, and almost every man has many. But the man who withes in the lump to revile Thomas Paine and his writings, is an enemy to the country. He wishes to cenfure American independence, and as a reward for fuch an audacious attempt, nothing but his infignificance ought to fave him from punishment. After betraying the cloven foot of British loyalty, for such a being to argue, either in the wrong, or even in the right, upon the choice of an American.Prefident, is an affront offered to the common sense of the public.

Referring to the paragraph last cited from Phocion, the first claufe fays that Rights of Man was regarded as libellous and feditious. By whom ? By the government whole deformities it exposed. In this point of view, condemnation was honour, and applaufe ignominy. On the fame principles, the fame government condemned the declaration of American independence, which was certainly more offenfive to its feelings, or rather to its paffions, than any one piece ever written by Thomas Paine. Here the Britilh Cacus comes fairly from his hiding place. The next line, according to the federal cuftom, tries to bring in the Prelident. "That he had dedicated his book to the chief " Magistrate of the union. There was no harm in doing fo. The chief magistrate never complained of Mr. Paine for giving him that diffinction. They were in habits of epiftolary correspondence. They had been intimately acquainted for at least fifteen years, and had, upon a thousand occafions, expressed the highest mutual effeem. General Washington had no reason to be offended with this work, or to difapprove of it in any respect. The supposition is an infult on his name. Mr. Paine every where speaks of him in the warmest terms; and contrasts his difinterestednefs in accepting no falary with the prodigality of the Kings of Europe.

. "That the republication of it, under the aufpices of the Se-"cretary of State, would wear the appearance of its having "been promoted, at leaft of its being patronized by the go-"vernment of this country." Mr. Jefferfon had no caufe to be afhamed of his fentiments. He does not bear about him a character of that caft. He is not like fome Janus-faced politicians, who praife American liberty in one fentence, and the medly British government in the next. Phocion well knows that if England had conquered America, the fculls of her legislators and generals would at this day have been flicking on the spikes of Temple bar. Yet he calls upon the citizens of America to detest Mr. Jefferson, for withing to expose that cannibal despotism. This is one of the very traits in the public life of Mr. Jefferson which will most ardently recommend him to the confidence of every honeft man. He does not correspond with English attorney generals; but if he did fo, he would not fend them packets of palpable and malicious untruths for the purpole of injuring a man who stands high in the first rank of the prefervers of America. He would not have hung up without diffinction all American Tories; for he knew that many of them, though misinformed and misled, were men of worth and probity; and that they acted on principles which, in their wrong conception, were pure and honourable. Surely Phocion will in this point prefer the clemency of Mr. Jefferson to the Culloden proposal of our Vice President. It must come home to his personal concerns. Upon an interesting crifis Mr. Adams might have kept him in a difagreeable fulpence.

With what face could Mr. Jefferson, or any man pretending an attachment to the American revolution, prefume to reprobate Rights of Man? That great and bleffed event is mentioned throughout with the highest praise. Its principles are held up as an example deferving to be copied by all mankind. General Washington affords a constant theme, as one of the principal actors in it. To allege then that he would be afraid of giving his opinion about it is the height of infolence. It is degrading him to the level of Phocion himfelf, to the level of a British tory skulking in the ranks of an American party, to the level of a pamphletcer who feparates his name from his publications with the folicitude of a forger, while he reads in the new fpapers a defcription of his bank notes. Another deliberate attack on the Prefident is perpetrated by railing at the French revolution. In his reply to Citizen Adet, at prefenting the flag from the Committee of Public Safety at Paris, the Prefident fays "My anxious recollections, my fympathetic feel-"ings, and my beft withes are irrefiftibly excited when foever " in any country I fee an opprefied people unfurl the ban-" ners of freedom. But above all, the events of the French " revolution have produced the deepeft folicitude, as well " as the highest admiration."

Hampden, as quoted by Phocion p. 50, fays, that Mr. Jefferfon was "an *enthufiaftic* admirer of the French re-"volution, without ever furrendering the independence "and felf-government of America even to forward that "glorious caufe." Phocion, in reply to this extract, has, on p. 57, the following remarks. "The Prefident of the "United States ought to be an enthusiastic admirer of no " caufe, but that of his own country." [This remark applies exactly to General Washington, expressing as above the higheft admiration.] " Enthusiafm, in a politician, is closely " allied to error and paffion, both of which are the bane of " good government; but enthusiasm for a foreign country " leads directly to fublervience and devotion to foreign inte-" refts." [ What worfe fubservience can there be than that of commencing fpy for an English attorney general? Mr. Adams wrote an answer to Paine's Rights of Man, and the attorney general read extracts from it in vindication of the English government. Thus Mr. Adams is not only a runner but a writer in the British fervice. This is subservience in the strongest fense of the word. ] "A chief magistrate, " enthufiaffically attached to France will therefore foon be-" come a devoted tool of France."

The word attachment, cannot, in the violent fenfe, be inferred from Hampden, who is careful to fay that Mr. Jefferfon is an admirer &c. " without ever furrendering the " independence and felf-government of America." The twift is, on this account, unfair. But, striking out that epithet, the whole paffage levels directly at the Prefident, who tells the world that his sympathetic feelings, and his best wishes had been irrefistibly excited by it. To pronounce then a perfon fo ardently admiring the French caufe as unfit for chief magifirate was going every length except roundly naming George Washington. A more unequivocal mode of reproach cannot be invented. Nobody can fancy that the President intended an universal approbation of every thing done in France for the last fix years; though all the murthers committed in that country during the above period do not come within a tenth part of what has past, in an equal fpace of time, in the British province of Bengal. It is not neceffary to fuppofe that general Washington approved the execution of Louis the XVI, or many other proceedings. Yet he professes an enthusiastic admiration. of the revolution, taken upon the whole. For this reafon Phocion declares him unfit to fill his office, as he either is, or will foon become a devoted tool of France.

"Let them (the people) read his (Mr. Adams's) Defence "of the American Conflictutions, and I shall be content to "abide by their verdict." p. 25. To read three large and very dull volumes is rather an oppressive task; befides casting away fix dollars on a book not intrinfically worth as much clean paper. But one may get through Parker's edition of Painc's Trial, in fifteen minutes. To any man whole opinion is worth afking, *that* muft be quite enough.

"To prove that Mr. Jefferson has been for many years " a determined opponent to the federal Constitution, and of the " meafures which have followed from it, under the admini-" ftration of Washington", [This is one of the groffest accufations against the President ever made. First, he had fo little regard for the Constitution, as to place and keep its determined enemy at the head of affairs; or fecond, he had fo little judgment as not to fee that Mr. Jefferfon was an enemy of his measures. The first supposition would divest him of probity; the fecond would strip him of common fense. This is exactly the way in which the federal party cut and carve on the character of a man whom they pretend to admire. If General Washington had found a Secretary of State thwarting his views in any manner difhonourable or improper, he would not have kept him any longer in his fervice. He has too much fpirit, too high a fense of the dignity of his station, to endure such treatment. We all know that when he judges it proper to do fo, he can difinifs a Secretary of State on five minutes warning. The fuppolition of his truckling under any of his ministers, is highly impertinent. It is flatly faying that he fuffered public bufiness to be mifmanaged, and the public interest betrayed with his eyes open to such acts. It is degrading him into another Louis the thirteenth, hating and fearing Cardinal Richlieu. From these remarks we return to the quotation.] " I will now proceed to fnew that he " was the inflitutor and patron of the National Gazette " published in Philadelphia, the object and tendency of "which were to nufreprefent and traduce the administra-" tion of it, except in the fingle department of which he was the " head, implicating in the most virulent cenfure the ma-" jority of both houfes of Congrefs, the heads both of the " treasury and war departments, and sparing not even the "chief magistrate himself." A chief Magistrate mean enough to put up with fuch bafe ufage would, by his pufillanimity, most richly deferve it. When a King of England changes his ministers, he is obliged to take in people who have been reviling him, and exciting or hiring newspapers to revile him, for feven years together.

Thus the prefent Duke of Richmond did nothing elfe, during the whole war of 1775. Thus Loughborough, the prefent lord Chancellor, was at the head of that abandoned faction who wanted to cominit official parricide by thrufting a fon into place over the head of his father, and to act upon the fuppofition that George the third was irrecoverably This is the fystem of legislation abhorred by Mr. mad. Jefferson, and admired by Mr. Adams. The charge implied by Phocion is, in a great measure, not merely incredible and abfurd, but morally impossible. No degree of human testimony could prove this to be true, any more than it could prove that a circle has four right angles. The accufation implies that Mr. Jefferson opposed every measure excepting those in his fingle department. In a very great number of -cafes, the whole three departments are equally embarked. For instance, in building our celebrated fix frigates, the first question was whether they ought to be built? This belonged to the Secretary of State. The next point, and one equally momentous prefented itfelf. Could money be procured to build them? The Secretary to the treasury was best able to answer this question. The entire management of the building of these frigates fell of courfe to the Secretary at war. Thus the head of every department had an equal claim and an equal right of being confulted. Such instances occurred constantly; and hence, in a multitude of meafures, the whole three departments were alike responsible. The proposition is felf-evident. There cannot be a quibble about it. But if there could be fuch a fufpicion, it has been removed by Mr. Randolph. His Vindication observes, that, on an emergency of consequence, the whole heads of departments were confulted, and the decifion went by a majority. Thus the characters of the three departments were very often inextricably linked together.

Phocion objects to Mr. Jefferfon, as being opposed to the head of the *treafury* department. About the 22d of December, 1796, John Adams fpoke to a gentleman in Philadelphia, in these words: "The JUNTO AT New YORK Anecdoles "have never wanted to make me President. They wish "to get in Pinckney, that they may make an Automaton of "him." At the head of this junto is Alexander Hamilton, and this is the way in which our Vice President sof him. Mr. Jefferson could not have behaved with much

Ηh

lefs ceremony. We shall give another anecdote of Mr. Adams. When ambafiador at London, he once gave an entertainment to a party of friends. General Washington was fpoke of in the most extravagant stile of compliment. The landlord kept filence for fome time; but at last he broke out as follows: " General Wathingtion did fervice and had " merit ; but it was often the merit of a puppet. He acted " often as he was directed. If you will look into that Re-" volution, you will find that JOHN ADAMS had as much a " fhare of it as any body elfe." A gentleman who heard our Vice Prefident employ thefe words is now in this city. So much having been faid in this chapter against Mr. Adams, it was but fair to hear what he could fay for himfelf. The word *puppet* undoubtedly refers to the leffons which General Washington received from Baron Steuben, and other foreign officers. The polition of the American army at Long Illand was most unnilitary. While a boundlefs continent was to be defended, the troops were penned up in an ifland, where they were in constant danger of being furrounded by the irrefiftible naval force of Britain. The dexterity of their retreat diminished the universal derifion that every British reader of newspapers felt for their previous temerity. At that æra, General Washington had never feen as much fervice as would have entitled him to a captain's commission in the British army. Hence he could not be blamed for the want of knowledge, that he neverhad an opportunity of acquiring. His fubfequent repulfes at Brandywine, at Germantown, and at Monmouth, thew that he has still to learn the art of gaining a victory.

In his fpeech to Congrefs, on the 7th of December, 1796, the Prefident recommends the building of a navy. "It "would feem," he fays, "as if our trade to the Mediter-"ranean, without a protecting force, will always be in-"fecure." A frigate of thirty-two guns, defined for the Dey of Algiers, is faid to be at prefent on the flocks, at Portfmouth in New Hampfhire. Two years ago, the government of this country fent him a flip freighted with ammunition. [Some grounds have been fuggefted for fufpecting that a fimilar cargo was but lately taken on board, at the port of Philadelphia.] The queftion was debated in the Houfe of Reprefentatives with the precaution of clearing the gallery. This did not hinder the particulars from being related by a member, and government may, if it

ean, deny the fact. It has already been remarked, that even England finds it cheaper to bribe the Algerines than to fight them. One reafon for this conduct was, in the above explanation, omitted, from fear of becoming tedious; but as the Prefident, fince that chapter was printed, has revived the idea of a naval armament, it shall now be given. The base of the triangle of Africa extends from the Straits of Gibraltar to the ifthmus of Suez confiderably above a thousand leagues, betides the windings of the coaft. This affords an infinite variety of harbours or landing places for the Corfairs of Barbary, They have great numbers of large boats, with which they can at any time row from the thore, when a veffel comes near it. They have even gone to an extensive distance from the coaft. Tracing a vessel in the night-time by her lights, they can board and carry her off. They can with thefe boats, run into landing places, where no thip of force is able to follow them. Being low built, they are not feen far off at fea. This gives them an advantage in furprizing veffels. So great is the dread entertained of thefe pirates, that were only one ship out of forty in the Levant trade taken by them, infurance would very much rife, and feamen would hardly be found to take up the adventure. Hence, the English navy never could fecure its commerce, while the expence of attempting compulsion would exceed the value of the Levant trade. The Dey of Algiers is very willing to reftrain the Corfairs at a reafonable price, becaufe he thus gets the whole booty into his own hands, and thares it out as he thinks fit. His perfonal interest is by this means connected with that of the mercantile nations. For these reasons, the powers of Europe have, in general, the Dey in their pay. This is the only mode of fecuring American trade in the Mediterranean which can ultimately and practically fucceed. All the frigates that the United States can fit out will, in the shape of hostility, be unequal to this object. These remarks are here made, not for the fake of contradicting General Washington, but to prevent Congress from plunging a second time, into a bottomless aby fs.

On the 15th of December 1796, Mr. Wolcott fent to the House of Representatives a flatement of public expences for the year 1797. Two thousand seven hundred dollars are charged as the pay of three captains of frigates

now on the flocks. Two of them are of forty-four guns, and one of thirty-fix. The wages and fubfistence of the crews for a year are computed at two hundred and twenty two thousand dollars. Nothing is estimated for incidents, the wafte of gunpowder, in exerciting the men, the tear and wear of rigging, and the like. The whole, even in time of peace, may fafely be rated at three hundred thousand dollars for these three frigates, besides the expence of building them. Sixty fuch veffels, if they did nothing elfe, would not be able to protect American ships in the Mediterranean from the Algerines. They would cost about fix millions of dollars per annum. By the Report above quoted, we learn that the public revenues of the United States, for one year preceding the 1st of October, 1796, were as follows.

For duties on Merchandize and Tonnage Internal Taxes of various kinds Post Office	Dollars. Ct3. 6,135,936 64 469,579 31 58,909 84
Dividends on the Capital Stock in the Bank of the United States are rated at Fees on letters patent	6,664,425 79 160,000 1,260
Total	6.825.685 70

This fum is already engaged. If a fleet could be built for nothing, it would be next to impoffible to find funds for fupporting it. Were the fixty frigates caft into twenty line of battle ships, they would still be no match at fea for the navy of either France or England, while their enormous expence would run the utmost hazard of overfetting government. To build a few frigates would be triffing. To build a navy is at prefent impoffible.

In this estimate only ninety three thousand three hundred and fifty dollars are flated for military penfions. This is a very moderate fum. The fourth clerk at the mint is ftruck out. As far more business is done now than was done formerly at that place, this omiffion proves that the fourth elerkship was nothing but a job. One of the former clerks has had his falary raifed from five to feven hundred dollars. A refiner and melter is added at fifteen hundred

dollars. The whole expences of all kinds are computed, for the year 1797, at twenty five thouland dollars, For this outlay, we have a few dollars inferior in workmanship to the abundance of Spanish dollars that we have already. We have likewife a few cents, which might have been got from Birmingham at a tenth or perhaps an hundred part of the charge which they now cost to the Union.

From this long digreflion, we return to Phocion, charging Mr. Jefferfon with fetting up a feditious new fpaper. "In "the *fupport* of this paper, thus *hofile to the government*, "in the administration of which he held fo important a "trust, he did not fcruple to *apply the money* of that very "government." Phocion p. 48.

To cut the flory fhort, Philip Freneau, entered upon a falary for the office of translator of foreign languages to Mr. Jefferfon, on the 17th of August, 1791. The payment was two hundred and fifty dollars a year. On the 31ft of October, 1791, Freneau fet up a National Gazette in this city. This is the charge' of corruption brought against Mr. Jefferfon.

The Federalist, formerly quoted, has already given to this accusation a better answer than it deferves. A few gleanings are here offered. Phocion remarks that there was another Clerk in that department, who understood the French language. He alludes to Mr. George Taylor, first clerk in that office. Mr. Taylor, befides translating French, does already more bufinefs than he is tolerably paid for. His oftenfible falary is but eight hundred dollars a year. He cannot keep up a ftyle of living fuch as he is entitled to fupport, under twelve hundred dollars. If he has not fome addition to that amount, his place is a lofing bargain. In fummer, 1795, long after Freneau had quitted Philadelphia, Mr, Randolph engaged in the fame business, Mr. John Craig Miller, a native of Scotland. The allowance was to be five hundred dollars. In a few months, Mr. Miller found the birth fo troublefome, that he gave it up. Thus much for the grand affair, of bribing Philip Freneau. But this was nothing to the wasteful plan of Mr. W. Smith, Mr. Giles & Co. for giving four thousand Dollars per annum to a taker of Congressional debates. The talk of translating French has once more been faddled upon Mr. Taylor. Almost all the clerks in public offices have only five hundred dollars each, while a journeyman printer in this city earns from nine to twelve dollars per week, and while federal Senators have fix dollars per day for doing almost nothing. For the first fix or eight weeks of a fession they meet at eleven o'clock in the forenoon, hear prayers, fit in conversation or fometimes in filence, for half an hour, or an hour tegether. Their Clerk makes fome triffing minute. The house then adjourns, not from a spirit of idleness but from positive want of fomething to do. They come down stairs, by half-dozens, fo early as twelve o'clock, and stand in the lobby looking at the Representatives. This is a defect in the Constitution. Fifteen hundred dollars per week are often cast away, besides the falary of their President.

Some notice has been taken of the oddity of Phocion in affuming that fignature. Alexander Hamilton has likewife taken it, as alfo Camillus, Davila, and perhaps many other celebrated names. The laft is one of the most unbecoming that he could have chosen: On inflammatory topics, Davila writes with perfect candour. From his hiftory we can hardly fay whether he was a Catholic or a Protestant. The maffacre of St. Bartholomew is defcribed in the calmest terms. Davila makes no appeal to the paffions or prejudices of mankind, nor fets up any political demi-god for the adoration of posterity. He has not perhaps even a fingle attempt at the fublime, the ludicrous, or the pathetic. He difplays comprehensive brevity, picturesque simplicity, a purity and dignity of composition rejecting ornament and above it. With the most happy clearness of arrangement each portion of his narrative fprings out of its predeceffor ; while, under the fway of a fuperior intellect, the reader feels his attention irrefisibly hurried along.

It would be defirable for fome pamphleteers to make themfelves acquainted with this author. Tit for Tat, a late pamphlet, abufes the whole Irifh nation. The preface fnarls, among other people, at Mr. William Young, bookfeller, as "one of your fine modern gentlemen of *yeflerday.*" He fends no money at five per cent per month; a traffic which has ended in an hundred and fifty bankruptcies in Philadelphia, between the 12th of November, and the 12th of December, 1796.\* Mr. Young was one of the four hundred

\* These particulars are given on the authority of a merchant, who had access to the best information. Twelve perfons are faid to have stopt payment in a single day.

Savila

perfons who figned an addrefs to the Prefident, thanking him for the ratification of the British treaty. He has been attacked in the newspapers for prefuming to do so, because he is not a merchant. He imports large quantities of books, and is as strictly a merchant as any man in Philadelphia.

Tit for Tat fets out with defending that "fprightly and in-"genisus writer" who exulted in the burning of Prieftley's meeting houfe, who wished for "another yellow fever to " ftrike the city," and who calls the French ambaffador a, dog. About a year ago, this sprightly writer printed a Profpoet from the Congress Gallery. He fays that he attended clofely in that place, except during five days. Whether he did or not is of no confequence, becaule the speeches in that pamphlet are extracts from the Philadelphia Gazette. In the preface he attacks " a certain Mr. Callender," who had taken down thefe fpeeches, which the writer of the Prospect was copying, mangling, and retailing as his own. This is the hero of Tit for Tat. He fent a letter to Mr. Bache, dated the 2d of June, 1795, figned a Correspondent. He therein arraigns himfelf as a blockhead, flanderer and impostor. Mr. Bache refused admittance to this production, and it was long after published by Samuel F. Bradford. It can hardly be true that the Reverend Mr. James Abercrombie is frequently lounging in the ftore of this man. He must, as a Clergyman, have a fenfe of decency, and he could find company at least as reputable as that of William Cobbett in the penitentiary inclosure.

Tit for Tat takes fome notice of another pamphlet, A Fill for Porcupine. The Pill quotes, with inverted commas, a paffage as from the Political Cenfor of May, 1796. The words are indecent, and they are not there to be found. The Pill attacks Mr. Hamilton in that file which his friends would defire. The citizens of America have no concern with the private amours of an ex-Secretary, unlets, like an Antoinette, or a prince of Wales, he were trenching on the national treafury to defray the expence of them. But the falle citation above pointed out annuls accufation from that quarter. The writer of Harrington's letters has been hinted at by Tit for Tat, as the writer of this farrago. The charge is unjuft.

Mifapplied praife is as bad as mifapplied centure. Thomas Paine, in his Rights of Man, has made all Europe ring with encomiums on General Washington, for accepting

no falary as Prefident of the Union. This compliment is an infult. The Prefident uplifts the whole of his falary. His houshold accounts are regularly, as it is faid, given in to the treafury. They ought to be printed. The public have a right to fee in what way thefe twenty-five thousand dollars are expended. If the Prefident, like all other officers of government, had contented himfelf with taking his falary, and faying no more about it, the mouth of enquiry was forever thut. But this way of uplifting it, merely as the net charges of his houshold, conveys a reproach on the generofity of the nation, as if he did not receive enough. It holds out a plaufible pretence for giving an additional income to his fucceffor. The last French Constitution has wifely prohibited the farce of an officer pretending to ferve the public for nothing. Let the Prefidential accounts be printed. The Union will then be able to decide whether the falary fhould not be reduced to feven or eight thoufand dollars. Some topics are too bad for ridicule; and obvious inferences should fometimes be left to the fagacity of the reader.

In his answer to the address of the Senate, on the 12th of December, 1796, the Prefident speaks of his difinterested zeal for the fervice of America. The word is mifplaced. His immenfe property, and his large falary, were clofely connected with the fafety and profperity of the Union. If he had accepted no falary, he might indeed have partly fpoke of difinterestedness. The receipt of two hundred thousand dollars is an interesting object to any man in America. When we hear fo much of gratuitous fervices, it calls to mind fome remains of the old Continental army, with wooden legs, and falarics of fifty dollars per annum. This clafs of people have, in every fenfe of the word, been treated but indifferently. On the 5th of January, 1797, Mr. Macon faid in Congress that hundreds of old foldiers, unacquainted with the statute of limitations, had fince it expired, petitioned the houfe; that their claims were juft, but excluded by that law.

The mass of fubstantial oppression and misery, which has refulted from this act, requires some additional remarks. While we are deafened about the fervices and virtues of Washington, of Adams, of Jefferson, and other political favourites, the exertions of superannuated bravery, and decrepid heroiss, are forgotten or contemmed. Against an honeft debt prescription is the most ungracious of all pleas. In particular, it bears the height of injustice against an annuity for a fingle life. In domestic fituations, a debtor advancing prefcription against a just debt, would be regarded as a sharper. But in the affair of the Continental army, the creditor is one of those perfons who preferved your property from confifcation, your wife and children from beggary, and your neck from a halter. And then you take advantage of a shambling plea of prescription ! This plea was fabricated and modelled by your felf. It was framed to fave your money, and to hinder you from being pestered with endless applications from vagabond mendicants who can no longer fhoulder a mufket. This is the stile in which the most enlightened nation in the world rewards its creators. Let Congress confult their confciences, and fquare them, if it is possible, with their Shylock statute of limitations.

Tit for Tat proceeds to revile the French nation, and revolution, to calumniate Mr. James Madifon, to praife Alexander Hamilton; to attack Republics antient and modern in the mafs; to magnify the Western infurrection, and to express good wishes for the British king. Mr. Madifon is an agent in the pay of France for overturning the Federal Conflictution; and getting the country into a war with Britain. His falary cannot be lefs than ten or fifteen thousand dollars per annum. Yet he is, at the end of this fellion, going to refign his feat, and of courfe the prodigious income which he at prefent enjoys from the executive directory. Tit for Tat attacks Mr. Carey for the way in which he has republished Guthrie's Geographical Grammar. The credit of the book is fixed beyond the reach of Tit for Tat. The public are indebted to Mr Carey for his anxiety to prefent them with an uleful publication. For a part of the additions he gave two dollars per printed page, a rate of payment for literary composition not usual in America. William Cobbet fays that he wrote a large, piece against Priestley for nineteen pence. Abuse on the memory of Dr. Franklin has, for fome time, been an effential ingredient in every federal pamphlet. Accordingly, Tit for Tat attacks Dr. Franklin in the dialect familiar to many American men of letters. Of General Washington he fays that "a difcontented foldiery, who idolized

" their general, would have given him a fceptre, if he "had chofen it." p. 31. NO !

Tit for Tat makes in p. 27, a long foliloquy for Mr. Carey when fuppofed to begin his edition of Guthrie. "May ten thousand devils fly away with them all," is one of the phrafes in that paffage. He farther introduces Mr. Carey faying that he fled from Europe for "modeftly ex-"citing the people to cut one anothers throats." This is the flile that must be adopted by every writer who expects to become popular with *federal* citizens. Mr. Carey wanted his countrymen to affert their civil and religious rights. He is, on that account, a just object of dread with friends to the American constitution. Tit for Tat goes on in these words

" This national bufinefs difpatched, we will now attend " to the claims of mafter SWANWICK .- It is of no im-" portance to me, whether his father was a tide waiter, " or a waggon mafter, or a methodift teacher, or all three " in one." p. 27. It feems that the correction and improvement of Guthrie was a national business. It was fo, if we confider the unacquaintance of Americans with the state of Europe. A respectable citizen of Philadelphia faid, fome time ago, that he had always wondered where the French found men to fill up their armies. He now underflood that there was in France a city called Bourdeaux, which contained as many people as Philadelphia. A well dreffed man affirmed, not long fince in the flate house yard, that Amsterdam was the metropolis of Germany. On the 14th of December, 1796, it was warmly afferted in Congress by Dr. Ames, and Mr. W. Smith, that Americans were the most enlightened people in the world. The very flarting of fuch an idea betrayed the excess of vulgar vanity. Mr. Parker, Mr. Swanwick, Mr. Chriftie and others opposed this most wretched felf-encomium. Speaking of France, Mr. Parker justly faid, " what are " we befide that great nation, that we flould call ourfelves " the most enlightened people in the world?" To a public fo pregnant with conceit, it was indeed a national bufinefs to give them a comprehensive furvey of the old countries\*.

\* Mr Carey was author of the letters figned *Harrington*. This is one probable reafon for the attack on him in Tit for Tat.

As for what is faid about the late Mr. Richard Swanwick, the currency of fuch pamphlets cannot injure his memory, but they reflect difgrace on a nation capable of admiring them. It is not thameful to be a waggon mafter, or even a waggon driver. Where is the impropriety of being a methodist preacher? That sect, or at least a part of them, inculcate the pureft and most liberal fentiments of religion. The treatment which Mr. John Swanwick has met with fets human nature in a fnocking point of view, For many years past, he has made public donations of various kinds, and in particular to places of worthip, at an expence that would have bought a very handfome farm. The clergy of Philadelphia were courted to his table. He wrote verses in praise of bishop White, and newspaper paragraphs in praise of Ashbel Greene. He was on terms of intimacy with the reverend Mr. James Abercrombie. But then he was a friend to the French revolution. On this account these gentlemen have countenanced the writings of an author who reviles the memory of his dead father.

Some years ago, there was published under the title of M'Fingal, a feries of rhimes. As America labours under a dearth of poetry, our citizens gave that name to this bundle of doggrel, which is not altogether worth four pages of Swift or Butler. The Democratiad hath fince dropt from the fame pen. Speaking of the family of Mr. Livingston, a member of Congress from New York, the writer has these lines:

- " A race fo funk, by habit fo deprav'd,
- " So long by vice and infamy enflav'd,
- " So weak, fo haughty, pompous, proud and mean,
- " Indeed fo black, fo fhameful and obfcene,
- " That nought but ftrength omnipotent can fave
- " Their name deep finking in oblivion's wave."

In the United States, book-printing is fill but in its infancy, notwithstanding the rapid steps which it has taken fince the year 1783. Half a century of diligence will be required for filling up this chasm. Volumes imported from England are expensive. Pope, Dryden, and their rivals are not, as in the British Islands, to be met with in every parlour. The connoisseur who has never seen Raphael or Reynolds, may be excused for admiring the portrait of Al-

bert Gallatin in the Political Cenfor. A fimilar apology may be made for the American public enduring M'Fingal and the Democratiad. There are reafons for thinking that within two centuries, the United States, will form the most numerous and intelligent nation in the world. But Hercules in his cradle is not a match for Hercules with his club. What buffoonery is it to compare the flate of literature in France or England with its infantine progrefs in this country? Carey's American muleum was one of the most useful publications that the new world has feen. The Columbian Magazine fhifted through various hands. Judge Hopkinfon, Alexander Dallas, and other men of talents exerted themfelves to fupport it. If each fucceffive editor could have afforded to distribute the publication gratis, it might still have existed. An effective number of the fubscribers had not as much as common ability, or common honesty, as to pay their accompts. For that reafon the Columbian Magazine expired. The American museum funk under the fame distemper. About three years ago the printer of the Philadelphia Gazette struck off, at one time, above two hundred fubfcribers for non-payment. This is a pretty account of the most enlightened nation in the world. What has America to oppose to the transactions of the Royal Society of London, or to any ten volumes published by the French Academy of Infcriptions? The first step which a country makes towards knowledge, must be a consciousness of the extent of its ignorance.

A greater quantity of indecent abufe is published by the Hamiltonians, than by the friends of the French revolution. No perfon has been hired to write the genealogical history of John Adams, of Theodore Sedgwick, of Mr.W. Smith, or of Dr. Ames. Yet waggon loads of flander come from retainers on the federal fide of the question. The glaring untruths which have been printed against Mr. Jefferson, Mr. Madison and others, would fill a book as large as Douglas's reports. One or two traits shall be given of the antipathy in some of the federal party, to liberal difcuffion.

Francis Bailey of Philadelphia, has, for fome years, been printer to the affembly of Pennfylvania. At their meeting, in December, 1796, a different choice was carried by a majority of three members. Mr. Bailey's crime was the having fpoke with refpect of Thomas Jefferfon, His fon had perpetrated a fimilar offence. The office is not worth much. A printer in this city was afked to fland candidate. He refufed.

On the 16th of December, 1796, William Hamilton, printer of the Lancaster Journal, published in his new spaper an address to the public. He states that during the Presidential canvass, he admitted without exception, the pieces of both parties. But he was a friend to Jefferson, and as being such, the friends of order resolved to hunt him down. "I had dared," fays he, "to express my opinions, "and I must be filenced." They wanted to ruin this printer, to break up his office, and turn him destitute. They circulated what Mr. Hamilton calls "a perfecution "paper." It was in these words. "Sir, From the date "hereof, you will please to discontinue our subscription to "your paper. Our respective accounts, as soon as fent in, "will be paid."

The close of this information is very doubtful. Every newfpaper in Philadelphia, New York, and Baltimore has been infefted with a multitude of fwindlers, who never pay, and who never had the fmalleft intention to pay their accounts. They are the peft of newfprinters. They juggle from one newfpaper to another, whenever their credit falls fhort, with a habitual intention of cheating every body. A flory is current as to John Holt, a newfprinter in New York. He wrote a fharp letter to a fubfcriber, threatening to flop his paper, as he had not been paid one farthing for the eighteen years from its commencement. "What an ungrateful rafcal !" exclaimed the country gentleman. "I was one of the firft fubfcribers that he had; " and now he threatens to flop my paper."

The profecution against William Hamilton was conducted, as he fays, by Charles Smith an attorney, and Robert Coleman a candidate for the electorship of a President. After these truly federal citizens had done their best and their worst, the paper was sent to the editor with twentyfeven names. About two hundred persons had been applied to. Within a few days after, Nir. Hamilton received thirty-five new subscribers. What meanness, what infamy, to attempt the destruction of a newsprinter ! It is only by hearing both fides, that an opinion can be formed. Nay, if either the Aurora, or the Gazette of the United States could be fuppreffed, the furviving antagonist would almost cease to be worth a perufal.

The friends of order, as fome people call themfelves, have broached many whimfies, which will not bear examination. About the 1ft of May, 1796, a Connecticut newfpaper contained the following words: "Our infor-"mant further adds that Colonel Lyman would hardly be "fecure in travelling into that part of the diftrict, as it "would be difficult to reftrain the people (a precious kind of "people to be fure!) from drefling him in tar and feathers." This is the Mr. William Lyman already mentioned\* It is almost time that the writer of the above quotation flould be dreffed at the pillory, or the whipping post. Colonel Lyman was against the British Treaty. There can be no use for electing Representatives, unlefs they are to deliberate, and to vote according to their judgments.

What name then are we to beflow on those beings, who with, like this Connecticut fcribbler, to raife mobs for the purpose of domineering and infulting over Congress? Such are certain banditti, who call themselves *federalifts*, and friends to order. It is often very difficult for a Representative to know what his constituents would be at. On the British Treaty Mr. Lyman made an excellent and unanfwerable speech. He does as much honour to his constituents as they can do to him.

The State of Connecticut pretends to defpife Virginia, becaufe the latter authorifes flavery. Connecticut herfelf has fome thoufands of flaves. She could fet them free with perfect regard to her internal fafety, and the expence or lofs would be triffing. Her flaves are kept in bondage, and yet, with aftonithing *firmne/s*, Pelham, Webster, and other incendiaries of that country, inveigh without difcrimination at the Southern States, for holding that kind of property. In Virginia an immediate emancipation would be nothing fhort of infanity. Those citizens of Connecticut who rail and write in the above ftile may be compared to the mifer who refuses one cent to keep you from flarving, and gravely wonders why his neighbour has not prefented you with a thoufand guineas.

\* Supra. Chapter III.

## ( 255 )

## CHAPTER X.

Camillus. His furious Stile. Defence of the Houfe of Reprefentatives. Of Mr. Adams. His violent Democracy. John Jay. Remarks on his admirable negociation. Speech of Mr. S. Smith. Curious Vindication of Jay by Mr. IV. Smith. Mr. Nicholas. His apology for the Prefident, and Senate in accepting the British treaty. Particulars as to the acceptance of it. What treatment Jay would have met with under a monarchy. Inconfishency of the federal party. On Camillus. Oddity of his Conduct. Objections to making a treaty with England, even on the most favourable terms. Impetuous Stile of some Speakers in Congress. Explanation as to the Representative of Philadelphia.

R. Alexander Hamilton has been precipitate in accu-I fation. In Camillus, No. 1. he fpeaks thus : " It was " well understood that a numerous party among us, though " difavowing the defign, becaufe the avowal would defeat " it, have been steadily endeavouring to make the United " States a party in the prefent European war, by advoca-" ting all those measures which would tend to widen the " breach between us and Great Britain, and by refifting " all those which would tend to close it." And again, " It was certain that it (the British treaty) would be-" come the inftrument of a syftematic effort against the na-" tional government and its administration; a decided engine " of party to advance its own views at the hazard of the " public peace and profperity." In No. 2. Mr. Hamilton has this pallage. " It was to be feared that the war (with " Britain) would be conducted in a fpirit which would ren-" der it more than ordinarily calamitous. There are too " many proofs, that a confiderably party among us is deeply " infected with those horrid principles of Jacobinism, which, " proceeding from one excels to another, have made France " a theatre of blood." There are numerous other hints to the fame effect. No principles can be worfe than those of Noah Webster, the friend and pitch-pipe of Camillus. Webster is the organ of " a confiderable party among us." He affirins that about fifteen members in Congress are not

entitled to their-places, and he recommends a feparation between the Eastern and Southern states. That fuch is the defign of Webster has already been proved. As for the acculation of withing to involve this country in a war with Britain, better evidence ought to be given than the bare affertion of Camillus. When Mr. Madifon's refolutions were debated in Congress, the hazard of fuch an event was often affirmed, but no fpeaker pretended that a British war was the object of Mr. Madifon. If there had been any colour for fuch a charge, it would have refounded from every quarter of the houfe. The first refolution was carried, and thus if Mr. Madifon was in the wrong, he yet erred in reputable company. We are farther told that the war would have been more than ufually calamitous, because a confiderable party are deeply infected with the borrid principles of Jacobinifin. This party could not have behaved more execrably than the British actually did during the last war. But in what place, were these barbarities to have been committed? The first confequence of a runture with England would have been an invalion of Canada. The American army would probably have been received. by the French inhabitants with open arms; and there is no. reafon for fuppoling that any peculiar barbarity would have enfued. Yet if Simon M'Girty, and fome of his comrades had met with the confummation of justice, an oppreflive fympathy would not have been excited. The Americans would not have found an opportunity of practifing by land their horrid principles. England will not disembark an army for territorial acquisition. At fea, American privateers cannot act worfe than the British actually do. What then was the meaning of this cant about a war more than ufually calamitous, and about the korrid principles of Jacobinifm? This hint applies to the majority of the Houfe of Representatives, who refifted the treaty. It chimes in harmony, with the remarks of Mr. Sedgwick, the friend of Mr. Hamilton, as to the legiflators who get their places by cajoling and deceiving an ignorant herd, It agrees with the fuggestion of Webster that fifteen Southern Reprefentatives should be turned out of their feats, and with the general yelp that Meffrs. Madifon and Gallatin, with one half of the Reprefentatives were in the pay of France. This operation is contradicted by a decifive testimony. If Fauchet scorned to buy even a

Secretary of State, who is accufed of thus offering himfelf to fale, he would not be at the trouble of purchaling any body elfe. The very difcovery, therefore, which has brought fuch a torrent of reproach on Mr. Randolph, is the cleareft vindication of Mr. Madifon and his friends. Fauchet fpeaks with deteftation of the requeft for money, but in another part of his confidential difpatches, he fays "Madifon is an honeft man."\* From Fauchet, cenfure and praife are equally defpicable. But as the fortunate interception, for fuch it certainly was, of thefe difpatches from the French ambaffador to his employers, has afforded much triumph to fome people, it was an object to point out the extreme inconfiftency of the deductions made from them. A bribe was refufed. Ergo, a bribe was granted.

We now return to Mr. Hamilton's accufation of Jacobinifm, and the efforts of his friends Mr. W. Smith, and Mr. Sedgwick, to degrade the general character of the Houfe of Reprefentatives. Horrid principles of JACOBIN-ISM! In the political lexicon of Mr. Hamilton's party, the word Jacobin is equivalent to a cut-throat. Thus it feems that a confiderable party amongft us are either cut-throats, or with to become fo. Nor is this a folitary expression. A thousand newspaper paragraphs, all in the fame ftile, might make a reader in Europe fancy that Albert Gallatin goes to Congrefs with a tomahawk and a fcalping knife at his belt.

Why fhould there be for much diflike to the Houfe of Reprefentatives? Mr. Sedgwick can give no good reafon for claffing the Senate as a race of *fuperior beings*. Truth offers no ground for fuch a diffunction. Where fhall we find better men? A great part of the Reprefentatives ferved against the mother country in the war. In this, or the last Houfe, there have been eight or ten generals. Colonels fit as thick as stars in the galaxy. The prefent Speaker, though but a young man, is an old officer. He received fixteen years ago, public thanks from General Washington, for his conduct at that affair in Jersey where the British shot a parson's wife. The Senate, also, has military members. One of its Generals is accused of perjury; a fecond gave up his feat that he might have time to conduct the profecution. The fabric of American freedom

\* Randolph's Vindication, p. 46.

Kk

is thus wifely committed to the care of men who raifed it by their bravery, and cemented it with their blood. "While this generation late there will always evil

"While this generation lasts, there will always exist " among us, men irreconcileable to our prefent national " conflicution." \* This is true. A dearth of hemp, or fome other reason, faved the necks of many who now vindicate the infolence of Britain, and revile with impunity the conflitution of America. But as Mr. Hamilton was the patron general of refugees, and prevented the revolutionary befom from fweeping fo thoroughly as it should have done, he is now too late in the defertion of his clients. Camillus, No. 2d, fays that "No one has " forgotten the fystematic pains which have been taken to " impair the well-earned popularity of the first gentleman " (Mr. Adams). Mr. Jay, too, has been repeatedly the " object of attacks with the fame view." Camillus' is another martyr. Let us look at each of this triumvirate.

Mr. Adams, in his Defence, vol. 1, p. 117, after recommending a king, and a Senate, or house of peers, goes on thus: " Erect on the other fide of them an impregnable " barrier against them in a House of Commons, fairly, fully " and adequately reprefenting the people, who shall have the " power both of negativing all their attempts at encroach-"ments in the legislature, and of withholding, both from them " and the CROWN! all fupplies by which they may be paid " for their fervices in executive offices, or even the public fer-"vices carried on to the detriment of the nation." Here is red hot democracy. On these principles, the House of Reprefentatives might not only ftop the Prefident's falary, in revenge for his having figned the British treaty, but this paffage contains a complete recommendation to the fame allembly to have ftopt the fupplies requifite for carrying that paper into effect. On this latter point, the Reprefentatives debated from the 13th of April to the 2d of May, 1796, as we shall fee in another place. Here is the whole weight of Mr. Adams in favour of the right to withhold not only appropriations but perfond falaries. People are much miftaken in thinking our Vice Prefident unfriendly to the House of Representatives. According to his fystem, that Houfe would become a gulph abforbing every thing. After fach a declaration, no mortal ought to have fufpected Mr.

red hot

\* Camillus, No. 1.

Adams of ariftoracy. By way of experiment, the Houfe may begin with firiking the Vice Prefident's five thousand dollars out of the appropriation bill, for 1797. The caffing vote of Mr. Adams rejected in the Senate that part of Madifon's refolutions agreed to by the Reprefentatives; and also the fubfequent act for prohibiting commercial intercours with the British dominions, till reparation for the maritime piracy should be granted. Sixty days of additional embargo would, as it is now afcertained, have reduced the British West Indies to abfolute famine. This measure would have incurably crippled their operations against France. Thus much for Mr. Adams. Our British Ambassador comes next.

In the debates of Congress, about asking from the prefident the documents of the British treaty, there occurs a paffage that must command more than common attention. It feems to strike at the root of this business, and to place it in a fingular point of view. The fpeech here alluded to was delivered on the 17th of March laft, by Mr. Samuel Smith. In the course of his observations, this gentleman, to enforce the neceffity of producing the papers called for, put the following cafe, that might happen if these documents were roi la d before the house. " Suppose he should affert that the envoy " had no power to effect a commercial treaty; that he was " to try what terms relating to commerce might be obtained, " but politively prohibited from figning any thing, until it " should first be received by the president. Suppose he went " further and fhould fay, that the fignature of the envoy " committed this country to a fituation fo delicate as in fome " ineafure compelled the fenate to confent, and the prefident " to ratify. What would be the confequences? Why fome " member might deny it; and the one affertion might fland " against the other."

These fuppositions are just fomething lefs than affirmations, and the gentleman gave decifive notice that he was not talking at random. "But" faid he, "are those papers fe-"cret? No. They are known to thirty fenators, their "fecretary, and his clerks, to all the officers of government, "and to those of the members of this house who chose to "read them. Then fay gentlemen where is the neceffity for "calling for them? He answered because it was more proper "and more respectful to themselves, that they might form a "document, which the members might quote in support of "their arguments, when the treaty came under discussion; " otherwife they might be called to order or their quota-" tion denied."\*

Thus in as many words, we are fairly told that every gentleman in Congrefs already knows the contents of this diplomatic budget : but that none of them can fafely quote it, becaufe the papers are not regularly laid on the table for their infpection. Is there not one man among the reprefentatives, who has courage and juffice to divulge this fecret? That there was a fediment at the bottom of the pool appeared from the anxiety betrayed to conceal it. But that the blindeft may fee, and the deafeft hear what Mr. S. Smith wanted the world to understand, his ideas are here translated into the following plain words.

"1. Mr. Jay was not warranted to make a commercial treaty. 2. Mr. Jay was prohibited from figning any paper, till it had been examined and agreed to by the prefident. 3. Mr. Jay violated his truth by making a treaty, when he had been expressly prohibited from doing fo. 4. The Prefident and Senate difapproved of this proceeding, but were in fome measure compelled to father the fpurious brat of John Jay, left a worfe thing fhould befall them."

If this is not a faithful and complete verfion of the extract above cited, the reader can correct it, by recurring to the original.

That Jay actually broke his inftructions, we have another witnefs, whofe reluctant admiffion puts the matter beyond all doubt. This is Mr. W. Smith, a zealous advocate for the treaty. His fpeech, as written out by himfelf for the newfpapers, unqueftionably guards as much as poffible what he faid on fotender a topic. But still the point maintained is extremely difcernible. It is clear from what follows, that the breach of truft, though it could not be the fubject of a formal difcuffion in the Houfe, had produced many harangues in the lobby, and at the back of the Speaker's chair. Mr. W. Smith is plainly referring to thefe fpeeches " not loud but "deep"‡ when he proceeds thus: " Is the object in calling "for this information to difcover whether the negociator has " conformed to his inftructions?" [If Jay's difubedience had not

\* Bache's Debates, Part I, p. 218.

<sup>†</sup> A fpecimen, that fets our Envoy in a queer light, was obtained from a Southern member, and published in British Honour and Humanity, p. 41.

‡ Shakespeare.

been firongly objected at the fire-fides, and windows of the State houfe, this file of defence never could have been thought of.] "If fo Mr. Smith was at a lofs to difcover "how that would affect the queffion. Such a circumstance "might be important as it related to the Prefident, and "might prevent his laying a treaty not conformable to his "influctions, before the Senate; but being ratified by the "Prefident and Senate, all was done which the constitution "required.—The instructions are private directions from "him (the Prefident) to his agent, and whether those instruc-"tions be purfued, or departed from, is a queffion only be-"tween the Prefident and his agent. By adopting the "treaty, he fanctions the conduct of his agent; by laying "it before the Senate, he manifests his approbation of a de-"parture from his instructions, if any fuch there were; "which however in the prefent cafe is not admitted.<sup>‡</sup>

The last fourteen words of this quotation are a feeble denial of Jay's departure from orders. But we find Mr. Smith, as above, in three different places, very clearly admitting that Jay trefpassed his orders. Farther evidence of infidelity is useles, yet it shall be given, as it implies an honest and fatisfactory defence of the upright intentions of the Prefident and Senate, and transfers the odium of this infirument to the agent who betrayed official confidence. The proof here to be produced occurs in the fame debate, where Mr. Nicholas speaks thus: "Surely a minister is a consti-" tutional officer, and as fuch impeachable. It has been " faid, that even if a minister had. deviated from his instruc-" tions, if his principal approved and fanctioned the devia-" tion, the agent was no longer responsible. The doctrine " he confidered as very dangerous." A minister might vio-" late his instructions, in a point not justified by existing cir-" cumstances; the change produced by the negociation might " justify the principal in ACCEPTING THE TREATY; but " though the latter might be justifiable, the first could not." [This is found argument, and does honour to the gentleman who fuggested it. We now perceive the scrape into which our diplomatic Chief Justice dragged the Prefident, Senate, and this country. ] "The conduct of the agent " might improperly bring the principal without good caufe " into fuch a dilemma as to oblige him" Notice that the Preli-

‡ Bache's debates, Part I. p. 19.

dent and Senate were obliged ] "in a manner to accept the "treaty he had made; but its ratification could not be a "cloak to the conduct of the minifter." Certainly not. It is impofible to thake the folidity of thefe remarks. It will be likewife obferved, that, when Mr. Nicholas mentions the Prefident, it is in a way more refpectful than that of Mr. W. Smith; for the latter to fave Jay, wants to lay the treaty to the Prefident's charge without any qualification, whereas Mr. Nicholas gives a proper excufe for the Prefident and Senate. Yet a confiderable party amongft us

are continually talking of their refpect for the Prefident, and reproaching others for want of it. To this pretence of peculiar refpect, the conduct of Mr. W. Smith forms a palpable contradiction.

We have now, by the evidence of three reprefentatives, afcertained two important facts, first, that America was put to the hammer, though we cannot tell the exact fum at which she was knocked down; and second, that the Senate and President, in their own judgment, condemned the treaty. To fay that they approved of that bargain is an abufe and perversion of words; it is a fiction. When the traveller quits his purfe to the footpad, nobody calls it a donation. Those whom the federal conflictution entrusted to transfact its correspondence with foreign nations, have reluctantly accepted or submitted to this instrument. The Senate and President did not embrace it as a positive benefit. They barely endure it as the leffer of two evils. Into so wretched a dilemma they have been trepanned, not by an oversight of their own, but by the gross misconduct of a considential agent.

The arguments urged in favour of the treaty, as arifing from its intrinfic and *perfonal* merit, have thus received a fhock. A majority of the Senate confent and *condemn*. The violent ftruggles in the mind of the Prefident have been deferibed by Mr. Randolph. At length he alfo ratifies what his choice would have rejected. Their envoy had committed the Senate and Prefident to a crifis fo delicate, that they were, in fome measure, COMPELLED to fign the treaty.

It is very natural to prefume that this plan for breaking the Prefident's orders was hatched in America before Jay failed for Britain. He durft not have hazarded a ftep fo audacious, and fo dangerous, unlefs he had been previoufly affured of flrong fuppert at home, and if any individual

can be fuspected as his affociate, every circumstance points to Alexander Hamilton. Mr. Dayton faid that " he had " long cealed to entertain any respect for the negociator."\* He had reason to fay so. At Berlin, such an ambassador would have been fent to Spandau, or the caverns of Magdeburg. At Vienna, he would have fwept the freets in chains. At Peterfburg he would have been knouted, and fent to Siberia. At Constantinople, he would have lost his head. Nadir Shaw would have cut out his eyes; and at Fez, he would have been impaled. In ancient Rome, fuch an envoy would have been projected from the Tarpeian Rock. At Athens, he would have descended the Barathrum. In London, he would have been harrowed under an impeachment more tedious than the fiege of Troy; and after giving, like Haftings, feventy thouland pounds fterling to lawyers, he would, like that Pharoah, have been difiniffed to impunity and a penfion.

It is no wonder that the Prefident has become tired of his office. Such ufage from thofe, whom out of all mankind he had felected for his confidence, might have converted benevolence itfelf into mifanthropy. Many addreffes have complimented him on the attainment of a bargain fo pregnant with advantages. Thefe must have been almost equally distreffing with the rebellion of his envoy.

The mode of forming this treaty is the moft notorious infult that was ever committed upon any nation. To be betrayed or plundered by a foreign people is nothing new. But as Shylock fays, "My own flefn and blood to rebel!" An envoy breaking his orders, and, in the very teeth of his employers, patching up a treaty ! What immeafurable contempt is here exhibited for the American executive ! Yet his excellency, the governor of New York, has perfectly underflood his ground. He returns in triumph, and laughs at the forape into which he has embarked the Senate and Prefident; while from dread of Britifh war, *they* are forced to ratify an inftrument which they in reality difapprove.

Yet the advocates of this John Jay have choaked up the newspapers with complaints of democratical infolence, and dirges on the violation of Prefidential dignity. It is the fortune of fome political characters to run through every

\* Bache, Part II, p. 350.

species of inconsistency. On the floor of Congress, they remonstrate against wounding the feelings of the President. At the fame inftant, they endeavour to hold him up as a fcape goat between John Jay and universal deteftation; while his character is indebted for its protection and its triumph to Mr. John Nicholas, whom they would noft injurioufly with to reprefent as his enemy. They imprifon a land jobber for attempting to bribe members. They next ftand up and tell the world that Reprefentatives obtain their feats by cajoling and deccit, and in their own fpeeches on the British treaty, they tell us, that two thirds of the Houfe are traitors; while their Apollo difcovers that an equal proportion of citizens of America are deeply infected with the korrid principles of affaffination. They affect a zeal for the conflitution; yet they fuffer their puppet Editor of the Minerva to recommend a disjunction of the Eastern and Southern states. They wish to promote public unanimity, yet they fuffer this writer to declare the whole citizens of Virginia, rafcals, without even excepting the Prefident; and an affembly of the citizens of Philadelphia are pronounced capable of any degree of moral turpitude for daring to give a civil toast to the patriotism of Virginia. At Philadelphia, an English pamphleteer is likewife encouraged to libel whole flates by the lump, to vilify the principles of the American revolution, and one half of the inembers of Congress. His works are circulated with the affiduity of party zeal; and Webster and Russell vamp up their newspapers with farcical praise of his abilities. This is the confistent, wife, and honsurable conduct of certain political pilots. Having difcuffed Mr. Adams and Jay, we now come to the last of the triumvirate, to Camillus himfelf.

Mr. Alexander Hamilton, late fecretary to the treafury, refigned his office from the fcantinefs of his falary. Herefuned his profession as a practifing lawyer, from the neceflity of earning an income adequate to the expences of his family. He has written thirty-nine long letters, figned Camillus, in defence of Mr. Jay's treaty. We never hear of a farmer, who drives thirty-nine oxen to market, that he may give them away for nothing. We as little hear of a lawyer, who goes through thirty-nine pleadings without the receipt, or at least the promife of a fee. Mr. Hamilton could not afford to do the bufinefs of his country at a falary

of three thousand five hundred dollars a year. But if he will not fell his time at that rate, he will still lefs expend it gratis. He must be paid for his labour, and more handfomely alfo than when he was fifcal fecretary. His friends affure us, that Mr. Hamilton refigned his office in order to fave money; there is reafon to believe their affertion. But fuch a man will not write an octavo volume without a pecuniary gratification. To fancy that the letters were fpontaneous, is the very height of abfurdity. They are an elaborate work, and may have cost Mr. Hamilton fix months of fludy. This portion of time was, on a moderate calculation, worth fifteen hundred dollars. It will be hard to guels what party in America would advance that fum for thefe letters; and no man gives up a large falary, that he may work without receiving any. This is not furely the way to fupport a family. Mr. Hamilton by fuch a digreffion, was doing his utmost to difcourage clients from employing him. When the reader has attentively reflected on these particulars, he will begin to conjecture who paid for the writing of these letters.

Mr. Bruce, the Abyfinian traveller, inferibed his work to George the third. Peter Pindar attacked his elaborate dedication, and interrogates the author thus: "Pray what "might his majefty give you for it?"

When we fee an American Envoy, who, without any apparent motive, breaks his orders, and clandeftinely figns a British treaty, when we fee a thread-bare lawyer \* forgetting to earn daily subsistence for his family, that he may write twohundred newspaper columns for nothing one cannot help recurring to the query of Peter Pindar, Pray what might his majesty give you for it ?

As to whether the treaty was a good or bad one, the wifeft and beft men in this country have been confiderably divided. A minority of forty in Congrefs, are juft as likely as a majority of fixty, to be on the right fide of a queftion. People will naturally form an opinion of fome kind; but on a fubject fo complicated, and that has produced fuch an uncommon degree of controverfy, men of fenfe will be extremely cautious how far they condemn those who diffent from their judgments.

\* The friends of Mr. Hamilton reprefent him as in a flate of comparative poverty. A Treaty with Britain, even on the moft favourable terms, was unfafe and improper for America. Were a thief detected in robbing your cellar, no hypocritical promifes of amendment would perfuade you to entruft him with the key. Britain is that thief, and the treaty is that key. To this country the cabinet of London has conftantly acted with the moft unprovoked infolence, and the blackeft treachery. This is not the language of party, but of the whole continent; and it will in future times be the language of impartial hiftory. Witnefs the incendiary negociations of Dorchefter and Simcoe with the north weftern Indians; negociations denied by ministers in the Houfe of Commons, and yet as well attefted as the battle of Brandywine. This *item* has coft America the loss of fome thoufands of lives, and many millions of dóllars.

Again. The fame cabinet turned loofe upon us the Algerines, a fact at first but feebly denied, and long fince unanimoufly admitted. The feizure and confifcation of fix or eight hundred American veffels, in the midst of profound peace,\* harmonizes with every other feature in the naval history of England. This is the nation felected for the ally to America. Had the late treaty been as favourable to the United States as diplomatic phrafes could make it, had Grenville engaged to quarter our whole national creditors, on the three per cents of England, the objection would still have been equally forcible. Your faith has been fo frequently broken, that we dare no longer trust you. This argument is decilive and unanfwerable against making any treaty at all.

Farther. The claufe that provides for payment of debts due to Britifh merchants in America, before the war, has been generally condemned; but not to its proper extent. The claufe provides, that if the original debtor cannot pay, the treafury of the United States must pay for him. The former part of this flipulation feems to be admitted as just, and yet a retrofpect will convince us that it is not fo. Britain wantonly declared war against America, and difembarked her bauditti. They behave not like foldiers in ordinary war, but like Tartars and Coffacks. They burn

\* Some Merchants in the United States fay, that feveral of thefe veffels were forfeited by the unwarrantable, or imprudent conduct of the owners or captains. This obfervation might perhaps apply to one cafe out of thirty. fea-port towns, lay in afters the houfes, barns and crops of the farmers, deftroy their cattle, flave their cyder, firip their wives to the under-petiticoat, and fometimes to the fhift. In the mean time the British creditor fits at home, drinks fuccefs to his majefty's arms, and boasts that England is the only country in the world, where the will of the people is the fupreme law. This creditor by himfelf, or his reprefentative, votes for fupplies to carry on the war, and after eight years of fuch work, fays to the farmer of Virginia, whom his myrmidons have reduced to beggary, Sir, you are my debtor, and you muss pay me. This is not the language of common justice, or of common fense.

It may be urged, that, among the British creditors of America, many were averfe to the war, and that the above objection cannot apply to them. It is one of the lamentable effects of fighting, that innocence mult often be blended in the punishment of guilt. The war itself was supported with favage enthuliafm, by a very great majority of the British nation, and of confequence by an equal majority of the British creditors; for it is needless to suppose them, wifer or better than the reft of their countrymen. But even if they had all been averie to hoftilities, and thus innocent of them, the American farmer was likewife innocent. He took up arms to support his just rights, and to carry on merely a defensive contest. It is hard to rob of their claims those few British creditors who exerted themfelves to impede the war. But American debtors are equally deferving of pity; and if there must be a preference, we ought to keep it among ourfelves. Belides, it is impoffible to diffinguish the few creditors who were innocent, from the much greater number who were guilty. as confpirators against America. But on the other fide, the citizens of the United States were, in this view, univerfally and invariably not to blame. None of them wanted to invade Britain; their efforts were altogether defensive. The British nation wantonly began the quarrel; they conducted it like perfect barbarians. Befides the usual and inevitable calamities of warfare, they did fifty or an hundred times more mischief to America than the value of all thefe debts. It has been urged, as a fair compensation, that the interest of British debts was, during the war fuspended, and hath fince for these eight years been cut off in granting decrees for the principal fum. This was no fair

reckoning. Suppose that an upholflerer supplies you with houfehold furniture. Next day, he fends a fellow to burn your house, furniture, and all together. The commission is executed; and in the course of it, your wife, like Mrs. Caldwell, at Connecticut farms, is intentionally fhot dead, while the fwaddling cloathes are torn from about her fucking Reader, observe that these suppositions are not child. imaginary, but that we are treading on the firm bafis of historical truth. Your upholsterer keeps possellion of your house for eight years; at the end of that time he quits it, and profecutes you in a court of law for the price of that very furniture which his emifiaries had burnt. The jury award payment; but they gracioufly order that the accompt shall not bear interest for the intervening eight years. A fecond eight years elapfe, before you are able entirely to rebuild your house, while in the mean time, you must either fatisfy the incendiary, or he will feize the ground lot on which it ftood, and fend you to jail for payment of the balance due by his verdict. This is not justice, nor any thing like justice! Yet it is exactly the state of British creditors, and American debtors. The former gave credit on the faith of being paid. The latter accepted it, on the faith of being permitted peaceably to cultivate their plantations. This was denied by the British government, and to them only could the creditor look with equity for payment. The British deafen all the world with exultations that they are the only free people in it. Be it fo. Then they confented to the war, and the creditors of America, who were equally free with their neighbours, confented alfo.

During the revolution, the internal improvement of America not only did not advance, but it went backwards. At leaft a fecond eight years elapfed after the peace, before the United States had fully recovered their profperity, and many thoufands of families never will recover it. Thus the political advancement of America was in reality retarded by a halt not of eight but of *fixteen* years. If the British war had not happened, the country might have been as wealthy and as well improved at this day, as we can now expect it to be at the end of the next enfuing fixteen years. It is believed that the exports of America, for 1796, will be almost fifty-feven millions of dollars. But if hostilities had been averted, they would, in the natural progrefs of hu-

man affairs, have arifen by this time to near an hundred and fifty millions; and yet these people speak of America, as being in their debt, when the wanton mifchief which they did has by an hundred degrees exceeded the extent of their claim, and has been the caufe of an incapacity to pay. But fay the creditors, it was not we, it was our government that injured you. The plain answer is, then look to your government for redress of the mischiefs that they have perpetrated. They have reimbursed the refugees; let them do the fame to you. It may be alleged that the treaty of Paris bound the citizens of America to difcharge British That treaty only stipulated, that the General debts. government shall recommend to the States to enforce fuch payment. Congress had no right to compel, but they did recommend, and thus they complied with the Hipulation; but it befides has been already proved, that the claim was, in itfelf, unjuft.

By the treaty in queftion, the remainder of thefe debts are to be cleared off, either by the American debtor, or, failing him, by the United States. The public fubmit to the former part of this claufe, but object to the latter. Here the public is in the wrong. To make the debtor pay a fingle farthing would be opprefilon. To many families ruined by Britain, and to every clafs of debtors, it would be injuffice. If any part of the claufe has a face of equity, it is that which refers the Britifh creditor to the national treafury. The treaty, as now accepted, is a national tranfaction, and if it contains a foolifh engagement on our part, the nation as a body, ought to ftand by the confequences of its own act, without caffing the burden upon individuals.

But this claufe is, in itfelf, a most glaring breach of the Constitution. No part of that inftrument has granted the authority there assumed. The alternative of recourse upon the public treasury, is evidently and utterly impracticable. All the armies of Europe, with Camillus, and Jay at their head, never could enforce this condition. The people of America would not bear it. The only effect of this stipulation is, that by its infraction a pretence may be furnished to Britain for a quarrel with us, when the chufes to have on e.

In December, 1796, it transpired, that some irregular transactions had been going forward in the Bank of Pennfylvania. The President. Mr. John Barclay, had intromitted with cash to the extent of an hundred and eleven thousand dollars, without an official acknowledgement for that fum being inferted in the books of the Bank. At a time when money was bearing interest at three, four, and five per cent per month, this intrusion was, in the most favoarable point of view, indelicate and alarming. The property of Mr. Barclay far exceeded his debts, and fecurity has been given that the fums abstracted with the interest incurred, shall be faithfully repaid. An unexpected incapacity of concealing the abstraction produced, on the part of Mr. Barclay, a reluctant acknowledgement to the directors, of the fums milplaced. If he had been able to replace them, without a public confession, the interest, or other advantage derived from the employment of thefe one handred and eleven thousand dollars, might perhaps have funk into the pocket of this Prefident, who certainly did not, on the ground of that transaction, aspire to a niche in the temple of history.

A fubject fo ungrateful has been unwillingly brought forward. Much noite has of late been made refpecting the Bank of Pennfylvania. The deficiencies of Mr. Barclay were accompanied by trefpaffes of a fimilar but inferior nature. Overdrawings had taken place to the extent of about an additional hundred thouland dollars. In thefe, final fraud could hardly be fulpected. The translactions were open. If the correspondents of the Bank were culpable for overdrawing, the clerks in the Bank were not lefs to blame, for fuffering the practice. The whole overdrawings, with a trifling exception, are now replaced, or fecured to the Bank. The flory is, therefore, undeferving of farther notice.

But the compiler of the New York Minerva, that capacious fquirt of federal calumny, was not to forget this opportunity. His newfpaper instantly teemed with invectives against the whole democratical \* party in Philadelphia. The most prominent objects of reproach were Alexander Dallas, John Swanwick and Blair M<sup>4</sup>Clenachan. Over-

\* This word borrowed from Greece, is here ufed for want of fomething perhaps better. The mob of Athens was quite as execrable as the monarchy of Fez. The American confitution takes a middle courfe. drawing, and a multitude of other accufations were huddled together in pompous or Billingfgate columns. Mr. Dallas has published a certificate that, at the Bank of Pennfylvania, he was in advance. As to Mr. Swanwick, a more full explanation may be required.

Since the year 1781, this gentleman has been engaged in bufinefs in Philadelphia, on an extensive fcale. In the shipping and exporting line he has, for the last fifteeen years, done as much business as perhaps any merchant in the city. In this country noted for infolvencies, Mr. Swanwick was honourably diffinguished by punctuality of payment. It was undoubtedly mortifying to other merchants much older than himfelf to fall behind fo young a trader in promptitude of cash. In a nation where a licentioufnefs of the prefs has no limits, a character like this could not fail to meet with a torrent of flander. But other fources of opposition and abuse were opened on a different account. Mr. Swanwick was not an implicit admirer of every political measure which has, for the last eight years, occurred in America. To the British treaty he was, in every stage and shape, inflexibly opposed. To this trait of his political conduct Mr. Swanwick is indebted for the notice bestowed upon him by the Minerva.

In the fall of 1796, Mr. Swanwick was fuddenly affailed by the return of a great number of his bills from England protested, with heavy damages. This misfortune arofe chiefly from the diforder into which commerce had been thrown by the war. Mr. Swanwick had shipped for Leghorn, Gibraltar, Havre de Grace and Hamburgh, large cargoes of coffee, fugar and tobacco. Depending on their fafe arrival, he continued to draw upon the house in London to whom the returns were configned. In the opinion of that house their arrival was infecure; and they were unwilling to come under any acceptance or payment of bills, till they had the effects actually in their possellion. It was no wonder that they became fceptical on the fcore of credit, fince even in London the interest of money had arifen to an enormous height. A prize of twenty thoufand pounds in the British lottery was, in the beginning of the year 1796, fold for eighteen thousand pounds of ready cash. It was not payable for four months after being drawn. A discount of ten per cent for four months comes to thirty per cent for twelve months. Pitt himfelf had

been detected in the literal forgery of bills, falfely dated from Hamburgh, to the extent of feven hundred thousand pounds sterling. The particulars have been proved in the House of Commons, and any man less powerful than a British minister would, for this manœuvre, have endured a capital punishment.

The possession of Mr. Swanwick's returns from Leghorn, and other ports on the continent, required confiderable time. Of courfe his draughts could not be regularly hononred. As foon as Mr. Swanwick became acquainted with this misfortune, he made the most vigorous and honourable efforts to retrieve it, by disposing of property actually in his poffestion. Many bills were difcharged. While he was engaged in this tafk, a fudden froft shut up the Delaware, and excluded the arrival of feveral veffels which Mr. Swanwick expected from the West-Indies, and from Europe. Their arrival would have releafed him from a great part of those embarrassments. Such fortuitous circumstances were rendered still more inconvenient by the threatened danger of a rupture with France, and by the annihilation of mercantile confidence. Hence infuperable difficulties occurred to Mr. Swanwick in the payment of his notes. But thefe difficulties will be overcome. They require only that moderate indulgence, in point of time, which the holders of bills will undoubtedly grant.

It is to be regretted that, under fuch circumstances, the banks in Philadelphia have not power to accommodate a merchant to any effective amount. From the 27th. of August, 1796, to the 27th. of December following, the amount of notes difcounted for Mr. Swanwick, at both the two banks of North America and the United States, came only to a trifle more than eighteen thousand dollars. This was in the whole only about four thousand five hundred dollars a month, and it formed but a decrepid auxiliarv to his extensive engagements. Out of the banks there is no refource, excepting the most usurious and ruinous loans, at three, four, and five per cent a month. Under the expectation of his veffels arriving, Mr. Swanwick for fome time reforted even to these destructive expedients. But at length, finding that the stoppage of navigation must of neceffity occasion momentary embarrasiment, he judged it better to fubmit at once than to hazard every thing by precipitate and ill advifed undertakings of fuch a kind.

In the midft of these honeft exertions on the part of Mr. Swanwick, the federal preffes overflowed with grofs and furious calumny. All the engines of faction were fet at work to complete his ruin. In New York, that truly federal fink of flander and toryifm, it was publickly advertifed that he had flopt payment immediately after his reelection to a feat in Congress. The quantity of fictions printed about him would have exhausted the quire-devouring eloquence of Camillus, or the afpen tongue of Robert Goodloe Harper. It is well known that for months after Mr. Swanwick's re-election he paid with punctuality every note. He was accufed of overdrawing at the bank of Pennfylvania; but on fettling his bank book, a balance was declared in his favour. In extensive transactions it was likely enough that a few hundred dollars might be overdrawn. They were replaced, whenever this derangement was difcovered. Public report has been loud in celebrating the generous interpolition of the bank of Pennfylvania to fave the credit of Mr. Swanwick. That generofity still forms a corps de reserve. It has not hitherto advanced into the line of action. The refources of Mr. Swanwick have as usual, been chiefly derived from himself and his own propèrty. Mr. Swanwick was no director in that bank. He had no more influence in it than any other firanger. An accidental balance of cash might sometimes be against as well as for him. But this could arife from no difpofition on his part to injure the bank. It was the natural confequence of a difficulty in keeping at all times fquare on large transactions, where notes fuddenly came in, and fwelled his arrears beyond their common level. Mr. Swanwick can appeal to all the banks, whether in general he has not appeared as punctual as any other merchant in his engagements with them. Edward Fox, late cashier in the bank of Penfylvania, was, fome time before the late commercial disturbances, in company with feveral merchants, who attacked the character of Mr. Swanwick as a man of bufinefs. "I never knew any of his bills protested," faid Mr. Fox. " Is there one among you who can fay as " nuch? His uncommon fuccels in trade hath, as above observed, given great mortification to perfons much older in that line than himfelf. Among other curious accufations urged against him at the election in October, 1796, one whimpered about impiety. The rival candidate, Mr.

Edward Tilghman, has as little religion as any perfon in America. The affirmation is made on the best authority. Mr. Swanwick happens to be a chriftian, or at leaft he has never acknowledged himfelf to be otherwife. Thefe traits are not mentioned to ferve any electioneering purpofe. They are given merely to shew the absurdity of fome of the infinuations urged against our representative. For being a member of Congress, Mr. Swanwick is as well qualified as any perfon in the United States. Had they accepted his advice as to the British treaty, American commerce would not have been, at this day, the football of Europe. Mr, Swanwick did not, during the last war, act as a tory. He was never conducted as a prisoner to Annapolis. If thefe circumstances had taken place, we fhould have had a notable clutter about them. Alas! the worft accufation which his enemies can urge against him is, that his father was a waggon-master in the British army. If this had been true, it is not likely that Mr. Richard Swanwick would have coft his fon four or five thoufand pounds fterling.

It would be triffing to expose the ideotifin of undervaluing a man becaufe his father has driven a waggon. Mr, Lifton, the prefent British ambaffador to the United States, is the fon of a farmer at Kirkliston, a parish eight miles west of Edinburgh. It is highly probable that this gentleman has, in his younger days, very frequently driven a cart. He is reported to be a perfon of temper and difcretion altogether fuperior to his predecessor, Mr. Robert Hammond. As fo many complaints have been made against Genet, it is but justice to fay that Hammond was, at bot-tom, not by one iota better. Randolph has defcribed his vulgar infolence to the Prefident. In conversation he used to fay, " your government cannot fland. It is founded on " an equality of rights, and every fuch fystem has always " fallen." If Pinckney had held fuch language in London, against the protestant fuccession, ministry would have found a very fhort way to be rid of him.

Incendiary letters against Mr. Swanwick's credit were written from this city to London. He is reproached as the fon of a waggon-master. A justly respected or ator in Congress has been an hostler. The circumstance favours his character, instead of degrading it. Fortune has for once done justice to geuius. With such facts before their eyes, it is very foolish in the federal party to reproach any man with the profession of his father. As to the Bank of Pennfylvania, it should not be forgotten that to Mr. Swanwick the institution is, in a great measure, indebted for its existence. In the legislature of Pennfylvania, and afterwards as a commissioner for receiving subscriptions, Mr. Swanwick was of very considerable service to it. This Bank will long remain a valuable monument of the zeal of Mr. Swanwick in conducting the finances of the State of Pennfylvania, to the great promotion of commerce. The revenue of this Bank is faid to be about an hundred thousand dollars per annum. This fum nearly covers the ordinary expenditure of the State.

Having done with the representative for the city of Philadelphia, we come now to the member elected for the county. Last fummer General Stewart, fon in law to Blair M'Lenachan, died infolvent. The latter, without any legal obligation to do fo, offered to stand in his place, and made himfelf refponfible for the debts. About two months ago, Mr. Moore, partner to Mr. M'Lenachan, ftopt payment. This accident, along with the prefent enormous and augmenting dearth of money, reduced Mr. M'Lenachan to difficulties. A gentleman who had volunteered in the offer of paying debts with which he had no legal concern, might have expected delicacy. After referving as much property as was judged fufficient to pay off every claim against him, Mr. M'Lenachan affigned other portions of his estate to his fon, and daughters. This was a matter of common prudence. He is far advanced in life, and in a very indifferent state of health. The instant that the tranfaction was known, fome of the creditors held a meeting, and published in the newspapers, and by hand bills pasted up in the freets, a caution to the public against purchasing property from the affignees of Mr. M'Lenachan. If he had been a forger, or a horse stealer, he could not have been treated with greater harshness. It is to be feared that party spirit had some share in this outcry. Judge M'Kean faid, a few days ago, that the whole debts of Mr. M'Lenachan are about feventy-fix thoufand dollars, and that the funds referved are in his opinion equal to the discharge of them. Mr. M'Lenachan complains strongly of the treatment which he has met with, and apparently with fome justice. It was instantly circulated through the

city, that he had disposed of his whole property to his children, and that his detign was utterly to defraud all his creditors. But as it is admitted that he made large refervations to fatisfy these creditors, it is in itself very improbable that he would have attempted to make a halfway butiness of it. There was much more likelihood that if the refervations had not proved fufficient, he would have found means to augment them. Some of the creditors of General Stewart have been very active against Mr. M<sup>4</sup>Lenachan; yet, but for his imprudent generosity in coming forward, they must have been very great losers. These are his thanks. The Minerva has made the most of this affair. So much for undertaking to pay the debts of a fon in law.

It is not furprifing that newspapers should often be coarfe in their phrases, when we fee the way in which members of Congress do sometimes address the house. On the 7th of March, 1796, Mr. Livingston moved for production of the official correspondence about the British In the debate that enfued, Mr. Buck fpoke of the treaty. Prefident's proclamation announcing that event. " To " me," faid he, " the found is heavy as thunder, majeftic " as heaven, and the height of treason to difobey it." The connection between the majesty of heaven and a President's proclamation is not very clear; nor is the allufion perhaps very decent. The refolution was carried by fifty feven voices against thirty-five. Six gentlemen who were absent authorifed Mr. Bache to fay that, if prefent, they would have voted in its favour. Thus we have fixty-three members out of ninety-eight, who countenance the height of treason. A little after, Mr. Buck fays, " would not our " keen fenfibility be as much raifed, as when our virtue " was affailed by the contaminating breath of Randall?" What virtue? The Colonel had just told us that two thirds of the houfe were going to commit the height of treafon. So black an affembly could have no pretence to virtues of any kind. When gentlemen fport affertions, they must expect criticifms. This fpeech was, in cooler moments, written out by its author, or, which is the fame thing, it was printed under his eye. It is now, in the midst of a thick octavo volume, on its way to the next century. The virtue of Mr. Buck was affailed by neither Randall, nor Whitney; and as a matter of difcretion he ought to fay nothing about them.

MrBuch

Mr. W. Smith took up the fame file. The word treafin does not indeed occur in the printed copy of his fpeech; but a reply of Mr. S. Smith fhews that he had been using it. The latter observes that Mr. Buck, and Mr. W. Smith had both faid that "to vote for this re-"folution would be TREASON against the laws and Con-"flitution. Why this harsh language? Did it lead to a "difcovery of truth? Where did these gentlemen find "that definition of treason? Not in the constitution, for "there it was properly defined." The definition is in these words: "Treason against the United States shall "consist only in levying war against them, or in adhering "to their enemies, giving them aid and comfort," Conflitution, Article 2d. Section 3d. Clause 1st.

The offence of Randall was his having whilpered that thirty or forty Reprefentatives were concerned in a trick. Even if the allegation had been true, it was not within twenty degrees of the height of treason, the charge fo gravely advanced by Mr. Buck. The trefpafs on the dignity of Congress, committed by that gentleman, was in the fame proportion greater than that of Randall. The confequences alfo of this dialect were ferious and alarming. The newspapers of the party caught hold of those epithets, and they refounded for feveral months through every flate in the Union. The public mind fermented into a degree of madnefs. Great numbers of people began ferioufly to believe that the affirmations of Mr. Buck and Mr. W. Smith were founded on fact. We have already feen the propofal for tarring and feathering Mr. W. Lyman. The authors of this scheme might frame it in honest ignorance. To Mr. Buck we must refer as having taught them this leffon. If he had wanted to raife an eastern infurrection, this was the very plan which he would have adopted. In the end, the minds of the people at large were fo inflamed by harangues of this fort, that a congreffional acceptance of the treaty became neceffary to prevent the chance of an internal convulsion. The friends of order, the men fo recently declaiming against democratic meetings, excited clubs and focieties to make every fort of noife; and the Houfe of Representatives were finally bullied into a concurrence with the treaty. We have already a broad glimple of its effects in the West Indies. In his speech, on the 7th of December, 1796, the President faid that "the revenues of the United States continue "in a state of progressive improvement." They depend on the fecurity of our foreign commerce, which the natural effects of the British treaty menance with immediate destruction. This must be the *improvement* alluded to by the Prefident.

While France threatens from without, a state of the Union threatens from within. It has alretdy been obferved that Charles the Second, after granting one charter to Connecticut, contraverted it by a fecond to his brother, and a third to William Penn. In the fcale of natural juffice, an Indian might as well have paddled in his canoe acrofs the Atlantic, and after peeping up the river Thames, have . granted a charter of England. Purchases from Indians were not much better founded. The Six nations, for instance, were a gang of barbarians. They had been constantly butchering the adjacent nations. Instead of buying lands which they had steeped in blood, it would have been an office of humanity to fweep their chiefs and warriors from the face of the earth. Thus much may be faid as to the real and substantial justice of royal charters, and of Indian fales. A fhort time ago, the affembly of Connecticut wanted money to build a State Houfe at Hartford. They computed the expence, and for the fum required, they fold to a private company that part of their ancient charter which runs through the State of New York, in its way to the Pacific Ocean. The fale covers a vast tract of country, as may be feen by confulting the map. New York has retained lawyers for the approaching litigation at an expence of five thousand dollars. Thus a fecond Luzerne bufinefs follows hard upon the first. A third fale has been made by the fame state of land lying beyond New York and Pennfylvania, but within the limits claimed by the general government. A refolution for an enquiry on this head was laid before the Houfe of Reprefentatives, by Mr. Livingiton, on the 4th of January, 1797.

It is possible that Pelham and Webfter have been prompted by fome projectors in this bufines, for nothing lefsthan a civil war, and a diffuption of the federal union could accomplish the views of these two last classes of Connecticut purchafers. Any other State, placed like Connecticut, would have cast a wistful eye to the limits of its original charter. Recurring to the doctring of General Wadfworth, her citizens are not worfe as they certainly are not better than other people. But it is highly fit that the public at large fhould know the danger which may arife from these contradictory grants.

Much is daily printed refpecting the constitution of the United States. Their laws and police are lefs criticized. A few hints on these subjects may be useful. A person is just now building, at an enormous expence, a palace in Philadelphia. His bills have long been in the market, at eighteen pence or a shilling per pound. This is the condition of our laws for the recovery of millions. At the fame time the prifon of Philadelphia is crouded with tenants, many of whom are indebted only in petty fums. America has, with perhaps a few exceptions, embraced the English laws with all their inconfistencies and iniquities. The management of the prifon of this city has been celebrated. In the fall of 1796, a man who had been quarrelfome in his family was committed to confinement, for eight or nine days, by fquire Coates At the end of this time, he was fent for from jail, to be reprimanded and difcharged. The answer returned was that he had made his escape. A day or two after, one of the cells being unlocked, the dead body of the prifoner was found half devoured by rats. Not one of our five daily newspapers hath taken the least notice of this murder. No enquiry hath commenced to difcover, and far lefs to punish the perpetrator. In a city that arrogates its name from Brotherly love \*, the voice of blood cries unavenged and even unlamented.

Numerous conflagrations have of late occurred in feveral fea port towns of this country. To prevent fuch difafters patroles are at prefent watching, in the night-time, the fireets of Philadclphia. A fmall alteration in the common way of forming the roofs of houfes would confiderably diminish the danger. Buildings are at prefent univerfally covered with fhingles. In Britain fuch roofs are entirely unknown. Tiles would greatly retard the progress of fire from houfe to houfe, and would ftill more effectually fecure an opposite fide of the ftreet. Slates, the common materials of a British roof, would answer the purpose even much better. Rhode Island has immense quarries of flate. Yet the town of Newport has not even a fingle flate roof; and only eight or nine brick houfes. The use of flate is chiefly con-

\* Phileo, and Adelphos.

fined to hearths and tombstones. So little are these people, accquainted with the real value of this treasure of nature.

In almost every town of Britain, a wooden or even a thatched roof is prohibited. If raifed, it would fubject the proprietor to a penalty, befides his being inftantly compelled to pull it down. Such is the dread of fire entertained in that country. No good reafon can be offered why towns in America should reject a similar regulation. This would indeed be but half a remedy for the misfortune, but even that is gaining an important advantage. Every perfon in America who has feen fires must be fensible that they chiefly, and by far most rapidly, communicate from one roof to another. The quarries of Rhode Island contain an ample protection from this evil. The fecurity which Americans appear to enjoy while refiding in large maffes of wood fo frequently reduced to afhes, and every moment liable to that deftiny, is like the thoughtleffnefs of Shake. fpeare's cabin-boy, nodding on the top maft.

Under the British government a perfon may be arrested at its inftance, profecuted, and after enduring imprifonment, he is, though acquitted, entitled to no compensation. In the late cafe of Mr. Stone, he was faid to be confined for fifteen months before the correspondent of John Adams brought him to trial. A jury declared him innocent, but the confequences involved his utter ruin. If one individual injures another, the law fays that fatisfaction shall be made; but when the executive of a country commences an unfounded and perhaps a malicious acculation against an individual, when imprisonment, loss of time, of health, and of character enfue, the private perfon is left without redrefs. This is the groffeft injustice imaginable. Among other absurdities which America has adopted from Europe, this remnant of feudal despotism is not the finallest. Thefe remarks have occurred from hearing a petition read to Congress in December 1796. The petitioner was George Lucas formerly a ferjeant in the Pennfylvania line. He was active in checking a general defertion to Britain. During the Western Infurrection, he was feized at Bedford, brought to Philadelphia, and confined for three months. The grand jury threw out the bill against him, and he now petitioned the Houfe of Reprefentatives for damages. No exifting law authorized them to make fuch a grant, and the petition was refused. A multitude of other prisoners fuffered equal hardship. This is an alarming chasin in American jurifprudence.

## CHAPTER XI.

( 281 )

Proceedings of Congress. Stenographical debate. Snuff excise. Invalid pensions. Request by the house of representatives for Jay's Correspondence. Answer of the President. Petitions to Congress in favour of the British treaty. Rising of the Settion.

THIS Chapter is to contain a concife furvey of the proceedings of Congress from the 25th of January, 1796, where it has been left off, to the close of the Seffion on the 1ft of June following. If circumflances permit the publication of a fecond volume, there will then be given an examination of the principal laws paft within that period and of fome of the interesting proceedings by which it was diffinguished.

The first debate worth notice, occurred on the 29th of January, 1796. It respected a short-hand writer to be employed by the houfe for the purpose of taking down the The falary proposed to be given was four thou-Ipeeches. fand dollars per fession. The clerk of the house has only fifteen hundred dollars, besides two dollars per day extra, during the term that the houfe fits. The plan had originated in a refolution, proposed at the end of the former feffion, by Mr. W. Smith. He complained remarkably both then, and at this time, of the inaccuracy of the notes taken of congressional speeches for the Philadelphia Gazette; yet he was careful not to fay that his own fentiments had even in a single instance been mistaken. He could not, for Mr. Andrew Brown, printer of that newspaper, had undergone every degree of expence and trouble in order to fatisfy and even to flatter this reprefentative. Mr. W. Smith, on every important occasion wrote out his own fpeeches, and they were carefully printed. They were fometimes of an inconvenient length. After all this attention, Mr. W. Smith excited an attack on the character of the Philadelphia Gazette.

Mr. Giles fupported the motion for a stenographer. He complained that for some weeks past, the debates had funk to notking. On the day when Charles Whitney was difcharged, Mr. Giles remarked that he had been upon his legs above a dozen times, fince the debate then going on had begun, and that he had not yet been able to make himfelf underflood. Thus in the courfe of two hours the gentleman, by his own account, delivered twelve fpeeches. Not one of them was intelligible to the houfe. It was unfair furely to fuppofe that a reporter was to underfland them; or that he was to have more auricular fagacity than all the members put together. It was not furprifing if debates conducted in that manner, fhould, in their way to the prefs, have funk to nothing.

Mr. Harper entered into this difcuffion with great fluency. He fpoke of Mr. Woodfall, the famous taker of debates in the British house of commons. He made no queftion that Woodfall got five thoufand pounds sterling a year from his employers. The fact is that twenty people have reported debates in that house just as well as Mr. Woodfall. The common payment has been 'from two to three guineas per week. Thus accurate is the information of Mr. Harper. The printer of the Philadelphia Gazette had promised to give eleven hundred dollars of the falary of this mort-hand writer. Hence only two thousand nine hundred dollars would have been charged to the public. The whole propofal excited contempt on every fide of the houfe. Its patrons thought fit to withdraw it. without rifking a division. On the 2d of February following, the fubject was formally difcharged. The 3d and 4th produced fome difcuffions as to the federal city. On the oth a memorial was prefented from fome manufacturers of fuuff in Philadelphia. They objected to the fnuff excife ; which indeed comprehended almost every kind of oppression and abfurdity of which a statute is fusceptible. The law was fuspended. The appropriation bill for 1796, having past both houses, was on the 5th of February approved by the Prefident.

On the 1ft of March, a mellage was received from him with notice that the treaty of amity, commerce and navigation, between the United States and the king of England had been formally ratified. He fent a copy of it to each House of Congress. The journals of the Representatives, of the 4th of March, contain lifts of a number of invalids just then to be put upon half pay. To non-commissioned officers, muficians, and privates, a full penfion, as Congreis call it, is five dollars per month, or fixty dollars a year. But in the catalogue there is not a tenth part of them, who get fo much. Forty-five, forty, thirty, twenty or fifteen dollars are the common allowance. Some of them have only one eighth of a full penfion, that is to fay, feven dollars and an half per annum. The lowest falary of a British private invalid is about feven pounds ten shillings fterling. Four thousand dollars, or even two thousand nine hundred to a short-hand writer for an attendance of four or five months, will fquare extremely well with a pention of fifteen dollars per annum to an old foldier. That class of people who furnish recruits for the American rank and file should pay fome attention to these details, before they exchange their legs and arms for the chance of falaries of thirty dollars a year. At the fame time Congress are finking fome hundred thousands of dollars on a Prefidential palace at the paper-built city of Washington.

On the 8th of March, 1796, the Prefident transmitted to each House a copy of the treaty with Algiers. The United States are bound to furnish annually to the Dey to the value of twelve thousand Algerine sequins in military stores. On the 10th the President approved an act of compensation to members of Congress. The payment to Senators is restricted to fix dollars per day.

On the 18th of March, Congress agreed to the report of the committe of elections in the cafe of John Swanwick. It contained thefe words. "The petitioners have entirely "failed to fupport the allegations contained in their petition, "and they have in a formal manner relinquifted the "fame." Thus clofed the federal and tory clamour againft the election of the Reprefentative of Philadelphia. On the 23d the Prefident approved a law which contains thefe words: "The rate of compensation to non-commiffioned "officers, privates and multicians, fhall never exceed five "dollars per month." This notice leffens the regret which every generous mind mult feel at the flatute of limitations. The falary even when obtained is barely worth acceptance, and certainly not worth folicitation. The average runs from forty-five to fifteen dollars per annum. Without a fingle word of remonfirance, the Prefident affixed his official approbation. Volunteers who, with fuch a profpect before them, enlift in the public fervice, have certainly a high claim to difintereftednefs. While each party is making fo much noife about the purity of its principles, and the virtue of its favourites, the citizens at large would do well to ftudy the laws annually paft in the general legiflature, and to judge of the tree only by its fruits.

On the 24th of March, the Reprefentatives paft a refolution for requefling the Prefident to lay before them the correspondence regarding the British treaty. Next day, Mr. Livingston and Mr. Gallatin waited on him with this message. On the 29th of March, the House received a letter from him with a copy of the Spanish treaty, and on the 30th another in answer to their requisition of Jay's instructions and correspondence. The House had restricted their request as follows: "excepting such papers as "any existing negociation may render *improper to be* "difcosfed."

The anfwer is too long for infertion here. It enlarges on the neceffity for political fecrefy, in many transactions; on the attachment of the prefident to the confliction; and on other trite truths which are not likely to be difputed. The firefs of the anfwer, the far most fignificant fentence is in these words. "To admit then a right in the "House of Representatives to *demand*, and to have as a "*matter of courfe*, All the papers respecting a negociation " with a foreign power, would be to establish a dangerous " precedent."

This fentence contains within a line and an half, three injurious and grofs miftatements. First. The Reprefentatives did not demand the papers. They only requested them; and General Washington well knows that the meaning of these two words is totally diffinct. Second. The House asked for the papers, not as a matter of course but a matter of favour. The very word request excludes the idea of this being a communication of course. But thirdly, the House did not request ALL the papers, but only such of them as the President might think that he could with safety communicate. The President has in the close of the fentence thus refused a request which was never made, as, in the former part of it, he transforms a request really made, into a demand. His anfwer means thus : "you have "demanded all the British correspondence." Congress never made fuch a demand. The President well knew that a vote, fo rude, and at the time fo unconstitutional, could not have been carried. To shew the inaccuracy of his answer, here is an exact copy of the resolution itself.

"Refolved, that the Prefident of the United States be "requefted to lay before this Houfe, a copy of the inftruc-"tions to the minifter of the United States who negociated "the treaty with the king of Great Britain (communicated "by his meffage of the first inftant), together with the "correspondence and other documents relative to the faid "treaty, excepting fuch of the faid papers as any existing "negociation may render improper to be difclosed." This answer was one of the first and strongest links in that chain of misrepresentation which in the spring of 1796, extended through the whole country, and humbled a majority of the House before the magesty of the people, as expressed in town meetings.

Americans boaft much of their liberty. But a king of England durft not have fent fuch a meffage to a Houfe of Commons. They would have forced him to give up the papers, before they had voted one fhilling of fupplies. The requeft of the Reprefentatives was as refpectful and unexceptionable as any meffage could be. The felection of papers was left entirely to the Prefident's choice. Yet in oppofition to the journals of the Houfe, he faw fit to metamorphofe this limited requeft into an *indiferiminate* demand. This was a proper return to the triffing addreffes with which they had faluted him for feven preceeding years, and to the frivolus debates about the wording of fuch things, on which they had uniformly fquandered valuable time.

Cordiality and confidence between the Prefident and the Senators were now at an end. He had refufed to let them fee any of those papers which for weeks together had been tumbling, all in one bunch, on the table of the Representatives. After long and warm debates, the House, on the 7th of April, 1796, pass two resolution in answer to the letter from the President. They were carried by a majority of fifty seven against thirty five. On the 14th of April, a resolution was laid on the table for resusting the After an obfinate debate, which lafted for feveral days, the Houfe on the 30th of April agreed to bring in a bill for carrying the British treaty into effect. The refolution pass in committee of the whole by the casting vote of their chairman, Mr. Muhlenberg. The act was approved on the 6th of May; and on the fame day by the President, along with three others refpecting the Spanish and Algerine treaties, and that with the Indians to the northwest of the Ohio. Another act pass at the fame time authorizing a loan of three hundred thousand dollars for the city of Washington, of which a more particular account will be given hereafter.

For fome time before thefe laws paffed, petitions and memorials in favor of appropriating for the British treaty heaped the table of the Representatives from every part of the Union. The transaction was, therefore, in the strictest fense, that of the people. In their dread of a British war, the public feemed totally to overlook the poffibility of one with France. Even for some weeks after the British Appropriation Act had been ratified, applications continued to pour in.

The length of debates during this laborious feffion perhaps exceeded that of any other fince the new Conflictution. Many acts paft, which coft unufual effort. Such was that approved on the 18th of May, for the fale of lands northweft of the Ohio; and that for the relief and protection of American feamen. On the 1ft of June, being the laft day of the feffion, the Prefident approved a law for admitting Tenneffee into the Union, as a fixteenth flate. After the British treaty had been finally fettled, members appear to have become unufually impatient for returning to their conflituents. Applications for leave of abfence were numerous. On the day before the feffion rofe, the yeas and nays being taken, only the Speaker and fixty-nine members were prefent. WE are now at the clofe of this volume. Some inaccuracies will readily be difcovered in it, as in every other book. The author can only fay that none of them have occurred from an intention to deceive. Farther explanations are ufelefs. He has ventured on freedoms with every party, and he can neither expect nor defire to be the favourite of any. Some individuals do not make exactly the figure that they might with to do. For this they have themfelves only to blame.

( 287 )

In the last Chapter, a reference was made to that article in the British treaty which burdens the public treasury with the payment of debts due by Americans to British creditors. It contains fome qualifications not adverted to in that place. To prevent any charge of milquoting, the material part of it is here given entire. " In all fuch cafes where full com-" penfation for fuch loffes and damages cannot for whatever " reafon be actually obtained, had and received by the faid " creditors in the ordinary courfe of juffice, the United " States will make full and complete compensation for the " fame to the faid creditors : But it is diffinctly understood, " that this provision is to extend to fuch loss only as have " been occafioned by fuch infolvency of the debtors, or " other caufes as would equally have operated to produce " fuch lofs, if the faid impediments had not existed; not " to fuch loffes or damages as have been occafioned by the " manifest delay or negligence, or wilful omission of the " claimant."

Even this flipulation hardly makes it better. The decifion is left not to a jury, but to a board of five commiffioners, of whom three conflitute a quorum. Camillus has not been able to find any precedent for this claufe as to difcharging the debts of private perfons from a national purfe. Of the numerous attacks which that treaty holds out on the common fenfe of America this flipulation is not the leaft. It is needlefs to look into the conflitution for fuch an authority. The aflumption is in equal oppolition to the letter and the fpirit of it. If this propofal had, in 1787, been offered to the United States by the Conflitution, it would have been rejected with fcorn. A farmer in Vermont or Genefee has nothing to do with the debts of a bankrupt in Maryland or Virginia. Befides, who are to fettle the juftice of thefe debts, even if the public had any bufinefs with them? The decifion refts with an arbitrary board of five perfons, of whom three can tranfact bufinefs. Of thefe three it may happen that two fhall be British fubjects, but that makes no great difference, for even American Commissioners may prove as flexible as American Ambaffadors.

## POSTSCRIPT.

Some inaccuracies have occurred in putting this work to the prefs. One or two which affect the fense are here noticed. Referring to p. 91, line 1, from the top, it must be observed that the Connecticut charter was granted by Charles the Second.

On p. 120, Mr. Dexter is faid to have been the Reprefentative of Boston. This was likewife a flip of the pen.

## THE END.

. .

0.0

10 and 10 and 10

.

